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By Hand Delivery

Securities and Exchange Commission
Office of International Corporate Finance
450 Fifth Street, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20549

US.A.

Arcelor

Information Pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) /92 ’&;/ Aﬁé
) File No. 82-34727
Dear Sir or Madam,

On behalf of Arcelor SA (“Arcelor”) and pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, please find enclosed the Company’s 2005 annual report.

Please acknowledge receipt of this letter and its enclosures by time-stamping the enclosed copy
of this letter and returning it to our messenger, who has been instructed to wait.

Please do not hesitate to contact the undersigned (collect) in Paris at (011-33)1-53-89-70-00
should you have any questions.

Very truly yours,

Enclosure
cc: Regis Ramseyer
Arcelor SA

ABU DHABI | BEIJING | BRUXELLES | DUSSELDORF | FRANCFORT | HONG KONG | LONDRES | MANNMEIM | MENLO PARK
MUNICH | NEW YORK | PARIS | ROME | SAN FRANCISCO [ SAO PAULO | SINGAPOUR | TOKYO | TORONTO | WASHINGTON, DC
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Message from the Chairman of the Board of Directors

DPear Shareholders,

rcelor is proud of the outstanding results achieved in 2005. These shoived a ‘sharp
improvement over the already excellet, results reported in 2004 despite less favourable
business conditions at the end of the year! S i 5

A feature of 2005, indeed, was the fall in apparent steel consumption in our main markets due to-a
combination of massive inventory rundowns; steadiily: falling spotiprices over the year ahd-a’significant
rise in the price'of raw materials. S T R : & e
During the course of 2005, global steel output rose; by,(a'%..Apparem consumption of finished ste;ei
products grew in roughly the samie proportions and now exceeds 1 billion tonnes: However, this-growth

was very unevenly spread across the major regions. Onitside China, apparent consumnption fell by1%, .. /

- mainly dié to Beavy inventory rundowns:id the:European Union (EW 25) and North America. China,
on'the otherhand, recorded a fise of 23%. = o ™" e o R

bespite thése conditions, Arcelor's revenues rose by 8.1%:to 326 bil lion euros, whilé EBIDY TA amounted 10
€5.6bn; versus €4.5bmin 2004 Net profit amounted to £3,8bn, compared with €2.3bn'in 2004, while,
strong cash generation enabled Arcelor to reduce net debt by €13bn. - : ‘ R

Return on'.capital employed reached 26.5% in 2005.’Arééiorf5" pohcy of {’a\iouﬁhg margins:ovér volumes

and concentrating on high value added products, adopted at ‘the"Group's inception, is proving both, - .

sound and highly profitable for our shareholders.:

" These outstanding results are clear evidence'that the Arcelot
_rightone. ’ " g :

Since'its.formation in 2002, after é-resoundingly successful initial phase of integration and:conselidation;

in 2004 Arcelor embarked on a phase of transformation and growth with equal success.

- After taking contiol 6 CST, a méjbr Brazilian producer of flat carbon steel, in 2005, Arcelor
combined its South American assets within‘a riew company, Arcelor Brasil. Also, Arcelor
took control of Acesita, Latin: America’s-only producer,of stainless steel, thus becoming

a new continuous pouring line at CST. Arcelof Brasil’ naturally respecls the: social“and

environmental standards that have made cur'model'so strong, while ensuring that-6ur
South Ameficanoperations are highly profitable: : . L s

has embarked.on a major inveéstment in long produeéts. =

Meanwhile, Arcelor successfully ‘completed” its  takeover of the Canadian :steelmaker
- Dofasco, a mave-fillly-in line’ with- the. Group's, industrial and strategic thinking: This
investment has strengthened: Arcelor's hand in high.value added products and given
it an enviable position in.the Notth American‘automotive industry market...

To continue serving the Chineseimaiket, Afcelor is in the process of acquiring

this fast:growing national:inarket. The provincial government of Shandong

v - recently approved this plirchase, dnd:the,central government in Beijingis
. expected to endorsé it shortly. R o :

b Growth is one of the wiays in. which we are pursuing our goal of;

has: increased stea(ylil)/7 since: the birth of Arcelor. This was

Arcelor's - shaie price rising by more- . than 31%

 the leading steelmaker on thisfast-growing continent. This-efficient production setupis.
currently being sirengthened notably with the construction: of a third blast furnace and- ;

In Poland, Arcelor strengthened its presence with the acquisition of Huta Warszawaand

a 38.41% stake in Laiwu Steel Corporation, one of the ‘top ten producers in, -

maximizing returns for: Arcelor’s. shareholders. And our 20057
results further demonstrated our capacity to create value, which -

reflected. by the rewrating, -of - Arcelor’s - shares; with'

model Worls and that its strategy-is the S




between January and December 2005 Also, we have introduced 3 more dyngm.jch:dividend«pol.ic_v. The
Board of Directors wijl be PIopesing to the Annual Genperal Meeting 4 gross dixf1¢ejld'of;€ 1.20 per
share, compared with €0.65 for 2004, : . BRI IR X R
; Moreover, the Board hag dedéred itsfstipport for
payqu'brate of30% over the business avcle;

a proactive dividend policy in‘the shapeofa normalized
and hag bledged to repyrn excess Cash tci;Sha’réhq!ders’.

Arcelor <an face the fugyre wjthfconﬁdebn‘ce‘ -After an Outstanding veat in"2005, We expect 2006 1o be

another very good year for the steel marker and for-gur Group., Arcelor will be Steppingup the pace of

. ransformation in regions whje growth.potential s high. With 15 larger scale, and:whilg Continuingto

" push down’ costs, Arcelor eXpeECts. 1o, g0 on improving its Performarice and Bdaranteeing long-term

retums.for itg shareholders. A o ' . e R
The ré organised Croup"Man‘angniépt

‘Board, with
'perfo:ma;xce. c .

just four membe@,f}Wi\]} fégﬂfiz@ke" this 'c'i”r'jvé",to boost
* Arcelor will be pursuing - ang QCCEJEraLing - the paceof develo sound.
inse, deing, it will lremaih,,\fa_izh[u! 10 the .phiiosophy, that has guided’ it sinc,
“respect for tough Standards in,tgrms of health and safety and sustain,

also maintained i
Ompany o sjpy aglo

able devel opmen
o The Crotip has

- the first steel ¢

and ethical spheres. o
| c;ialf‘:es,ponsibility.;,]fhis agreement ¢
o o TRIMEN 0 applying the same denxaxxdilwg,s‘bcia! and environmena) _
ghout the Group: Arceloy has also instituted 4 Code of Ft’hics;'lhmughi

5 "_g'x‘)sure"compliance, whereverij operates around the'wo ' ame eleme; ¢

ithat everyone i entitled T fro;

10'expect fromg responsible ¢o

Arcelot was

Iparation: -

Furtheg Arcelor is compliantwith the'strictest stand

< Arcelor has been ially concerned with -the Scrupulous. applic
. governance regarding 1y ‘ Quality of disclosure, and the balan
Lhairman of the Board of Directors fef £ 1

- thhef(f;r()up Managemen; Board:is

ctors. The majority of Directors are -
.~ indepéndent, 35 defined by clear and transparent Criteria. T committecs (the Audit ~Ommittee
and the Appointinents and,Remuneraﬁc}nv’Committee), backed by strier jntéﬁnal”coﬁ}éro] Procedures,
“have beén put in place, and high quality financial ricati fith investors and sharetiolders are -
the A0rm at Arcelor S o T I T :

highly sticcessfu, Arcelar is 1k
a:Mmember of e “Global
5

100 Most Sustainalle Corporations i the: World”
Corporations most deeplymm‘mmed,to sustain

onaglobal

O-have been nade -
;‘,dis’tii_nguisbing the.
scale; i :

 In'thelight of 5
e which involves

i thege faade"th
bursuitof the Gre

- "The Board of Direct
glarantee of vajye

approved tﬁé.étfateglc pian for '2(_)6642008,' '
sharehoidép Teturns, o o

Ofs considers: that continuing to impj
Creation forits Sharéholders, ’
1o conclude, would
de\namism{ and devotio
e Wewill byild

ement Arcelot's existing strategy is the best
like 1o thank the men

0 have enabled-us o ach
Arcelor’s future.

and women who
ieve thege remarkg

work for the. Gyroug. Their skils,
ble results 02005,

and with them

B }‘bseph Kinsch

.« Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Interview with the CEO

ow did Arcc oF parfomx in 20052 ‘ : :

Events in 2005 confi rmied the suctess of the Arcelor mode\ Iookmg back aver 1he last four
years since the’ formation of the Group, we have every reason 1o, be proud of ourselves.

i ‘The synergies derived from the merger have eXceeded our expectations; Jour 2005
earnings were excellem and, regardmg safuv, we have dmded our acc;dant rate by four smce 2002. -

In addition, the (Jroup upheld its commltments in the envlronmemai and social ﬁdds in 200),
introducing: a Code.of Ethics, injtiating and organising the Ultra Low: CO, Steelmakmg (ULCOS)
project, signinga social respon51b1lny agxeemem and emermg the D!SI the-global benchrmrk mdex .
for socially responmblg mvestmem L . .

Today, Arceloris;a European and Laun Ameman steelmaker, smvmg 1o balance the demauds of our'
shateholders and ofail our stakeholders as we pursue our growth ’ )
w hat arethe key mg,rec’;wnis o? Lhzs stecess? e :
in the first place, this succéss is rooted in the commltmem of the (JOLlp $.97, 000 emplovces who
make a daily contribution toithe fulfilment of Arcelor’s ambitious goals: Also; the Group is investing:
actively in research and deve opment and’in keeping its’ 1ndustnal facilities: on- the technological-
cutting edge. With: its: unnvalled distribution. network; Arcelor is'a local suppher the world over, /"
maintaining close links“with 'its customers ‘and forging:long-term" pannershlps withi ther) T’ &
addition, Arcelor-has always, smved to preserve good workmg LOI]dmOI]S and proteal the env1ronmem :

Therefore, I would say thn the ke ingredients. of Arcelor’s sticcess in 700’5 are: an excellent hmnaal
performance, inhovation; respect; and ‘the quality of the: reldtlonshlps we have sustained with- allk
of our stakehiclders over the long tefm. | would even,.say these are p'xrt of the Groups -
personality: ' ' '

These. mgledlems have nndL Arcelor- Lhe undlspmed glObal benchmark for
innovative, envnonmentally friendly steel soluuom /
Hmw was {he Gx oup's grovith stralegy, :mpkimmod i1 20052 :
Aﬁer the initial mlegr'mon phase, which-was an: acknowl edged success, we are
pushmo forward with our drive to become:d trul) global steelmaker; in so doing;'we
are:aiming (0. create-even greater value for our sh'lreho ders andall our %takeholders
This is'the qtntegv we are nnplame_mmg ln 2005 we combmed our Brazlhan long
and flat mrbon stéel assets 10 form Arcelor Brasil, quoted on the Sao Paulo Stock Exchange -
sinee Decemmber!Arcelor can already claim to'haveiaddeda further €3.4bni in value iny
Latin Ametica;and-is currently pursuing promising growth projects there Also last.
year we entéred the Czech Republic, anid strengthened our operatlons in Poland
and Russia: [n February 2006, Arcelor Brasll took stakes m several compameq m'f
Costa Rica. ' : :
[)oﬁsco ]omed Arcelor in early 20006. lhm acqmsmon in Cmada is-a crucial
part:of Gur current expansion drive: Dofdsco is a major company with an -
illustrius past, just like Arcelor. Jam glad that ourtwo companies, with
so rmny shared values; have deuded 10 pool then outstanding;




”9006 _2008: maximizing value creation for the Group’s shmeiwlders
a?ui06ﬂ€ﬂﬂing3ncn%uzngaaxhj&nv

complememary strengths. The Group thus has an‘excellent platform from whxch to develop its:
e*qaansmn in the North American automotive industry. " ,

We are continuing to grow actively in 2006, with three l\e'v goalq _ ,

2 keepmg our Furepean production facilities in-the vanguard of compeuuvencss, :

- strengthening out world leadership in the automotive sector outside Europe; o
s accompanymg -growth in.emerging counmes steel consumpuon and securmg access to kompetmve: .

sources ‘of mtermedlate productq : : o

"iA new oq}anization hds been put in place to achieve-thése am'bitious Objectives.« Cm‘l'you teil us:

[ more about this? : .
We: have ‘recently reorganised the Group Managemem Board to drive forward: Arcelors growﬂ o

-7 strategy: Having successfully integrated and transformed Arcelor, we can-now move 1o.a streamlined

- miandgement structure. With four members instead of eight, it is even more flexible and co]leglale_‘
“than-before; aliowmc s to-adapt more easily.and qmd\ly 10" thc mc:edsmglv globai nature (

bu%mc es. - " s

We have also decided 1o orgam/e the company mto Busmeas Umts based: on both our busmess ;,

et acnvmes\and our broad geograph1cal m arkels : :

w We vull mam{am the fundamennl dnvers of Arcelors success aver the last fous vears, wnh a: "
: perpuua! emphasxs on value creation, innovation, heahh and safuy ‘close Ie.lahonshlps wuh our“'

: customets, premium service, respca for different cultures md strong corporme govemance

L How d() y(m see Arcelor’s performmcc in thc mgdmm term? :
* Arcelot has buill a business mode! that aims 1o maximizé cash flow over Lhe cvcle and e} guaramee .
‘ sustamable profitability by focusmg on high-margin’ products

We are currently embarkmg on our strategic plan for 2006 7008 with the followmg key ob;ecuvgs =
R normahyed EBITDA of €7bn; maintaining-free cash flow of €4:4bn per year; and value- accretive”
o acqmsmons that guarantee @ réturn on capital empioyed (RO( E)in excess ofl %, e

Our 2005 results testify 1o Arcelor's success over ‘the vears, and thev have booqted otk
i capacxtv to keep. moving forwards. We owe this success 1o all ofour employees and parmus {want

" 1oexpress my. gratitude, and that.of the Group Management Board ‘1o'each-of'the Group s emplovees
for thur contribution o tthe excelient results. : : :

Guy Dolié
ChiefExecutive Officer

W
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Governing bodies

rcelor ensures good ‘corporate governance by rigorously applying: rules concerning
transparency, quality of reporting and the balance of ‘powers. .. : ‘

: The functions of.Chairman of the Board:of Directors, ahd Chief Executive Officer are
clearly separated. Directors are classified according torindependence criteria, and no member of
executive managemeit is a'meniber-of the Board of ‘Directors.: Two-Board-evel committees. (the
Audit Committee and the: Appsintments and Remuneration Committee) ha}‘fe been set'up; alongside
internal control procedures, to promote, support and monitor: proféssionalism and transparency.

Board of Directors o . v . e : o .
'The Board-of Directors is, made up of 18- Non-Executive Directors appoirited by the Gereral Meeting.
of Shareholders. The Board is interrational in nawire, with six‘different nationialities represented:

<

A Board selfiassessmént procedure was faunched in 2005, This self-assessment ‘concerns the

organization ‘of Boaid. meétings. and follow-up activities, the compbsit‘iénpf‘t‘he\ Board; its missions

" and ‘operatiiig procediires,’ the femuneration of its members, and the operating procedures of its.

commnuittees.

Members of the Roard of Directors

+ Joseph Kinsch * Manuel Ferndndez Lopez
Chairman of the Board of Directors Director
¢ José Ramén Alvarez Rendueles e H.R.H. Prince Guillaume of Luxembourg
Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors Director
» John Castegnaro * Michel Marti
Director Director
¢ Jean-Yves Durance « Daniel Melin
Director Director
¢ Nf)él Forgeard s Edmond Pachura
DITCC{)(?Y Director
*) efm-l ferre Hansen e Francisco Javier de la Riva Garriga
Director Director
e Ulrich Hartmann . .
Director . (ygorges Schmit
* Corporacion JMAC BV represented by Director
Ramén Hermosilla Martin ¢ Selrgio Silva de Freitas
Director Director
¢ Hedwig De Koker ¢ Fernand Wagner
Director Director

Secretariat of the Board of Directors

s Paul Junck
CGeneral Secretary




~ ‘s: Georges Schmit

<o Joseph Kinsch, Chairman

.o Jean-Pierre Hansen. - 00 S PR
‘o Edmond Pachura : ‘ o

Roland juack
“SeniorExecutive
"~ Vice-President

5
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TAndit Commiltee

The mission of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board of Directors in its tole as controller of the
company and the Group. Its. members are: L ' TR

¢ losé Ramon Alvarez Rendueles; Chairman : .

+ Hedwig De Koker : : : T . P

. Jean-Yves Durance ' : : ; -

&@gminifm*nfs and Remungration Committee

. The principal mission of the:Appointments and Remineration Commijftee is.10. submit proposals 1o’
the Board of Directors.on the remuneration: of Management Board members, and on the .

appointment of new Directors and'Management Board members: Tts membeis.are:

¢ José Ramon Alvarez Rendueles

CManagement Board : o R e ' : :
" ~The members of Arcelor'siManagement Board are"appointed by, Arcelor's Board of Directors.. The
Manageiment Board structure was altered on 1 January: 2006 in order 10, s-ireérnline decision-making:
“and-enhance collegial responsibility. =~ "7 BN At Fapg e D

(N

e et PRI ,
- ‘\:fi}‘ ot Miched Wirth o . -
President of the Group-Management Board Vice-President of the Group Management Board;.
: S CEO Deputy CEQ ’ RS

CFO. 7 -

tanagenient Boar

Seniot Executi

Ve Vice-President -




. area for” Arcelor.” Arcelor already

‘creates lorge potential synergies.

NORTH. AMERICA
With. ‘the ~acquisition of major
Canadian steel producer Dofasco,::
Arcelor has an excellent. position in'i:
the American market. North America
is the ‘world's lorgest aitométive |
market, and is new a prime growth

worked with Dofasco as part of the.
DoSol galvanized steel joint venture .,
in the USA, and the acquisition

Dolasco will be able to source slab
steel” from Arcelor Brosil ot very
competitive prices, and it will be able
to exchange technologies with
Arcelor's other units in both Europe
“and Brazil. « :

| SOUTH AMERICA b

- Arcelor Brasil is latin America's largest steel company. lis flat carbon ;sfeé!

business is one of the world’s most competitive, ond ‘it is-the world’s largest
éxporter of slab steel, serving markets in the USA, Europe and:China. It is dlsot

moving into finished products, particularly galvanized steels for the automotive

industry. Investment currently being carried out will increase-capacity by 50%,
allowing it to meet growth in demand. In long carbor: steels, Arcelor Brasil bios

entered Argentina by dcquiring a majority” stake in Acindar. s also i

strengthening its positions by buying majotity stakes in several Costa Rican
companies, in order to cover the Central American market.

«r




EURCPE . :

in Europe, Arcelor has a sclid industrial base from which it supplies steel users

with high-quality products. In 2005, the Group ‘increased its production capacity

in galvanized steel for fhe automotive sector. With the acquisition of Huta

Warszawa in Poland, Arcelor has gained a strong position in long carbon steels
for the Eastern European construction market. At-Carinox in-Belgium; the Group.
is developing a very high-performance flat stainless. steel production unit. Arcelor
is also building its positions in Eastern Europe by. opening new service centres..

Lo e

PARTNERSHIPS AND GROWTH PROJECTS T
China: BNA - galvanizing lines developed in parinership with China's 7
Bao Steel and Japan's Nippon Steel Carp. ' :
Russia: Severgal — galvanizing line developed in partership with
Russian steelmaker Severstal

+ Turkey: Borcelik ~ supplier of galvanized steels
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2005 Key Figures

Revennes by sector
(in million euros}

Revenues

(in million euros)

5 Flat Carbon Steel -
3:"&? G T . Long Carbon Steel

.18,060

Stainless & Alloys

. 30476

Arcelor Steel Solutions and-Services -

Other activities

¥ Revenues’
by geographiczone

North Ameri;é 9.1%
South America 10:8%

Rest of the World 8:9%

ERITDA by sector
(in million euros)

bt : C EBITDA.

(in.million-euros)

Flet Carbon Steel

long Carbon- Steel

Staintess & Alloys 1 173

Arcelor Steel Solutions and Servides  mm. 373

" Other activities

Intragroup ¢ 3

EBIT by sector
{in'million earos)

EBIY e ‘ Flot Carbon Steel
(in million euros) ‘

~Long Corbon Steel

Stainless & Alloys B

Arcelor Steel Solutions and Services

2004 = e 3,314 Other acivities g 147

Intragroup .3




Net profit
(in million euros)

sy, 3,546

et debt
(in:million euros)

Emplovees by sector
at 31 December 2003

Flat Carbon'Steel 45,883
Long Corbion Steel: 20,31
Stainless & Alloys 13,675

"Aicelor Steel Soluficns
and Services 11,055

A

Other activities 5,37¢

e 2,260

Farnings per share
(ineuros) - -

e
i

Net debt , : Sharehb%dgr?é equity

007

. 022

Employees by gedgraphic zone
at 31 December 2003

’ . Euioée 78%
L S‘quth America 21%

North America 1%




Market information and ﬁmncm
reporting policy

Ownership structure

At 31 December 2005, the subscribed share capital of Arcelor 1otaled €3 198,871 63‘3 made up of
639,774,327 fully paid-up shares, wnhout deslanauon of par valua o ,

B Changes in ownership structige

Positi()n at.31/12/2003: © Position at 31/12/20604. ; Posi’t»ion at 31/12/2005

. o ) Number of % of % of.  Number of % of
Ownership securities  capital voting securities  capital
structure rights
Free float 378,312,084 70.97% 79.08% 521,341,205 81.49%: 85.05%

Treasury stock™

54,644,789 10.25% 0.00% 26,802,407 4.19% 0.00%

Luxembourg State”

31,632,606 5.93% 6.61% 35,967,997  5.62%

JL.MIA.C. B.V. (Aristrain)

22,076,936 4.14% 4.61% 22,730,890 355%

Wallonia region

3.35%

20,064,044  3.76% 4.19% 20,541,973 3.21%

Flanders region 12,716,419 2.39%  2.66% 0 0.00%. 0.00%:.
Employees: - 13,593,918 2.55%  2.84% 12,389,855. 1.94%:  2.02%
“Total 533,040,796 100% 100% . 639,774,327 100%:

* luxcmbowg cammm ial company law. states that mﬂv shares cuned bv the Carmpatiy itself and by direct substdmnes ,hould be'taken inta-account in:calculating
wmplm:.w with the 10%% limjt on ownership of the company’s-own capzml Ot shitres held b) indirect: subcxd:anm e ot zai‘en m(o idocountiin u‘m uzlculmwn

\/our'g rights.on shares held as.treasury. ~co¢,l are suspended.

5

The fall in emplovee share ownershlp in 2005 was. dm to the explry of 1he l”(, P §merg1€ 2000 share
ownership plan-on 20 December 2005 . S .

To the company's knowledge, no shareholdgr other than the Luxambourg State owns more than 5%
of Arcelor's capltal or voting rights. ~ : :

ockma?’}tei infor nmtzon

Llstmg

Arcelor shares are:listed on (he Luxembourg Stock hxchange, the PIEITIIE‘I‘ Marche of Euronext Bxussels,
the Premier Marche of Euronéxt Patis and the Madrid, Barcelona, B)lbao and Valendastock exchanges.
A rule-144A ADR (American Deépositary Receipt) programme’is opermnn'ﬂ in the US‘% \‘Vlth Bank of
New York as custodian banl\




Share price performance

Arcelor shares were first listed on 18 February 2002. The share price performance on Euronext Paris in

the last 18 months has been as follows:

0.54

September 2004 14.58 14.88 3,550,976 51,8

Qctober 2004 15.13 159 4.45 5,167,441 77,888

November 2004 ° 15.83 16.96 14.81 4,091,687 65,338

December 2004 16.72 17.16 16.05 3,052,949 50,813
" January 2005 16.71 17.22 16.14 3,592,992 60,0027

February 2005 18.18 19.06 17.22 4,426,802 80,589 ¢

March 2005 18.37 19.41 17.48 3,979,922 73,104

April 2005 16.71 17.66 15.43 5,491,709 91,769 - -

May 2005 15.74 16.19 - 15.12 3,873,196 60,976

jane 2005 16.18 16.87 15.68 4,186,340 7.718

July.2005. 7. 16.90 18 15.96 5,192,687 87,749 . -

August 2005, 18.06 - 18.63 17.47 3,468,534 62,625

September 2005 18.54 19.46 17.79 4,018,695 74,512

Qctober 2005 19.12 19.93 18.25 4,785,108 91,505

November 2005 20.25 20.64 19.76 4,085,483 82,742

Decernber 2005 2094 21.27 20.55 . 2,638,738 55,266

January 2006 22.61 2975 20.86 $,289,584 187,431

February 2006, -~ ) 30.12 31.51 29.23 6,590,458 198,478

Annua! share price information, 2002-2005:

2002 2003 2004

Highest price (€} 16.05 13.37 17.16

Lowest price {€). 8.12 7.61 12,60

Average during:the petiod (€} 12.82 10.61 14.50 %

Period-end share price (€). 11.34 13.37 ¢ 16.97

Period-end number-of shares 532,366,409 533,040,796 ; 639,774.327 ¢

Period-end market capitalisation (€m) ) 6,037 7,128 10.857 i

Average daily irading volume'during the period 2,206.021 2,562.938 4,037.819 7

(shares) e .

Earnings:pef share:(€) -0.25* 4.26

* Proforma, unaudited




Market information and financial reporting policy

Indexes

Arcelor isva' constituent of the' CAC 40, Euronext 100, FISEurofirst 80, IBEX. 35, LuxX and SBF 120

indexes. Arcelor.is known for its commitment to sustainable development, and is.a constituent of the

Dow Jones Sustainability Tidex Werld, the FTSE4Good Index Europé, the Global 100 Most Sustainable

Corporations in-the World, the Ethibel Sustainability Index, the Ethibel'Investment Register and Vigeo's
" Advanced Sustainable PerformanceIndex.” Sl T . :

@ SHorapnice peiformance since 1 September 2004 (rebasad}

B
W
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MSCI Metals and Mining

3

Arcélor’s  shares have .appreciated sharply. since ‘1. September. 2004 They outperformed. the
CAC, 40 index by 78%, the: Eurostoxx 50 index by 76%, and the MSCI indek by 44% between
1 Septeriber 2004 and 28 February 2006. Arcelor's shares rose significantly” on 27 January 2006

following the announcement of a plblic.tender offer for-Arcelor's shares by ‘Mittal Steel. - . :

Other securities providing access to capital

OCEANE bonds » - .0 L

On June 27, 2002 Arcelor issiied £€749,999,981.50 of bonds paying.a coupon.of 3% and matuting in
2017, with the option of conversion and/or exchange into new and/or existing Arcelor shares (OCEANE
2017 bonds). The issue consisted-of 38,961,038 bonds with-par value of €19.25 each.




“full-year results (www.arcelor.com).

-------'-"-I1

g OCEANE bond price information

Average price per quarter

June - August 2004

...September - November 2004 o e 21.25

December 2004 - February 2005 L Coe 22.14
March - May 2005 o BRI ’ i o 21.84
: June - August 2005 ' - ; S 21.77

Sepiember - November 2005 ' : Lo ' S 22,90

December 2005 - February 2006 ’ Lo 26.12

AESOPE 2006 emplovee share ow;nérshink plan

On 17 March 2006, the Board of Directors approved the AESOPE 2006 share ownership programme,

which is open to employees in 12 countiies.

Financial reporting policy

Arcelor intends to provide clear, regular; transparehl 4nd even-handed information to all individual and

institutional shareholders.

- To meet this objective and to adapt this information to the needs of allparties; Arcelor has developed
“an active and broad communications -policy involving: meetings with ‘igstititional. investors and

financial analysts, conference calls, meetings with shareholders; the shareholder guide, the shareholder

newsletter, visits to production sites and' a website featuring management comments on quarterly and

In line with its desire to provide high-quality finandial information, Arcelor is part of the NextPrime
segment of Euronext, The NextPrime segment brings together all listed companies in traditional
industries that choose to make a special effort in’terms of finandial reporting. This reflects the
importance Arcelor places on financial transharency and its aim of attaining best-ini-class international

.. standards.

~1n.2005, Arcelor adopied wide-ranging riedsures 10. futther improve the quality of itsfinancial

reporting. The aim is to meet the specific reqquitements of various gategories of investors as fully: as
possible, and 1o meet the highest international standards. Lol ’

On 20 June 2005, Arcelor won an award for the best 2004 annual repost prodiiced by a Luxembourg

company listed on the Luxembourg stock exchange. This prize was awarded by the Association
Luxembourgeoise des Gestionnaites de Portefenilles et Analystes Financiers' (ALGAFS), and recognizes
the quality of Arcelor's financial and economic repoiting in its annual report..

“On 30 November 2005, Arcelor won three prizes in'the [R Magazine Continental Europe Awards: best

investor relations by a CEQ, best investor relations by a department and the overall investor felations
prize. These awards take place annually, and are based on a survey ‘of more: than 500 professional
investors.




Market information and financial reporting policy

Institutional investors

As one of the world's leading listed companies, Arcelor constantly seeks to develop relationships with:
financial analysts and European and international investors. Conference calls are scheduled with"
analysts following releases of financial statements and:can be listened to on the Group's website:
Meetings with investors and site visits are organized throughoutthe.year. In 2005, Arcelor management
raet with almost 850 institutional investors in Europe; North America and Asia. ;

Individual shareholders

The shareholders listed:by name on thestock register, along ,w_ith other shareholders on request, dre sént

a shareholder guide and a quarterly newsletter, This newsletter, with a print run of 5,000; provides ™ s

detailed information on the Group's results-and share price performance; along with news items abotit:

Arcelor's operations and special - reports. ‘Duting the year, shareholders are invited to meet the o,
" group's Management Board-and Investor Relations Department. Nearly 4,000 shareholders took up thisao

opportunity to discuss Arcelor's ‘policy with management ‘in'2005. Arcelor also organizes stands at
financial shows. At the Actiohnariashow.in Pars on 18 and 19 November 2005, Arcelor representatives .
met over 400 visitors. At Bolsalia in Madrid (24 10 26.February2005); over 600 people requested. 7}
information about the group. : S S R RS BN T SRR

Financial reporting schedule

~Shareholders’ meeting: Con[ee 28 April 2006
First quarter 2006 results®: .+ ¢ 03'May 2006
First half 2006 results*>~ 72" o 27 July'2006.. = :
Third quarter 2006 results™: - 26 October 20067

* Results published-before-the market opens

Person in charge of investor information: Investor telations numbers;

Martine Hue; Senior Vice Ifres%dém, S Intemational freephoﬁe» number:+800 4792 4792
Head of Investor Relations 7" . Spain: 349027152153+ oo
Tel: +35247 9224 14 7. , France;+33 {0) 1.41'25:98°98.

Fax: +352 47 92 24.49 e Internet: Kttpy//www.arcelorcom’
R Email: investor.relations@arcelor.com
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Markets

Arcelor is highly. attentive to customer requirements, developing products, solitions and services
tailored to the needs of its various markets. This commercial approach 1s based on a.policy of building
long-term telagionships with clients: S

Automotive: a global market for high-value-added steels -~

The top raw material in: the automotive industry

Steel is the most widely used material in the autemotive industry. lts resilience;- energy absofpiiot];

‘ductility’ and recyclability make it'a prime choice given the ¢urrent emphasis. on - costs, safety: and.

enviroriinental protectiont

Steel.accounts. for around 40% of the wotal weight of a motor vehicle, including:

o flat cold-rolled steels with specific coatings or flat hot-rolled steels, which are used for the body in
white of cars along with-equipment such as seats, wheels and accessories, | - et
o'flat stainless steels for exhaust mufflers, fuel tanks and safety.components;in which Arceloris a world: -

~leader thanks to its innovative solutions irvnickel-free and corrosion-resistant ferritic grades, g
« long stainless steel products: ~ ¢ 8 S P

Arcelqr’ s a&vanfag es

Arcelor is thé world's leading supplier of steel to the automotive industry. [t delivered 10 rhil]‘iobn onnes
of flat steels 1o the sector in 2005,:equal to.about 15% of globat démand. = e T :

- Axcelor is a‘leading supplier of cutting-edge products, selling high- and \:éfy-high-tensi’lré stg{éls'and
" developing low-density enhanced face sheets and ultra-high-tensile face sheets. The Arcelor Body

Contept (ABC) helps to provide carmakers with new steel-based solutions to their-weight reduction

and safety imperatives.

Svt,eels of the future for ,tllé;:aﬁtomotive industry

Atcelor has putiinnovation at theheant ofits strategy for satisfying carmakers’ needs:and conistraints.
Fér instance, Atcelor is' working on highly. ductile, easily moulded and mechanically strong steels:

through its very-highstensile (VHT) steel initiative to enhance the ductility and' formability of. steel

products and solittions for the medium: To long-term futuré. The'aim isto double'ductility (VHE steels'
resistance o breakage) and to increase resistance by 50%, while retaining similar moulding and usage
properties-for customers. High manganese:content steels have heen produced by this programme.

A fast-expanding construction market

The world’

number one client market for steel

The constriction sector is the world's largest user of steel: In this market, Aicelor offers customers the
advantages of its intematiorial reach. These include its large number-of production and ‘processing
plants, a bioad product range featuring specialties such as-Aluzing -(thick-coat hot-dip galvanized
steels), and extensive experience in high-value-added products (pre-painted sheet and high eldsticity
steels). In addition, it offers construction systems for the skin of buildings, such as facades, roofing,
floors and structures. s ' -




A disparate market in search of integrated solutions

The construction market is highly fragmented, with local variaton playing a key role. As a result,
purchasing decisions can be heavily influenced by adapting solutions intelligently to each project. Since
the construction market represents a priority avenue of development for Arcelor, the cross-discipline

“Building and Construction Support (BCS) unitwas set up 10 meet the nieeds of this market as effectively

as-possible with a view to boosting performance. Arcelorstrives to offer an extensive range of combined
and -optimized steel solutions.in: all local markets by fostering co-operation between the Group's

_research teams and operational ‘units; as well as with independerit architects, research entities and

propesty developers.

The need for innovation and solutions that satisfy increasingly stringent envitonmental constraints is

-having a major impact on this knarket; R&D breakthroughs mean that steel'can inake a significant

contribution to lowering the greenhouse gds emissions cauised by heating and air conditioning systems

“in residential and commercial buildings. Solutions combining steel and other materials make it~
" possible to design more energy-efficient buildings i which heatexchangesitake place namurally.

- General Tndustry: diverse range of solutions

.The general industry market is vast and diverse, as are-the s;éel soliitions matketed by Arcelor. What' they

have in common is an unwavering focus‘on ¢ase of use'and weight Teduction.

Mostindustrial customers purchase finished products:from: Arcelor's distribution-network, except in a

few concentrated sectors such asrail wansportation. : ,
This is particularly the case in“‘mechanical engineering and priinary and: secondary processing

industries.

~ Primary processing represents an expanding market for Arcelor, in which it'serves.the needs of coaters,
re-rollers, large welded tube manufacturers, shipyards, container manufacturers and silo manufacturers.

- Arcelor markets an extensive range of solutions in. this market, covering the entire range of customer

requirements. It boasts a very wide range of flat carbon steels delivered either unueatedior with a metal

" ¢oating (very high elasticity steels for cranes; steels for thermal treatment and-oil:applications, steels for

radidtors, drums, industrial racking tanks.and gas bottles).

“In long carbon steels, Arcelor supplies-beams; merchant steels, sheet pile’ and machine wire used in

infrastructure and equipment markets;-as-well ‘as rails for the transportation market. Its wire-drawing
plants produce soft, soft-annealed and galvanized wires for vine wires; closures; concrete reinfor¢ing
wires and tacks. Lo ’ ’

Concurrently, stainless steels have made further headway in the oit and chemicals industries, with new
ferritic grades for hot water tanks and steels‘allowing lighter containers among thesolutions driving this

expansion.

Arcelor has three key growth priorities in‘these markets: -

s non-toxic, easily recyclable products'providing a high level of safety in terms:of their manufacture
and.use; ' A

» functional products offering an.attractive alternative to other materials and heélping to lower the cost
“of finished products; S

e cost-effective products, made possible by streamlined production processes, significantly reducing

wastage and thus enhancing product profitability.
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Markets

A

Packaging: a high-end, customized but competitive material

Stee! is asolid; resilient and impervious material that meets all safety and security criteria. Together with
the technical sophistication of its applications; :this makes it particularly well suited to packaging. .
Arcelor has positioned itself at the upper end of this market, and has established itself in numerous
matket segments; -including food packaging, and beverage cans, decorative: biscuit: and alcoholic
beverage packaging, paint and varnish pots, and serosols. It serves the entire spectrum of the'packaging
industty,. counting packagiﬁgmanufacture:s,’equipmentsuppiiérs, brands and designérs among its
customers; as well as major retailers: ' . : - ‘ [ S

Though a global'market, packaging is heavily reliant on the'tocal profile of consumers, with shopping ]
habits and living standards. having a major influence on purchasing decisions. To secure'a prominent.
position, market participants must not only stay. at the cutting edge:of technological progress, but also: -
keep in touch with the diverse needs of industrial companies focused on meeting the expectations of
end-custemers: Arcelor holds amarket 'share: of 34% in Eurdpe .and. has been strengthiening its’
international presence. With Creasteel, a new product range désigned to’make the productionof shaped
cans easier and more flexible Arcelor aims10 move itito-new segments of thefood packagingmarket
by competing héad-to-head with: plastic andrlightweight aluminium.packaging. In_conjuniction with.

Toyo Seikan, Arcelor is also developing plans for plastic-coated steels for the beverage sector..

Flousehold appliances: indkzﬁnifely 725}273(;%}2&2_

Steel is a highly cost-effective material for. household.appliances. It offers superior appearancg, acoustics,
sase of use and potential energy savings,‘and is also better for the environment.. -

European directives conceming the recyclingof electrical and electronic appliances due to be introduced

from 2006 represent an opportunity’to promote theiuse of steel in household appliances because of its
rermarkable ability to be recycled indefinitely. : :

The global household appliance markeremonnpaéses: ‘
o stnall @ppliances and small household equipment (cq{fee-makers, food-preparation appliances, .

cutlery Kitchen utensils, sinks, ete.), which represent a fragmentéd market

® large househbld appliances, which represent a key market for Arcelor B

Through ge.m{ine industrial-and Eon1,n1e;icia[ partnerships forged: over several years, Arcelor has kept” ‘
pace with appliance manufacturers’ relocation; 1o new geographical‘growth: areas by offering more
flexible logistics and by establishing new plants. Co B . s

The household dppliance market is characterized: by fierce competition between mahufacmrers,-
instigated to a large extent by retailers. In response, Arcelor has endeavoured toicut its customers! overall:
costs by working-with them to create value : ;




Strategy

Growth and value creation

Despite recent restructuring in Burope and elsewhere, the world steel-industry temains fragmented by
comiparison with the highly globalized sectors that supply its input-materials and purchase its output.
As a result, Arcelor's strategy involves developing positions in high:value-added products in order to
offer major customers ~ particularly in the automotive and domestic appliance industries - the same
- types of steel and the same ability to support their progress and develspmentthroughout the world.
“* However, Arcelor also aims 1@ build tarket share in countrigs-with high economic growth rates, As'a .
- result, the strategy involves a-balance between winning business iﬁ fast:growing einerging markets and-
" supporting existing multinational clients in their global expansion: ‘Thig:sensible "growth strategy
~'should also enable Arcelor 10 act as-a regulating and stabilizing force in:the global;steel market. '

A strategy combining growth, product and service quality and innovation

Ar¢elor's strategy has three main objectives: CRe L
& to-maintain the highestlevels'of competitiveness in its European prodiiction facilities :
2 » 10 consolidate its world:leading position in automotive steels in: its operations outside Europe

* s 10 support rising steél ¢

onsumption in growth countries

-+~ This global strategy of developing.industrial and geographical positions fits with rAr,c,eldr‘_spgr}maneiit_

. objective of increasing comnpetitiveness and standing out in a world miarket that remains extremely.
“competitive, despite recent consolidation. Arcelor aims to differentiate itself through therquality of its 7>
products and services, innovation and environmental protection:” B ,

“Quality and service - ; L ARG . ~ »
Arcelor sets the standard in‘quality:and innovation through the steel solutions it provides to its largest
customers. The Group also aimsto léad the market in terms of customer service. This:involves meeting
customer requirements regarding delivery deadlines, quality andsinndvation; and supporting them in.
their efforts to achieve progress and growth. ' 4

Standing out through service quality:forms a key part of Arcelor's strategy: This requires: ‘
"\ = consistent comphiance with delivery deadlines, based on'an optimaylltradé—off betiveen ‘downstrear
- production capacity and thé deadlines imposed by customers i T B
o increased involvernentin thé design of customers' productsiand in the operational implementation
" of steel solutions, in order (o help improve the efficiency and-productivity of customers' production
lines, as exemplified by Arcelor's collaboration with carmakers: i . '
o g highly efficient distributiornetwork '

In the construction market; these objectives have prompted Arcelor 1o adopta new strategic approach,
focusing on improving it levelof service. Products and services have been adjusted to meet the specific -

~ needs of customer groups.and target markets. Improved undefstanding of customer needs in this
industry will enable Arcelor to.increase customer loyalty throtgh tailored, innovative and high-quality
products and services, including‘technical assistance and supply chairrenhancement.

Innovation , : -

Arcelor's markets are becoming increasingly demanding in technical tefms. 1 response; the Group is
offering increasingly innovative solutions, which are enhancing steel’s appeal relative to rival materials
and are opening up new applications for Arcelor’s steel products. -

* Downstream phase of the producrion process: see swel production diagram




Group groyentalion

Strategy

In:this area; Arcelor is focusing omn: - : :
o reducing its use of natural resources {water, ore; materials etc:)

- 'Broad and coherent ambitions e ' S

" Arcelot's strategy aims to fulfil the Group's ambitious but cohererit’ objectivés - for
shareholders, staff and customers. It intends to-achieve growth and progress by: R TR

As a result tesearch and innovation play a key surategic role, with three main themes:

e optimizing lightness, safety, durability and-appearance by developingnew types of steel and new steel
solutions : '

‘s enabling customers 1o cut out entire phases of their processing operations by offering pre-coated,

_ prepared and assembled products ‘ ;
s seeking increased versatility and lower costs in prodiiction by improving performance and redudng
environmental lmpact ‘ : R

Environmental protection i : O :

Steel can be recycled indefinitely‘and, in’certain applications, 90%. of steel can be Teused: 1t is-an

intrinsically environmentally-friendly material. Arcelor's strategy s 1o trn these qualities into a major
{vantage, particularly in the packaging; automotive and onstruction sectors. . o '

» eliminating discharges of pollutants i
» reducing CO, emissions from steel production;.

‘¢ increasing the.energy efficiency of its processesiand enstiring that p‘roauyc_Lsy meelfmﬁfe environmental

. standards

e Itiaking,high-tensile steels that enhance vehicle safety while reducing vehicle weight.and therefore

CO, emissions in use

e reusing by-products

Creating value

: Arcelor's overriding ohjective is 10 protect the interests of its'shareholders. its'development strategy.is

based on high-value-added products and an investrent policy that ensures excellent retuiras on capital
employed. Arcelor is very careful to carry-out the right amount of investment, It avoids ovetinvesting,

50 as' not to threaten the ‘Group's dividend policy. It also avoids anderinvesting, ensuring that

production assets are well maintainecl and at the leading edge of technology, developing new products
and investing in growth, : . : : : )

Vt‘héy;' benefit of

¢ maintaining world-class production facilities

# carrying out constant innovation through a dynamic’and targeted R&D-policy 5 _

» making further improvements to the Group's social policy, the quality of which is widely
acknowledged ' ' R

s continuing to set the standard in operational performance and achieving further improvements

< stiiving for excellence in its commercial and technical operations NCHE A

o having a dynamic and skilled international management team

¢ applying a balanced and transparent growth model that respects the interests of all shareholders and
stakeholders. : L




Production facilities

Arcelor has high-performance production facilities, which feature the latest technological innovations
and are ideally suited to customer needs. The Group’s versatile, modern facilities enable Arcelor to
manage production closely in line with actual market demand. This' industrial policy is based on a
focus on margins over volumes. Arcelor deliberately reduces supply when necessary due to falls in
actual consumption. This ratiohal management of production requires intelligent forecasting of actual
market requiremenits, and helps Arcelor stabilize revenues by limiting the price volatility that has
traditionally characterized the steel market. : : : e

within the Arcelor Group: ‘the flat carbon steel-.production  system consists -of “upstream -and
downstream segments, each of which involve specific techinical and economic factors. The upstream
segment includes the production of blast-furnace cast- ifon, the production of crude:steél and hot- 4
rolling. Production ‘at the various sites is pooled; and the main objective is 10 produce high-quality sldb
steel and hot-rolled coil at a.competitive cost. To achieve this; Arcelor's upstream production systemiis
being reorganized, with ‘the gradual closure of inland sites and efforts to build tip coastal sites in |
Germany, -Belgium, . Spain: and France. Logistics costs, mainly telating to the transportation.of raw.
materials, meansthat inland sites are much less comipetitive. ‘ e

In Brazil, Arcelor h)as(ka ‘highly efficient production system at GST, which is the world's largest suippli‘e'r of .-
slab steel’and-one.of the world's most competitive steel: prodiicers. To-capitalize on CST's:expertise and

gain exposure to'market-growth as effectively as possible, Arcelor is i‘mplgn1enting'an aggressiverplantos -,

increase GSTls production ‘capacity by 50%. This niew capacity is set to come onstream in-late 20065

The upstreany ségm,eryl_t supplies. -hot-roled coil [o’thei downstream ségment in' line with specified

deadlines and at mafkeg prices: The downstream segment is'made up of systems that.turn out finished -

products: 'cold-roiliﬁg,* galvanizing and electro-galvanizing, -organic  coating and tin-plating:lines,
Downstreanyprodiction-units are located close to their clients, and are in permanent contactwith them
to ensure that, product” and service quality meets “their. expectations. Arcelor has a number of
parnerships with other steel companies, and is increasing its geographical coverage further in order 1o
meet client requirements. It i involved in building new galvanizing lines that will be tised mainly w
supply the automotive ifidustry in China, Russia and Turkey. ' ‘ Y

Arcelor is also moving into new markets through acqﬁi:éitiéns. The putchase of Dofasco in Canada will!
give the Group, a high-performance production base in: North America, working-in synergy with units -
in Europe and Brazil:and-stretigthening Arcelor's positionsin the global automotive stéel migrket
In long carbon'steels, Arcelor's production system consists mainly of electric-arc furnace, in whichsteel =+
is made from scrap metal. Some of the long steel produced i Brazil is made from cast iron, whereas: .

in Argentinia: the Group: has an iron ore direct reduction: unit that feeds an electric arc furpace. The "

geographical location. of long carbon steel production units is' designed to address markets that-are
generally local in natdre. The ‘Group already has a strong presence in Western Europe and latin
America, and is expanditig its industrial base in new rnarkets by acquiring majority stakes indocal steel
companies, in orderto gain exposure to these markets! growth. Alongside its acquisitions, Arcelor has
industrial projects tha{ will improve product and service quality for clients, while meeting growing, -
demand. Arcelormoved into Poland in 2005, Costa-Rica in early 2006; and wilt soon-enter Morocco
in order to serve the broad North African market. fn China, Arcelor is finalizing a strategic pattnership.

with local steel producer Laiwu. ‘ \ ;

In stainless steels, Arcelor is restructuring its flat steel-production system with the introduction ofanew
electric steelworks.at Carinox and an adjoining hot-rolling plant in order to streamline production
flows. There will be:two plants specializing in flat stainless steels in Belgium, supplying the French-and
Belgian cold-rolling mills. Brazil's Acesita is South Ammerica's leading producer of stainless steels, and -
makes stainless steel from cast iron. ’

Arcelor's proditction system is rounded off by nurerous processing and finishing anits, which have
direct links to clients.
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‘Fconomic environment

In 2005, global growth remained ;ﬁrm'despit'e a sharp rise in oil prices. World GDP rew by 3.5%,
& gr ; ’ g )

inflation remained under control and long-term interest rates stayed low.

The US economy grew by 3.4%, afthough there was a slight slowdowfi il the fourth quarter. GDP ose

" by around 3% in Canada and Mexico:

17 Central and South Améﬁrc’a' '(ej;("dugin’g Mexico), the eco norﬁ\y grévé by 4.8% ‘on the back of export-
friendly conditions such ashigh commodity prices and strong démand from-China. tt

_In Asia ex-Japan, econoric growth remained very strong. In China, GDP rose by 9.9% while industrial

production was up 15.9%: In:India,. GDP expanded: b 7.2% and industrial production by 8.3%.
; panaed by p

Japan's economy grew by 2.5%.

As in previous years, Europe (EU.l‘Sk) lagged’béhiud, with GDP grm;zlh ofonly1.6% and-a QLG% rise:in’
industrial production. Other EU ‘counitries saw much stronger, performance, with Poland achieving

GDP growth of 4.5%.

i Turkey's e;cononiy expanded by 5.15/0 in 2005, and ;its»indu‘strivély production rose by 5.5%. The CIS:
" posted growth of 6.5% in GDP and 4.9% in industrial production. In' Russia,” manufacturing
production tose by 6.1%, altholgh some sectors suffered from the stronger roublé. T :

- Perforinance of steel-using:sectors

© - Globally, all steel-using sectorssawstiang giowth in'2005, although there were'wide variations between

geographical zones. Productionin the automotive industry rose by mare than. 119 in India; Brazil and

“CHina, 3.3% in the USA and 3:8% in-Russia: In Europe, however, production fell by 1.07.%.

Production of machinery ‘also rose ‘strongly in emerging countries '(411.2%( in-India and +29% in
China); but also in the USA (#4:8%) and Russia (+4%). Meanwhile, there were deckines of 1% in
Europe (EU15) and in Brazil ) : : :

“In metalworking, growth was pai‘ticulérly fobust in China (+26%)‘ and Tur’k'ey (+47%). Production - *

increased by 3.1% in the USA and by 1.5% in the EU15, :

The construction sector benefited from, firm momentum in the global economy. Construction activity

rose by 4.6% in the USA, 9% in C'Hin,a., 6.1% in‘India.and 7.3% in-Russia, butonly 0.2% in the EU15,.
reflecting the gloom in the Buropean éconiomy: it '
Household appliance production dlso saw strong growth in-2003; +11 1% in the USA, +11.2% in India,
+18.5% in China, +12.9%:ii1 Turkey, and +4.2% in Russia, comfortably offsetting the 2.0% decline in
Europe. : o ‘

Worldwide steel production”

world ciude steel production totalled 1.129.4 million-tonnes in 2005, an increase of 5.9% relative to

2004, Regional trends contrasted: sharply: Most of this growth came from ‘Chinese steelmakers, which

increased production by 24.6% 1o 349.4. million tonnes. As a result, China accounted for 31% of the
world total as opposed to 26.3% in.2004. Despite unchanged production levels in Japan, growth of
16.7% in India means that Asia now produces half of the world's steel. Meanwhile, steelmakers in
Europe and North America cut prodhiction volurnes by 3.6% and 3.3% respectively.




World (%) ‘ §63.8 96971 1066757
Europe . 3085 319.4 338.6
El1 25 180.9 184.0 193.4
EU15 158.7 ° 160.5 168.3 -
CIS(***) « 101.1 106.2 113.1
. -North and €entral-America . 122.9 ‘, 126.2 134.0
USA" R ' 91.6 93.7 99.7
South America 40.9 43.0 45.9
Brazif. .o - 29.6 31.1 329
Asia - 394.9 442.4 508.7
China . K 182.2 2224 280.5
“Japan . 107.7 110.5 112.7

_'Other countries. e 36.6 38.1 39.3
(%) 131 estimates, Tanuary 2006 ’ ‘ L o

B Woridwide trude sieel producrion {7}

in millions of tonnes 2002 ' 2003 2004

") World =61 countries representing 98% of worldwide crude steel production
{(***J'CIS = Russia, Ulraing, Relarus, Moldova, Kazakhstan and Uzbelistan ..

China increased. production by 69 million tonnes relative fc_) 2004, while;the rest of ‘Lhé‘wdrvl‘d,c}m' .

“production by 6 million tonnes.

- Worldwide steel consumption

Apparent world ‘consumption of finished steel products ‘rose by, around 6% to.over 1, billio'n‘tonn'e'ék’
in 2005. Apparent consumption trends varied very.widely between: the regions. Quiside China,

““apparent consumption fell by 1.0%, mainly dueto:a substantial decline in.Eutope (EU25).and Nonh

Arnerica. Within.Chiria, however, apparent consumption rose by 23%; As:a result, China now acounts:

" for almost 32%.: of world, steel demand. While Europé (EU25) dnd North Amé;ica‘ sharply increased

steel inventories in 2004 due to expectations of piicé-increases; inventories were mn-do\\%ﬁ»‘jd'\"mc)é‘;j‘
Apparent: consumption' trends were as follows: Europe {EU25) -6%; North' America -7%; South:
Ametica 0.0%; CIS +5%; Asia (excluding China).+5%; Middle East +3%. EERRNE R

" These iniventory reductions-caused a significant fall in spot steel prices in the: first. half of.2005; -

Inventories stabilized in the third quarter, allowing prices to level off and even rise slightly' in'some:
regions. In China, however, there has recently been substaiitial price deflation. : :

Commentary on 2005

In 2005, Arcelor strengthened its international positions and reaped the benefits of its business model:
generating excellent results despite an economic background that was less.favourable than in 2004...

A number of industrial development projects iuitiated in previous. years reached their operational . -
phase, enabling Arcelor to address new markets. Tl

3
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In flat carbort steels, Arcelor moved into new geographical sections of the automotive market. In China
two galvanizing lines came onstream at Baosteel-NSC/Arcelor Automotive Steel Sheet Co. Lid (BNA).
These two lines represent annual production capacity of 800,000 tonnes, BNA was set up in July 2004
by Baosteel, China's leading steel producer, alongside Nippor Steel Corporation and-Arcelor, As well as
the two galvanizing lines, the facility also has cold-tolling installations. In Russia, Severgal's new
galvanizing line started production. This new line has annual capacity of 400,000 tonnes, and produces
hot-dip galvanized steels, mainly for the Russian automotive industry. Severgal is a Russian company
that is 25%-owned by Arcelor and 75%-owned by Severstal,‘one of Russia's leading steel producers.

In Jong carbon steels, f\rcélpr combleled the acquisition of Polish: steel producer HutaV\’arsZﬂwa from

the Lucchini group. This Warsaw-based company has an electric steelworks with annual production B

capacity of 600,000 tonnes, along'with rolling mills that' tiiriyout. 300,000 tonnes of long:special steel
and alloy products per year. Arcelor will strengthen Huta Warszawa’s existing production facilities to
meet heavy demand fronr the Polish construction industry: In'the steelcord market, Arcelor atquired
50% of Severstal Metiz's stéelcord production business as paft‘ of 3 joint v_énture'betWeen the two
companies. The new company, named TrefilArbed Russia, has twoiproduction units in Russia. Thig deal
strengthens Arcelor's position as the world's second-largest producer:of steelcord. In ‘Souith. America,
Arcelor Brasil signed an agreemient to acquire a 50% stake in two'Costa Rican companieé‘(Laminaddra
Costarricense SA -and. Trefilertia Colima} from. Grupo Pujol Marti.” Laminadora Costarricense SA. -
producés merchant bdr and, concrete reinforcing “bar-and: has dnnual production <apacity. of

400,000 tonnes, Trefileria Colima produces wire products, and-hascapacity of 60,000 tonnies peryear.

This represents Arcelor's first investment in Costa Rica, and gives it a strategic position in the:Central

-American long carbon steel market.

In stainless steels, production-started at the new steelworks at the Ugine &-Alz Carinox site in Charleroi,
Belgium: The new Carinox plant represents an investment of €241 m;.and has the capacity 10 praduce
1 million tonnes-of stainless steel per year: Ivwill replace two stnaller, non-integrated-steelworks. In the

Czech Republic, Arcelor subsidiary Matthey SRO - ‘specializing in’stainless steel exhaust tubes

inaugurated its new production plant. €15m has been invested in this plant.

In distribution and transformation, Arcelor inaugurated the second phase of Stal Serwis Polska's facility \
in Bytom, Poland; The three new pressing lines and the new. slitting machine will' allow production to
be increased. This. project is strengthening Arcelor's position in high-value-added products and services
in EasternyBurope. a : ' e e [ TN

2005. also’ saw Arcelor bolster its:activities in Brazil aiid Arge’ntina,’withfﬂﬁe creation of*Arjc;élorBr'a'sil, B

~ which combines CST, Vega do Sul, Belgo and its subsidiary ‘Acindar. Arcelor Brasil is Latin America's:

largest'steel company. - S e e

Arcelor's financial results werfe excellent, with EBHDA»u'p 2690at €5.6bn and net profitof €3.8bn. This
performarnce resulted from Arcelor's policy of limiting production; which supported selling prices, and
from its aclive cost-cutting and reorganization efforts. The synergy target of €700m, set when Arcelor
was created in 2002, was achieved one year ahead of schedule: Since.2002, efficiency gains have totalled
€1.9bn. The. financial: position is strong, with gearing now.?% following a €1.4bn reduction in net
debt during 2005. Return on capital employed was 26.5%: Earqings per share rose by 49%6:t0 €6.26.




Revenues and earnings

In inillions of euros ' ' 2004*

Revenues . ' ) 30,176

EBITDA - T 4,461 :

EBIT - . ' 3,314

Net profit LT T T 2,290
- Earnings per share (in euros) L i 4.21"

- Consplidated Cfoup revenues were €3'2,61} m in: 2005, up from €30,176m in 2604, an~itlcréésef of 8:1%

AR Yoms Fimroe
B Group key figures

"_ CST consolidated as of 1 Ociober 2004 and Acindar asof 1 Klay, 2004, comparative figures resated Jor the in

** Inchiding 106,629,054 new shares issued on 27 July 2004, excluding own shares
*** Acesita consolidated: as of 1 October 2005 : X .
*+*+ ncluding own shares :

Troduiction and:Te

o1 3.9% at comparable scope: 5pot steel prices fell sharply in-the third quarter. It rgspbqse, shipments fell
by 3.4% overall and 12.9% in Europe, and‘production was reduced (by 11.4% in Europe) ' cot

Group consolidated EBITDA was €5,641m, up frorri €4,461m in 2004, and indudéd ‘€106m‘:o‘fv Aon-:
recurrent items. These excellent resitltsiwere driven by efficiency gains at CST in Brazil and Acindar in
Argentina, along with higher avérage"selling(pﬁéés (except in stainless'steels). They came in spite of a sharp
increase in raw materials costs. o Lo : ’ s S

Group consolidated EBIT rose from €3;314mito €4,376m, including €198miof ri:on-retui',r’en{ipenis.’

After net ﬁnancié.l charges of €254m; a €31 7m contribution from companies accountéd for by the equity
rmethod, a tax charge of €161m and €432m of minority interests, consolidaied net prefif was €3,846m;
up from €2,290m in 2004. ' e '

Fhe tax charge was €161m, giving an effective.tax rate of 3.9%. The current tax charge'of €396m (€360m

in 2004):was reduced by deferred tax income of €235m. This deferred tax income resulted from the usage, :
in accordance with IFRS, of annually-assessed:tax Tosses; on the basis of the positive'outlooK'included in . : RS
the Group's business'plan : W g SRR DTN

]

Net debt

8 Net delit and gearing

In millions of ewros . . 2004

Shareholders' equity” . 12,227
Net debt : : 2,642 -

Net debt / sharcholders’ equity” : , 22%

() Including minority interests and restated for residual goodwill

The Group reduced its net debt by €1,385n in 2005, from €2,642m at 31 December*Z()O# 10-€1,257m
at 31 December 2005. .
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| 31 Déceimber 2005 against:22% a'year eartier. This is-significantly L

Return on capital empl@yed

@ Retunton capital employed (ROCE) béfore tix
" Net additions to. financial provisions - :

“ for using the equity. method

;. Dividenids.received”

Tax adjustiment on investments
" Totall

‘ -Fixed assets;:

Total 11

. Flat.Carbon Steels

Strong cash generation enabled Arcelor to cover its working capital requirement through stringent.
inventory management, despite high raw materials costs. Capital expenditute rose to €2bn, due 10
expansion in. Brazil; where CST's production was increased by 2.5 million tonnes;, while:capex was
maintained at an optimal level in Lurope (€1.1bnj). : : R '
Gearing, (net debt as a proportion of shareholders' equity including minority interests) was 7% at
¢ lower than the cycle-average target of.: s
35-50%. " S R e SRR <

In millions of euros
EBIT. | !

Share of results in companies dccounted for using the equity methad:
(after tax) J - . L .
Tax adjustment:on.share of results'in companies accounted’

Capital employed:

Working capital requirement -~
Provisions {*) .

Return on capital employed (I/11) (ROCE)

{*). provisions excluding deferred tax:

Capital expenditure
Arce}lor.”s éapi{al expenditure was €2,040m in 2005, an ingease 6 more than 50% with réspéd 10:2004.

B Copiral expenditure

th millions of euros

Long:Catbon Steels
Stainless Steels and Alloys
A3S

Other businesses

Total

In Flat Carbow Steels, capital expenditure totalled €1.391bn. Arcelorinvested €711m in Brazil in 2005,
including €480m at CST and €231m in the new SOL coking plant. CST continued building a third blast
furnace and extending its steel plant, which will enable it to increase production from 5 million tonnes
of slab steel to 7.5 million in 2006. The new SOL facility, which is scheduled for launch in July 2000,

will cost a total of $600m and will have the capacity to produce 1.55 million tonnes of steel coke per
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year. SOL Coqueria Tubardo is owned-by CST {62%) Belgo Mineira (3’7%) and Sun Coal & Coke
Company {1%).

At Stahlwerke Bremen {Germany), investments focused on a blast furnace ‘coal injection - project
{€1.2m), the modernization of electrical installations at the cold- rollmg mlll (€3. Dm) and financing for
the FIT cost-reduction project (f 20m

- In Spain, Aceralia CS' capital upmdlture lotalled £104.8m, and (.OIlSlSthd mamly of increasing the

capacity of the production plant to 4.2 million tonnes per vear, upgndmg the bl'iSI fumaces and
renovating the rail link between Avilés:and (x”éﬂ

-Capital expenditure in France-was almost €300m. This included GZOOrﬁ for ‘Arcelor Atlantique et

Lorraine, mainly for the renevation:oflines at the Montataire and Mardyck sites; repairsto the HE3 blast
furnace and the cooling water processing facility at Dunkirk. At Solfac-Méditertanée,. capex focused
principally on increasing coking plam capacity, altering the casting floor, renovating the automated cast
iron preparation system and enhancing dust removal mplcny inthe thlmneys

~n Long Carbon Steels, capital expendnure was, €334m, mdudmg ﬁl S’Sm in Europe:

In Luxembourg, €80m was speny, pardy on complumg the new Medlum Secuon Mill'in deal which
started production in late Seplember 2005. This new mill representsa‘total investment of more than

~€170m. It has annual capacity of ‘800;000 tonnes and: will produce: light and medium - beams,

U-sections and angles. The sub: group ARES invested more ‘than €27m mamly in its Sgh]fﬂange
steelworks and in modemizing the Rodange rolling mill.

~In Spain, the pro;ect to move the Aaragom plant outside the cny led 10, capitaliexpenditure of almost

€301m. Investmment was also camed out-at the Olabcma Madrid and Bercara plarits.

" In Brazil, capex amounted. to €130m Belgo s Juiz de la Fora plaot: mvcsled almost €33m, including

€26.5m in its cast iron activity. The Monlevade plant invested more'than €20m, andthe Brazilian wire-
drawing plants €37m. €19m was spent-on naintaining eucalyptus (orests
In Argentina, Arcelor's capital expenditure was alimost €24m.

" Capex in Stainless Steels and Alloys was € 180m. The main mvestmmt LOIIC&_de the Carinox project,

with €89m spent on the final phase The Carinox plant started prodiiction on: /28 September 2005,

_ and should be producing 1-milli lion tonnes per year by 2007. The plam was built in 26 months,.and .
- represents a total m\estmtm of €24lm ; '

In Brazil, Acesita invested €17miin the: fourth quarter, when it was consolidated ixite the Arcelor Group.
This mainly corresponded 16 an increase.insthe area of forest and the purchase i of an-automated surface

. lDSDtLUOH system,

"In France, Ugine & Alz France speiit €22:5m, including investments in atension levelling line and the

purchase of an automatic banding machine. Ugitech's capital expenditure cameto €7.9m.
In Italy, Ugine & Alz Italia carried out-€10.3m of investment, mainly in its citting and slitting facilites.

A3S' capital expenditure totalled €86m in 2005, In Luxembourg, constriction began on a new
European logistics centre comprising 17 storage halls for long produds, This involved expenditure of
£3.6m, out of a total of €28m. The platform is due to come into service:in early 2007.

In Erance, almost €6m was invested at Cisatol, with the purchase of a press at Woippy for almost €4m,
while Etilam spent €4.5m on transferring its zinc and copper lines from Thionville to Saint-Dizier.
Arcelor Construction France invested almost €10m as part of the Gamua industrial and commercial
reorganization plan, The investment included the installation of a new paint head on the coating line
and efforts to increase the productivity of profiling lines.
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In the USA, Skyline spent €8.3m on buﬂdmo a new plam for producing large foundation tubes.

Capex in Areelor's other activities Lotqlled €49m, mdudmg €11.1m.at Industeel France and LS 9m of
IT equipment purchases at Arcelor Téchnologies France. Industeel Belgium invested €3.5m in upgrading”
and improving its machinery. Circuit Foil in Luxembourg invested €3.4m in various- [J]O]ecls The
remainder consisted of non- significant investments,

Investrients.in improving quality, davelopmg and adaptmg equxpmmt and enhanci ng staff safuv and
environmental .protection were also rmde across the Group:

Capiial expenditive by geographic orie” B

I millions of euros .
Belgium . < S
France
» Spain
--Brazil
Luxembourg
Germany.
Other
TOTAL

Acghiéiﬁ'ons of intangible rfixed assets

Expenditure on mtmglbie assets.in 2003 total]ed €30:3m, consmmg mainly of purch“es of hcences,.‘ :
patents and similar rights...7. = o L Lo T

Revenues by geographic zone

B Broakdown of revenues by geographic zone

In millions of euros " 2004
Germany. 5,024
Belgidm® © o 1,267
-Spain’:: ¢ 4,567
France 5,178
Ttaly B 2,719
[ S o 5 1,236
Other Etl15 countries’ 2,630
Other ELI25 countries 756
EL25 ' 23,377 -
Other European countries 882
Canada . 377
Mexico 160
USA 1,771
Total North America 2,308
Argentina 336
Brazil 1,472
Other . 338
Total South America 2,146
China 239
Other 1,224
Total other countries 1,463
GROUP TOTAL 30,176
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Headcount :

{full-time: eqmv*alem) 2004

Flat Carbon Steels vl 48,331

Long Carbon Steels - ‘ 20,306

Stainless Steels'and Aloys- 11,758

Arcelor Steel'Solutions and Services 11,245
- Other businesses : 2,960

Revenues in European Union (EU25) countries fell slightly:

EU 15 countries accounted for 68.29% of total revenues, dowit fom: 759% in 2004. Revenues in Poland

- increased substantially due to the acquisition of the Huta Warszawa steél production site. Similarly, the

consolidation of Acindar {Argentina) and CST (Brazil) increased the share of revenues coming from
South America from 7.1% to 10.8%, and also helped boost revenuesin the USA, South Korea and Canada.

Workforce

‘The Group had 96,256 véxﬁploy‘ees {full-time-equivalent) at \'31,/12/ 2003 asiopposed to 94,601 at the end
of December 2004. ' e .

B Breahdown of xwzmliddrm workforce by secior

TOTAL R 94,601

__Compames }eavmg thescope of consolidation, either. dnoughvdlsposah or decomohdatlon m the caseof -.o.
725.were due to the disposal, -~
of thiee Spatish rebar and mesh companies (Corrugados Azpeitia, Comigados: Getafe and Comugados: .

non-significant companies; ledto 1,117 ckpartures from:the group, Of these?

Lasao). Companies entéring the scope of consolidation.added. 6,051 staff. Of these, 4,574 were due 10 the
integration of Acesita in Brazil (Stainless Steels and Al lovs) and.690'to the: acqulsmon of Huta Warszawa.in
Poland (Long Carbon Steels). :

At commnble scope; the (,roup s reduced its vxorkforce bv 3 24] or by % 4%, si rmlar o rcdumom seen in
previous years ; 5 i g

Breakdown of consafidated workforce by “t’vq,unfm zow ‘

Headcount

{full-time-equivalent) 2004 %

France 28,456 30

Belgium ) 15,591 16

Spain 14,897 16 ¢

Germany 9,630 10 °

Luxembourg ) e 5,959 6

Other EUI25 : 3,450 4

Other European counties 251 10

Total Europe . 78,234 83

North America 1,404 1

Brazil 11,937 13

Argentina L 2,971 3

Total South America 14,908 16

Southeast Asia ] 55 0 8
TOTAL WORLD 94,601 100 ° 196,256

Arcelor's South American workforce now accounts formore than 20% of Group headcount.
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Business sector review
Flat Carbon Steels

" Revenues and earnings

In millions of euros ‘ e e 2004
Revenues . S 16,139
EBITDA sl S 2,368
EBIT T S ~ 1735
Crude steel production (in mxihons ot tonnes) ’ . 319
Shipments {in millions of lonnes) e ' 2845 '

Revenues in the Flat Carbon Steels sector totalled €18, 060m in 200‘5 up from €16, l3)m in 2004,

representing a 3.3% increase at comparable scope: The rise was due to a 12.7% increase in prices, which )
more than offset a 9:4% decline’in volumes. The largest'drop in volumes took place in the general
industrial marl\et where they fell by 1:3;million.tonnes, S o

Shlpmtms were cut mtemxonall}, a8 '\Icelor sought to ad]ust its supply to ncgatlve dpparent
consumption in the second and’third quarters: Nevertheless, and despne a sharp rise in commodity
prices, EBITDA came in‘at €3,634in a8 opposed 0-€2,368m in:2004; These excellent results are due
10 higher average selling prices: along with. " dontinuous’ efficiency galm through cost redumons,
restructisring and very tight mvemory control: ; o

EBIT was €2,773m in 2005, up trom €1 735m. in 2004

Crude steel production was 329 million tonnes. in 2005 {including 4.9 ml]llon Ionnes Lat CST) as
opposed to 31.9 million in 2004(1.2 million av CST, consolidated from:1 ‘October 12004)."

Plat Carbon Steel shipments totalled 28.1 million tonnes in'2005, including 4.4'million tonnes at CST.
This compares with 28.5 million’in 2004, with 1.7 million over three'months-at CST. Shipments fell
by 11.4% in Europe - with [hk_ mdm decline coming.in spot general mdusmal products - but remained
stable in Brazil.

_.. Business activity.

In 2005, the Furopean autmﬁmive market contracted'slightly, by 0. 7% in value terms: Salesiof new cars
stagnated in Western Europe; and fell:in Céntral and Easiern Eutope, Howevet, automonve markets in
Tuskey and Brazil, where Arcelor is-buil ding it$ positions, performed well. Arcelorincreased automotive
steel shipments to Central and Eastern Europe, despite the weak malku It-also-raised shipments to
Turkey-and Brazil, where it baneflte.d from the capacity of the Borcehl\ plant in Turkev and Vega do Sul
i Brazil.

As well as consolidating its positions in Furope in 2005, Arcelor increased sales elsewhere. 1t shipped
10 million tonnes of flat steel to.the atitomotive industry, giving it a worldwide market share of 15%.

In China and Russia, Arcelor coninissioned:two new. production plants {bcuqvi'ng* mainly oh supplying
the automotive industry. In-China, BNA ~a joint venture with Japan's, Nippon Steel and China's Bao
Steel - became operational in the second half. The venture consists of a cold-rolling plant and two
-galvanizing lines, In Russia, Arcelor's:partnership with Sev erstal led 10 the creation of be»ergal whose
galvanizing line came onstream in December 2005. A technical automouve steel unit in South Africa
and a laser-welding unit in India are due to start operating in 2006.




On the commercial side, Arcelor continued to develop its automotive product range by introdiicing
new high-tensile and very-high-tensile steels. It also started developments in enhanced low-density and
ulira-high-tensile face sheets. Arcelor enhanced its range-of industrial solutions with the Arceélor Body
Concept (ABC) project. This allows carmakers to find: new ways of increasing  vehicle safetv ‘and’
reducmg weight by making optimal use of steel.

In household apphances, the market was stable nverall in 2005, although there were some varidtions
belween geographical zones and between-different periods of the year, Weak consumer spending i
Western Europe was-offset by a sharp increase in Eastern: Europe. Arcelor supported appliance
manufacturers moving.into new growth regions by offering a high level of logistical Hexibility and.by

opening hew facilities. 2005. also brought sharply hlgher shipments of steel products complymg with "7 v
- the new WEEE environmental regulations. -

In response to- the tough competitive. environment creatcd by retailers- in thlq market, Arcelor

' strengthemd commercial relatdonships through a value creation® programmt mtended to cut ovaraH

costs for customers.

- Trendsin the construcuon marketvaried widely betw eervits various sub-sectors and geographlcal Zones.:

Arcelor maintained its strong position in the nor-residential segment; and increased shipmetitsto the
fesidenitial construction industy. in Europe, partictlarly in“applications sucly as roof tiles; light steel

. striictures; garage doors and FIVAC (hemng, ventilation and air condmomng) Financial perfom]ance

was boosted by-an enhanced product mix-and higher pnc&s

Ine 7005 Arcelor adopted a new strategic approach to the constrliction market, focusmg on mnovanon

and improved service. Products and services were redefined according to the spedific needs-of. various
target customier groups and markets: Improved understanding of customer needs is allowmg Arcelorto

. offer customized products and services, Alorig with innovation, high quality and’ individual: technical’

assistance and supply chain solutions, this will help'to increase customer loyalty:

At the same timme, Afcelor continued to.develop products in response to new environmental constraints.

Arcelor Packaging International is the world leader in packaging steel. In 2005, it mcreasul the
proportion of its salés coming from outside Europe to 20%. Within Europe, where APl has;a. 34%
market share,it stabilized business levels by negotidting annual contracts. Price increases‘in 2005 Had
a positiverimpact on sales, but failed 1 offset higher cammodxty and transportatio pnces Packagmg,
steel produmon totalled 1.7 million tonnes.in 2005:

T he (,re'mee] product range, designed fox easier and more flexible produmon of drawn cam, was
succesatullv lsunched] Creasteel is intended for s in new segments of food producuon, competing
with plastic and thin aluminium packaging. APl is also working with Toyo Seikan 1o develop plastic: .
coated steels for the beverages market. -

The ptocesa of produunU steel for beverage cans is now in its findl streamlmmg, phase

in Brazil, theflat carbon steel production unit mcreased revenues dcsplte lower shipment volumes: Ihls

was due to an impreved product mix, with- higher sales of hotrolled coil. Exports still account for’
almost two thirds of the Brazilian unit's shipments. In particular, slab steel produced by GST was

exported mainly to North America and Asia. ' ‘

Within Brazil; sales of hot- and cold-rolled coil and coated products rose by 20% with.fespectito 2004.

The rapid penetration of these products in the Brazilian market follows major efficiency. gains at CST
and Vega do Sul since the commissioning of cold-rolling lines in 2003 and galvanizationdines in:2004.
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" Industrial activity

The plan‘ to increase CST's capacity progressed according to plan, with the construction- of - third blast
fumace and the installation of a:third converter and a third continuous caster. This should:boost production
10'7:5 mitlion tonnes of stab peryear. GST also worled with Belgo Mineira and Sun Coketo bring enstream
a new coke producu'on kplan’t to ineet the coke and energy needs of its development programme:

Long Carbon f)tieels

Revenues -and. earni g

In.millions of euros B oo ) 2004

Revenues in Long Carbon Steels Tose from €6,221m in 2004 to €6,618m: in 2003 repreqemmg arise of
6.4% or 12% at comparable scope’ Growth was.driven by the automatic;'scrap surcharge mechamsm’
.and by the strong rally in-thé Brazilian redl At comparable scopé, the'rise in revenues Wwas: due o pnce

growth of 10.7%; with ovi eral | vohines rematning fairly stable (up 1. 4%)

EBITDA was €1 371m, up fmm €1,289m in 2004, although thrs reprcsemed 3 qllghl l% fall at

“comparable scope. In Europe, increased margins on factor costs and. efficiency gaiits were achieved.

However, - these were more‘than offset by falling volumes, resulting i lower EBITDA. In the Americas,
EBITDA rose strongly, despitean unfavourable geographical sales mix. PBITDA margm for the sector was:
stable relative (o 2004 at 20.7%; a-historically high level.

EBIT totalled €1,111m, versus Cl 080m -in 2004. EBIT margin equalled 16.8%, down from 17.4%
I‘BI T included €113m of non- recurrent items, including €96m from the %ale of Corrugados in Spam

Crude steel produmon was. 11.4 rmlhon tonnes in 2005 compared with 12 6 million tonnes in 2()04
This represented a 9:9% decling caused by changes in the scope’of. consohdanon ?hlpmem’i fell from
13.4 million tonnes in 2004 te: 12 3 million in 2005, a fall of 7.7%. thpmems by European busmess

‘units rmde up:62%:-of the total; whrle South American plants accounted for37%.

Long Carbon Steels - Europe

Bemm :
Shipments of beams fell by-11% relalwe to 2004. The main reason for this was-Arcelor's strict adherence
to its policy of focusing ¢n prices rather than volumes. »\pparem demand"in lnnce, Germany and

Benelux fell substantially if-2005: Customers ran down inventories in the early-part of 2005. Together
with the weak economic envitonment, this adversely affected fitst-hdlf performance. Once the

inventory reduction phase had come to an end, apparent demand: Tose in rhe second half, although
actual consumption remained. ﬂai

Arcelor continued to increase penetration in Central and Eastern Europe, atfid worked hard to-
harmonize selling prices with-those seen in ELI15 countries.

Shipments to export markets fell due to stiff competition, which led 6 very low prices for a time.
However, Arcelor maintairied contact with customers, particularly through its project activities.




Sales in North Amerca improved considerably in the fourth quarter, and full year sales ended up
matching their 2004 level. :

As regards selling prices, there was a controlled reduct)on in Western Europe, which accderated from

April onwards due to the slide in scrap metal costs. The trénd turned in the third quarter, duetoarise
in scrap pnces and the end of the 1mentory reduction: phase i

In export markets, Arcelor selected the most profitable coritracts in order to maximize earnings. The:

- dollar's decline against the euro made export markets more-attractive.-

Concrete reinforcing bar ,
In the first quarter, Northerr European rebar sales were minimal, due to prodtiction stoppages scheduled 1o
allow the-upgrade of facilities: Sales and miarketingteams mamt'imed close contact with cusiomers throughoul "
the stoppages and dufing the resumption of producnon atthe upgradf;d facilities. :

The stoppages coincided with a substantial fal|in rebax consumpnon in' France, (,ermanv and: Benelux;: aﬁer :
inventories had reached a very high level at end:2004. Biusuilly weak demand and lower scrap metal prices

caused prices to fall steadily; bottoming ouit i June 2005 Prices increased in the third quartef due to higher

scrap costs, but the decline resumed in the fourth quaner due toweakdemand. A recovery took shape towardsif
the end of the year.. | X S o ‘ v

Wire rod ' * : o
Selling prices were stable i in early 2005, although user/ifiventories mcreased due to'd slowdown in actmtv o
‘This resulted in excess inventories at the end of the first-quarter. Commodity-grade wire rod pnces started'f i
1o fall in the first quarter, follawed by specialty wire rod prices ii the second. Prices fell untl thé end: of
the year as a result of ongoing weak demand. The main reasons for lower activity in Furope were reduced_
consumption caused by lower automotive business levels, higher imports due to increased capacity'in 3
China and Latin America and-fears relating to possible anti-dumping measures in the USA. B

Merchant steels
Market activity was low between January and Iuly, pamculally ih f‘UIODL This-led to a substantial:;

dedine in selling prices. The cycle bottomed out in June; and a-recovery began in the second: half of o :

July. Following a rise in scrap metal prices in the third quarter, the market regained confidence, resulting. -
in inventory-building. Markets ended the year on:a poml\e note; allowing an 111crease in pnces m lh&’_x
fourth quarter. r . : ; y

Sheet piles

The slowdown in public mfrastructurg spending in Europe ~ maxnly in the UK and (;grmanv ~ caused:
sales 1o fall in early 2005. Business levels started to recoverin the second quarter, and this commued
for the rest of the year, » ; : - e

North American sales were strong throughout 2005, in both volume and price tevins, deqpue tough
competition.

In major export markets, promotional efforts made as part of Arcelor's expansion strategy paid off.
Volumes rose constantly, with Latin America and Southeast. Asia making a pﬁmcularlv strong
contribution. The expansion stiategy also involved building inventories in Europe and Latin America’
in order to move into the sheet pile rental market. This decision had a rapid positive impact in-2005.

In general, 2005 ended strongly, with steadily rising shipment volumes and firm earnings.
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Rails for public transport : : ‘
After falling in 2004, both in Spain - the main market for these products - and export markets; salgs :
increased substantially in 2005, exceeding expectations in‘terms of both volumes and prices. The local E
Spanish market benefited from the government's: decision 1o invest in high-speed rail links between
Spain’s major cities. The export market was also boosted by new projects, mainly in Turkey and’ Btazil. -

Special sections and rails for gantry cranes
Sales-volumes in this segment reached record ‘highs- dueto Asrcelor's comprehensive range and cumng-‘
edge products Despne robusr compemlon, Arcelor $ results were in lme with its target

Long Carbon Steels South Ameriéa

In Brazil, Atcelor saw:a sharp fall-off in local demand, a though thxs was offset by hlgher exports; -
particulatly -to"South” Ametican “and Central. American countries- and’ to the Caribbean,”where.
commodity markets expanded’ rapldlv Shlpments of specialty producrs rose by 10% relative 192004,

" teaching a.iiew record: Belgo continued clevelnpmg its distribution network for combmed long and flat :
product sales;and now has 26 distribution centres in Brazil, The commercial strategy is fuliy compliant”
with Belgo 3 sonal 1espomxb1luy and suqmmable developmem poh(y : :

In Argentlm, Acmdar s netlocal-currency saleq IOS€. by 20% in2005. Domesuc shlpments rose byG 7% ,o e
and stripping out ‘semi- finished products the incredse was 14 6% Export shlpmems {ell shohtl\, by‘
0.5%; although emon sales.rose by 1%

’ Drawn—wu'e m‘oduct% { TreﬁlArbed]

The T rehlArbed group has two business lmes, ie. qteekord and mlld sted drawn-wxrc productﬂ :

In the steelcord business, the market for tyruord (us&d to reinforce the carcasses of radml ty res) wils
pam(‘uhll} strong in-the.first quarter. Activity slowed gradually inthe second quarter, and: preeiure on
selling prices.increased;.due in particular to excess’capacity in China. In hose wire {used. 10 reinforce. , ;
prneumatic: hoses); shlpments in the Nérth Americin market rose;by around 10% relative to 2004} I
Europé, selling prices:came under pressure fronvimports; mainly from-Eastern Europe. In'sawwire, (used
mainly in - the phot()voitan industry), TrefilAtbed won market sh'lre on-the bad\ of mcre'ised
i pmdumvny and strong market growth. . : : : :

In mild steel drawn wire products, the situation was affccted by leduced vine wire pur(hases due 1o the

recession. in Puxopeqn winegrowing, along with.the increased proportion of closure products coming.
from China and relatively high price volanhtv in concrete reinforcing wires. As a result, shipments in

the mild steel segment fell by 21% relative to 2004. This was also partly due 1o the policy of focusing

on prices instead. of valumie, which offsét- most of impact of lower volunies at the EBITDA level,
TrefilArbed's mmmercnal strategy is based on developing high-valire-added features such as. GRAPAL -
galvanization. Tri 6ibte products, the aim is to become a provider of solutions rather than a seller of

commodity products: :

Industrial activity

On the industiial side, the main events were the business poitfolio review, the implementation of-growth
projects and initiatives to-consolidate Arcelor's leadership in terms of value added.
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| Sz‘amiess Steels and ‘Uf{)ys

: Revenues and earmngs

In-Europe, the Long Carbon Steels sector sold Spanish companies Corrugados Azpeitia, Getafe and Lasao.—
which produce steel used in reinforced concrete for constiuction applications — to. the Gallardo. group. On
the other hand, Arcelor acquired the electric steclwotks, land; infrastructure and special steels, business of
Fluta Warszawa in Warsaw from the Lucchini group,.as well as related scrap metal colleéction companies.

Arcelor extended its leadership in beam production by bmldmg up productlon at the néw, meditiin section
mill at Belval, Luxembourg, while closing the universal mill in Longwy (France). The Lux. 2006 plan, aimed

‘at giving fresh impetus 1o the Luxembourg Long Carbon Steel snm is progressmg acmrdmg 10 qchcdule

In South America, Acindar sold iis tubes business to the Techint group. Arcelor also 1dopted awide-ranging
programme to restructure and develop Acindar, This. indludes .adjusting rolling, mill prodmuon and
increasing capacity In the DRI {direct reduced iron)/ steel / rolling mill chain. Thisproject will enable Acindar
to keep.pace with growth in Latin America, consolidate its “market share i ‘\rgentma and mamtam a

- - reasonable proportion of shipments .going 1o export markets

E TreﬁlArbed also adjusted its business portfolio, dosmg its plantin Cheb Czechs Repubhc and sunng up

TrefilArbed Russia, 50/50-owned with Severstal. Trefil Arhed Russia operates two plantsin‘Russia, in Orél and

g »Vo]gogr_ad.; Cost control plans are on-schedule in both the steelcord and mild steel segments.;»"

I millions of euros BN ’ 2004
Revenues ) ) R 4,577
EBITDA . i i 268
EBIT . ~ ) 5 : 127
Crude steel production (in millions of tonnes) -+ R 245
Shipments (in millions of tonnes) o i : 2.1

2005 was a tough year in the stainless steel market, with a;significant fall- off in démand’ and extremely
high input.prices. However, Arcelor's. Stainless Steels sector continued the recovery it started in 2002,
based onits strategic focus on flat'stainless steel produus in Europe: and Brazil.

The Stamless Steels sector generated revenues of €4, 028m in 2005 downl 12% on 2004 (ed. :7 7m),
-although a fall of only 0.4% at comparable-scopé’. This limited decline was mdinly dué 1o.a sharp

increase:in alloy qurtharge% in the first three qmrters, which offset substantial fqlh in bamc pnces and
lower volumes: In Europe, the alloy surchargerose by around 15%.in 2005.

EBITDA totalled €173m in 2005, down from €268m-in 2004, representing a tal of 18.7% al
comparable scope. The figure was squeezed by fﬂhng prices and:lower volumes \

EBIT came in.at €93m in 2005 versus €127m in 2004.
Stainless steel producuon totalled 1,741 million tonnes 02005 compared w 1th 2,453 mxlllon in-2003.

This represents a 29% decrease {12.3% at comparable scope), resulting from vo]unlarv producllon
stoppagas Shipments fell by 25% (9% at comparable scope) to 1.6 million tonnes. .

. Business activity

The operating environment remained firm in the first half of 2005; although it was less buov.ml than
in 2004. However, there was a major deterioration in the second half, when customers fan down
inventories significantly.
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The main market driver in 2005 was the trend in commodity prices, which were underpinned by the
prospect of growing consumption in China and remained very high in The first half. In the second half -
of the year, prices fell due to lower demand from stainless steel produeers and good availability of metal
in the market. .

-# Nickel, having averaged around $14,000 per tonne i 2004 rose sh1rp]v to-around $16,000 on.

average in the first half of 2005. Prices then fell back in the;second half, averaging $14,000 per.tonne, _ -

before rising again al the end of the year. The average md\e] price’ in 2005 was around $14,700 per_ =

torine, 6%:higher than in 2004 and the highest annual average éver seen:

» Chromium prices rose sharply in early 2005, before-a fall-off in: demand caused them to declme in
the second half The average price of chrommm in 2005 was $0 74 per pound (source: Metal,
Bulletin}, 7% higher than in 2004, : : :

s Molybdenum was exceptionally. expensive:in 2005. The average leCL was around $36 per pound ‘
(soutce: Metal Bulletin), 1lmost twice the figure seen.in 2004 and a new armual record.

Apparent. world. consumption of flat stainless steel products fell m1rg1mlly in 2005, aﬁer a.rige of -
around 7% i 2004. Trends in'demand'varied:Petween theregions: Apparem demand for flat products
fell by around 5%, in Europe and the USA but ‘rose. by 12%ini China. Inventory. reductions. by
customers and reduced opportuilities:to export ‘10 Asia foilowmg the build:up-of Chinese’ producuon-
caused supply to outweigh demand in the market, To adapt to, weak demand and to allow inventories ~

10 fall without putting additional pressure on prices, stamle%s steel producers dec1ded to cut productlon

in the second half of 2005.

In Europe, the dedme in demand seen. in early ”00 5 became worse duung the year, and this-remained
a serious drag on basic prices, which averaged 20%Tess: than i in:2004; However, they have recovered in.
early 2006 due to the end of inventory 1eductrom and the stronger economic environment.

In Brazil, 1pmrent consumption fell by 5% in 2005 Prices md volumes were under pressure due to -
the declite in international markets, the adverse macroeconiomic environment {ongoing high interest
rates and the rally in the Brazilian real against the US. dollar), high inventories and growing imports. . -
Activity in the Brazilian market has improved: shghtly in early 2006, although bamc pnces remain in
check. :

Although. Asian markets generally remained strong earlv in the. year, Lhey deienordted rapidly over the

course ‘of 2005, In China, prices continued to fall due to: produmon capacity growing faster than-
demand:1n early 2006, however, Asian markets are showmg srgns o{ recovery. in Chll]a, the: pnce of
cold: rolled products'is expected 1o rise. ‘ W

In the'USA; demand slowed relative to 2004; but remained: ﬁnn overall Prices caine under strain; due
to rising 1mpom among other factors. However, thev remamcd hlgher than in Lurope and Asia.

In long products, demand remained robust for bars-in‘the first half; but declined:across the producr -

. range in.ihie second. Nevertheless, there was slightly less pricing pressure than in flat products Asa )

result, profitability has so far refnained firmer. in long products, In late 2005 and early 2006, long:

products. benefited from a slight |mprovement in-demand;. diierto the end: &f'a ma;or inventory

reduction phase.

Industrial activity

Oue of the second halfs highlights was the start of production at the new Ugine & Alz Carinox
steelworks. This took place on schedule on 28 September 2005, marking the start of the plant's

qualification and production build-up phase. The new installation has the capacity to produce
1 million tonnes of stainless steel per vear. It gives Ugine & Alz an integrated site which, together with
the Genk site, will handle the upstream part of the business.
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Arcelor further developed its presence in growth markets by taking control of Acesita in the fourth
quarter. It did this by acquiring the votingshares of pension funds that were members of thecontrolling

" Block. Acesita is onie of the world’s most productive and profitable stainless steel producers,. and its

domestic market is generating sustained growth. This deal reflects Arcelor's long: standmg commiitment
1o Brazil, and givesit a hxgh quality md low-cost steel production p]atform in thxs marl\et

- Arcelor Steel Solutions e?ild Services ( Al 3S)

5 Revenuee and earnings

In-millions of evros I - : 2004
Revenues ) o 8,267
EBITDA ‘ » ‘ . 516
EBIT .. . ) ‘ 398

Atcelor Steel:Solutions and Services (A"s%) genent&d tevenues.of €8,656m in 2005 up'? 4:7% relan»e to

. the 2004 figure of €8,267m. At comparable scope, revenues tose by 3.4%. Volumes fell by 7%, while"
‘average selhng pricestose by 13%.:A38" shipmients totalled 13.7 million tonnes, /down from 13 million -
**in; 2004, Approximately 19% of total shxpmem volumes consisted of ploducts sourced from“outsidé
- the Group :

Overall, and at comparab e scope; lower voiumes dragged down revenues by CG 3m m '2005;‘4‘waev¢r,
, hlgher prices boosted revenues by €1.074bn. ; i :

EBITDA was €328m in 2005, down ffom €516m-in 2004. Thls tquated to LBH’DA margm of 3.8%

versus 6.2% in 2004: This decline was-due to rising procurement costs at the stan of the’ year and a fall

in shipments starting at the end of the second quarter and lasting until the fourth. Tt'should'be rioted

-that 2004 earnings were boosted by substantial write-ups on inventories followmg qharp riges 1n steel

prxces Efficiency gains accounted for more than 109 of EBITDA.

LBIT tota!led €254m in 2003, as opposed 1o €’598m in 2004.

A ﬁrm grip on investment and a sharp-fall.in- the working capml reqmrement with? Jmemonesf
2 bioughl ihto Jine with market deinarid in the second half - Jed to free cash flow of more 1han LSOOm

Busmess activity

After WO years of e(t’orts 10 mtagra{e businesses, 1efocus on- core activities. and bolster commeroal
- positions, particularly in Eastern Europe; A3S is-now in & positien to SUppPOt:
i ‘developmem and ueate growth opportumues :

SToup's-upstream:

All nf A%Q 5 operatmg units - Arcelot Distribution, Arcelor Steel Service Center, Arceior Comtrumon

Afcelor International and Arcelor Projects —applied this strategy to their own busmesses in 2005.

« Arcelor SSC enhanced its support for customers-expanding abroad with mvcstmems m Poland and
Slovakia.

e Arcelor Distribution increased market share in Germany with the acquisition ()f H&K following the
purchase of Ravené Schifer in 2004, This makes it a major player in the German market, from which
.it was.almost absent a few vears ago:

» Arcelor Construction entered the ‘Chinese market after sealing' a partnership agreemcm with
Shougang, one of China's leading steelmakers.

» Arcelor Projects enhanced its product mix with the acquisition of Dutch company De Boer, a leading
player in foundation tubes.,

e Arcelor International opened new sales offices, notably in Ukraine.
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- These industrial and commerudl ‘developments. 1Hust_ratc A3S progress in 2005. A3S! current strategv s
10 offer differentiated products: and services in the most technical mature markets, 1.e. downstream.
transformation- and value-added services in Western Europe. It is growmg volumgs throughv’ L
geographical expansion, both organically and through acqmsmons ‘ '

This transformation was accompanied by a symbolic name change, with the former D]smbutmn-'
Transformation-Trading sector becommg Arcelor Steel Solutions and Services (A35} ' ’

Anelor Distribution : o ; B
-Arcelor Distribution had a mlmd 2005. Fammgs were samsfactory glven weak actual comumpnon, but«- :
sngmﬁcmtly lower thamn in.2004. :

“At constant Scope, Arcelor st‘mbmlon s revenues. were’ down 9% Volumes fell by 16%, although'»'
avuaga selling prices rose by 8%. ; L ) N T

The comnbuuon of acquisitions; partly offset the decline:in salés volumes iy uadmoual markets 5
‘Despite ‘the fall in sales, Arcelor Distribution maintained-its market:share throughout Europe. and\,
increased it substantially in’ Germany due to.‘progress .at. Ravené bghafex .Expansion in, (xu*manv.
cormnued with the acqmsmon of Heller & Koster in zhe second half of 200‘3 :

Arcdor D]smbunun conuuued its erateg} of prandmg in downstream markcts, mth the aim of §
“differentiating its products and semces - :

. 1<or e:(arnple it-expanded its range of turnkey steel solunons bv commencmg sales of alrport parkmg; i
tovkits: 2 i . : %

Axcelm Distibution also e*(tended its network of finishing centres.in Hance, ﬂpam Belgmm md
Germany. The aim is to enhaice its ability to meet process outsourcing derhiand from major customiers’
and 10 put mofte emphasis on higher-value-added activities. S DR S

Arcelor Construction
Lower volumes, partly caused by the slowdowi'in investment that started in the sccond half of 2004;
meant:that competition was very smff in 2005; l{owev&.r, Arcelor G Onsmxmon was ab o to limit! the ‘
“decline in eammgs :

.by 9% due wa reahsuc and oppormmsnc pncmg pohcv

Against the general bacl-.gxound of weakening industrial building activity and the dowmrend m
traditional’ national markets in Western Europe,. Arcelor Construction continued to reorgamze 1ts tha
" production.capacity and commercxal networks, as-well as: 1mplementmg its gxowih slrategy - S

’ Axce]oz Construction adjusted its commercial systelm and networks in-France. Ihls initiative was 11med~
al enhancing competitiveniess and expanding the product-range: it was nuessary in order to nnprovc .
customer service, which: is vitakfor business development. . . e

Growth in Central Europe continued in 2005, with voliimes up 20%. At the same time, tradidonal’
hational markets continued 1o contract, including in. the panels segment. This: clearly reflected the;
decline in industrial constriiction activity in Western Europe., Arcelor Construction continued tof
develop internationally; In- Central Europe, it invested in a panels line in Poland, which will be
operational at the end of the second half of 2006. In the Far East, it setup a partnership in China: It
also strengthened its position in Europe with an investment in Toledo, Spain, which will allow it to
supply the country's southern region.

5




Arcelor Construction also rolled out safety co-ordination processes across all its companies, and safety
results improved significantly in 2005. : L

Arcelor Steel Service Center {ASSC) : , ,

Apparent demand remained weak throughout 2005 in: Europe, due to high levels of inventories. .
Although earnings were down 'on 2004, ASSC putin a reasonable performance. ASSC worked hard to .
maintain margins by focusing on prices rather than voliumes.” L ’

At constant scope,.ASSC‘s revenueé tose by 6%. Volumes fell by-10%,; but averége‘selling prices were up 18%,

2005 was a year of conirasts. ASSC suffered in all its’ traditional markets, particulary. France and
Germany, where only aufomotive-related activities performed well in terms of volumes (+2%]) and
earnings. In Germany, industrial streamlining initiatives. were adopted for-thé unit's netwdr‘k of.
finishing centres, and Flachform-is:due to be sold in 20065 i ' ‘

ASSC al$o continued its-éxpansion in Central Europe; achieving further growth in sales volumes, This
was due in particular to the build-up of volumes (+53%) at-the'blank cutting centre in Poland; whichy -
serves the automotive industry. A new service centrein.Slovakia; close to Bratislava, also. operied.in:

2005. This centré will ramp ‘up its activity in 2006. R o

Finally, ASSC opened i service centre aimed mainly‘at automotive cus;dmers,in Durban, South Africa,
which will come into operation in:2007. B / . o
As well as the geographical expansion in its network, ASSCis alsg achieving growth by roundingout its;
range of products and services. fts move into higher—value~added -downstream activities is highlighted
by its growing stamping business: This was demonstrated by'its mid-2005 acquisition of the expertise
and production. operations-of: Mobytech in France,.which is-now called Arcelor $SC- Developrmient
Aiguebelle. Its first drilling line, which uses a totally. new: concept, will come into operation in early
20006. ‘

Arcelor Projects
Arcelor Projects’ revenu ]
This was due to a 23% increase in-average selling prices.

12005, despite 2°3% dedine i volumes.

2005 was a year of major industrial-and financial-investment. =

Arcelor Projects eompleted the. construction of its new: WS wbe plant; “which will serve: the:North- v+

American foundation market. In Dubai, it built up advance inventories of technical produicts; in order
to meet demand forcustomers in this region. Tl

In mid-2005, the unit-acquired Dutch company De Boer Buizen (singe renamed Arcelor Spiral Milh),
which also specializes in lafge welded foundation tubes. This-acquisition expands Arcelor Projects’

range of steel solutions. : 2

Together with Arcelor's Lohg Carbon Steels sector, Arcelor Projects also increased its stake in Malaysiaﬁ
company Oriental Sheet Piling to 60%, in order to gain a strong position in the Southeast Asian market,

2005 also brought the successful initiation of the foundatons business in China, in collaboration with
Arcelor International's-local operation. ' ' :

9
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Arcelor International
Arcelor Internatiotial's révenues rose by 25% at comparable scope in 200- despua a 1% dedme in
volumes. This was due to a 26% increase. in average selling prices per tonne: v

In 2005, Arcelor Intemational continued to reorgamze and redeploy its activities; in ordex 10 prowde
the best possible response to market tieeds-and.to anticipate market development. It integrated the
Offshore Projects business, opened offices in'Central America and Ukraine, and cred ttd pooled reglonal
offices with enhanced e*(pemse in Me}uco, Canadaand € hma >

Arcelor Intemational alsc stepped up efforts 1o support A3S' various éntities in. thexr developmtms in
South America, India, China and Southeast Asm, as ‘well as sxgmﬁcamy gromng revenues from

Arcelor's Brazilian plants.

Finally, Arcelor International embarkad on an ISO certification” project for its- enure network wlnch
should be completed in 2006 : - i

Other bi&ﬁinessces i

Paul Wurth

Asa result of the positive global operating envnonment in the steel mdusm, Paul Wun.h achieved
.excellent results in 2005. Order intake rose by 58% by compatison with.an, ﬂre‘td} hxgh 2004 ﬁgure,
and revenues rose by almost 60%

After the acqmsmon oi Didier-M&0P hnerg1e1echmk GmbH - a (.erman companv speualumg in hot ‘
blast ‘stove technology and refractory linings for bldst furnaces - in December 2004 Paul Warth
acquired the assets and staff of SM8 Demag SpA. {Genog; Ttaly) in 2005. This acquisition: gives Paul
Wurth ddditional expertise in coking plants.and direct reduction, along with the staff and expertise
needed to work on mtegnted blast furnace constriction and modernization projects: it also makes the
companv world leader in cast u‘on productlon technolagv e
On the commercial side, Paul Wurth sngned ma]or blast furnace tec hnology-contracts m Chma, India,
Brazil and Russia. In Lurepe, the company dld a larg,a amount of re-lining work for Arcelor group plants
in.France and (Jerm'my

Paul Wurth maintained its R&D. effortsiini 2003 As well as mneasmg the pmducnvm and avatlabxht}

of the Primorec facility in Differdange (lmembourg) Paul Wurth continued o enhance itsexisting”
producnon base and. carried out R&D -projects in electrometallurgy and powdermetallurgy. The
company acquired a 65% stake in Turbofilier GmbH in Essen, Germany through Paul Wurth

{UInmiwelttechnik. This acquisition, effective-from-1 ]anuary 2006, will bolster Paul’ Wurth s busmess in
envitonmental protection technologies. -

 Paul'Wurth now émploys‘fnqré than 1,100 staff add'sé around 20 subsidiaries worldwide:

Industeel
In 2005, lndmtee] strengthened its posmon as world leader in special alloy and stainless stéel plate. Its
main specialties include cryogenic sheet steel, special stainless sheet steel, super-heavy sheet alloys,
mould alloys, clad plates and wear-resistant sheet steel. It exports more than 50% of its' production

outside Europe through its global sales network. fndusteel is continuing to develop. its:business by
investing more than €5m per year in R&D.




}results are e)q)ected in 2006..

In 2005, its unique position as a provider of custom solutions formajor projects allowed it to take full
advantage of strong demand in most of its main customer sectors, including oil; gas, petrochemicals,
desalination, pollution control and mining. As.a result, 1ts revenues rose by 50% to C9 53m. EBIT was
£102m; the highest figure in the company’s hlstorv

Iiv order to meet growing demand from customers, Industeel bolstered-its primary processing resources,
by acqiiring UF Aciers,. based in Dunkirk, France, in: ertember 2005. - As® part-of its. strategic
development, Industeel plans to increase production capacity in speCJal sheet steels in: 2006 Three new

hez\t treatment furnaces will come onsueam in the QUH’U‘HGT - ‘

Circ‘uit Foil

The copper foils mdusn'v continued to suffer from ‘mrplus capacity: and ‘the shift:in.consumer markets
towards China arid Southeast Asia. The fall'in volumes in late 2004 prompted Circuit Foil to mothball
its:Canadian plant, Volumes continued to decline in 2005, causm:; the closure of the \NI]LZ phm and
the tranisfer of its activities to the second plant in quembourg

Ihc 20 ’o risé in sel ing prices failed 1o offset the combmanon ofa 25% fall i voltimes, a 20% increase

in eleétsicity costs.and stoppage costs at the (,anadlan plant. As’ a result; Circuit Foil's’ performance
“suffered in 2005, The rise:in copper prices from $3, OOO 10 54 600-pertonne and procme‘mgnt problems.

made lifé even harder in 2005. 5

To raise producuvuy and reduce production costs, 1he LO]HD"U'\Y adopted Six Sigma’ tech niques. Initial

In Asxa, which represents around 50% of Circuit Foxl s sales, the companv c_omrmssmngd a. cuttmg"

service centre'in China in 2005 to boost its presence in th% miarket. -

Finaj

In 2005, Arcelor pursued its financing policy, which remains bqscd around Arcelor l-mana 5CA and
Arcelor Treastiry SNC, and focused on optimizing ns debt burden

Arcelor Fmance is‘a vehicle for €5.6bn of short-, medxum and long-term financing. 1t raises money in
the fmanaal matkets using Arcelor's credit rating, ofi wh 1ch Moody sissued a posmve out}ook in2005.

Arcelor Treasury- provides -day-to-day coverage of fmdncml rlsks, mcludmg those mvolvmg, foreign
exchange, interest. rates and commaodity prices, in-line-with the detailed principles approved by the -
Audit Cominittee, It also carries out centralized cash management the volume of whlch increased
sharply in 200%

;

In 2005, Arcelor.did not carry out any publlc ﬁnancmg openuons in Lhe market However, it

restructired part of its debt to reduce its cost, and contmued 1o reduce’ thc etructuml subordmanon of - -

its debt, arranging;

» a £425m loan for Carinox, with an average term of 7:years
= an £€85m loan, repayable in constant instalments unni 2013, to replace an existing’ LSI loan

» 3 €£150m 6-year bond placing

s early redemption of a $260mbond

= the renegotiation of a €3bn syndicated credit facility with a term of 5 years and a possible 2-year
extension

Finally, Arcelor Finance provided financing for the outsourcing of certain pension funds at the end of
the year.

an




Arbed SA . 24,844,086 °

Group actioity roport

Group consolidated management report

Own shares

The Ordinary General Meeting of Sharehol ders hdd on 29 April 2005 authon/ed the Board of
Directors, in accordance with the conditions established by the Luxembourg law regarding commercial
companies (“the Law"}, to acquire the company s own shares or-to_have the shares acquired by other
companies of the Group as prowded for in Article 49a of the Law This authomauon replaced a similar
authorization dated 30 April 2004. The:29 April 2005 auth(m?auon i§ valid: for 18 months; unless
renewed before expiry. 1t allows Arcdor to purchasé its own shares at prices of between €10 and€30 per
share, provided that the company at no. fime holds shares equal 1o more ‘than 10% of its ‘capital as
determined by articles 49-2 and 49b-of, the Law. On 28 April 2006, a ‘proposal .will be made to. the

" Qrdinary General Meeting of @harcho ders to renéw the authomauon gﬂen on: 29 April 2005

At 31 December 2005, Arcelor SA directly owned 253, 488 of its own shares

At 31 December 2005, the Arcelorgrotp held 19 771 296 of its own shares, represemmg 3. 09% of the
total number of shares in issue and book’ value of £98,856,480. Of thesé 19,771;296 shares, only the
17,979,485 owned by Arcelor SA xtselfand by its direct subsidiaries Arbed and Usinor shoul d be taken
into accouit in calculatmg compliance with the aforemumoned 10% lnmt Vonng rights are: suspended
on all the 19,771,296 shares. owned by the, GlOUD

Dunng the 2005 financial vear, the G roup executed the following tnns’xcnons in relanon 10 its own shares:

Purchases

‘o 40,000 shares bought in the spm rmrkc—:t by Arbed at €20.00 per share These purrhases were made,

1o ‘stabilize the market price of the companv s shares.

« 9,149,502 shares (including 1, 000 000 sold bv Arbed‘to Arcelor) bought ift.the spot market at prices
ranging between €15.06 and €21.21 per share, with a weighted average of €17.62 per share. These
purchases were made to smbm?e the- market pme of the company's’shdres as. p1n of a liquidity
programme , .

5,281,497 shares delivered by Us’i‘nor as part of the Synergie 2000 empldjég share 0wnérship plan, at
“a-price of €12.21 per share, and 1,002,012 shares delivered by Usinor as part of the stock-option plan
‘ata price of €15.24 per share, outofa totai of 6,700; 000 shares sold by Arbed to Usinor).

'¢'8,896,014 shares sold by Arcelor inthe spot market at prices of between €15.14 and €21.25 per share,

“with a weighted average of €17.61-per-share. These sales were madesto stabilize the market price of
the company's shares.

# 41 090 shares sold by Arbed fo Arcélorata pncc 0f€20.20 per share as part ofa share award plan for
‘members of the Management Board: :

31/12/2004

Usifior SA o 166,510 o 416,491

Sidmar NV o 1,791,811 @ L
Arcelor SA S : G053 488
TOTAL 26,802,407 1‘) 771‘295 w731

53
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Sustainable Development

Consequently, the Group acquired 8,189,502 own shares in 2005, representing total book value of -
€40,947,510 and 1.28% of its subscribed capital at 31 December 2003. 1t also sold 15,220,613 own
shares in 2005, representing total book value of €76,103,065 and 2.38% ofits subscribed capital-at 31
December 2005. Overall, therefore, it sold a net 7,031,111 own shares, representing book value of
£€35,155,555 and 1.10% of its subscribed capital as of 31 December 2005. - : <

B

Arcelor stepped iip its sustainable development actioft plans and made signiﬁcam progiréssin 2005, The -
work accident fréquency rate (number of lost-time accidents per million hours ' worked} fell from 3.7

_in 2004 to 2.4n 2005. This confirms the ongoing improvement achieved since 2002, resulting from

the-efforts.of management in close partnership withstaff representatives:

The Croup continued to-implement its environmental policy, with 97% ofp:oduétion sites‘havih'g,’lSO P
14001 certification by end-2005; as well as paying close atténtion: to. legal and. regulatory compliance.

_In the last three vears, Arcelor has reduced the total volume of its unconverted residiies;by 25%. and

_demanding socialind.environmental standards through out the Gro

has achieved a residue conversion rate of 95%. In addition, 6 of its 33 swel'plantsicati be considered as - ',
- producing no effluent. ‘ ' b % <

© Since 1990, Arcelor, has teduced CO, -emissions in Eurbpé by 18%. Between 20(35 and 2007,"‘;&1’&}61’ e

will receive CO; credits as part of various nationalallocation plans in Furopé, covering anticipated
production levels. To prepare for the future and further reduce its greenhouse gas emissions, Arcelor is
co-ordinating theefforts of 48 companies and universities as part of an:ambitious research. programme

 -entitled ULCOS (Ultra Low CO; Steelmaking). The projectaims to develop b;eakdlrougli,technologiQS,' o
" and is supported by the European Commission. ol et e e T e g

¢

Respect for different cultures is an everyday reality. at Arcelor, which employs people of no less ‘than
60 nationalities. ) i

. In 2005, Arcelor was the first steel company to sign a Worldwide f’\greement on'Principles of Corporate .
Social . Responsibility_‘with the International Mgmlwq‘rkers‘”ngeir'éﬁqnu (IMF) and the Europeait .~ R
‘Metalworkers' , s

ederation (EMF). This agreement confirms Arce

s commitmen

applying

Arcéior, complies with the strictest-corporate governance standards; As well as the separation of powers “ '
Between the Chairmaiv and:Chief Executive Officer, Arcelor has:a Board'of Directors consisting entirely

‘of non-executive directors (the majority of which are independent), two. Beard-lével committees and: .
high-quality financial communication with investofs and:shareholders. o '

In 2005, Arcelor was once again recognized for its commitment to sustainable development by being
admitted into the Dow Jones Sustainability. Index World (one of three steel companies; alongside
Dofasco} and into the FISE4Good Global and FISE4Good Europe indexes. 1t was' also the ¢rily steel
company 10 be included in the Global 100 Most Sustainable Corporations in the World.

Qutlook

‘The broad trends set in 2005 should continue.in 2006. Worldwide GDP is expected to grow by around
3.49%, driven mainly by North America and Asia (excluding Japdn). :




4N

Group activity report

Group consolidated management repott

In the USA, industrial production should rise by 3.0%, with the main stee]-consuming sectors seeing
solid growth except for the automotive industry, which is likely to:contract. In Canada, industiial
production is expected to grow by 2.4%. LT T R

The pace of growth in Brazil is set to accelerate in 2006, with QDP up-3.6% and industrial production
up 3.8%. All steel-consuming industries should benefit from this giowth, particularly the auto sector,
which is expected:to expand by 5:4%: The construction sector is likely to grow by 3.8%. Argentina isset

{0 consalidaté its expansion with growth of 5.0%.

10 Asia exJapan, growth is set toremain firm and similar to that seen it 2005:

In Europe (EU15), 2006 is likely to be a little better than 2005. Tndustrial prodiction shotild-rise by
2.4% and all steel-consuming sectors.should see growth, The new members ofithe Furopean Union are
likely fo maintain- a stronger. pace of growth, patticularly Poland; where industrial preduction is
expected to rise by 6.4%: : BN L R S S

In Turkey, GDP should grow by 5:0% and industrial production by, 4.8%. The CIS is likely 10'see GDP
growth of 6.5%, while industrial production should rise by 6.2%, ... ¢ - g ;

The wotld steel sector is expected to expand by around 7%, and: growth should be spread more evenly

“than in 2005, Apparent consumption in China is likely to-rise by-only 10%;.due to exces.?finvemory

build-ups in 2005’ In the rest of the world, apparent consumptionishould increase by 5%, Forecasts: of
5% for furopé (EU125) and 7% for North America are based ‘partly'on higher actual consumption and
a technical improvement caused by renewed inventory-building, since inventories were lower than

“normal at end-2005. In South America, apparent consumption shox@ld rise by around 7% in 2006. In,
the CIS, the Middle East and Asia (ex-China), apparen_t'consumption;is setto rise roughly in line'with

actual consumiption, L.e. by.5%, 6% and 4% respectively.

In the EU15 countries, actual:consumption of finished productsiis likely to-increase by argund 2.0%.
Supply restrictions adopted in 2005 should have an impact-on -apparém».consumption in 2006.
Although this outlook is optimistic, it is supported by. recent-movements in order backlogs for both .
long and flat catbon steel products: The combination of renewed: demand.in North America and
Europe (EU25) and ongoing strong growth in emerging ¢ountriesvinternal demand could create an
environment conducive to, price rises, ' o A RN :

In the stainless steel market, conditions.are likely to be much morepositive thanin 2005; with apparent

consumption growth of around 5:7% worldwide, dose to:thé treriddn actual consimption:

Arcelor is actively managing its' portfolio- of businesses in"order.10 achieve ‘a-further reduction- in

earnings volatility: It is also stepping up its reorganization’ by maintaining costreduction and.

* restructuring efforts announced at the time of the merger in 2002. Arcelor is expanding in regions with

strong growth potential and Jow costs, in order to lower its breakevenrpoint and bolster its leadership
in global markets. Arcelor hag'hit its. merger synergy target of €700m a-year.ahead of schedule.

Other gains are expected from the implementation of plans to be antiotinced. in the next few years.

Arcelor's performance in 2006 islikely to be boosted by the consolidation:of Dofasco and Acesita, and
by ongoing cosi-reduction éfforts. CST's development will suppoit the structural improvement in
Arcelor's profitability, while acquisition projects, which are at different stages of maturity, should
increase Arcelor's exposure to: high-growth markets worldwide. ' :

The active management of the business portfolio inctudes disposals of nori-core activities and carefully
planned closures, and will: be conducted in accordance with Arcelor's tradition. of - sustainable
development and corporate social responsibility. These disposals and closures will not threaten the




o
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Group's development, which will be pursued through organic investment and targeted acquisitions and
by maintaining leading-edge production systems through -reasonable and appropriate capital
expenditure. Arcelor will maintain its presence ‘in high-value-added product markets. through
sophisticated partnerships, particulatly in the field of R&Df‘ . ’ )

P{}S’{—baiame—sheet events

Following the announcement that Mittal Steel Corporation was planning a public offer for Arcelor;

Arcelor's Board of Diréctors, chaired by Joseph Kinsch, examined: the proposal in an extraordinary:

meeting on 29 January 2006.. After a detailed analysis. of -the available information, the 'Boar&dz.‘l Wit

unanimously rejected Mittal Steel’s proposal, which it regarded as hostile. It took the view that pursuing.
Arcelor's existing strategy was the best guarantee of creating sharcholder,‘value. i

Arcelor's offer to buy all 6f Dofasco's outstanding ordinaty shares cloéed on 7 March:2006. At the end
of the offer period,. 77,530,766 shares, representing 98:5%.0f Dofasco's outstanding ordinary shares,
had been tendered to Arcelor's offer. As soon as it authorized ta do so, Arcelor now intends to acquire

all remaining Dofasco. shares at; the offer price of 71 Canadian dollars per share, through the sqiieeze:.
out procedure allowed under Canadian’ legislation. governing -joint-stock companies. Arcelor also
intends to delist Dofasco's-ordinary shares from theToronto Stack Fxchange as soon as it has acquired;
enough shares to do so. The amount paid to acquire all of Dofasco's ordinary shares will be around 516 -
billion Canadian dolars{€3.95bn): Dofasco was founded in 1932 and is a major North American steel
pioducer. Its products include hot-rolled; cold-rolled, galvanized and tinplate flat rolled steels,.as well* .
as whular products, laser-welded: blanks and laminate. 5. main: ¢ustomers. are in the automotive;

construction, energy, manufacturing, pipe and tube, appliance, packaging and . steel distribution

industries. Dofasco operates in"Canada, the USA and Mexico. 1t also’ owns 98.7% of Québec Cartier

Mining (QCM). QCM owns and operates the Mont-Wright open-pit mine and a pellet plant at. Port:
Cartier in Canada. : Sl ' -

On 27 Febiuary 2006, ‘Arcelor presented: its: 2006-2008 plai, 1o’ maximize valué creation for Group.*
shareholders. The plan includes: R, ' T
& a normalized EBITDA target of €7bn peryear, withvpotem\ial( forfurther improvement

e cash flow of €4.4bn per year, ‘ S ' ) _
= continuation-of the progressive:dividend policy, with.a normalued payout rate of 30%

= a policy;of eamings-enhancing acquisitions ensuring a'fetin-on capital employed.of over:1 50

» a commitment Lo returning surplus cash o shareliclders; ificlidiiig eash from disposals-of nonscore. %,

assets’

Axcelor will be able to raise shareholder remuneration by sharply increasing cash flow and by actively
managing its portfolio of businesses. :

In implementing its growth plans, Arcelor will maintain a disciplined focus on eamings-enhancing
projects that comply with its strategic vision. The Group will look at opportunities to bolster its global "
ieadership in key suategic markets such as automotive, and willieontinue Lo seek regional leadership in.
geographical areas that shiow substantial scope for profitability. and growth. »

Arcelor Kas increased-the potential of its flat stainless steels-business through investment {Carinox.in- u

Belgium) and acquisitions {Acesita in Brazil). It will continue its strategic assessmert of this business,
and will explore all options to maximize shareholder value.
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Additional éz}fdimaﬁon about Arcelor SA

Arcelor SA, a company incorporated’ undet Luxemboufg law, is the parent Eompany of the Ar;e]or
Group. Arcelor SA generated earnings of €2,006m in 2005, primarily from revenues from its holdings. .
The General Meeting of Shé’r‘eholders‘ to be held on April 28 2006 will be asked to approvéthe -
distribution of a-gross dividend of €1.20 per share with respect to 2003, compared with €0.65 per share %
for 2004, - S St ' :

S

Risks related to Arcelor ,Gmﬁp act‘ﬁvi‘{ies :

General legal risks related to Arcelor Group activities

The Group is not exposed-to.any major legal risk as a result of its steelmaking actiﬁiﬁes; The Group's
production plants are operated in full compliance with all relevant regulations. " Y :

The conditions under which: théArcelor group markets .and - delivers: its products® are’ subject to

" commercial negotiation: Delivery conditions may specify, that courts sitting in the purchasers country-

will be competent-to mile in:the event of dispute. Furthermote, legislative or. regulatory instability in*
some of the countries where the ‘Arcelor Group operates {e.g. through joint ventures) may pose a
general legal risk that may-lead. to exposure through the conduct of its activities: The Group: has a

* number of decentralized legal’teams in“its sain non-European locations; Where it. is not; financially

feasible 1o maintain its. own legal resources, the Group engages the services of intemationally
recognized and reputable taw firms. \ ) T

in some instanices, the Arcelorgroup may have no alternative’bul to-insist on its rights‘and safeguard.
its interests in the context.of its business activites; especiaily where technicalior commiercial disputes
are concerned:(for more information ot this point, please refer to. the "Litigatjdh " "Sales Rarriers”.and ../
“Anti-dumping and antizsubsidy practices" chapters)... - s EIE ; ‘ '

Standard legal risks télating 1o the Group's activities and operdtions are managed by.the G[ioup‘s Legal
Affairs Department. This dgp:artmént is subject to intemnal control by Internal Audit (see Chairman's

Report on corporate governance and internal control).

it should be noted that ideritified leégal risks have been covered by provisions within the relevant Arcélor
Group subsidiaries in-accordance with the appropriate accounting standards. - S

The Arcelor group no longer has:any ore extraction of coal mining activities in.Europe. :

Industrial risks

The various stages of steel production

Liquid steel is produced either from ore {smelting accounting for 70% of Arcelor's production) or from
scrap metal {electric-arc furnace production representing 30% of Group output). the liquid steel is then




.

‘-

solidified by casting in a continuous flow machine. This results in seri-finished products i the form
of rectangular section bars {slabs) or square section bars (blooms or billets), which are the feedstock
for the final production form. This feedstock is converted into finished products by rolling; with some
products undergoing additional heat treatment. Over half the hot-rolled sheet produced'is later cold-
iolled, and may be-coated with anti-corrosion protection. o :

Type of risk

Acdidental fire and explosion are the major operational. risks in: the various types of steel producing

* plants, which include coking plants, sintering plants, blast furnaces and electric-are furhaces. .

The main causes-of these risks include the production Qf, gz.i‘s_(in. coking pl§11t§_ and blast furnaces), the

high combBustibility of the coals used and contact between cooling water and molten.metal: . -

The électrical equipment and reheating furmaces usedri:rj hot and cold rolling mills and coating plahts :
represent the main fire flash-points. ‘The lubricants and hydraulic fluids used are hvighly.,ﬂammablé
Steel.production requires the use of scrap metal, whether for converting hot-metal into steel in a
convertér ot directly in an €lectric-arc furnace. Arcélor applies stringentinternal controlsite protect itself

‘against the tisk of radioactive serap iron entering its.fiimaces.

Risk assessment; impact and probability”

Industrial safety is a strategic issue for Arcélor, :Eéch"sité applies the Group safety policy, with
adaptations to comply with local legislation. This:policy ¢ontains all the organizational‘and raterial
provisions required to prevent industrial aci:idem_s or incidents. wherever posSiblé and,,to'livmit their
consequeiicés for people, facilities and property. ' : : '

The general objectives and management responsibilities are set down in writing, and practical action
plans are drawn-up to address the differences betweeri practice and those fixed objectives:

Industrial risks are anglyzed at the designstage dod prévemive raeasures are put i place in-accordance
with the Arcelor "Loss Prevention Guide'. Sites are subject to internal and external audits at a
predefined frequency reflecting the degree of individual risk. These audits are followed up:with a risk
assessmell.report setting out preventive actions involving the workforce and plantequipmenit. Sites
subject to.Seveso II regulations have been subject 19 special Fudits conducted by.internal experts, in
accordance with the Arcelor DCO-18001 r’eferénce procedure: These' audits wete extended to other
Group sites.duting 2005, and this will contitiue in 2006:¢ vl

Risk monitoring and measurement procedures

Fver since the company was first created, Arcelorhas operated-an industrial safety comimittee as part of
its Health & Safety Department. The commitiee is- made up of industrial and, engineering safety
representatives at the Group’s business units, [ts 'mission is to define and propose safery initiatives 1o
the Management Board. The committee is responsible for implementing the Arcelor +Loss Prevention
Guide” which measures industrial safety levels and. ensures that those levels are consistetit across. all
Group sites. It has also set up a network of industrial safety specialists, responsible for day-to-day
management, plant compliance and adherence 1o regulations:

Every year, a priority investment plan is put in place to implement practical recommendations. This
plan is then supervised by the Arcelor Health & Safety Department's industrial safety committee:

P
i
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Environmental risks

Environmental risk management identifies known and estimated impacts, which are covered by
balance sheet provisions. It also identifies any fiture internal of external events (with varying degrees
of probability) liable 1o prevent Arcelor from attaining its renvironmémaj targets and that could, from
an accounting point of view, lead to the recognition an off-balance sheet commitment (corresponding
1o an estimated future expense which is possible, but not certain) or, alternatively, an inyestmient.

Internal events may occur mainty as a;result of failures in the production process or the procedures;
involved in treating industrial waste and residues: These: failures could jeopardize Arcelor's ability to
attain its target of complying with current legislation and'a ensuring-a continual reduction-in the - -

voliumes of waste and non-recyclable materials-produced.:

Arcelor has developed four types of controls to-address-these risks: © Lol el i

s Directive! every production site is required.to obtain ISO 14001 certification and a Group-wide: .
environmental policy is implemented.’ SR ' - L i

e Preventive: the Environment Department. s systematically involved in major investment projects, in
order to build installations that-respect the eiwirdnn.}'ém and. that limit ‘noise andf\{isuai pollution™
from heavy industrial activity-as muéh as possible: Envirorimental managers are involved,in the due:
diligence procedures that precede all acquisitions: e : SR :

o Detection-based: waste monitofing scorecards are used for-all Group subsidiaries. Tn: addition, the -
Environment Departent has set'up a process o1 auditing compliahce with legislation -and the,
Group's environmental policy. T S : i L

» Corrective: a Croup—ievel,orgahizétion stimuldtes synergies and encourages sharing of environmental
best practice. - ‘ Lo '

External events relate mainly1o:the.growing demidndsimposed by environmental faws and regulations: '

This legislative pressure concems four issues primarily: o o o T

+.CO», emissions, with the European directive concerning the trading of CO; emissions rights, whose
initial phase began on 01/01/2005 and will ‘continue until 31/ 12/2007. The operational phase is’
scheduled for 2008-2012, after which the directive specifies 5-year emnission reduction cycles.

e Processing of waste generated by sintering plants, principally .due to the implementation of the:
Europedn. IPPC {Integrated Pollution Prevention. and:Control) and NEC {National Emission’
Ceilings)-directives. SRS . o N \

o Iricreased restrictions and (axation on the storage and elimination of industrial residues.

« Soil clean-up opérations on defuinct sites: This presents a major challenge to the Grotip, since the cost

involved can only partially be offset by reallocating land for new activities.

Constant changes to the legistative framework cause-the target for regulatory compliance to sHift

constantly. This plays a direct role'in increasing the fliture Operating costs of steelmaking plants, with
those in Europe being most affected. \

To manage the risks arising from the introduction. of the Earopean directive on CO, emissions and to ’
take advantage of any opportunities, Arcelor managés its quotas centrally via a COx co-ordination
committee. Decisions to buy or sell quotas are taken by the Management Board. depending on
allocations, future emissions forecasts and past emissions data. Tradingof quotas is assigned 10 Arcelor
Treasury, which handles the Group's central cash nianagement. ™ ' .

Without waiting for the Kyoto: protocol to’come into forces Arcelor s -constantly enhancing its..

~ production process 1o reduce CO; emissions as.far as possible, For example, it is converting some of its
plants to electric-arc fuimaces making steel frém. scrap Jmetal instead. of iron ore. Arcelor is alse .-

co-ordinating the ambitious ULCOY' research programme; which involves other European steelmakers,

(1) ULCOS = Ulra Low CO; Steelmaking

en
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Working conditions and Human resource managenient

" Human rights and working conditions

~the audits’ conclusions and any measures taken.

Worker health and safety

gas producers and research institutes; and has the objective of reducing €O, emissions per lonne of
steel produced by 50-75% by 2050. ln its first phase (2003-2009), HLCOS has a budget of €45m; of
which. 50% comes from the EU and €2.3m from Arcelor. During this phase, all possible ‘ways of

- reducing CO; emissions will be explored. These inclide capturing and storing COy i impermeable
" geological layers, replacing carbon with methane in blast furnaces, using new types of furnace, using

biomass and recovering GO, produced in the steel production process.

" Another initiative already uriderway isto play a major role in fenewablé energy and biomass, in which
€0, is fixed by growing vegetation. Two of Arcelor's Brazilian subsidiaries, GAE Santa Barbara and. |

Acesita Energética, are cultivating more than 180,000 hectares of elicalyptus plantations. CAE has Forest;

. Stewardship Coundil certification, while Acesita Energética is in the process of obtaining - this
"1 certification. : :

', Arcelor is convinced that cutting CO, emissions is an absohite:necessity. Howevet; it does-nol agree

V\jif_h the principles set out in the European directive, because of the distgmon§_ig creates askregardrs steel
producers outside Europe and organic materials that only produce emissions at the: end of ‘their life

4 iiyglé and which are therefore not covered by restrictions. In addition; there is uncertainty about how
“regulations will' develop during the 2008-2012 period and beyond t2(y)12;£'1’his*do¢s not tally with the
* longsterm perspective that determines heavy industrial investments. Finally, in its current version; the

“directive does not allow thestecovery. of quotas of sites due for closuré;'As a résult, Arcelor has decided

“to/file a complaint with the Buropean-Court of Justice against.the ‘directive itsetf:and itg transposition’

nto national legislations.

Risks relating to the storage of Waste are managed through'the by-product recovery: policy, as de}scribéd
" in the Arcelor's third sustainable development principle (page 81}~ S B

- “Arcelor already operates in a large number of countries, and its international® expansion is set to -
¥ ractelerate further. Working culties vary widely between regions'ef the world "Arcelor does not]wish to
simpose a single model; and respects the cultures of its subsidiaries. However, in‘accordance with the
“ Worldwide Agreement on Principles of Corporate Social Responsibility, the Group:does not tolerate any .

infringement of the furidamental rights of workers at its sites, whether they are’employed by Ar}celor or

., by sub-contracters. . o wo }

Arcelor has enshrined these principles in its Code of Ethics and Principles of Responsibility, with which
each Arcelor employee is required 10 comply. S ‘ i
o ensure effective compliancé with-these principles, internal audits are carried.oul at the operational -

" Tevel, in conjunction with indepenidenit experts. The European Works Councitiand. the. commitiee for

monitoring the Worldwide Agreement on Principles of Corporate Social Responsibility are informed of
: s }

i
|
|
[

Arcelor takes a safety-first dpproach to the steel industry's inherent risks. The safety of its wprkers is

Arcelor's prime concern. Accidénts are becoming less and less frequent, and-Arcelorhas a zerojaccident

target. Although the Group experiences accidents every vear, it is reasonable to say that accident risks

“are under control within Arcelor. For more information on accident risk management, see the

Sustainable Development chapter {page 77).
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|
l
|




Group actioity yeport . 1
|

Risk management report

The Group's senior management is also concerned about risks to employees' health, awareness of

which has been increased: in the last few years. Courts are putting increasing emphasis on; the

employer's liability in occupational illness cases. The concept of employer Hability appears to have
teached an extreme level in asbeéstos lawsuits in' France. Law firms have ‘made claiming asbestos

damages a speciality, and the legal system does not seek to reconcile the consequences of asbéstos (lung.
“cancer) with employees” working conditions and ‘contact with-asbestos, ‘or with emplgyees! lifestyles;

particularly their tobacco consumption. Risks resulting from handlfﬁg products’ that may have an-
impact on workers' health are taken into account by the product safety departmient; which identifies

them, proposés risk-reduction measures and monitors impleﬁnentati'on‘ of these measures:. ;

Age structure, succession planning and skills:d_e_:)glgp_mﬁgg
The average age of Arcelor's employees is around 45. However, thie age sﬁrucmre varies between sites:and |
- functions. To prevent skills shortages-in key positiofis, human resoiirces teams co-or,dinaté business:line -
and career committees; which draw up inventories of existing and required human FESOUICES,. takirig o
ifito account mobility. Depending on requirernents, succession plans are drawn up; ayn‘d».trai'n\ing'ahd
recruitment plans are put forward. Additional information-on skills developrient can be found under’ -

Principle 5 of the Susiaiﬁab»le Development chapter (page 89). e

o

Eleoveé4relationS risks relating to restructuring décisions

The Group operates in a fast-changing global environment, and mustjevolve pepmanently‘iﬁ order1g’
anticipate'change while preserving its advantages. Stratégic decisions involve industrialVd'everlapr“r&xemsi’\A
at Arcelor sites and the reorganization of cross-discipline fanctions: 7 . C :

This reslts in employee-relations risks for ‘Arcelor. Strikes’ may ‘occur during the negotiation of
restriicturing-related assistance measures. Strike action mafv"imermpt the activity of certain ‘Grpu'p sites:
for an indeterminate length of time. Since many sub:contractors work on Arcelor sites, sites may be

. affected by strike action-unrelated to Group decisions. C L .

vArcelor takes;a responsible approach to. its ,e‘mployeés and partrers; and acts early to facilitate ‘the
industrial changes arising:from restructuting’ decisions. ARnoiincements are made: $everal years in, -
“advance if possible. I’lanniﬁg ahead in this way allows in-depthtalks with organizatdons that represent, -
sstaft, with the puiblic authoritiesand with all other entities concerned. 'i"hese talks.afe aited at handling™
the sodial consequences -6f industrial changes in a optimal fashion: Arcelor also- offets p‘r;{ctita_l
. assistdnce with the-economic redeployment of the affected ein\plqwx;‘em pools: As a result of it “firm
commitment to social dialogue, the Group setup.a Europedn Works Council as soon as-it was formed:
The EWC is the focal point for collaboration and discitssions, between Arcelor's management an@ staff-
representatives. L : : :

However, labour disputes; while unpleasant and unfortunate, are 4ometimes inevitable: To limit the.
impact of such disputes ofy its clients, Arcelot uses itsscale and the geographical spread of its plantsito
guarantee supplies in the event that production at one of its sites is'stopped. ) :

Ethics, anti-fraud measures and legal compliance

Recent financial scandals have received extensive media coverage and have raised questions about
Business ethics. In response; the Group has introduced systems 10 :,prevem such occurrences within
Arcelor. Arcelor wants to set the standard in the steel industry, not only in terms of profitability but also
business conduct. :

28]




" “ofany problems that may arise.”

these substances, and has set up a European Chemicals Agency.

The factors leading 1o fraud can be described as the "Fraud Triangle”. Employees who comimit fraud,
generally are able to do so because there is opportunity, pressure, and rationalization. Fraud can be
cdlassified in three categories: corruption; rmisappropriation of -assets and: falsification of ﬁn:ancial
statements or performance - indicators, Each category is covered by different control r@_.(i)urces‘

{prevention, detection and correction}. - S , } ;

Preventive controls are based mainly on the Code-of Ethics.and its implementation. As regards financial -
reporting, the head of each Group entity is required:to send a letter to Arcelor's €FQ stating that the
entity's financial statements comply with the Group'$ accounting rules and procedures. To prevent the.

: ~misappropriation of assets through claiths‘of unjustified business expenses, Arcelorhasa single policy -
. ontravel and entertainment expenses, which. is implermented through site-specific procedures: '

Detecting fraud is very difficult. Employees who have ethics-related questions ‘may’ contact the/Ethics

Compliance Officer confidentially to' discuss theit concems or to provide information. Since 2005; the

.~ Business Risk Control-function (partof Internal Addit) has had ‘a fraud team whose responsibilities

include training intermal auditors in fraud detéction; 1n.addition; the statutory auditors arerequired-by:

‘theJSA 240 standard to show professional scepticism’during their work on financial statemeh'ts and to -
.inform the audit committee of any problems. - B A . :

“If, ‘despite prevention efforts, fraud takes place, line managers initially decided what action to take.

t

Employees that infringe the Code of Ethics have no place atArcelor. The Audit Committee is informed *

‘More generally, the Board of Drirectors, the Management Board-and the management teams of Group-.” e

entities, with the support of the BRC. function and the Ethics Compliance Officer, .ensure strict
compliance with the laws and regulations of countries in which:the Group: operates. :

Risks arising from new chemical product regulations in the

European Union (REACH") and worldwide (GHS?)

“Both. the. European Union and United"Nations aim to-edsure a-high. level «of,p‘rmecﬁbn for humian .

Héalth and the environment with respect to the prodiiction and:gse of chemicals.

Arcelor views this globally-shared intention as-an opporiunity rather than & tireat, since it-corresponds .
with Arcelor's commitment 1o making products that are safe for customers and: consumers through its
sustainable development objectives. : k ‘ 1

At the European Union level, the European Commission has published a draft regulation for the

registration, evaluation and authorization of chemicals (REACH); along with restrictions applicableto

REACH focuses on the 30,000 substances introduced into the market before 1981 and manu{féctu.ted

. or imported in quantities of more than onetonne per year, on which hazard information has not been’,

sufficiently well examined by the current system.

The final decision on REACH should be taken by the Furopean Parliament and the Council'of L\]Ainisters
in the autumn of 2006. The Commission expects. the:regulation 1o be published in the springlof 2007
and to come into force in the fousth quarter of 2008. , P

(1) REACH = Registration, Evaluation amd Authorization of Chemicals.

2} CGHS (Globally Harmonized System) = the standardized systen for classifying and labelling chemical products,
} R ] 3 &

established under the oversight of the United Nations.
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In the rést of the world, the-United Nations Economic.and Social Council has developed a Globally
Harmonized System: for producing labels and safety datasheets for ch emical products. The GHS was -
published in July 2003 and:will allow. the same chemical product teolcarry the same labelling irvall "
countries: o e o o P TR

This system will apply worldwid_e and will be imblémeﬁted'in the Furopean Union as partof the
REACH programme, =+ 10 "5 PSR SR TS R

Qutside the Eutopean Union, GHS s likely 10 be relafively'undemanding:in terms. of administration.,
As part of the EU REACH programme, though, it will lead 10 high administration costs, This will distort’-"
competition 10 the detriment of products made in the El. 1 ' o
Athough steelis usually sold in massive form, its production falls within the scope of REACH, GHSﬂ.{as

implemented within REACH, will. cover the toxicological . or ecotoxicological classification of stéel

ingredients.and theiruse'by the client, particularlyin welding operatio‘ns. ‘ IR
Arcelor is preparing: for: these new: regulations: thiough its/!.’rod\uct‘sgfety Committee, ‘which brings:
together specialists fiom the Health & Safety, Environment, Innovation-R&D and Ir}temaﬁdnal Affairs
departments, and from’ the Group's various Sectors and: Sales Departments. This Committee also; cox
ordinates the lobbying of European authorities via professional organizations such as Eurofer'and Unice, -

Market risks (liquidity, interest rate risk, exchange rate risk and
risk on securities held} : ~ Sy

See note 25 to.the cor‘lsolidmedﬁhancjal statements(pagée 188).

Insurance and risk coverage

Arcelor's policy is to arrange wotldwide Group insurance to cover catastrophic risks. Thesepolicies ate
arranged only with insurers: that have the highest level of solvency. Lotal insurance policies cover tisks
that must be covered urider.local legislation. The amounts’ insured reflect financial risks:atising frqrhf
catastrophe Scenarios-and the products offered inthe insurance market, PR, &

Yor all insurable risks, the Group: prefers 1o selfinsure fow-frequency risks that can’ be berme by
individual business-units. As'a restilt, excesses. are tailored to.suit the financial resources-of individual "
units, with:the aimh of raising awareness of risk prevention.. ) i

Arcelor's captive reinsurance company covers mediurn-level fisks as a way of optimizing and sméothing:
the cost of insurance at Group level. Its risk exposure-is-limited. throug? reinsurance. e
In 2005, in the contéxtof industrial safety, Arcelor allocated €30m over and above the normal business
unit risk-prevention budget to protect its industrial units, Arcelor’s comnitment to improving protection
of its industrial units has a.dual positive impact: the Grotp Has since 2004 maintained a very low annual
level of claims relative 10 other steel producers, and-is.continuing to reduce its insurance prémiums,’

To reduce risks even further the Group:
¢ carmies out internal training, designed 1o raise awareness of risk issues among employees at all levels» -
o trains staff in the appropriate industrial safety techniques. . ‘ ' " ;0
There is no two-tiersafety system. .

|
|

In terms of preventing damiage and the subsequent loss of p,roduction:, the Group
o hires external consultants to conduct engineering audits on fire safety systems and machinery

breakdown risks inevery facility where the insured asset value excoeds £50m. All such installations

%




:complement the local policies mentioned above. -

- When customers task the Group with transporting products byshifa, the shipswused must:

e be covered by a P&! Club V\’ilh‘l‘}’le higheét level ofsolven"qr‘ T

-¢ be less than 21 vears old; whenever possible

" The full insured amount corresponds to the maximum potential risk per event..: -

. tonnes of coal during 2005, most of which came from Australia, the USA, Canada and Russia !

_ of industrial partnerships with electzicity producers: o , ‘

have now been audited. The recommendations made as a result of these audits form the basis of
decisions 1o allocate additional budgets to fund preventive measures. :
» examines the major loss scenarios and predicts the possible effects on personnel, the environment and
facilites. ~ o '

e strengthens resources designed: to-limit the probability of catastrophic damage and its consequences.

s formalizes existing intra-group breakdown resources to limit consequential loss of production |
e transfers any residual catastrophic tisk in excess of £20m per claim o the insurance market. Amounts
insured depend on the business-sector and the products availablé int the insurance market: )

o “In terms of civil ability cover, the amounts insured réflect the products available on the market a;id the

amounts insured by other industrial groups of comparable size and activity-In meeting specific-local

rieeds, the Group arranges local Group policies for each countiy. To harmonize civilliability cover at the

Group level - especially in terms of delivered products. - it ‘also Has a »vt);ldw'idef'GIOLlp policy 16

o be classified by a dassification society belonging {0 the international Association, of :Classification
Societies (IACS) : » UL L e ey

“"s hold an International Safety Managernent (ISM) certificate and an Irnternational Ship & Portifacility

Security {I$P$) certificate, bothrvalid for the full period of the voyage

if Arcelor charters ships, it must Be'no’liﬁed:
o of the tesults of the latest inspections made by port authorities

s of the existence of any major event affecting the ship in the previous 12 months:

Procurement and dependency risk

Raw materials

The Arcelor Grotip is a major purichaser of raw materials; particularly iron:ore éhd coal It bouight more
than 50 million tonnes ofiron-ore ih 2005; mainly sourced from Brazil, Mauritania and-Australia, but

“also Sweden, Venezueld, Canada, South Afica, India and Russia. The Group:purchased . 24:5 million

Arcelor sourced-288;000 tonnes of zing, 422,000 'tonne’s; of chromium, 78,000 tonnes of niickel and
548,000 tonnes of stainless (nickel):scrap during the yeat. The Group initiated-a policy to"div&I rsify its

procurement sources.in 2005. } ) BT

Energy

Despite generating around one-third of its own requirémems, Arcelor is one of the largest energy
consumers in many European countries. in order to reduce its exposure to electricity, Arceloris pursuing
initiatives to generate electricity from gas prodiiced in the steelmiaking process. It has projectsiin various
locations, including Fos (scheduled to come into setvice in 2008) and Dunkirk (April 2005):in France,
as well as Ghent (2010) in Belgium. Arcelor is-also committed to developing lotlg—telfrii contracts as part

Natural gas purchasing contracts are pooled for cach country, in order to take full advantage of market
deregulation. However, underlying exposure to Brent crude oil prices was a major risk factor \fhen oil
prices rose in 2005.
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Group purchasing performance

The Group's purchasing process has ISQ 9001/V2000 certification anfd TS 16949 accreditation. The
development of e-purchasing further enhances.the'effectiveness of initiatives alteady implemented. In
organizational terms, a dedicated ‘team has been set up. to suppbrgt the Group's global business
developmient through the strengthening:of partnerships with existing suppliers and the ongoing

assessment of new procurement opportunities.. . ; Co

The 2006 development plan aims fo maintain’the progress already achieved. It includes initiatives
relating 1o anticipation of market developmentsand risk management, compliance with-Arcelor's Code
of Bthics in purchasing, the safety of all subcontractors working on Arcelor sites and cross-disciplinary
-"¢o-operation between all those involved.in the procurement progess:. . R :
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~team has. customized this deﬁnmon based lon the 4 Ps: Profit,

Arcelor has developed eight pnonty areas of action based on the 4 Ps
‘ ..2. Management of risk and safe

" 4. Open dialogue with all partners

8! Respomxble cm7emhlp

Ongoing sustamabie development policy
across th whoﬁe Z*\%’CQIOE Group |

Arcelor's sustainable dg‘evelé{;m{;m‘: strategy

Arcelor's sustainable development. strategyis fully, compliant-
iith the definition of sustainablé developmeént contained in the” /
Bruntland report (1987): " dwelopment that meets the needs of -
the present without compromising the  ability of future
geherations to. meet their own needs’. ‘Arcelor's’ marniagement.

reholders F*ncnqo’ ’

Clienss &
Sisppliers

because without it there is no developmem, People, because it is the |}
imen and women of the company who make the comipany; Planet, ‘ )
because. the . preservation of the efivironment is &, priority for anv V
responsible company; and Parmers, because:it is'the creation of value for all -
partners that will ensure Arcelor $ long—ierm suCcess.

Nesghbours—
Residenis

Comimunities
GOs -

L. Profitable growth through. producmg and markenng steel
products:

; mdudmg the safety of
our products-and the health-of our emplgyees §

3. Protection of the environinent and the presérvation
of scarce Tesources . o

. Skills development around common values of qual
and efficiency
6. Innovation 1o 'create value and support sustalmble
development. : S
7. Strict compliance with corporate oovunance rules.

n
7
=
&
o
@
2
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Arcelor's commitments

Arcelor's sustainable development approach is based -on various.commitments and charlers, which »

define the Group!s-missions:and values:and. those of.its entities, along with the, obhgauons of each - .~
Gxoup empIO\ee Arcelor applles ﬂustdlmb e developmem standards in all countries . in whxch it

2002
¢ Definition of the Arcelor Emlronmemal Policy ( page 83) S

» Adopition of the Arcelor Health and Safety charter (page 78)

2003
» Signature of the United Nations Globai Compact (pagt 71) :
» Adoption of the Arcelor Principles of Responsibility, based on the Upimd Nations Global Compact

|




2004

o Update of Afcelor's General Purchasing Terms and Conditions, with. the inclusion of dlauses
concerning the compliance of Group suppliers and subcontractors with the United Nations Global
Compact dnd Arcelor's sustainable development principles. '

° Deﬁnitioyn,of the pahhealth policy
2005

o Adoption of the Arcelor Code of Ethics (page 98) : 4 =

s Signature. of a Worldwide Agreement on Principles of '_Cofpdréte Social Responsibility with the
International, Metalworkers' Federation (IMF) and the Elropean Metalworkers” Federation’ (EME),

covering Arcelor's social and sustainable development principles (page 91) L b
o Signature 0f a strategic partnership in China with ‘the United' Nations' Development Programie

(UN Dl’)—tp‘:prométe energy.efficiency and environmental prnte&tio:w (page 83)

|
; |
‘Giving sustainable development responsibility to all staff l, ‘

Giving each Arcelor employee responsibility for Sustzijnab]e development is central to-the policy
adopted by Arcelor's Management Board. Sustainable development must enable employees worldwide s
to apply best piactice in the economic, emp lpyeeqelatibns} environmental and sodial fields; and enable
Group entities to share the same procedures and sfandards: o : l '
. Sy "

-Sustainable development is guided by the Grdup‘é M.anagemen‘t Board and implememeid by a

Sustainable Development Division. This Division works “in close’ collaboration with ‘allgGroup
functions and departments; including the Group Manageinent Board, Finance,. Investor: Relations, .
Environment;, Health and Safety, Business Risk Contral,; Human Resourdes, Inhovation.and Research,
Procuternent, Communication, General Secretariat; Legal and Ethics The aim ofthis collaboration is
1o make sustainable development an integral.part ofthe:organizations, information 'systefs; béb_aviour
and objectives of each Arcelor unit. R . Lo ‘
Each year, quantitative and qualitative targets are set’hy the Management Board foreach comb?nent of
the Group. sustainable development strategy, and progress.is’ monjtored by the Management Board: -
usingscorecards; : BRI S AN i S

To inérease the awareness and involvement of ‘all ‘staff; there is a strong emphasis on sustainable
development in the training provided by Arcelor-University, in the Group's sector and -trade
conventions, on. the intranet, in internal newsletters, ‘and in: the programme of site visits by. the

Management Board. IR R =
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Custainable development
p Lo

Ongoing sustdinable development policy across the whole Arcelor Group ' !

Socially responsible muestmmi best- perfommz company in the
 steel mdusm’ ' =

In 2005, the main corporate <0cxal responsibility. (CSR) rating agenéiesi‘ recognized Arcelort's
performance and its commitment to sustainable development. o
Arcelor was the only steelinaker in the G lobai100 Most Sustainable (‘orpomnons in th? World fist.
“presented during the World Econemic Forum in Davos: :
Ascelor is a constiuent of the Dow Janes; Sustamabxlltv Index World alongside Dofasco, and of the
FTSE4Good Global and Europe mdexo.s : : :

Ihe <omp1ny is-also pan of Vlgeo s A.spl hurozone mdex 1nd Pth!be e.;Pidneé:r Suéta’inaﬁi!‘ity Index
* World index. : L
Exame magazine named Acesita, Belgo and CST. which’ m’ike up Arcelor Brasxl a8 threg of Bra71 s top:
- 1epr-companies interms of soaal responslbxhtv

- Global 100

ey Suscanable Darpasations 13 the W

Avcdor and the United Nations Global Compac

Arcelot omei 2,500 compames around the ‘world by signing, the United Nations
Global Compact in Septe_mber 2003 B '
: { % ‘
The Clobal Compact (www unclobalcompact org) was launchad in 2000 by the UN
S Secretary-General. Ivaims 1o incorpotate a set of fuhdamental values relating to the
ngﬁ;‘gg—}“‘ Universal Declamtlon of " Human  Rights, mtemauonal labour  standards,
) environmental protecnon and the fight against. corm xpnon into business practices.

Slanatory companies commit 1nd1v1dually to applymg the (,lobal (ompac&‘s 1en; pnnaples and to
promioting their diffusion among: a!l smkeholdem




Human rights e . . S

Principle 1: Business should support and’ respect the protection of internationally proclaimed
human rights; and : S e

Pringiple 2: Make sure that they are not complicit in human rights abuses.

Labour standarids ' . ' .

Principle. 3: Business should uphold the freedom of association and the effective recognition of the
right to collective bargaining; ) ! R

Principle 4: The elimination of all forms of forced and compulsqu Jabour;
Principle’s: The effective abolition of child. Jabour; and ; S _ :
Principle’6: The elimination of discrimination in:respect of employment and occupation. .

Environment © v , : v S,
Principle.7: Business should support a precautioriary approach to erivironmental challenges;
Principle:8: Undertake initiatives to promote greater'envirénmemal responsibility; and
Principle:9: Encouragé the development and diffusion of environmentally friendly technologies:
Ami'torﬁtpaiun . . ’ o . o " s T
Principle 10: Business should work against all forms of corruption, including extortion and bri ery.

Ny

Arcelor's sustainable devélopment strategy and Princip]és oFuRespbnsibiIity, L;ph’eld by the Group's
. Management Board, are fully in line with the: Global /Compact's- ten .principles: Arcelor's ejg‘ht
sustainable development principles reflect its deterniination to recondile its econiomic’'{Profit); social

{People).and environmental (Planet) strategies, for the greater good ‘of all its Partners. ™ ‘

A key aspect of Arcelor's commitment to.the Global Compact is. the promotion-of the-ten p‘fincip]es :
among the'Group's subcontractors and suppliers: In 2004, the Arcelor Purchasing Division introduced
a set of elementary’ obligations for suppliers conceéfning human rights; labour. standards and

envitonmental: protection. The Sustainable Purchasing ‘program now allows Arcelor“s.Pur‘?hasing
Divisionito evaluate supplers using a scorecard- that checks compliance with each of Arcelor's
commitiients ahd valuesiin terms of sustainable development and the Global Compact. :

To SL}D]:J‘OI't«t‘hVE adbpti&m of the tenth Global C-ombact principle; Arcelor adopted a Code of: [i;’hiés in:
2005.’This»Code‘deﬁ11€s, the behaviour required of ¢ach Group employee, in particular with régard_to
combating ’corruptio_n, {alongside its Principles .of Respoiisibility), and™an early wamning/

whisteblowing procedure (see page 97 of the corporate governance ¢hapter).
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Main achievements in 2003 Main achievements in 2004

1. Group profitability

employed (ROCE): 8.5%

Sustainable deve%opmem score aad

S ST

Performance indicators for each of Arcelor's eight sustamabk de\elopment pnnuples haw been
developed and introduced dcross the entire Group.
The remuneration of (,roup managers is partly based on movements in Lhese indicators: i
The Management Board pays spemal attention to annual 1mpr0vement plans in edch of the eight areas -
of sustainabie development:, S ! :
This dynamic approach to sustainable dwelopmem conmbutas to creatmg an Arcelor culture based on
ongoing improvement and’ excellence, and ensures greater moblhzauon of the Group's.entities, greater
involvement of managers and personnel, and faster dissemination; of know-how: and’ best pracnce‘
between entities. R . :

0f 26.5% despite a €4bn ingease of €7bn

Improvement in return on capital  Record ROCE: 27.4% ROCE maintained at the high level } * Normalized CBITDA
I
|

compared with 6.7% in 2002 : in capital employed E' e Sustainable cash flow
Significant reduction in debt Further significant reduction in Further significant reduction in f of €4.4bn per year
debt debt " & Dividend pay-out ratio
i of 30%
~ » Efficiency gains
Synergy targets exceeded Synergy targets exceeded Svnergy targets exceeded of €2.2bn

2. Health and saféty and risk management S

38% reduction in accident
frequency among Arcelor
employees relative to 2002

© Accident frequency rate below

32% reduction in acadmt 35% reduction in accident
frequency among Arcelor frequency among Arcelor . 3 for 2006
ernplovees relative to 2003 employees relative to 2004 |; Eventual objective of zero accidents

¢ 21% reduction in accident » 20% reduction in accident
* frequency among subcontractor 17 frequency among subcontractor
staff relative 10 2004 staff

Safety Convention attended Bilbao Health Update of the Health I Implementation of the health
by staff representatives And Safety Convention and And Safety Charter as part I policy
implementation of initial action - of work initiated i
plans in the Bilbao Convention '
Identification of major risks and  Idemtification of major risks and * Definition of Arcelor’s risk 1" Deployment of a risk
action phn\ (or all (.roup action plans for all Group universe {dynamic Group risk | management policy
5 business model processes consolidation model) |
Mappmg, of major risks at Mapping of major risks at integration of sustainable I'. Integration of risk maps into
Group and business unit level Croup, business unit and site * development risks into Arcelot’s| - reporting tools
level risk map |
3. Protection ofitheenvironment and scarce resources S . | . )
SO 14001 certification for all Certification of 26% of ISQ 14001 certification of 7% | 18O 14001 certification of 100%
large production units production units and 50% of production and 68% of i of production and finishing units
of finishing units ilmshmg units |
Stabilization of CO;, emissions  Stabilization of CO2 ernissions Irnplenmuatmn OFULCOS } Reduction in CO; emissions
project i in Europe by 25% by 2012
| compared with 1990
Recovery of 95% of by-products Recovery of 95% of by-products Recovery of 989 of by-products Recovery of 98% of by-products
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© Main achievements in 2003

4. Plalogue with pariners
Dialogue with staff representatives,
involving proposals and
consultation work, as part of the
European Works Council

Main achievements in 2004

Assessment of the European
Works Council's operations

Employee-relations statistics
teams for all Arcelor managers
in Lurope; satisfaction survey
for staff in Brazil

Monitoring of employee-
refations statistics teams

. o
Ongoing dialogue with all ;
Group partners !

Ongoing dialogue with ali
CGroup partners

Monitoring of employee-
relations statistics teams

Extension of the employee
relations statistics teams to all
staff categories

Open days in all large
production sites
5. 5kills development

Launch of Arcelor University
(700 managers receiving
training in 2003)

mapen days in all large

production sites

Enhanced Arcelor University
multicultural programmes and
training plans

" Development of distance

)

Open days in all large !
production sites r
i

training tools !

I Open days in all large

production sites

P

i Broader range of staff training

Introduction of enhanced
training plans as part of site
restructuring

6: innevation and quality

.. Establishment of Arcelor

Scientific Council

Initiative to promote
employability as part of
restructuring

First [Innovation {-R&D prize
awarded for the most innovative
ideas and research projects in
the Flat Carbon sector

enhanced training plans

- An innovation day, attended

" to generate innovative projects
based on new ideas

Continued implementation of

by more than 200 researchers,

Concentration of R&D activities
within market-oriented research
centres organized by project
team (Flat Carbon): launch

Luropean steel technology
platform: development of
project with partners

- 7. {prporate governance

Approval and distibution of
Principles of Responsibility

Concentration of R&D activities
within market-oriented research
centres organized by project

team (Flat Carbon): completion

. Arcelor's R&D efforts within

/ reducing time-to-market and

Completion of the 2005
innovation project to combine

market-oriented
multidisciplinary Research
Centres, with the aim of

increasing familiarity with
markets

European steel technology
platform: taunch and set-up of
two committees (steering and
support), along with five task
forces made up of around 60
experts to prepare the strategic
research agenda

Survey on the distribution and
application of Principles of
Responsibility within the Group
{early 2005)

. methods

‘ Launch of the Sovamat

(Social Value of Materials) :

: project as part of the European

steel technology platform,

i aimed at quantifying the social
< value of materials for society |

and defining new assessment

|
i
N S
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. Distribution of a Code of Ethics |,

relating to individual behaviour:
requirements

< ¢ Make the most of Arcelor's

o Accelerate R&D and the

Continued implementation of

' enhanced training plans

= Promote and reward
creativity [

scientific and technical
knowledge

* Increase research synergies
with customers and partners.

implementation of R&D
results by clients

o Increase satisfaction among
Group customers

Campaign to taise awareness

of the Code of Ethics and .
introduction of whistleblowing
procedures

Transparency on the
remuneration of Group
execttives

Compliance with the most
stringent international corporate
governance principles

Compliance with the most i
stringent international corporate,

governance principles j

Compliance with the rmost
stringent international corporate

" governance principles

8. Responsible eitizenship

Assistance plans for all
restructuring projects

Assistance plans for all
restructuring projects

Self-assessment by the Board \
of Directors w

Implementation of decisions taken
on the basis of self-assessment by
the Board of Directors

Creation of an expanded
COrporate governance area on
the www.arcelor.com website

Assistance plans for alt i
restructuring projects

Enhancement of the corporate
governance area on the
www.arcelor.com website

Assistance plans for all
restructuring projects

Support for cultural, sports and
solidarity projects in all regions
in which the Group operates

transplant partnership from
France w Brazil

Pastnership with Brazil's
Nattonal Cancer {nstitute
{INCA)

Strengthening of social ties in
countries in which the Group
operates

=4
[
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Az'{eim" sustainable @eveéopmeiflt
key pe@fformance mdica{ors e

This table summarizes the' sustainable development performance indi"cators implemented across the
Group. They are based'on the GRI {Global Reporting Initiative) {see page 103, cross-reference'table) and
sector reference bases. The: 1nd1cators cover all consolidated Arcejoxl’ companies, unless: otherwise
mentioned. Data xelatmg to-previoti§'vears have hot been adjusted’ o mke account-of changes in the scope
of consolidation affecting: results, unless otherwise mentioned.

Principles Indicators 2002 ' 2003
. ; L
Principle 1 - Group profiabiiity {page 76) s ey . ; e
Profitability ROCE (retum on capital emploved) (%) : 6.6 . 8.5 274
Debt Gearing (%) 0.75 0.55 0.20
Efficiency gains Synergies (€ m relative to 2001} 190 405 560
- Dividend Cross dividend per share (€) ; 038 ¢ 0.40 0.65
i’rif}cipie‘ SHealth and safety and risk mamgﬂnem [p‘lge‘ B r o .
- Safety Nurber of fatal accidents due to speaﬁc risks !
! ] {Arcelor employees and contractors) ) 4 1 0 6
Satety Number of serious accidents !
: {lost ime > 2 months, Arcelor employees and contractors) - - 198
Safety Accident frequency rate, Arcelor employees !
{number of lost-time accidents per million hours worked) 9 5.5 3.7
Satety Acadent frequency rate, contractors : - - 7.5
Satety Acddent severity rate, Arcelor employees
{number of workdays lost to accidents per thousand hours worked) 042 0.26
. Product safety Number of steel safety data sheets . 393 446
Product safety Number of by-product safety data sheets 31 84
Risk Managernent Percentage of Arcelor business model covered by risk management 68 ! 100
Risk Management Level of identification and control of major risks © Corpumte ‘ Oirpqrate
' + DUSINESS

us
+ Sites

E’uncnple #i Protection of the environment and éfiscarce rmmxr(es {page 81}

Environmental Percentage of emplo»ees workmg, 2 80 96 97
Management Systemn inan [S() 14001-certified environment

Environmental Percentage of production sites with 1SO 14001 certification 61 77 92
Management System .
Air pollution Ducted dust {kg/tonne steel) 026 027 0.25
Alr pollution SO, emissions (kg/tonne steel) : L 1.05 117
Air pollution NOx emissions (kg/tonne steel) 122 1.16 L1l
Alr poliution CO; emissions (tonne/tonne steel) 1.50 1.50 1.55
Water Water discharge (outflow) {m*/tonne steel) 44 4.15 3.74
Water quality Chemical oxygeh demand (COD) (g/tonne steel) 238 190 190
Water quality Suspended matter {g/tonne steel} : 149 18 93
Residues Restdue efiminated throuéh discharge or incineration (kgftonne steel) - 426 - 31.6
“Residues Stored residue (kg/tonne steel) - 46.8 335

Principled - DHalogue with partners {page 873 o : o S

Dialogue Percentage of employees having access (o a dialogue/ ;
consultation/representation/expression of grievances structure 100 100 160
Dialogue Establishment of programmes for meeting with stakeholders
and NGQOs at the major production plants Yes Yes Yes
Dialogue Percentage of major plants holding open days 100 100

t Specific greenhouse gas eadssions (CO, ») have increased due to the expansion: of the Arcelor scope of consolidation in 2004, On comparable basis, the level of CO;
emissions was 1.50. Capture of atmospheric CO» is not deducted from specific emissions, [ 1s estimated at 1.25% of emissions. ;




_ Prindiples

Principle 4~ Dialogue with-partners {_cqnlinnéd} {page 87,

Manager satisfaction

Customer satisfaction

Indicators 2002
Implementation of employee-relations statistics tearns No
Implementation of customer satisfaction surveys Yes,

per sector

2003 2004

Yes Yes o

Yes, Yes,

Per Sector © per sector L7
- and
market

" Pantner satisfaction

!

Organization of imagc{

1 reputation surveys in the vicinity
of major production p

ants Yes

‘ 'igrincgﬁe 5 < Skills develapment {page $9)

Number of nationalities in the workforce 35

Yes Yes

40

Multiculturat group :
. Multicultural group Total workforce at 31 December, full-time-equivalent 104,241 ¢ 96,294
Employment Percentage of employees working under a temporary Not
contract " consolidated 2.70
Employment Average length of service of emplovees (vears) 22 4 215
* Employment Average age of employees (vears) Not | 44.8
consolidated ¢
Employment Percentage of women in executive positions 7o 82
* Employment Percentage of women in the total Group workforce 10 | 10
‘Training and mobility Training (number of hours per employee per year) 30.6 39.6
Remuneration Percentage of workforce having a financial interest
in the company’s earnings 50 58.6
Remuneration Percentage of the workforce subject to yearly perfformance
assessment (interview etc.) . 35 | 37.6
Remuneration Percentage of managers subject to yearly performance assessment 77 | 82
3
Principle 6 - Inpovation and quality {page 93} /
Innovation * Arcelor gross vesearch expenditure (€ m) 153 143
" Innovation Eistimated global research efforts by Arcelor .
+ partners in joint projects (€ m) - 194
Innovation Percentage of R&D devoted to the environment (%) - 38
Principle 7. Corporatd governance {page 97) =
Corporate governance Number of Board of Directors meetings 5 8
Corporate governance Average attendance of directors at Board meetings (%) 90.6 87
Corporate governance Number of Audit Committee meetings 5 8 5
Corporate governance Average atendance of Audit Committee mermbers (%) 100 97 85
Corporate govermnance Number of Appointiments and Remuneration Committee meetings 4 6 3
Corporate governance Average attendance of Appointments
and Remuneration Committee members (%) 100 87.5 95
Corporate governance ndependent Board members 9 out 9 out 11 out
of 15 + of 15 + of 15 +
3 staff repre- 3 staff repre. 3 staff repre-
sentatives sentatives sentatives
Corporate governance Nuruber of nationalities represented on the Board ' 6 6 6
I
. L
Principle 8 - Responsible citizenship {page 9} . !
Restructuring/employment - Percentage of sites benefiting from redepioyment plans i
in the event of closure or reduced activity (26) 100 100 100 00"
Support for soctal projects  Budget for supporting/sponsoring social projects (€ m) 8 8 8 2
.
U
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Principle 1: Group profitability

Objectives

rgets as part of i its 7006 2008

Building on its excellent.return on assets, Arcelor has set ambitious, newf

value creation plan, the key a%pecrs of which are:

= A normalised ERITDA taiget of €7bn, with potential for addmornl Anlprovmwent
e Sustained cash flow of €4.4bn per year over the cycle G

L.\ progrcsswe dividend policy, wnh a standard payout rate:of 30%:

8 Eammgs -enthancing acqmsmons generating ROCE of over 15%

s A comrmtmem to-retum surplus cash to shareholders, mdudmg cash ﬁ'orn ncm core busmess dlsposals

() Free cash ﬂow after mainwnance investmenit ‘and befm‘e develqpmen; ir

F mcmaa{ per fm manw trends

Without financial petformance, Arcelor cannot achieve sustamable developmem

Since it was created in 2002 Arcelor has genemted Lombmed efﬁnency gnns and synergjes of €1.9bn,
including €421 m in 2005:. '

The Group has hu its 1nerger~1elated syhergy target of €/00m one vear ahead of schedule

It reduced fts net debt: from €6.5bn (proforma) at end 2001 to €2 Sbn at end 7004 and €1 3bn.at
end 2005. : :

ROCE was 26.5% in 2005.

Financial :arengz‘h as a o driver of gmw{h aﬂd areitzo‘lder vaZue
Arcelor's devdopmgnt suategv 1s 'based on high-value- added producLs and arl investinent pohcy Lhat
ensures excellent retiirns-on mplmi emp}oved Arcelor pays special attenncm 10 carrymg out'the nght
amount of investimerit. It avoids overinvesting by keeping a firm grxp on itvestment, SO as not to
threaten the Group's-dividend policy. Tt avoids underinvesting by msunng that production assets are
well maintained and at the leﬂdmg edge of technology, by develo pmg new. pmducts and’ bv investing.
in growth. b :

@ A balanced mvestment model combmmg growth with the aeauon of shareholdtr value

- In 2005, Arcelor brought into semce a new automotive steel gwl»am/mg lme at the Mardyck site in
¢ France. This facility was created by converting ap existing electrogqlvam/mg line, and required-half
the investment of building‘a new line. ST -

l

T




* Health and safety performance S

" Arcelor's accident frequency rate fell by 35% in 2005: The 20"05 figure was 2.4, even better {hanfﬂxje‘mrgét '
- .of 3 set by the Group's Health and Safety. Division: Since Atcelor'was (reated in 2002, accident frequency
. has fallen by more thany 73%. - SRR » . o g

A strong commitment to health and safety

Principle 2: Health amdfsa»ffety and - —
risk management R e

Objectives

¢ Prevention and control of ‘major risks
- Full implementation of Seveso directives :
- Absolute safety of plants, processes and;products: -

o Significant reduction in frequéncy and severity: of ‘Workp‘lace accidents,
2 Zeto tolerance of serious accidents or deaths in its businesses : ]
- Frequency rate: LTA frequency (lost-time accidents per million hours worked) < 3

- Severity rate: number of workdays lost to-accidents-per thousand hours worked < 0,25
e Total safety of products in use s ' :

The injury severity rate of workplace acd denmvaffec'tihg’}\rcelor staff fell by 22:5% in 2005: Since 201(52, this . Lo L
figure has declined by 45%. .~ T B A ’ RS
Arcelor has several initiatives to reduce workp]ace accidents avmong the staff of suppliers ’and’:’subcon]iractdrs y ‘ S
(Safety Partners, Shared Vigilance eic.}. Asa result; accident fiequency among subcontractorstaff fell by 21%

" in 2005.

- As soon as it was created'in 2002, Arcelor drew up:a Safety Charter that appliesito.all consolidated:
companies: ltcovers the fields of Health, Safety, Indus rial Security and Product Saféty;and concerns ;.
not only Group personnel,.but also subcoymractors'Working on sites, persons-'iivjng;neara_faa“ilit_iés;:f
customer personnel working with Arcelor produtts, ahd:consumers. The staff representative bodies.s

“that co-signed this'charter are‘closely involved:in its distribution and implementation amonig both
Arcelor and subcontractor staff. S S

The charter was updated in 2005 following work initiated by the Bilbao Convention: in.2004,7in *
which management and staff representatives discussed health and safety issues. )
N - g . i 5
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Principle 2

ARINIAL
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: Health and safety and risk- management

wnt,

) Lonseque Iy Arcelor affirms. thal
e Health and safetyare an mtegral part of evarvones reaponsxblhtv dunng planmng as’ well asv

"9 No other prierities shall be higher Lhdﬂ health and safuy
e Health and safety.are primarily the responsibility of mmagemenq but tequires the pamapanon '

Arcelor (]Eob;d Health and Safew Policy.

Arcelor is cornmitted to the sustainable dev elopmem of sted ina socmlv responsible way. Arcelor's:
Global Health and Safety policy, in partnership with the employees’ répresentatives, exprasses thls :
arubition and supports the long-term developmem of the company,- |

‘4

T lm globat concem mcludes all aspects of the human life and exiende bemnd the boundanee of).

“the company. It also takes in account the Lauses of - dxsaases linked- to mterpusonal rghuons}nps T
(qtress el ). ) s g

‘i,r

Arce}or aims to achieve the wellbeing of everyone associated wuh its busmess
¢ The we!lbemg sof all'persons is a prerequisite for the long-térm develc?pmem and success of \rcelot,

= The wellbeing 5f all persons requires-efficient prévention of mdusmal and heallh nsks i an

operational environment with. high risk awareness;

¢ The:wellbeing of all persoris requires orgamzauonal process controls that w1ll prevmt or l1m1t thc :

effects of accidents and madents ; : - g
This. g]obal commxtmem concems the company’s emplovees, service prowders in the Arce}or plants i
communities near the installations, ciustomers using the products, as’ well as end users.. :

Arcelor has the ambition to bewme a.world class leader m the managemenl of
health and safety for all'its partners ' :

lmplememmon acuvmes A RS

and mvolvemem of everyone, with. the common goal of reducmg the risks in: a plocess of |

continuous improvement. : ~ i , i
In order 10 achleve this anibition, Arcelor intends to: )

17 Identfy: evaluate, eliminate or minimize industrial and health nskﬁ by mvolvmg the emplovees

represmtauves dufing the planning and-implementition phases; §V

“ 2. Make aeailableto all the means and resources necessary fot carrying’ ‘out tasks safel v, : : :
“Give theright to:all. eimployees ot service providers t&-defand ¢compliance with health'and safe,tv) ¥

3,

procedures, insist that managemem créate a work envxronmem that allows" everyone to exercise
this nght ; *

. Emphasize 5afe behaviour and enhance the pu‘sonal commmncm of aver}one 10 respect health
and safety. rules and regulations: every Arcelor employee has a ffundamemal responsibility to
enstite a safe and healthy workplace; P

. Provide training to increase knowledge; !

Develop partaeships with customers regarding mxuology and eco: toxxcologv,

. Ensure that all related internal and external communications are open and free;’

. Setan éxample in meeting legal and regulatory obligations. - r

Jeo%

>~} 'cx L

jod

Guy Dollé

Chiel Executive:Officer
Luxembourg, 18 March 2002
1 January 2005 update
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Health and safety policy e AR R

~drugs); repetitive strain injury and’occupational illnesses,

Initiatives concerning the wearing of seatbelts

Employee and subcontractor safety [

The Bilbao Convention in Febriary 2004 witnessed the launch of the Panhealth policy, which irgvolves
a broad vision encompassing both -safety: and health. It prompted ‘the creation of a group of
occupational health specialists to-identify best practice in terms of preventing illdess at the operational

level, to- identify psychosocial illnesses (including stress) in three pilot"sités ‘and- 10" create an
occupational illness database. . . o e .

_ The Pamplona Convention. took place on' 21-22 Apml 2005. It prm{i\ded' an bppoi'tunity to greview

progress made by the Group since, the Bilbao Convention,. and- to bringitogether again Arcelor's

. management, staff representatives and .6ccupational. health specialists to discuss health and. safety

issues. Subjects included the prevention of work accidents among einployess and subcontrdctors; stress
at work, lifestyles (rest, sport, diet), prevention of addictions (alcohol, tebacco; illegal and prescription

i

Anyorne who witnesses a-dangerous situation must.report it tosthe relevant perisous.
" Arcelot employees-and contractors must work: together. to improve overall Isafery
conditions. ; R S

i
i
1

{

i

Experience feedback (REX) shééfé

The causes of each industrial accident are-systematically studied and analyzed'in detail. Experience
feedback sheets are then written up.and;distributed throughout the Group. This provides substantial
assistance in reducing the risk of accidents. In 2005, 216 sheets-in several-languages were circulated
among management and site health.and safety officers. I S :

Safety audits and certification : R 1

A single internal safety audit method (Déﬁned, Understood, Ope;atioﬁal - DU O)'was introduced in

. 2005. It was implemented throtighout: 2005, and’ implementation across atl’ Group. sites will be

cormpleted in 2006. A team of 74 safety auditors has been.formed to-carry out this ir,np’lem,em;iti’on in
compliance with the OFISAS 18001 framework: : , : ST

/ Many Arcelor sites have already obtained O}'{SA'S 18001 cértification; such as Eurogal (Li’égé,:Beigium),

Juiz de Fora (Belgo Mineira; Brazil),’ Véga Do Sul. (Brazil), Ewebarri (Vizcaya, -Spain), iArcelor
Corrugados Lasao (Spain) and Arcelér Profile Europe {(Luxembourg). : |
' !

i

" In 2005, Arcelor made wearing seatbélts. and-hamésses a priority. The simple actiof fasteninig 1 belt or

putting on a hamess can save lives; and must become second nature. - - : L

‘The wearing of seatbelts is required-of all staff, inside and outside plants, Awareness-raising and poster
campaigns, along with seatbelt checks within sites and at site exits, were introddced across ;all sites
in 2005. . ‘ i

At the same time, initiatives o raise awareness about the wearing of safety harnesses were introduced
in production plants, and specific Group-widle charters were drawn up in'2005; The aim was. 10 reduce
the number of falls, which are responsible for a third of fatal accidents within the Group.
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principle 2: Health and safety and risk management

-Many Arcelor teams; both in France and elsewhere, took part in the GESIM (Groupement' des’.

Aniave. e -

Safety of production facilities ;
Arcelor's European operations inclide 16 Seveso sites. The safety teams are extremely attentive wallof
these sites. A precise inventory of all persons involved in-crisis management is drawn up. This allows -
each person to be mobilized and to co-ordinate théir initiatives inl the efvem of a serious accident. The .
Arcelor Communications Division has. published p.r.eciée directives to manage crisis communication

and supports Arcelor University in teaching all site ménagers how ta:set up-a crisis centre and build-a,

multi-skills team to_handle a crisis: . o o o S

(RN

"saft"t}f‘ ;hglleg)gé in2005. Every year, several ‘hundred;

Entreprises, Sidérurgiques et Métallurgiques),
ss ‘the” Group's variéus sites as pait of the GESIM

proposals 1o impiove afety aresimiplem nted aero

i N

Proﬁlz\rbédz:Belval was one of five companvies 0 teceive’a (200/51Lu:xerﬁ.5m‘1rg Health and%afetv Award: ,

Section Mill in Belval. Those responsible for this project anticipated European legislation and took into’.

Health and Safety Awards;~PrqﬁlArb_ed Belval and API Etxebarrf fecognized for their good noise
prevention practices. e S AL R o SR

‘Phe award was made duiring the 2005 European "Stop thatnoise” weel: .

ProfilArbed was recognized for its efforts during the construction‘and commissioning of the Medium

account noise risks from the oiitsét. The systems used aimed to;protect staff and local residents, and” -
were complemented by noise mitigation measures. Thev representa benchmark for the Arcelor group: i+
API Ftxebarri won the award in the Spain category, . ] S ;

Appiicatimi of the Risk Ma ngczmeféi? Systen

{
)

H

!

Product safety

Steel does not constitute a health hazard: It does not emit hazardous volatile or allergenic substances; -
does not have its own eledtric or;mag11etic field, and some ‘treatments even make it fit for food use.
Unlike other competing matérials, steel — and more particularly- its. main component of iron - - ¢
is.-officially recognized by -the’ Europear Co‘mmissiqr‘l"as-' -vbeing; -environmentally-friendly. .i.e

not constituting a partcularthreatio:the environmentin any:form {iron, sofuble or insoluble oxides:
andsalts). oo R y FT s - o

j
i
; v
f

The purpose of the Business Risk Control (BRC) Division, thiough its Risk Management Developmerit... '
unit, is to help managers formalize their risk management practices and integrate them transparently
in. their day-to-day management; The aim is'to reduce the risks arising from their decisions, benefit . =
from telated opportunities and give them a competitive advantage: BHC offers assistance in identifying - L
high-tisk areas, provides operational staff with 4 set of effective internal.control practices and, viaits
internal audit activities, ensure-these practices dre applied. It-also. petiodically gives management an
independent opinion on the global level.of risk control. Arcelor BRC consists of a network of 70 people,
organized in accordance with the principles of subsidiarity’and independence. The econoinic, social -
and environmental aspects of sustainable development are an integral part of BRC's risk-mapping, g
activities, which cover 190 risk types in Arcelor's activities. This mapping is currently being revised.
Major risks relating to strategy, management, operations, finances and external everits are now
identified and managed both at corperate level and by the business units and the sites. Internal audit
assesses risk management and the internal controls put in place, along with the proper implementation

of risk management plans.




- ,Complia‘ncé with all legal and regulatdry requirements o
"o ISE¥ 14001, certification for all' production facilities - K

» Significant contribution to reduction of greenhouse gases;(COy, etc.y BRI
' Reduiction of pollutant emissions:and environmental huisances (discharges, dust, SO, etc.) -
o Reduction of water consumption/raw material extraction (ore, etc:) and jmprovemnent of energy

. Environmental performance trends

" Emissions to air

’ THere:weretwo main highlighis in-2005;.

l--'--_-ﬂ--—-‘-ll

Principle 3: Protection of the environment
and of scarce resources NEERE

Objectives

b
]
:

efficiency : >
» Encouragement for the recycling of steel and by-products wherever possible -, -
o Tricorporation of environmental valuesadded into our-steel products and solutions.... %

“ArceloF maintained its environinerital efforts in 2005 althought, as in 2004, tesults were affected by

¢hanges in the scope of consolidation’ The main events in this respect were the disposals of the Azpeitia
anid Getafe sites in Spain, which affected the proportion of stegl produted in eléctric-are fumaces; and
the start of ‘operations at the Carinox steclworks in Gharleroi in. late 2005; which had i negligible

~-impact on the Group’s overall results. Acesita’s results were consolidated. as o_bevembeerOOS; :6ut had

only a'limited impact on average performance. S » A

4
PR

i

" Atmospheric emissions (ducted dust, sulpbur oxides and nitrogen) remained :ve.ry~ similar 10,2004

levels. -

e The secondary dust removal system at the Sidmar plant in Chont: was extended in 2004, -with one.

“convérter installed in July and asecond in October. The full impact of thisseffortwvas seen ip’:?.OOS,
~“with the volume of dust recovered rising fiom 929 toines in 2004 1o 2,301 tonnes in 2005, This dust

was previously discharged into the atniosphere. In addition, ducted dust emissions reported in 2005
totalled 1,231 tonnes. The comparison between these figures show the poténtial'scaleiof diffuse dust
emissions, which will be assessed again starting in 2006. , SN S R b

 Abag filter was installed at the Fos-sur-Mer facility, processing half ofits sioke emi'ssio1}5._.§‘ulphur

oxide emissions are also Teduced by injecting lime upstream of the filter. Since the filter did n;‘ot come
iate service until the end of the yedt; there was 1o apparent impact.on 2605 emissions, However. a

substanitial reduction in ducted dustand related metal emissions is expected: © - >
Water discharges , i L ; Er

i

The comparison between 2004 and 2005 results is ‘affected by changes in scope, due ta the
consolidation of Acindar. This plant, located in the Rio Parafia region of Argemiﬁa, has access to huge
watef resources and has an open circuit system that usesiwater on a very large scale. P

2004-data, adjusted for changes inscope, show discharges of 5.63m’ per tonne of steel, very similar to
the 2005 figure. Similarly, at constant scope, COD and suspended matier discharges were 215g/1 and
165g/t respectively. As a result, slight progress was achieved in 2005. S

|
i




" Sustainuble &

i
1§
i
Cprinciple 3-Protection of the environment and of scarce reSources o " s e
!
i
|
i

Residues - RN

- good cross-section of the Group’s geographical locations and’activities:

CO7 emissions

o Em issions relating to grid electricity purchases, taking info acéountithe CO; equivalent ber KWh in

]

j
|
i
,

At end-2004, the site in Juiz dé Fora (Brazil) completed the,reorgarl\ization of its water networks,
enabling it to achieve a substantial increase in recycling. Wastewatet discharges fell from 505,0600m*
in 2004 to 62,8000y in 2005 (74 litres per tonne). . - o :
, SRR ] W
Four of the Group's steel production sites (Bergara, Olaberria and Zumarraga in Spain and Piracicaba
in Brazil) have totally closed their water circuits, while the Monlevadelsité in Brazil has discharges of
fess than 100 litres per tonne of steel. ’ : : i : ' .

For 2006, the Group has adopted an initiative to miake watet usage assessments more reliable.”

i

Results in 2005 were very, siinilar to those in 2004, in {erms of the quantity of waste discharged (still -
10kg per tonne lower than in: 2003) and the quantity stored However, despite the overallistability In

. stored tesidues, trends varied widely between sites: IR

e Ii:2004, the Dunkirk site befiefited fron opportunities to reusé steelwork slag and sllérply reduced
its stocks of crystallised slag.In 2005; however, amounts placed'in;storage rose back to previous levels::

_oThe Sidmar site reduced amounts placed in storage by more than 50%: It also invested ina system 10

easier to-reuse. Thisiinvestment

“inject silica into steelwotk:slag in order to: stabilise it and ‘make:it,
should have an impact in 2006. " G & & N

» THe Eko Stahl site contifued:to reprocess old slag stocks, and was ableto useJarge ’quaxmities Atselfin -z,
civil engineering operations {landfill covering, creation’ of a*noise-reéluction"embankment). :

In 2005, the Group’s internal audit department audited résidu'e;m‘axiégemem at 11 sites providing a’

i
i
-

CO; -emissions reported in: the key performance indicators coverj all steel. production sites;” i.e:
11 integrated plants including Acesita, and 21 electric-arc steelworks, with total.crude steel'production
of 46 million tonnes in 2005: They also cover all cold-rolling nd.coating plants. The reported specific

~emission figurés-correspond 1ototal emissions of 72 millioridonnes 6 CO3, including:

= Direct COy emissions (from Group chimineys} o { = . R
» Emissions from the combustion of gases that are produced in the steelmaking process and exported:
to power plants or other users, in order 1o assess the:overall impact/of.our activity . L

P

¢ach ‘country o

Environmental protection: one of Arcelor's yain priorities

Consistent environmental standards applied at each Arcelor entity
g [ 8

In order to promote environmental excellence ik all its entities; the Arcelor Group. drafted an

enviroimental. charter as soon as it was created in 2002:'khis ¢harter focuses on minimizing impacts’ -

and nuisances generated- by production, developing environment-friendly products, ensuriing’ .

transparency, and raising stakeholders’ awareness of environmentaliissues. The charter applies to albnp

Group entities. : L Ty



Environmental Policy
, ' « o

Arcelor's mission is to develop, produce and sell stee! in all its-various forms and grades, along with |

processed - steel products and associated products, to the satisfaction of its customers and while

respecting the environment. It aims to add value by harnessing the intrinsic properties of steel. ‘
8 : : ,;

Stee! is the material of choice for-environmental protection. Not only it is en\dronmentai-fﬁéndly
but it also ouiperforms other materials in terms of recyciability, Environmental excellence ‘is
promoted by the following principles, which are to beiicorporated into all the Group's activities , :
and assured by means of an environmental management systen: [ ) ; o ' - PR
| Sustainable development, providing a long-term balance berween the environment, the economy | T
and social wellbeing;. : i : e e
2. Continuous improvement in environmental performance, including permanent concermn for.the |
surroundings and maximum prevention of disturbances B , » o
3. Development, improverment. and application of production. methods. whose environmental
impact is as low as is reasonably possible L ’ , : o
4. Developrent and n]antlfacl’tlrixlg~of products that focus.on environmental performanceduring
their use and subsequest reeycling, in close coliaboraﬂon with customers and suppliers - SN
_ Bfficient ase of natural fesources and energy PRI v L
. Commitment -of ‘each’ individual in’ the organization, and ananagement in particular; to,
environmentally-friendly production and cqmp[ianté -with legislation: and -Arcelor's
. commitments -, : f L Tie e s
. Development of environimental awareness through information and training”
. Transparent and ‘open communication with all stakeholders concerned

W

f=

i

X

Luxembourg, 18 Fébruary 2002 ‘ 5
Guy Dollé, Chief Executive Officer, Arcelor. oo S 4

Signature of a strategic partnership in China with the United Nations - ey
Development Programme. , ~ ' I S

i

“On 7 November 2005, as part of its acquisitions strategy in-high-growth markets like Chind, Arcelor. » o iR
signed a strategic. partnership with the United Nations Development Programme, foqiiéixlg o i R -
environmental issués-in-Shandong; fiangsu; Qinghai anid-Sichuan provinces.’Joint initiatives will be
developed to increase enérgy efficiency - implementation of the Kyoto. Protocol’s Clean:Development
Mechanisms, capacity. building etc. = and.protect the environment. : AR 5

Minimizing the environmental impact of production sites e

Implementing a monitoring plan

‘To optimize collection and monitoring of environmental performance indicators, Arcelorhas Zadopted
a single intranet-based environmental information system that allows.reporting and idenﬁﬁéation of
best practices within the Group. This monitoring system was awarded second prize in the lndustrial
Environment Awards of FEDIL, the Luxembourg trade association representing the manufacturing,
construction and business services industries. : § e




principle 3:Protection of the environment and of scarce resources |

’ emiésions,by 8% between 1990 dnd 2008.

A very high level of ISO 14001 certification - o

in order to promote the adoption of an continuous improvement approach by the Group's eritities, the
Arcelor Environiment Division has set the objective of obtaining 18O 14001 certification foral].of the
Group's production sites. Each new»Groﬁp acquisition must obtain ISQ 14001 cettification within two
years. At end-2005, 97% of Arcelor's 90 production sites had this certification. " e

The scope ‘of 1SO-14001 is.gradually being extended to cover ﬁnisﬁing si{es\.‘ 68"}6 of the r(lfoup‘s
57 finishing sites are now 1SO 14001-certified. They wilt all be certified by end:2006,. S

1

A major drive to reduce CO-emissions
- o i E ) i . ", N . .
The Arcelor;Group's production sites are implementing a growing number of projedts to improve the
process fot producing steel from iron'gre, in'order to reduce CO, emissions. Afgélor reduced its CO;
emissions by/18% in absoltite tetms and by;23%. per tohne of crude steel beﬁvegﬁ; 1990:and 2004 - -
comparison; within'the framework of the Kyoto Protocol, Europe has committed-itself to reduce its -’

i

_ Arcelor is it favour of dec.reasingagreenh'ouse‘ gas emissions and the principles of the Kyoto Protocol:

However, ‘Arcelorhas criticized the protocol's implementation in Europe, and in parti&ular'tpe ditective
on COy credits. This directive plits the birden on industry alone, and the burden differs between
industrial sectors. The allécation of €O credits per country, and. even per regi'onf," runs countéf toithe
worldwide approach of large séctors such: as’steel. Furthermore, the steel industry's niajqf efforts-to
reduce greenhouse gases were not taken -into account by the atthorities. Né{vénpél'ess,’f Arcelor
negotiated “Yoluntary commitments “over “the ~2005-2007 period and should \havéj: COZi credits
correspondingto-steel production quantities by the end of 2007. Arcélbr does nogintend to:be'aimajor
trader of €O, credits: In the longer term, onlya worldwide: approach to redicing greenhonise gas
emissions ‘Wil allow. the reductions’ requested by the scientific community to -be obtained while
ensuriﬁg the continued existerice of the European steel industry. [ ’
Finding a breakthrough-technology ‘

The fiuture'of the steel industry will hinge on its capatity to change its processes = in ’parﬁéular those
for pfoducifigiron from ore - in ordér to significantly reduce COy emissions and meet the expectations
of societyin.2030-2050. o R ' { e :

ln,leﬁxtelQQl,’ Arcelor’ set up-a 'thiuk-taiak as.part'of an ambitious project 1Q'd'eyél(5p‘}br‘
techiiologies. This project is co-ordinated by the International lronjand Steel Institute!

11SH:and is
based on regional initiatives. In Europe; Arcelor heads the ULCOS| (Ultra Low. CO3 Steel-making)
project, which brings together around 40 partniers consisting of companies, research centres  and
universities. It is evaluating all feasible techniques such as gas recycling in blast furnaces, the use of
hydrogenand biomass, and techniques forseparating and storing CO; in suitable geologjciil’ structires.

i
|

Using renewable energies =~ j

Through its Brazilian subsidiaries, the Arcelor Group is a major player ixl the feld Sf renewable energies.
CAF Santa Barbara, 4 subsidiary of Belgo'Mineira, owns plantations covering 127,000 héctares ifvthe states
of Minas Gerais and Bahia, Brazil. In December 2004, the plantations received Forest Stewardship Co uncit
certification for sustainable cultivation as part of a reforestation prograim. R v

With 80,000 hectares planted with eucalyptus trees, these plantations produce timber = for use in furniture
and as treated wood - and charcoal, which is used in small, local t?last. fumaces. Due to the carbon




captured during the growth of eucalyptus tees, produ"(jn'g,cast iron using charcoal is ¢carbon-neutral, i.e:
it does not result in any additional CO, being refeased into_the atmosphere and has no climate ¢hange
impact. i R ' :

In. 2005, 900,000m’ of charcoal was prdduced, and CAF'Is :pianxiirxg' to double chércoal producé011 by . ,

Acesita’s forestry subsidiary (Acesita Energetica) opérates plantations represeritinig around 95,000 tfécia’res S

" of eucalyptus, and produces around 800,000m* ‘of charcoal, Which is used im a blast fumaceé at’ the:
- Timoteo plant. : : R R L O (R
- In 2005, Belgo started buil.dirig two charcoal blast furnaces wi;iu 1otal capacity of 360,000 tonnes pi,er year.
" These blast furnaces will feed Belgo's electric-arc steelworks;: where an increase in capacity is planned. .

I
i
“ Transportation

Transportation accounts for only 0.2% of the-Group's total CO5 emissions: Transportation is 50% by

;\railr, 25% by sea, 5% by barge and river apd 20% by road AR R i
* Maximizing the environmental value added by our products. SN R
- and by-products R S R Lo

Steel is different from other miaterials: it:is not only the:most recycled material in the world, with,
" collection rates up 0. 90% depending on‘usage, but is also- has the property; once collected; of being . "
indefinitely recyclable, v ; :

‘Steel gives its customers significant environmental valie added. Lighter steels alfow: cars 1o reduce fuel .
. . A .\ i . . i .

consumption and poiluting emissions. Steel allows dry conistitiction sites. It also allows food packaging

and. beverage cans to be recycled. Arcelor's baseline - “Steel solutions for a better world” = sym 1bolizes

1

this respect for the environment. , e ! RS

i

Conversion of by-products : ok e i :
Though classitied as waste irmost regulatory texts, Arcelot ‘handles by-products through a strict quality
manageinent system. 94% of residues are directly re-used:orstored in anticipationiof subsequ]em use. "
They are used to manufactiire ‘products such as: cemient and: concrete, fertilizer and soil 'amezliorams, :
* faads; dykes, rock wool forinsulation, glass, ceramics; pigments;:magnets, plastics:such as polystyrene;
electrodes for the aluminium industry and electric steel plants,and cosmetics. Some are recycled by .

Arcelor to manufacture cast iron or steel. : :

Arcelor has a dedicated internal organization to stimulate synergies and intensify sharing of best:
practices in by-product management between its industrial:units: : e ! '

A plan for reducing uncenverted residues has been developed by all production silgs‘ihat produ;ce more
than 50kg of unconverted residue per tonne of teel. v : i e i ‘

A few examples of steel by-products and their use: o :

= Slag is a basic ingredient of green cements and allows cement plants'to reduce their CO; erjnissions
by 2 million tonnes per year. Green cements offer greater strength ‘and: durability than standard
Portland cements. 4 ' - 4 ‘ i

o Cinder is used to make aggregates for road construction (ballast), or fertilizer. . -~ i

» By-products containing iron, carbon or limestone are reused in the production process {325,000
tonnes/year). )

s Zinc contained in dust is recovered by the non-ferrous metals industry. j

@
<
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Principle 3:Protection of the environment and of scarce resources
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Rehabilitating industrial wasteland -

Protecting the natural environmént around the Arcelor sites:

The Arcelor production sites.cover areas of several hundred hectares. Many of these areas play host to
fragile ecosystems. Protecting these natural areas is an integral part of Arcelor’s environmental policy:
each site uses all means to, provide the best-protection of these natural spaces. For example, since 1993
the. steel facility at Fos sur Mer (France) has used a management system. for the 331 heclares of its

natural park, in partnership with the Tour du-Valat Research Cemer,‘(-V\;nvw.tourduvalat.org)’,._ intended -
to preserve the exceptional flora and fauna of its site. A Jarge proportion of the 800-hectare Sidmar site:
(Belgium) comprises a natural reserve which includes ponds, green areas, sandy loam and woodland.
Sidmar runs an active reforestation policy: (more than 800,000 trees were planted. between 1970 and
2000) and pays special attention.{o protecting the fauna on the site. ; N . ot T

Across all its produétion sites,” Afcelor ‘has almost 3,000 hectares of natural ‘spice, inglﬂdmg 1,360
in_ Furope and 1,962 in Brazil<Io ‘addition; [CAF has 81,600 hgcl'.ires and Acesita.Energetica
281,000 hectares of green areas around ‘water resources that are flegal- reserves” or «covered by
permanent preservation rules; T N s R
In Brazil, all Arcelor Brasil entities have/impleménted advanced biodiyejrsity management programmes.
The environment division is currently drawing up a common methodology for taking biodiversity into..
account more effectively. This will ‘alylow{;har'rﬁor/xiz'ed monitoring of all action plans launched at site

Arcelor performs ongoing. sutveillance and monitoring of soil pollution: 1t*has an ‘active policy of
booking provisions o cover environimerital risks. C S .
Risks. covered mainly concern soil’ protection’ and cléan-up measures; ground and surfacé water, the

processing of residues and other environmental mieasures. Provisions| are booked in accordance with
local and/or national regulatorystandards, o g ) ’

- ‘ -
Since 1986, Arcelor has used its specialized subsidiary Bail Industrie to: condugt- in-depth
environmental diagnoses of its sites; 16 manage. clean-up work, and to. monitor surveillance plans

* concerning the quality of surface:water and gmundwatér. ; S

The expertise of Bail Industrie s recognized outside'the Group. It is consulied insareas such as the
protection of resource water, by working parties from‘the French Ministry of the Environment and

. Sustainable Development, and it‘also h}eylps to-draft standards with A}:NOR BN

* Ta suppbri restructuring initiatives, the Croup has' set’ up Atcelor l;leal Est_ale.,Belgium,; which will

rehabilitate the sites concermed’in the Wallonia region as part of a-public-private (partn‘ers»h‘ip with La
Fonciére Liégoise. : i e :




-9 Long-term parterships with customers

. developing a dialogue with both internal and external partners.

. Promoting dialogue with ei";’fpioye 5

Principle 4: Dialogue with p!am}[érsf

Objectives

Establishment of close, transparent dialogue at all levels of the Group
 Employee representatives on the Board of Directors

e European Works Council and local committees

Exchange of information with ‘external partners

« High-quality reportingto shareholders and institutions :
o Regular exchanges with a range of constituencies (government; local committees, NGOs; et}

Strong principles

The importance of dialogue with all Arcelor partnersis underlined'in tHé "4P¢* approdch 10 sustéli‘nablé

development: alongside People; Planet and Profit, Arcelor adds Partners to:show the importance it: °
places on ongoing constructive dialogue with each.of its partners. Each site manager is responsible for

i
B
4
Vs

European Works: Council (EWC) . .

" Arcelor considers social dialoguie-at the highest level to be a key factorfor sticcess. In May 20012,,it set.,
‘up a European Works Council, just a few weeks after the Group was created: The employer section

consists of teh members of the Board. The workers are represented by 47vempl‘oyee~representatiives- {as
well as 47_substitutes). A-permanent representative of the. European Metalworkers' Federation. (EMF)-
takes part in the Gouncil's activitiés. - - ; . PR NI R

B

Working with Arcelor's. Human Resources Division, ‘the EWC publishes a_quarterly. nevwsletter,.

“Dialogue”, which covers EWC activities and illustrates the shared commitment of:the employer and-
employee groups to-credting an-open space for expressing the different-partners’ opinions.. . el

" To ‘help the EWC, members fully assume their role as a"sourc.é of proposals and consuhatién, they-

receive special training in areds stich as comparative labour legislation and intercultural management..-
1n 2004, two new raining days were added on the theme of "strategy and innovation”, This provided
an opportunity for Furopean Works Council members to:discover the research and 'mnovatim:l model’
used by Arcelor and its-custorners. In 2005, training courses on sustainable development and social .
responsibility were held; 1o improve interaction between the company and is stakeholders.” |

. Lo | ‘
n 2005, the EWC worked on the following areas: health and safety {follow-up work on the Bitbas

Convention held in February 2004 and organization of ‘the 2005 Pamplona Convention, launch of

.action plans and preparation for the “World Safety Day” taking place on March 29 2006 across all

Arcelor sites), economics and strategy (the Group's production capacities); and the environment (CO, ).
. i .
After two vears of existence, the EWC conducted its first operating review in:2004, with the help of two
. . . ) - . 4 . r Co
outside experts, including one from the European Metalworkers' Tederation. The review was conducted -
using a survey developed joinily by the experts and by representatives of the Board members and the .
i

'

o
~F




Sostainadle development
Principle 4: Dialogue with partners ‘
|

|
I
|

employees. [n addition 1o the survey, interviews were Held with, membefs of the Board and of the Select ™
Committee. 30% of the people questioned in the employee group were! satisfied with the way the EWC

functions. The resulis also showed that the EWC improved dissemination of information within the
Group, and helped instigate a cross-border employee-relations dialogiie: : g

i
t

‘Dialogue at each production site |

Aijcelor’aims to respectlocal employee-telations traditions, and. conduci{s close dialoguewithiemployee
. represéntatives from business units and plants. The importance; of ‘this’ dialogue becomés apparent
during: industrial reorganization, As the Group's- s;.ratégic' decisions wilt ' lead. . to sév‘eral major:
reorganizations of labour,this dialogue has been intensified according 1o local legislation and specific
issues. Each time, the objective was to manage change for gach employee affected‘by\thes;e ‘necessary.
industrial transformations. ‘ ’ L e P ’

Promoting dialogue with customers

o ‘liggardless of the specific issties affecting each Business area and each('nflarket,, Arcelor maintains special

reladons with its customers, in-order to.create value with them in a ‘win‘win® -apptoach, o
To.achieve this, Arcelor sets up dedicated custormer teams in.charge of mandging all technical, logistical
and commercial aspects of customer relationships by using its skills in each phase of customer projects.
Members of these leams are sometimes embedded 'in the custotter’s development teany, and focus

. . L L 3 . " b, .
“exclusively on meeting customer tequirements.and generating value fof them. ;.

" The Group therefore pays great attention to customers’ needs and conderns; Tthas als6 focused its R&D..
- etforts on-providing: them with: steel solutions that meet their requiréments,-particularly-in terms.of |
overill cost reduction, product recyclability, energy efficiency, safetyi?and environmental protection.
Action plans to increase customer satisfaction’ and loyalty- were introduced-in 2005 across. all the
Group's business sectors. ‘ A ' ‘

i

e :
| ERREE R
e

Promoting dialogue with individual and institutional shareholders.

Aicelor provides clear, regular and transparentinformation to individ:ujal .md instinitional shareholders.

arid 1o the financial markets. It tailors its repoiting to the needs of cach dudience through an active
 financial communication poliey, which involves a range.of media including roadshows; a shareholders’

guide, newsletters and toll-free:phone lines. Lo ' L

More information on: this subject can be found in the "Market infformation and financial reporting
policy” chapter, page 16. R Eae i ’ )

Promoting dialogue with local residents
Arcelor's sites are increasingly reaching out to the residents living near its sites, both to solve any
nuisance problems, and to increase resident awareness of issues suchlas environmertal protection.

%
3




|
Several times a year, each site organizes meetings between the site's managenial staff and Jocal 're‘slidems,
officials and associations. Open-house days are also organized in plants, allowing tens of thousands-of
visitors to get to know Arcelor better and to. increase their understanding of the-action-plans being
deploved at the opérational level, Permanent sustainable dévelopraent spaces are starting to appear in;
production sites, allowing themed events 1o be organized for all audiendes, dealing with the various key
aspects of sustainable development. ) , . c o

1

Promoting dialogue with society

Throughout 2005, Arcelor took part in.a number of industry, task forces and ‘think-tanks, both national
and international, with a particular focus on sustainable development. These included 1181, Eurofer,
national steel federations, European Japan Centre for Industiial Cooperation; CSR Europe, Enireprise: )
pour V'Environnement and MEDEF in France and  Union des Entreprises - Luxembourgeoises -in -~
Luxembourg, 1n-2005, Arcelor ‘continued to support the publication’ by TSI {Intemnational Tron and
Steel Institute} of a sustainable development report including a set of consolidated industry sustainable” "
da’elopmegt:indiqators. ‘ i » I : R e

Principle 5: Skills development -

Objectives .~

s Support for employee development programmes:
© - Training to foster multi-skilling and versatility
- Training/developmenit-of managers and supervisors (Arcelor U niversity) R R :
s Inftiatives. to-build onshared core values {delivering quality to customers; efficiency and proti:tability; =
partnership, dialogue and openness; respect for people-and the environment; ethical approach to
business) ‘ DR C DA
e Developmént of a fundarnentally people-centric and. efficient-approach to relationships within:the
business (fewer lévels-of management; teamwork, qualit’y),iniprlovemem groups, ety
- Dialégue befween each head and his/her team atleast onge a month” ) B
- Individual méetings about operating procedures with eacli member of staff
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Sastainadle development :

Principle 5: Skills development

Social performarice trends

Geographical breakdown of the wotkforce
France ' -
Belgium

Spain

Germany

Luxembourg

Other EU15"countries ,

Other European couptries cLw Rt =
North America 7

Far East
“TOTAL -

Sectoi-breakdown of: the workforce -
* Flat Carbon Steels - - D s ’ e z
*. Long Carbon Steels T e '

Stainless Steels and Alloys

A3S {Arcelor Steel Solutions'& Services)

Other biisinesses ' i

Employment status in 2005
Engineers and managers,
Office workefs
Manual workers N - !
Other e B . i
TOTAL T L i

; . T

“ 1120055 .a single HR informa’t‘iori, syst‘em,'cam‘é into. operation, to :facilitate’ reporting of HR data
covering all of the Arcelor Group. To make reporting more reliable and exhaustive, the system is linked
with the financial reporting cérriedout'by fhanagement controllers. Following the introduétion of this
new calculation methodology, Substantial changes have occurred in some indicatorsrelative to previous
vears, ) : . . ‘ R T BT
Thie workforce increased in.2005 due 1o the integration of Acesita (4,754 eniployees) and ‘new hirings
{5,851). These new staff more thatr offset the rediiction arising from réstructuring (Arco planin Spain, |
restructuting of the Kot phase. i’ Liege, Testrueturing of Ugitech, closure -of fsbergues) and -naiurak
wastage (4,132). : : ' R R '

! - B

The breakdown between engiheeis,‘1nanagers, employees and workersT was stable in.2005. :

1
i . .
. ‘ - ‘ \.CW 1

i . :

;

i

'

i




Arcelor social model ‘ R ey

Compliance with main international principles . = © L ool

N

Observance of the Universal Declaration of Human Rightsfand‘thé_I(LO decléfationmelative to principles
and fundamental rights is-at the heart of Arcelor's Principles.of Responsibility. The Group intends to
promote the'wellbeing of its employees, respect the cultural diversity.of its teams, and reject all forms
of discrimination. This. commitment can be seen through -Arcelor's signing of ’ﬁ}e.United Nations
Global Compact. In 2005, Arcelor also became the first steel company t6'sign aWorldwide Agreement
on Principlesof Comporate Social Responsibility with the International Metalworkers Federation (IMF),
the Furopean Metalworkers’ Federation (EMF) and the European. Federation of Managers in the Steel -
Industry (FEDEM). This’ agreement demomstrateyér» Arcelor's commitment to: applying high | social .
standards in all“its operations. It is an official statemént of Arcélor's ‘commitment to fundamental

_employee rights, such as freedom of choice of worki(no forced. or compulsory- work); non- -

discrifriination, banning of child labour, freedom. of association and thé right.19.collective bargaining:
Tt confirms Arcelor's intention to fulfil its key sﬁsgaillable-development principles: heal’yth’;ir’xd@safety
(nothing takes ‘precedence over health or safety), ‘the-envirorment {environméntélly ﬁfiéndly
production), communication (transparency.with all stakeholders), dialogue between management and - -
labous and “industrial and eéconomic change {forward, planning - and skills development).  This
agreement is applicable-to all Arcelor subsidiaries..In éddiﬁonf Arcelor-will.encoutage ’its\cor{lr:nerciél
parmers_.(subcomradors and suppliers) to comply with the principles.of this agreement. S I
Respéd for disfg.rSity' and non-discrimination- aie réalized .as part of ‘Arcelor’s day-to,-day Activities.
Historically, the. proportion of women working in highly. inddstﬁal sectors like steel: has always been
very low: AT Arcelor, however, the proportion is tising steadily: In 2002, women made up;?%% of the - .
workforce, risilig {0 8.2%.in 2003, 8.4% in 2004 and 12:3%-i1n 2005. The-Group's recruitment policy
aims:to support this rising wend. In its recruitmeri, Arcelor-matches the ratio-of men,to womén seen
in the higher education institutions from which it recruits; 4nd is now making efforts to achieve a better
gender balance at each hierarchical level. S e L E IO
Ini France, Arcelor signed the Diversity Charter of thie lastitut Montaigne: (wwwAinstitutmontaig‘ne.o;g)
in 2004. This charter is intended to combat all-forms of discrimination arid: to, recruit and piomote .
persons from diverse cultural and ethnic backgrounds, - : ’ ;

i

Mutlticulturalismyis an everyday fact in the Group, with: no-less than 60 nationalities: represented.

Arc'elo_r's\{\dénagemem Board features three differént’ naﬁonalities, and its Board .of ‘Directors $ix.

different nationalities: The mobility cells operating at Group level and:the job-listings on;the Arcelor .
intranet-promote cultural mixing and experierice-sharing within the various Group emitie%, F IR
1

Organization G A 1

As 4 mtltinational group, Arcelor has a worldwide FHumman Resources Management Committee which
works 1o meet the Group's employee relations perforinance targets through effective impleméntation
at the operational Tevel. : R TR 4 ' ' v
Tt is.supported by the skills of dedicated management development, compensation and benefits, and
social relations teams. S Lo .

j

Skills development R ‘” i

Developing the skills of all personnel is key to Arcelor's industrial and sales performance: Local iuaining

policies tailored to specific needs and opportunities are implemented everywhere in the company.

N




et
ARCE

Sustainable fevelopmont

Principle 5: Skitls devélopment

Needs are defined on the basis of industrial and cominercial projects, as well as on personnel

expectations as they emerge, for example, in personal interviews.

i A .

Skills development is increasingly. tied-to the deployment of best practice within the company. It is not
¢nly a question of training. It also. depends-on wo;k‘organization,{ with the implementation. of
. independent teams and greater responsibilities for eachperson at everylevel.

o Skills development alSoprodugeE etatf that are, better quatified and mor

very valuable in preparing them fot career progres ions and mobility
“internationally and that is reorganizing.its business activities.

i

]
€
i

,ad;aptable."'f*hese attributes are

vithin a Group;that is expanding.

Yo

- “Arcelor’s various professions é_nd«fun'ctions were mapped in 2005: io%gét a. better. view of the skills
required in each of Arcelor's functions, and to facilitate movemerit between professions and internal
“fobility. Arcelor extended its concept of; assisted. international mobility packages from managers to

manual workers for specific'missions in2005.

*.In 2004, Arcelor set up a system for idemiﬁ;ingﬁndgrooming high achieveis.among its managers. This
system, prepares the next gerleration:of. managers for theé, medium term; and the initiative was stepped

g tp:in 2003,

bl

Arcelor's training programmes bolster,éfnp[oyees’ core’skills. These. programme,
Group level within Arcelor University, which'offers the Group's engineering and.managerial staff both .
technical and managetnent traiing; complementing training available focally: :

s-are cenitralized at ™

26 different training courses were held i 2005, includifig the integration of youpg"re:cmits (Open Your

Steel; Uinderstanding Steel}, 'careekr;dével{)pnlgnt support for nwanzlgefé (YdungMaxiager Programme;

5.7 Opetational Manager 'Programme), specific’ senior. manageiment programmes (Campus; Executive
£ Seminars), and an MBA in partnership-with ESCP-EAD, There were ‘alsio professional support training
cotirses and a programme of skills-sharing.with other companies. These training programmes were

carried out both in class and remotely (e:leamning).

* Arcelor University uses teachers from within the ‘Groupand from outside organizations {HEC, ESCP,

'EMLyon, Esade, Cranfield, University Catholique de Louvain-etc.).

|
;
;

At ‘the operational level, skills .developmentalso’ involves the cr‘eatj’o’n" of skills and expertise

cio-srcommunities, known as Agoras: For:example,@a]v'agom, is-the communiity. for-all Group galvanizing

staff; enabling them to identify experts; ger-answers o questions; pass
achieve progress in their operations. . 7% v '

Remuneration

}
:

|

their skills-61 to ¢olleagues and

. Arcelor's remuneration policies are designed 1o reward:both performance and skills.

“Managers are evaluated according to their .performance’and the rgsulm,obﬁined in industrial safety,
- efivironmental proteciion, and employee sausfaction based on the MJ%

i

model that is common to the entire Group.

0.(Managerent by Objectives)

A wide-ranging project was ladnched-in 2004 to harmonize remuneration policies for the Group’s
entire manager population, in particular concerning petformance-related pay and non-monetary

“benefits. This project was compleéted in 2005.

!
i

In 2006, Arcelor will launch the AESOPE 2006 employee share ownership ‘plan, under which all
employees of all Arcelor entities with more than 250 employees and over which thie Group has majority
control will have the opportunity to buy shares. At end-2003, 0.9% of Arcefor's capital was owned by

Group staff.




_Emy 1oyment ‘and skills planning to optimize. restructurmg

s iri Tajor restructuring projects:

To amxapate changes in 1he main professional segmenm, career, committees l have. been set up/in the)
orgamzauonal changts over Ihe next 5 to 10 )Lars

g Wellbemg at Work DreDaratorV work to manage stress in the workplace ‘

- divisian. [he results will be lmp]emenud across all (;roup sites in’ 2006, wnh 1he support of staft
»represemanves SR SRRy R S

{)b]eczzzze

© & Development of partnerships with customers: 200 currently in phce e i e

In line with the founding traditions of the Group and as formulated in its Worldwide Agreemem on
Pnnaples of Corporate Social Responsibility, Arcelor is LOmITLlﬁ(zd to medium—term management of .
employment, which-involves: v

¢ support for rcorganuatmn through proactive skills managemem among 1he staff affected .

- focus.on career-and geographic friobility within the Group
- limits on outplacemem through optimal use of local opportunmts
- suppom for 1he economic tedeployment of the local Iabour forces affected

Group relatingto nianagement and firance, metalworkin flat carbon steels, and HR: These committees -
are d951gned to'prepare the professional segments concemed to-deal wnth demographlc, lechmml ’md”

Followm0 tnals at fou: pllOt sites (Stahiwerke Bremen, Imphv, Olabema and (xenk) mork on deahng,.”‘
with: stress-inthe wotkplace has been carried out by the social nmovanon departriient of Arcelor's HI

Pﬁ'mpﬂé’ 6: Innovation and quality

> o Active LOﬂtﬂbUUOﬂ 16 the renewal of the Group's steel pmduct and eoluuom offermg

_e-Help:to improve production processes; through Lommuous or. breakthmugh change i

e Developmem ‘of know-how-across the Group
=P .oduct enhancemem in partnership with customers .
- Sharmg of best practice
- Implementation of continuous improvement plans

- » Improved. research andrdevelopment efficiency and reduced  timie-to- marku (ob]ecmes of the 2005

Innovatien Project completed last year) '
+ Development of programmes in line with the strategic priorities of busmess sectors and Alcelor S.
sustainable development strategy , :

e Development-of external co-operation: - : s ) v ;
Iomt studies with other industries and other stgelmakerq ’ o
- Partnerships with Universities and research institutes
- Public-private joint ventures

93
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Principle 6:-Innovation and quality

Innovation. 4 core bL{Sl’l’i(ﬁSS / ' VLR

: B | . o
Arcelor employs more than 1,300 Tesearch staff worldwide, including 1; 100 in‘Furope-in Maizieres-les-
Metz (France), Ghent and Litge (Bélgium] and Aviles (Spain). The Flat Carbon Steels accounts for 80%
of Arcelor's innovation and R&D, effort, Stainless Steels 15% and Long|Carbon Steels 5%: ‘The Group
also'has almost 150 engineers embedded within major customers, of which 60% carry eut research in
the autorotive industry and-40% in the packaging,lconstmctionrand nianufaduring industries. o

“-Arcelor’s net research spending increased 10 €137.61m in 2005. i
'*..7On average, the Group develops 20 new steel solutions (including 12in flat steels) and créates 35 new
" products (25 in flat steels) perye ' Half of the steel products that Arcelor offerstg carmakers have:been. -
introduced in the last five years. SRR o SR e o0

Arcelor has developed nuirerous research partierships worldwide. 1t currently has 157automotive steel *.
and process projects underway:with Nippon Steel in Japan. Under this technological alliance, the'two '
companies have a combined research staff of 2,500, equal to 60% of global steel research resources.

b

L

- Promoting innovation dedicated to the envitonment and safety.

©740% of Arcelor's research is geared‘specifically toward the Group's gnviir‘onmemal policy: This research, - Co
“has a direct environmental impact; réduced consumption of energy arixdr;iw mﬁ’te;ials,( less: polluting -,
“discharges from plaris, and development of products that comply with filpuré'enwdroiiméhtal standards:
“It.also has a indirect impact; through products that anticipate thie-expectations of the Groupfs'cuystbm)ers, )
“such as very-high-tensile steels that increasé automobile safety and-which, being lighter, allow lower=< -
‘vehicte CO, emissions, and steels with‘properties that allow. custonyers 10-Temove cenain.sxz{'ges of theit.
production process (e.g. steel coated:with organic matter). , w SN
: U P : : . :
‘In terms of processes, Arcelor has launched the ULCOS (Ultra-Low: CO; Steelmaking) project, which, -~
dims. to select.and develop.rechnologies; allowing a drastic red}iniqri;in-CQz emissions. during steel
production. This project, whichibtings together 48 partners in Europe joys financial support-from the =
“Furopean - Comniission. Arcelor is the project’s co-ordinator. ' Lo BRSNS

R&D teams have also focused on several environmental projects such as controlling harmiful emissions:
. from jron-ore agglomeration and coking plants,improving recyclability of scrap at basic oxygen furnaces,
-~and reducing temperature dispersion in-galvanization furnaces. BN ' ‘

3

- Steel solutions for a better world
Arcelor steel is a product that contribiites to sustainable development. Steel solutions mean a series of
services that supplement the Group sproducts, to better fulfil Cuslomfer expectations.

" The environmental impact’ of Atcelor's' steel solutions in terms of% Trecyclability, durability, we.ight
reduction and robustness is tghtly controtled. The same is true for the:production methods used in the
various Group entities. ' B ' £ :

G




- Steel solutions in construction B o : o

Steel does not emit hazardous, volatile or allergenic stibstances. . Structural:steel does not have its own
_electric or magnetic fields. The influence of steel béathis on magnetic fields in a building is insignificant
in terms of hazardous effects for humans and animals. . - K

Steel adds significant value in terms of environmerital protection. ftaliows: i

« a reduced:quantity of comstiuction materials and lower transportation requirements due to thé

reduced weight of structuires E ey e ; ' .

e reduced cpnétruttion times due to prefabrication”s i Ve B (o

e reduced waste on site by allowing "dry" assemblies : S Gt
-+ building designs that incorporate the disassembly:and reuse of s'truc\mral. elements i

s recycling and extraction of materials from the waste chain I T ‘

Steel enhances the desthetic qualities and versatility of buildings: It allows: o » ,
o thin'loadibearing elements, thus increasing the dsdblearea in'buildings . © -~ - S y
* o the design.of vérsatile, atdacious and exceptional structures.. - - CEN I ; )

: i

" Steel has a generally favourable environmental. impact. The lifecycle- analysis of a-steel building -
compared with *a concrete building “shows. a-41% reduction in water consumption” during the ©
construction phase’ A steel structure allows half ‘as fang trips by truck to and from the site, and
‘produces 57% less-inert waste. Using advanced external insulation-techniques; steel allows significant »
energy savifigs and easier maintenance and upgrading throughout the life of the building. At the end -
of its life, steel: offers easy recycling possibilities. Overall, the savings generated during construction”

+ " {which actounts for 92% of consumed -energy) show. that steel's-environniental impact isthighly
favourable (for more information, see www.constructalizicom). i ‘

Conceming the building and constriiction: rhatket, Arcelor has focused its R&D efforts on projects that
demonstrate’ the performance capabilities of a number’of construction: systems for energy-efficient
_buildings: such asventilated double roofs, and ‘o reduced-weight materialg; such as beams an;d sheet,

piling. "~ . , e : : ¢

Steel solutions for the automotive industry

Steel isthe most widely-used material in the aitombtive industy, with flat steels accounting for 40% of the’*
weight of i vehiicle and 98% of the:body ity white. It offeﬁ significantly enhangced safety through its impact
resistance, and inaeased environmental friendliness throughits recyclability, S
" Sdfety-Increasingly stringent crash standards requirehiige increases inenergy absorption. To mefet these™
challenges, more resistant materials are required. Steel ém'reuﬂyﬂfférs resistance of over 1,000 MPa. -
Very-high tensile steels (VIT) currently account for more than 309 of'steels used on the body in-white.
Arcelor makes a copstant conuibution to improving vehicle safety. The Group's VHP {very high -
" petformance) and/VHT steels are recognized by automotive manufacturers as playing an activé partin’
improving safety performance in the mostdemanding crash tests. 3 E

g

Environnient: 1t takes _leés energy to produce steel than other materials. Steel is a non-toxic mr’i:tal that
can be recycled indéfinitely and easily due 1o its magnelic properties. The increased use ofivery. high
tensile (VHT) steels and new generations of steel allow the weight of a.body in white to be reduced by -
25-50%. - SRR . '

5
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4

Durability: Arcelor's coated steels. allow-manufacturers to offer warranties of up to 30 years.

. . o _
Evolving technology: almaost 30 differént grades-of steel can be speciﬁed’én a body in white, depending

‘on the performances required. falf of Arcelor’s automotive steel products are less than 5 years old. :
In the Automotive industry,” R&D: has' focused ‘on promoting steel solutions through. the use of -

demonstrators such as ABC (Arcelor Body Congcept}, which illustrate the weight reduction potéentiak.
developed by, Arcelor. R&D, has élso focuged on-providing customer support for working. these steels
and integrating them into new vehicles. ' : L T
These new steel grades allow major weight savings that directly reduce vehicles' polluting emissions”’
(roughly 10% on a standard "segment G vehicle). They also-allow ‘en‘h{mced passenger safety in these
vehicles by meeting all EuroN CAP 5istar crash-test criteria and the American standards:for rollover and
rear. impact. R T S : RO : : :

P

2

 Steel solutions for packaging -

Safety: Steel packaging offers excellerit p;ofecﬁon’ for content such as canned, foods, beverages, powdered - .

milk for infants, coffee, or any-other product. Its solidity makes it the. ideal packaging material for all.types ~

of products. Its robustness allows it“to withstand. impacts. 1t-is immpermeable by-light, gases-and micro- :
organisms, preventing damage, to.the ‘contents over-the long térm.. fts tamper-proof qualities guarantee s
‘complete safety for consumers: . G ey RN AETS § IR TR AR S T s S

Environment: Steel's magiieti¢; pfdpenigs'»-fad].itaier recycling, regardless tof how-the ‘used packaging s
" processed: selective sorting, composting, oF indineration. Cans have become much lighter over thépast ten
‘'years, and so use less material when originally made. Lastly, steel packaging can be easily recycled into new -
steel products. ‘ B ' , e SR : :

Arcelor continued to update'its packaging offering in 2005 through-an ex| anded range of sieels with high
tensile and high ductility characte:isﬁcs’, allowing reduced thicknessand therefore lighter packaging, aleng:
with easier working. A new lite.of steels with:very low tensile propeniésiaﬁd very high ductility. has been
Jaunched, allowing designers to give free rein fo their imaginations, by making néw shapes possible. The i
infinite recvclability of steel is‘also ‘a key:aspéctthit can be exploited for ié;\ﬁh of+its applications. ’

Steel solutions for h‘ou’s‘(ehio‘lvd appliances

Steel allows intrinsic cost reductions tobe achieved in-appliances, and alsoenhances abp'earanée, acoustics, -

case of use and energy efficiency. It is also: berter for the environment, fl’fhe,'WT:EE furopean directives: = .
“applicable as of 2006 conderning the “tecyceling:of electrical and: eléciréniciappliancesis a.wonderful’ "
momicand environmental advantages of increased steel use in the q_esig;} o

~sopportunity for promoting the ¢éonomic:
- of household appliances, thanks, the infinite tecyclability of the maten"zil;

»

_'.Arcelor has focused on de\{élopiﬁg ahd_-e;qiandihg its rangé of envitonimentally’ friendly products for -
“hotisehold appliances. SERR ST ‘

H

i..

- Total quality and TPM. ok

All Arcelor sites use a total quality approach and have 18O 9001 certification. Each site ensures quality
. every day by setting objectives — stich as customer satisfaction and obsefvance of production lead times —
as part of Annual Development Plans {ADP). Quality methods requiteithe participation of all staff, who

- | "




_arecofmitted 1o 1PM )

" o Split Bétwéen the functions of Chairman and Chiefll%‘xeémiv'e Officer : . o

Il
i

- are tequired to take ownership of quality processes. Déspite high quality levels, Arcelor contin?_,l‘es 10

infroduce new methods to stimulate its continuous improvement objectives. ‘

" Arcelor has used JIPM's TPM (Total Plant Maintenarce)-method since 1995 to promote industrial ®

excellence in terms.of reliability, customer satisfaction, safety and environmental protection. ’.i"l’:Mfﬁfs

perfectly with Arcelor's commitment t0 sustainable development. TPM enhances. organizational -

credibility and creates social ties within organizations: It ¢énstires. consistent” service: and. improved
quality for customers; along with higher yields and lower dogistics ‘and maintenance costs. 1t-also
minimizes the environmental impact of production. » Al Areelor's Flat Carbon Steel production sites

1n 2005, Japan Institute of Plant Maintenance (JIPM) 'avm‘r‘ded' 169-¢excellence prizes ‘to'ﬂplanns'ap(p'lyiﬁ)g o

the TPM method, including 14 Arcelor flat carbori steel plants in Europe. :

In-order Vto' t'(;stér exchanges of best TPM practice in the Stainless Steel sector, the lrox T’rogyés Contihﬁ R

challenge; which'is the first of its kind, was organized on 15 March 2005 and.involved a nuﬁiﬁberiof
operators and -managers. : R A AR ‘

inciple 7: Corporate governance

» [stablishment of Board-level committees to promote transparency and-professionalism g
-Audit Committee LT : S T
- A’ppoimmgﬁts and Remuneration Committee

+ Definition of qualification criteria for independent directors<

. ¢ Compliance with international corporate governance recommendations ' !

» Clear déefinition of principles regarding commitments ‘made by the Group and its entities and-its

“entifies (mandatory. two-signature system, up-to-date table bfauthorized signatories for the’ parent:

ki

company and-entities, legal validation for all contacts, e}

S PRV AR

i

Achieveiments

Arcelor is dedicated to applying the principles of good corporate governance, and’is maimaibing its

efforts to-ensure transparency and lmprove the quality of distributed information. In:its annuil report,
the Group includes the Report of the Chairman of the.-Board of Directors.on corporate governanceand:

internal control procedures (see page 105). Detailed information is provided on.the members;of the

Board of Directors, the remuneration of Board and Management Board members, and Internal Audit- ., -

procedures. , S v R

An area dedicated to corporate governance has been added 10 the www.arcelor.com website: This area
now. provides a wide range of reference documents concerning the conmpany. -

A Board self-assessment procedure was launched at the begifining of 2005. Self-assessment congerns the
organization and follow-up of Board meetings, the comiposition: of the Board, the missions and

and the Nominations and Remuneration Committee.

D
s

" opetations of the Board, the remuneration of its members, and the runiing of the Audit Commitiee |
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Principle 7: Carporate governance

Code of Ethics

In 2005, Arcelor drew up a Gode of Lthics; which defines basic values and ethical:behaviour standards for -
each Group employee worldwide, This is an official document, forming part;of Arcelor's ‘Printdples of
Responsibility and its commitmeﬁ; to the United Nations Global:Compact; particularly. in térmis of the
tenth principle relating to-efforts to combat corruption. While the Principles of Responsibility set out
guidelines for Arcelor’s behaviour; the Code of Ethics refers to the indi‘vidtiial behaviour of each employee.

An Fthical Compliance Officér was appointed in mid-2005 16 implémeffﬁ the Codeof Ethi,cs.fl"hé:‘ Code,
translated into all the Group’s major languages, has been disseminated émon"g all ‘emplovees using
media such as brochures, pocketicards, postérs and the intranet, along with'an expigmétoryﬁ’nbte from
the CEO detailing its most impaortant points, A campaign to inform 'staff and raise their. awareness
about the Code has been introduced, involving numerous conferences, . workshops and séminars. A
network of ethics correspondents, able to answer any‘eﬂxics~related"'~§questidn»in ‘avgiven: region or
counuy, has been set up and will be rounded out in 2006, 'The “roll-out of early. wamning and
" whistleblowing systerns (including a telephone number, email address and mail address)started in late.
2005, and will be completed i'2006. These systems will complement the existing possibility for
- employees. toseek confidential ethical- advice from ‘their  hierarchical superior, the local ethics
correspondent or the Ethics' Compliance Officer.. e ; RO '

Afceior‘s:‘COde of Ethics™

Compliance with laws.and-regulations - K T i : RS TR
We will always.conduct ou:r;bus\ihess in full compliancewith‘applicableiinternational; natjonal and”
local laws and regulations. : S ST

‘Health and safety ~ - - e BRI
We will promote. a-healthy; safé‘working‘ environment.: Safety-will
decisions: and we will aceépt n\oﬁbmpromise in this.area. :
Equal opportunities e e ) | S
We are committed to eqiial.eraployment opportunity and fair t.reatmiem of emiployees. We will not
tolerate any form of discrimination or harassment. ...~ L - C
Respect for the environment B . : : .
We will acvwith'the utmost respect for. the environment; worki ngto k’(eep énviroynme)nial impact to
a minimumswherever we operate: : o Sl SRR e
Fair trading A o R U0 ES S s D VA o

) Relinicnéhips with our customers, suppliers and comﬁeﬁtor’s’,jwil‘l e based on the principles .of
faimess and honesty, ' LT T e T e T g
Conflicts of interest-andsintegrity . PR R

We will avoid any situation where personal interests might in.any way:conflict with the intefests of '
the business, particularly with regard to financialinterests; - activities outside Arcelor;: family |
relationships and the receiptoroffer of gifts and hospitality. B : ’ -
Shareholders and the stockmarket ‘ ' . ' i T

we will uphold sharcholders rights. We will not trade i the shares of any listed company. within the
Arcelor group, directly or indirectly; ‘on the basis of information not ]publicl)? available: (.
Confidentality and information . n ‘ E

We will not divulge any confidential information concérning the Group or its business: Ouly
authorized staff are to respond 1o requests from the press and othets: In this; they 'will abide by the
principles of openness, honesty: and responsibility. All'information disclosed will be‘acguraté and
complete, and presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. ! )
Safeguarding assets o e T .
We will use Group assets with tespect, avoiding any form of waste ot misuse. We will no_i use themn
for any purpose not directly related 1o Arcelor's business. { ' ‘
Records ' . i
We will keep all necessary records of the business and'its transactions:

“come first in all our, business

i

1




Principle 8: Responsible citizenship

Objectives

¢ Anapproach that fosters respect for the Gr‘o’up"s fulticultural characteristics
© e Respect for the ‘cultures of individual countries S '
e I*ncoumgement of active involvemnent in'social | pro;ecte

¢ Development of retraining programs and industrial redevelopmem of sites followmg plam dosures

s Targeted support and sponsorship progtammes at the local, national and 1memat1oml levels !

"¢ Iniitiatives o allow\ access tor plants as! part of g commitriient (o Lransparency

i
Py
i

Respmzszble approach to mdum zai reorgmuzaamzs

b
tiv'keeping. wnh the tradmons of Arcelor 3 foundmg emmes, industrial reorgammnons are’ announced '

“several‘years ifi advance, Jnd are based on m depth strateglc reviews carried out |01mlyw1th the people“
concemed ‘ 3 S :

This pnnapk of forward plannmg supports Arcelors efforts to handle these’ reoroanmanors inda

- spcially responmble manner, working: with, the Eurépean Works ‘Coundil and staff. represemanon‘ _
. bodies. The'aim is.to work with these bodles to ﬁnd the best p0551ble solutions and to: anuapaie the 0
1mpact of restrudurmg on employees

‘Arcelorq long ‘term strategy mvolves industrial reorgan17at10n at several Luropean snes lasung until
2010. The sttategy was defined when the. Group was,¢reated in 2002, and has involved dnclosures and
consuhauons enabling Arcelor and staff rep resentamve bodies to limit the impact on employusfand to
deal with it ona: long-term basis. et for

The steel mdustry involves heavy mv&stmemt in eqmpment that has a long lifespan (more Ihan 1 51 years).
. representative bodies, the public dulhonnes and other stakeholders. The aim is to provuk a soluuon 6.,
<each employee aﬁeﬂed by reorgﬂnuaﬂons 'md 1o glvc fresh:stimulus to the local-labour forces affgcted .
In these industrial reorganizations, Arcelor pnomlzes restructunng methods tharhaveno dxrecmmpﬁct i
on labour,. stich’ as early  retirement. 'When ‘these: methiods. are insufficient, labour rmnagumnt
measures are used. Arcelor tries first to ﬁnd solutions other than redundancies;such as; internal
transfers, redeplovmcnt, the. spreading of planned measures gver tme, rcorgammnon of!! abcur or!
alterations and reduamm in working hours v S
Internal transfers between Group entities and sutors is the first line of action; and Arcdor‘has an} .
internal unit specializing in this activity. Specialtraining plans are created for- staff: affected by
restructuting or whao cannot be transferred internally, and assistance with peisonal projectsiis prov:ded .
This approach has also improved intemal moblhty, and is an integral part of the }Ion:r'on 2008
agreement signed by three unions in January 2005.1n addition, given trends in the werage age of phm’
. wortkers, internal transfers have become the:basic method for handling rnorganmcmon : g

Restructuring can also have a ma]or impact on-logcal labour forces. Arceloris oﬂen one of thel b;bgem
empkoyers in the regions where it operates, ahd is committed to developing repl’nemem activities, in,
conjunction with governments, local authorities andlocat organizations. For example, this mdudes the
creation of local training programunes, efforts to fedeploy:sites and employees, job creation assistance
and initiatives to find new owners to take over activities, depending on the methods best sultedho local
and national needs.

As a result, Arcelor. gives itself as much time as possible to develop in-depth- dlalogue with: staff ~ -
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Sustaimatle developmant

Principle 8: Responsible citizenship ' i

- ) SODIE (Société pour le Développement de V'Industrie et de 1’I3mp[<)i;), helps redeploy local labour
! forces. Arcelor is a minority shareholder of SODIE alongside Alpha. " :

SODIE was founded.in 1983 by the two French steel companies Usinor é‘nd';S'a‘de:t,PWh ich are now part -
of Arcelor: The almi was to offset the ¢conomic and social ¢onsequences of restructuring at these two
companies. In paﬁicgiﬁr; SODIE's brief is'to help create jobs and trarisfer employees in areas affected

by industrial 1'601‘gani2313d11. It dc}es this by providing financial assistance. in the form. of loans and

grants to-companies setting up or expanding in areas undergoing jobﬂoséeé. These compahies must:
have plans that will create jobs: SODIE also canvasses companies to encourage theni‘to move into areas

affected by redundanciés, At the same time, employees of companies| undergoing restructiring who'
want to- create their. own.businésses-are given long-term assistance in tetms of both human resources
and finahces} - L g ; [ I B v N
By setting up SODIE, Arcelor ihver{ted the concept of the workforce 1'e'dey'ploymenl company. SODIE has
shown that such compariies:dre viable and effective. Itis continuing 1o innovate, and is now developing
its employee transfer activities in‘addition 1o its redeploymentefforts, | & . L 00T

E . . “ 4 i . B S . SN N N K

Sincé theearly 19805, the %r\celoy gi;oup has, pv‘ovided assistance:fo mbf’e than 8,50',03'1)1'0‘1?05 in, France, y"}’zi’ch: i
have yielded almost 95,000 jobs. . TS s s BT B

¢

1n. 2005, efforts to, rev(iializé{!ochi;fldb"our markets - inchuding initiatives in Belgium <are likely to lead to the |’

creation of almast 6,000 jobs. : oo
Arcélor is tising the extensive experience of its founding entities (Arbed in Luxembourg, Aceralia iri‘Spam and
Usinor in. Prance)in this field. - - s o e P - SRR

: - " : i ER ‘, %
i :

Examples.of spc1ally :espops1ble redeployment 3
: = The closure of Arcelor's-TArdoise plant in France was 2 project that involved: all stakeholders and
= =  “started .18 months before production was due to cease (2004). The redeployment of staff and the -
" revitalizatiofi-of the local labotir force were co-ordinated. Mostémployees found new jobs‘with other
GgOup<c01np;ixlies, while others opted-for outplacement or tookithe ‘opporiunity. tesset up-theicown -7 -

) ' busin'ess.‘Arceldr"s‘redeplqymem commitment is to match redﬁpqahcieswim loc‘al)iobv créations.
; by, 2008. ‘A" convention:Has been signed. with the French government, This convention is being,
impleménted by SODIL and the work and labour department.of the regi‘onal“gqvé,rnﬁﬁer}t. T
s It Biache, in Northemn France, the closare of an Arcelor plafit,in 2002, 'Was aéconlpaniékl by 4
commitment to find.a so_hitioh? for all'employees, either through' internal wansfers or outplacernent;
or by supporting personal: projects. Other employees ‘were able 1o ‘take early retirement. The *
redeployment of the site as an industrial and- craft park is now wellvl‘fmdelway; :

» As part-of the same effort)in the Lorraine region of France, service company H&E (see below) was set
up in 1999 to. provide along-term solution. for surplus employees, particularly the oldest and most
vulnerable: for whoin transfers:were difficuitvor impossible. ! : :

-v - N . . .‘ . .‘ ~ ‘ 0 e - K
: e At the Eufopean level, Arcelor has carried-out similar experiments 1inrthe, various countries in-which
. it operates: SODIE also-operates on Arcelor's behalf in Belgium, while Arcelor's European Works

Council starteéd a review of the Group's restructuring in 2005, :
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Ir' September 2005, Arcelor organized an ¢vening debate on'th¢ theme of redep]oyment'and the,
responsible management of restructuring. The debate took place in Paris and was attended by Guy
Dollé {Arcelor CEO), Odile Quintin (Director-General of the European Commission), Francois’Loos - '
{¥rench Industry Minister) and Nicole Notat (chairman of Vigeo). The debate covered the inriovf_ativev
example. of Hommes & Emplois, the Arcelor subsidiary:set-up in.1999 1o ensure the professional

redeployment of more than 200 former Group employees whose employability was lirhited by h‘fea’lthy '
“issues; age (over 50) or lack of qualifications, following an, industrial reorganiiatioi1.‘H&E offered

individual support to each person, in order to-find them-a satisfying job that was suited to their.
potential, H&E focuses on two business -areas: fitiishing. wotk in. the consiruction industry, and,
| document digitization. ST TR T ST R 1 g AR

' H&F h‘as;developed well, and has gradually become a'new tool in'managing surplus staff, particularly. |
“older employees and those in vulnerable positions, it cases where there is no redundancy: plan or{} .
_where the:plan does not allow the transfer of staff ivasocially and economically:satisfactory. méfnne.r. :
- Just over five years after it was created, H&E has 195 staff and reveriués of €3.65m; - :

H&E's _e;ample shows that there are alternatives o ré’d‘qndé‘r}déé and early retirement. Ithag bén%ﬁtéd;
. 200-people, sparing them from the trauma of redundancy and sparing-the community fromi: the
economic cost of restructuring, since H&E employees, pay: tax and do not daim ‘unemployment
benefits: This results in a saving for the public authorities; and therefore the taxpayer of €140‘;001()ff)‘er

- person.employed by H&E. . vl B ) : i bl

Sport 2 1%

45% Local lite

i
!
2

, Art & Culiure 34%

li1“2“005, Afcelor spent more than €12m on:sponsorship in‘all countiies in which'it haé"produaioh
sites. Programmes afe managed either locally at site level, and feature heavy employee. involverment,
either though the Belgo, Acesita and CST:foundations in Brazil or at the corpotate levelii |

- Arcélor sponsoted a large number of humanitarian,'cuhqral, educational and sponingprgani;zations
and eventsin 2005. These include the French Bone irtarrow transplant.association, the Brazilian league
against cancef, the Luxembourg Red Cross-and the Tiixernboutg Philharmonic Qrchestra;ithe SIDMAR
Prize for Scientific and Medical Research,. the Corporate Funding Programme and -the F,esitivyal.« of
Flanders in‘Belgium and the Prince of Asturias’ fouridation in Spais. Arcelor is also extendingyits efforts

~in. Brazil through the Belgo and Acesia foundations: = . e

2005 was the "Year of Brazil in France". Arcelor was actively involved in this cultural: e)i(changev
 progranime between France and Brazil, and supported various contemporary art exhibitions; in order :
to raise awareness of the cultural wealth of modem. Brazik ERRRRE & ' S
R o . L L N N

Arcelor also signed a strategic partnership with the: Bilbao Guggenheim Museum dnd jbitled the
musedrm's Board of Directors in 2005. Arcelor has strong roots in the Basque country, and lactively
supports the region’s culture. Through this partnership, the museum permanently houses seven steel
sculptures by Serra, one of the region's leading contemporary artists. "

' 161
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Principle 8: Responsible citizenship o = o

Bone marrow donor bank

In 1988, a partnership agreement was signed with France (}x’eff_e,de‘lift‘oélvl:e,?an bone marrow transplant ~
association founded by two ‘Nobel Prize wiriners in physiology, Professors Jean Bernard, and Jead
Dausset, to register bone marrow donors. Transplants of stem ‘cells-are the only way to cure certain

forms. of leukaemia. As a rtesult, registers ‘of compatible donorsr'sul&:stamiaﬂy increase transplant

opportunities.and the chances of patients’ recovering. | :

Since Arcelor was created in 2002, the Group has‘continued this comuitinent and contributed to the -
development orcreation of stem cell donor registers in France, Spaiﬁj;l@faly‘ Belgium and Luxembourg;
National files of ,pctehtial donors and an ‘international computer. network connecting them is the -
cornerstone for a worldivide fight ‘against leikaemia through stemycell ransplants. In 2004; Arcelor
increased its commitment. 1o: Brazil by supporting- INCA (Brazi/}"'s’ hétionai cancer institute) in is”}
initiative to develop the country’s'bone ma{rrow”do‘nor‘fegistel‘:“" T ' g

In 2005, Arcelor's Brazilian units 'éupponed Brazil's bgné MarTow %mnﬁSplam partnership. More thari o
23,000 staff signed up. 10 REDOME, INCA's national registér of bone marrew donors. Of these, 11,670 -
. were froin Belgo, 416 from Vega do'Sul, 5,641 from CSTand around 5,§00~fr0m Acesita. i

e

REDOME currently has around 150,000: registered donors, which rethains low given the size of Brazil’s o4

population. Arcelor's aim is to help expand:the register 10:250.000 doors.

Arcelor Dunkerque has long parthered blood: and bone'marr(:‘)w donor initiatives. The company's
staff ate heavily involved in this life-saving commitment. This‘commitment was shown by two major

events in-2005: (N
b,

¢ On 10 September, managers of the Dunkirk and Mardyck plants were presented with "Entreprises
Partenaires de 1a Vie! trophies by the French blood: donor federatior. . ; o .

+ On 18 September, the Les Foulées du Grand Large 1oad race’ took place. This event has been
supported by Arcelor for 18.vears; and is in aid of the French'bone rina’rr,ow transplant association.
In 2005, the event's patron was top cyclist Larent Thirionet, who":v’zon four medals in the 2004
Paralympics, has been.European champion several times and holds the world 1-hour cyding
record. e
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GRI correspondence table

’Ihe Arcelor sustainable dewlopmem report has been prepared for all consohdatcd compameq To
“improve’ usability, the table. below shows the correspondences betweeri Arcelor's sustalmble

devélopment reporting and ' the headings proposed by the Clobal Repomng L Initiative

(www globq[repomng o1g)

- Arcelor sustainable development report

1

H
.
P

Global Reporting Initiative

Pages
- Messages from Joseph Kinsch and Guy Doli¢ 2 1.2+29+39
Corporate governance and internal control procedures 105 3.1-»>3.6 + LALL
* . Shareholders 16 3.8
" Ongoing sustainable development policy
. across the whole Arcelor Group 68 1.1+2.10-2.16 +3.7+3.14 + 3.15 + 3.20 + SO2->504
" Global Compact 3.14 + 3.16 + EN33 + LA14+ FHR1->HR7 + LA10 + LA1L
: 70 +LA14 + 802 + 8O3
Sustainable development scorecard 72 1.1 +3.19+3.20
-7 Key performance indicators 74 3.19 + 3.20
+ Principle 1: Group profitability 76 LCI
* Principle 2: Health and Safety 77 3.20 + LA5->LA7 + LA15 + PR1
© Principle 3: Environmental Protection 3.16 + 3.20 + EN2 + EN5 + [EN8 + EN10->EN12 + EN14
: 81 + EN27 + EN34
- Principle 4: Diatogue with all partners §7 2.9+43.9 + 3.10 + LA4
Principle 5: Skills development 89 LA1->[A4 + LA9 + LAIO + LIA16 + LA17
- Principle 6: Innovation and quality 93 3.16 + PRI + PR2 + EN14 + EN16
* Principle 7: Corporate governance 97 LA13 + LA4 + 3.1->3.6
99

EC10+S01 + 1.A4 + LA16

Principle 8: Responsible citizenship

Aﬁrgelor\sustainable development contact details

Jnternét: www.arcelor.com
" Email: sustainability@arcelor.com:

;
.l
!
!
i
;
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13} 4. Evaluation of internal control procedures §
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and inte 3~sz umno{ procedares

1. Objectives

A{wwwarcelor.com) « dedicated ennrely 1o, 'orporale govemance As well as the eub]ect@”covercd it
eport; the: awebsite gives regular updates {

Cly the :{%a}‘é }fj f}ﬂwém S om wwouto w SETNEne

Corporate governance

ks
ok

Arcelor is commiited.to 1doptmg Best pmcnce interms of corporate govemance inits dealmgs w:th
shareholders. In-particular, Arcelor ensures good corporate govemame by ngorously applymg rules

- concerning transparency, quality of reporting and the balance of powers

The pnnoples of coxporate govemmce sét-out 'in thxs report are in line. wnh mtern:monal
recommendations, Against a constantly changing regulatory chl\gmund Arcelor has, mammmed m‘
efforts to achieve transparency and i improve the quahtv of its rcpomng in order to:
» enhance market transparency and efﬁcxencv k

= protect shareholdu rights and make it easier 1o exercise these rlgh[s | ; A
- timely-reporting.of accurate mformanon about mgnmcam issues affecun 5 the G roup :

To meet the expectanons of our. shareholders and investors; ‘Arcelor has a qecnon; of .its

nformation: such as: changes in the article:

assoc‘ ton;
the share ownershjp stm(mre and the Qhare caplml o ;

g

P?mczplgs of organization - ;

-Arceloris.a company mcorporated in Luxunbourg and govarned by Luxunbourg law, in pamcular the i

law 6f 10:August 191 5-relating to commercial companies; stibsequently,amended. Dehl!ed mfmmatlon ‘
on this subwct can be found in the corpmaie goveu'nme section ofthe Arcelor websue

Since Arcélor-was founded; the funcmons of (,hamnan and Chief hxacuuve Ofﬁcer have been i\Lpt
separate. IOseph Kinsch is the Chalrman uf the oard of Directors whlk Guy Dolle is’ (,hlef Execuuve
()fhrer : . e . o

In ‘order 1o opmm?e managemem processee md make 1hcm fully mmparem 1o 1]1 snkeholders, the '
Board of Directors and the Managemient Board have. ‘established intetnal rules.inténded 1o def ine’ the..
Group's ‘operatifig procedureq, establishing an 3ppropr1ate balance betwean the bcard of Dlrectors md :
the Managemem Board: ; RISTE O :

3. General Meeting of Sharenolders
The company's’General Meeting represents all shareholders. It has the broadest. powers to order,

implementand approve all actions 1elaung to the company's opemuons
!-

The General Meeting of Shareholders is chau‘ed by the (’h"nrm"m of the Board ofl)nectors or, m hm/her
absence, by the Vice-Chairman. due -
Arcelor s AnnuaE General Meeting of Shareholders isheld in L. membourg, at the: head office, or atany
other place in the ity of Luxembourg spemﬁed in thenotice of meetmg, on the last’F nday of the momh'
of April at 11°00am. i



|

. the shareholders presem in person or represemed

"> the company's head officer . : T
_; = the:parent company. and consolidated ﬁnanual statements . ‘
~ o thie list.of public funds, shares, bonds ‘md other: cnmp'my secuntres m'ikmg up the:portfolio™

All shareholders have the right to attend the General \liectmg orbe represemed bv the Chairman/(with
or without voting instractions) or by any petson of their choice as their proxy, to address the Meeung
and to exercise their voting rights in compliance with the compary's amdes of asspciation.
No minimum number of sharea is required to take part in Lhe Gcneral Memng of shargholders l Every
share carries.an entitlément to one vote. |
: : |
To Arcelor's knowledge, rio shareholder pacts exist atithecompa'n’y level. |
: |
]
To attend the Gmual Meeting of Shareholders in person orby proxy !
o Shareholders. personally registered in Arcelor's’share; register rec eive: at their- phce of residence all

" documents relating to the meeting and, in pmmul ar, the notice of meeting together with the agenda g

and proposed resolutions as well as a form that allows them to indicate’ therr intention to attend the
General Meeting in person or by proxy, f

o Shareholders. not perssonally registered - in Arcglors share regrstu must contact - the ﬁnanaal'

intermediary. rhrough whlch their sharee are held !~

i

- The Annual General Meeting has a quorum xrrespectxve of the: number ()t shareholders in attendancef :

and the shares they represent. Resolutions are passed: wnh a smlple ‘ma)omv of-thevotes vahdlv cast by.

Arcelor undertal\es to follow: the corporate gov&mance prmcrples anned at ensunng proper reporting to. |

shareholders and market transparency.

Fifteen days before the Annual General Meetmg, shareholdera ma\ mspect the followmg docum’ents at

+ the management report ",
s documents issued by the auditors, whose report.to rhe regrstered Qhareholders is reqmred by law

“The management Teport,- the parent company  and ronsolld’attd financial ‘statements and the -

aforementioned documents issued by the auditors are sent to the reglstered shareholders at the same
tilne as the notice of meeting. All ‘shareholders “hiave “the: right, upon ‘presentation -of thur share

certificate, 10 receive, free of charge and fifteen days before the meeunf.’y a copv nf the dommems listed”
Cin. the bullu points above. . i B ; v 3

After approving the parcm company and consohd"xted hnancral staremenm the General Meeung shall

hold:a special vote on granting discharge to the Directors for the performance of their duties:

|
¢
i
i

4. The Board of Directors and its Committee:

4.1, Board of Drrectors

lhe Board of Directors is made up of 18 non-executive directors appomted by the Annual (General
Meeting of Shareholders, Three of the directors are unployee reprasematrves

The Board is international in nature, with six different nationalities represented.

If a director's seat becomes vacant, the remaining directors may, by a majority of the validly cast votes, )

elect a director who subsequently fills this seat uiiti] the next General Meeting of Shareholders.
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Corporate govemance

The directors act in the interests of the company: ;
| -
R | _
Should a conflict of interest arise with, regard 10 an operation submitl’ed for the Board-of ‘Directors’

approval, the director concerned must inform the Chairman of'the Board beforehand, insofar as this is

possible. He must also inform the'Board of Directors. He/she will not take partin the discussion or vote
on this operation. Any such conflict of interest isrecorded in the minu't;es_.of the meerin@ The General
Meeting of Shareholders is informed of such conflicts of interest in accordance with the Jaw. )

The Board of Directors incliides a sufficient number of independent directors.1o:give them a significant
influence over the decision:making processes; The independent directors are, independent from -the
company and its principal' sharehclders, meaning that: . i Bl

P s

¢ they do not hold an-exécutive position within the company . “ 1 %7 ST :
s they do not have any family relationship with members of the Management Board that could -«
influence their independent judgment:, - : 3 N

s they do not represent a shareholderwho owns-at least 2% of the com'r'pahy‘s share capital

o they do not provide to ‘the: company. any goods or: services that;“int the opinion. of the Board of’
Directors, would be likely to'inflience their jlidgment” e ,f e = '
Th o - . The Board of Directors regards 11 ditectors as'meeting all'thé,previofu/ﬂy mentioned:independence’.”
C criteria, i.. Joseph- Kinsch, {Iqs‘é\Raménﬂ,Alvar'ez Renduelgs, FIRH "Pr‘i,rifce Guill'aume?c‘)f ‘meembourg,
Noél Forgeard, Hedwig De Koker, Jean-Yves Durance, Ulrich Hartmann, Daniel Melin; Edmond:
 Pachura, Francisco Javier de la Riva Garriga, and Sergio Silva de Freitasi : ‘

John Castegnaro, Manuél Fem;’mdeZ Lopez and Michel Marti are lhe"thrée directors:who represent . |
‘employees. , S o - ‘
Corporacion JMAC B.V,, ‘répresented by Ramién Hermosilla Martin, is Tegarded:as a non:independent: .
director owing 16 the size-of its equity stake imArcelor. = . Lk SR P P
Georges Schmit and Jean-Pierre Hansen ate also regarded as non-independent directors because they
represent two shareholders:who possess a significant proportion of |Arcelor's share capital, i.e. the

Luxembourg government and-the tegion of Wallonia. = T S o :

Fernand Wagner is classified as rof-independent director owiilg 1o
within Arbed. C . : R

i End of term
Start date of ﬁr§£ of office
Date of birth Nationality term of office (AGM)

Joseph Ki
<Chairman ofi
Juxembourg ‘
non Alvarez Rendueles
aitman of the Board of Difecto)
Spmn,. :

|
2 May 1933 Luxembourg 15 February 2002 2006

i 17 Jjune 1940 Spanish 15 February 2()(?2 2006

(R Prince Guillatime of Luxembourg

_“I.,Lu(e}ﬁlaéurg i i i 1 May 1963 Luxernbourg 15 February 2002 2006
I

|
|

HE |

|




Date of birth

; End of termm

Start date of first]  of office
Nationality term of office {AGM)

3 November 1944

Luxembourg 15 February 2002,

28 July 1942

!
French 15 February 20021

(N

French - 30 April 2004

I
Belgian 15 February 2002‘

2006

7 August 1938

German 15 February 2002;
|

- 15 February 200?
i

; ,\ 28 December 1955

Belgian 15 February 200?

8 june 1947

Co-opted in Ihe

Board meeting

Spanish of 12 Novembeér
2004

Appointment

ratified in th‘e

2005 K(,M

6 July 1947

French 30 April 2004

2009 -

29 May 1944

31 January 1934

French 15 february 2002

2006

French 2

2006

pril 2003

28 August 1945

Spanish 15 February 200:2
I

2006

16 January 1943

19 April 1953

Femand Wagm.r . ' f"‘
LFormer CEO of Arbed. Luxembourg ‘24 February 1938

!
Brazilian 15 February 2092

Luxembourg 15 February 20¢2

Luxembourg 15 February 2002

|
!
I
| 103
|
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T R : L . ; i . R
The Secretary of the Board of Directors is Paul Junck, Arcelor's General Secretary,

Role and- powexs .of the Board of Directors

' powers to administer and manage the Lompanv and fulfil its, corporate purpose

§REp

4 0f Divactors on coTporate gUONTIAIE

i

l

At 31 December 2005, members of the Board of Dlractors held 10~,r29 sharas in the company not
mc|udmg Corporacion IMAC B.V. whlch was a major shareholder wnh 22 730, ‘890, ‘Arcelot shares at
that date ‘ » ‘ f )

8

within the limits'defined by law. and the amicles of assoaauon the Board of Dlrectors has 1 he broadest

‘ e

The Board of Directors:appoints lhe members of the. Mamgemem Board, as we I as Lhe thef h\ecutlve

,Ofﬁcer i

“

; Vuhout prqudlce to.the responslblhues it 1s legally rtqmred to perform lhe Board of Dlrectors, at tho..

‘...pxoposal of the:Chief. Lxecunve Officer, draws up strategic oblecuveq as We

Ilas th geneml businessplan

“ for the parent company: and the Group, -approves tlie allocanon ‘of tesotirees for-achieving such’
“.phjectives, oversees the implementation. of the general business plan, oversees the operatlon of the”

'.v:parem company and -GIoup, and reports ¢ 10; shareholders.,, IR

The Board approves the follomng documems after recommendauons ty‘\th/é\Ma:ilag“emyébt Board:

s the pareiit company's finandial statements: and the propos&d appropl?auon of eammgs

ethe repom 1o be subrmitted to the G entral Meenng of Shareholdem

+ the consclidated:Group financial statements ' e
s the consolidated budget estimates

It approves all major investmems and all strategic operations. <o [ e e

‘Operating procedures

The Board of Diréctors elects a Chairman from among its: members "Ihe Chalrmau s powers are those

" defined by the articles of association and those given to him/her by the Board: Hefshe, represems the

: Board of Directors with respect 1o the oumde world.

" The (“hqnman mammms ongomr7 cnnnn wnh all major Alcelom sharcholderg in: conijunction with-the

“Chief Emcuuve Officer.

He/she chairs the meelmgs ofthe Board ofDnecwrs » G R NS [N S

Among his/her rcsponmh;lmes, the Chairman. of the Board of Dlrectors rﬁuéf'einlinte the major issues
sibmitted by the Managément Board to the Board of Directors in: ordu 1o form his/her.own opinion.

For this purpose; he/she maintains or develops the necessary undérst

andmg of the issues, challenges;

developments dnd opportunities in Arcelor's. various sectors through periodic consultation with the

Management Board and the CEO.

“

' In general, the Chairman fulfils histher fesponsibilities in the spirit of teamivork with the Management

Board and the CEO.

The Board of Directors may elect a Vice-Chairman from among its

‘members. The Vice-C Rairman's

powers are those defined by the articles of assouauon and those ngen to lnm/her bythe Board

The Board of Directors meets seven times per year, and meetmgs are convened by the Lhalrman
Additional meetings may be convened if necessary in the interests of the Company.

[ . |



Information provided to the Board

. concerning the Group,: particularly financial analysis reports and press releases. .

If the Chainman cannot attend, the Board is chaired by the Vice-Chairman or the most senior Director
by age: ' '

The agenda fot the meetings is e;stablishe.d bythe Chairman bf lheEbard in consultation with the, CEO: :

The CEO and members of the Management Board panidpaté inthe meetings of the'Board of Diréctors
in an advisory role. ‘ ' ; e

Othér persons may be invited by the Chairman of the Boatd to pgnicipate in an-advisory rol:ejri 1h’e L e

discussion on a particular point ¢f the agenda.

The Board is assisted by-a Secretary-appointed by the Board of Directors upon the re_commendatji'oudf}
the Chairman. The Secretary of the Board attends the meetings of the Board of Directors helps to
prepare meetings and drafts the minutes. He/she does not have avote.

The Board of Directors has a.quorun-otily if a majority of its:members are present or represented. -
Resolutions are passed by a simple:majority.of the validly edstvotes: If a vote is-tied; the Chairman has
the casting vote. However, resoliitions of:the Board of Directors conceming the issuance, witljinthe"”

“Limits of the authorized:capital; of shares.or other securities that give or may confer the right'to §hare§, i
" require a two-thirds maiority»of;the' members, present:or tépresented. : BT

Press releases regarding patent company and consolidated financial statements and major decisions:

made by the Group are submitted‘to the Board of Directors for approval; after initial approval _fr@rﬁ the' 77
Audit Committee. ) ; ) ‘

It is the duty of the Chairman of the Board, assisted by ‘the Secretary of the Board of Dired o110
provide the Directors with the appropriate information in.preparation for each meeting basedon-the:
circumstances and the items on the agenda. s '

The Chairman of the Board of Directors ensures that the directors aré given the principal information: -

Insider information and operations affecting Arcelor shares. i
At the beginning of each:yearthe Directors areinformed aboutthe rules concerning insider trading and
the "blackout® periods during which they must not undertake any transactions in Arcelor shar eg"

Since 2005, AME the French. market supervisory authorify, has .been' informed about transactions in
Arcelor shares carried it by Directors and members of the Management-Boaxd -when their.value
exceeds €5,000 per calendaryear. ~ P

Confidentiality of information: 3 :
Directors and any other person called to attend the meetings of the Board of Directors are botmd 1o, !
secrecy regarding any information of a con fidential nature of which they become aware as a fresuh of
their participation in said meetings. : ' ! :

1

This obligation of confidentiality remains in force even after theéy have left their positions within
Arcelor. ' :
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Activity report . ;
In 2005, the Board of Directors held seven meetings with an average length of about three and a half
hours. The average attendarice rate of the Diréctors was 86%. B A ’ R :

At each of these meetings, the Board. of Directors devoted one point of i_té: agenda 1o health and safety
issues covering all Group sites, with dn analysis of accident frequency and injury severity rates and-of i

serious and fatal accidents:

The.Board of Directors devoted its first session to examining the bud;get fQIQOOS& it approved the
annual financial statements for 2004, as well as the quarterly and half:year financial statements:for
2005, in three subsequent. meetings. The Directors were also informed- about. the blackout-petiods
- applying to transactions in Arcelor shares in 2005: The Board approved tihe stock-option plan for 2005.

The Board of Directors discussed: major Group acquisitions and disposals, such as the plan to acquire

a'significant stake'in ‘China’s Laiwu Steel Corporation;-along with the Buy-mn of minonty interests in-

Aceria: Compacta.de Bizcaia in Spain: It also diécussed Arcelor’s panicipéﬁon ix\l'the’pljblic auctions for - ¢

Erderhir(’ﬁ;rkey) and Krivorizhstal {Ukrainie). It subsequently gave iﬁ]apprb\ihl to-initiate talks with. - :
. Turkish-pension fund Oyak, the successful bidder for Erdemir, with a viéw to developing.an‘industrial -

and financial partnership. It also approved:the sale of three Spanish c.onfcreté‘reinfg’)rdt)g bar producers

(Corrugados Azpeitia, Corrugados Getafe and Corrugados Lasao) 1o the Gallardo group. -~

The Board of Directors approved ,a:public offer:aimed at taking coniro_l of Canadiai cdmpany Dofasco. — © . Ll

The Board approved:the combination of Arcelor’s Brazilian flat and long carbon steel activities (CST,
" Vega do Sul and Belgo Mineira) within a Brazilian holding company, z;krce'.ldr" Brasil, listed on Brazil's

Sao Paulo'stock exchange. The Board approved the plan to take controlof Acesita,LatinAmerica's only
“ producer of stainless steel. . (R ’ o

~The Board approved majot investments such as the renovation of blast ﬁ&méce no.1,-and the continuous
casting system at Fos (Fiance), the increase in capacity at the Aviles steell‘plam (Spain), the construction: * 7
of charcoal blast furnaces at Juiz de Fora {Brazil), the modemization of the steel: plant in Dunkirk
{France) and an increase in capacity at Acindar (Argentina). |

The Board: of Directors devoted an‘entire meeting to the group's strategy: It examined in-detail recent,
© developments in‘the infernational steel markets as well as Arcelor’s position in the various markets and
. . . s Toaet ot R Y
prodiict segments. DESRS . R .
* The:Board approved. the Management Board's new organization modeliand;on e proposal ofithe =~ -~ Pt
‘Appointments and Remuneration Comimittee, appointed members to.;the, riew Management Board. '

P

i

¥

The Board adopted a Code of [thics for the Arcelor Group, setting oiu{ c]edr ét}iicak directives for all

Groupananagers and employees. ;.. . - L
Finai‘ly, the Board of Directors- discussed vai‘iousvsubiects relating to! the' Group's general operating

" environment, sustainable development, the consequences of the forthcoming European system for
tradifig greenhouse gas emission permits, hufan resources, R&D), the macro-economic énvironment
and thie steel market. Lo ‘

Self-assessment of the Board of Directors and its Comnittees :
In accordance with a decision taken in its.29 july 2004 meeting, the Board of Directors decided that in
the first half of 2005 it would carry out-a formal self-assessment of itsjoperating procedures, as well as
that of the Audit Committee and of the Appointments and Remuneration Committee, based on a

|
|
i
i‘
|
i
|
|
|




_
o

questionnaire approved by the Board..In future, this assessment will be carried out at least once
three years. ; i

every

The self-assessment questionnaire. covered seven principal themes: . o P el
o the organization of Board meetings and follow-up activities ' gt
s the Board's comiposition ‘ . ’ .
e the current director independence criteria T ' R

o the Board's missions and the scope of its powers ; : S e UTRRRE Y o
s the remuneration of the Board's:members ' 9 : ‘ ' '
s the Audit Committee's operating procedures. R

s the Appointments and Remuneration Committee's operating procedures

Based on answers provided and observations made by Board membgrs, decisions were taken 10 make
further improvements to the operating procedures of the Board and'its committées. Tt-was also decided
10 increase the number of ordinary: Board meetings per year from six to'seven. <o 0L

4.2. The Audit Committee and the Appointments and Remuneration Committee *

In line with corporate governance pringiples, the Board of Directors hasdwo’ committees. ’

»

4.2.1.The Andit Committee

MESSION -+ e e e T ] ,

The mission of the Audit Committee is to-assist the Board of Directors in its role as controller of the
company and the Group. It als¢‘examines the yearly, half-yearly and quarterly financial statements for
the parent company and Group, and comments on' accounfing principles. and rules. and jon the
valuation rules used by the company when compiling these financial statements. - - i '

Composition : . fo 0P S
Its members are: . el ' e S : S >
» José Ramoén Alvarez Rendueles, :Chatemary - 0 7 7 O TR R e . ERREEN R
s Hedwig De:Koker . e LT e ST R I S e
» Jean-Yves Durance S ’ BT I et T A (L ‘ R e
s Georges Schmit et . o ) ’ » S

Operating procedures _ ; DTSR . ;
Audit Committee meetings are convened by the Chairman at least fwice 4.year, The committee can also
rmeet at the request of at least twor of its members: , : o Lo

The agenda of meetings is drawnup by its Chairman.
The meetings have a quorum when atleast three of its members:are present.

1t can collaborate with and/or invite'to attend its meetings:
o the Chairman of the Board of Directors

o the Chief Executive Officer

o the Chief Financial Officer :

& the head of Accounts and the head of Internal Audit

« the outside auditors

= any other person whose contribution it deems useful

113
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It is familiar with the Internal Audit work-schedule and can request any document or ifnfo’nnati‘o'n it :
deems useful or necessary for fulfilling its mission. ’ L ‘

The work of the Audit Coramittee is documentedtin minutes drawn up by the Secretary and:signed by
the four members of the Audit Commitiee and its'Secretary. i

Activity report ; : e ; T
The Audit Committee met §ix'times in 2005. The average attendance rate of its members was 92%.. . -

At these theetings, the Committee: : g . ‘ R R o
s analyzed the financial statements for:2004, including the principal non-recurring items that affectedthe. -+

consolidated income for that year, as well as qﬂaﬁgﬂ? and half-year financial statements for “ZQOS'
» examined the consolidated budget for 2005 : SN

|
The Audit Committee also proposed specific blackout periods to.the Board of Directors relating to the -
publication of results during'2005.", : : ’ e B

1t reviewed the financing activities of the grdup carried outvia.Arcelor Finance and AtceloriTreasury; aswell’ ..
as the'group's insurance policy. The Committee ‘also paid particular attenition to the \hedg‘ing?(}f' currency
risk relating to purchases of coal,* coke; -ore and. transportation, and o the accounting treatment. of .t
greenhouse gas-emission tights: ' g ‘ g i

It examined the 2005 programmeé of the BusinessRisk Control unit along with a detailed report from:this.
unit mainly concemning the Group's risk mapping; which:identifies Arcelors major risks: It also-examined
a summary of audit reports produced in 2004 inclading recommendations on optimizing internal control: -
procedures: ) ‘ ‘ T L : St S

j
The external auditor provided: the members of:the" Audit Counnitteel with further infdririiaﬁdn and
explaiiations for each meeting ’ ' EEC R
At the end of each Audit Committee meeting its Chairman gave an oral feport to'the Board;of Directors,
whichwas included in the minutes.of the Board:meeting. i e

3

4.2.2. The Appointments agd Remuneration Committee

Mission : Lo i i SO

The prificipal: mission of the Appointments and: Remuneration Committee is to submit’prdppéa]é 1o the

Board of Directors on the remunerdtion of Management Board members.f and on the‘appointmerit of. new
- Directors and: Mahagement Board members. It i§ also keptinformed by the Chief Exe’cutive‘,()rfﬁce;'on‘,ﬂ)e \

Group’s remuneration-policy for its top managers. = =" . | R

- Composition : St ‘
Its members ‘are: ’ VT SRR T
& Joseph Kinsch, Chairman: : S
» José Ramon Alvarez Rendueles
+ [ean-Pierre Hansen -

© o Edmond Pachura - BRI _ AR I

it4




© Operating procedures ; .
The committee meets at least once a vear. [t can also meet whenever its Chairman requests a meeting.

i

. : L Lo . . [
Uts meetings have a quorum only when at least three of its menbers are present, including the Chairman.

It can work. in collaboration- with the Chief Executive Officer or any other person whose ontribution it
- deems useful: . : o

Activity report St e S o
~ The Appointments and Remuneration Committee metthree timesin 2005 Theaverage attendance tate of -
its memibers was 100%. . T L L S

i

At these meetings, the Appointmets and Remuneration Commiftee:
= reviewed déevelopments in the company's ownership structure

"% drew Up proposals for the Board:of Directars-onthe remuneration of nagement-Board members;:in .
L ferimis O both fixed salary, bonuses and stock-options™ I R
_ esubmitted a proposal-to the Board .of Directors on‘the:fee to be paid to; L_h'e Jlgembers of the ‘Bcéa_rd of .y
 Directors with respéct 10 2004, which was approved by the Board: and ratified by the General Meeting of #.. %o Lot
Shareholders.of 29 April 2005 I T B f e e

o drew up a draft questionnaire o be used for the self-assessmetit-of the Board of Directors’ operating..
procedures and its committees, which was approved by the Board:of Directors ! ‘ j

; .
L - . : O 5 . L o . 3
o presented to the Board. of Directors the “¢onclusions ‘and recommendations: -arising from this ™

self-assessment < . SRR L
e carried out follow-up-work on the classification of Boardsmembers aceording to the independence criteria
adopted by Arcelor ; ’ % ' - { :
o drew up a plan to reorganize the Management Board; which was approved by the Board of Directors in '
- its 15 December 2005 meeting, I AP SR s

‘At the end of each Appointments and Remuneration Committee meeti ng, its'Chairman gave an-oral report
to the Board of Directors, which was included the minutes of the'Board-meeting. '

5. Management Board =~ S R

Reorganization of the Management Board L S ,
T6 help it mové on to.a new phase of development,iArcelor: has. decided to.alter:its orgdnization and
streamline the Management Board as of 1 January 2000. : : :

Arcelor has made a significant and ongoing centribution 10 accelerating developments in the steel
industry. After three highly successful years of integration, Arcelor has émbarked ona new phase of
development. Its ambition is to maintain. healthy growth and maintdin its leadership in the steel
* industrv. To-deal with new challenges, particularly consolidation in developed markets, and to facilitate
expansion into new geographical zones, it was decided that an eight-member Management'Bo ard was
no longer as appropriate as it was when the Group was forrved. ’ 2

To realize Arcelor's ambitions as effectively as possible, the Board of Directors decided to streamline the
Management Board by reducing the number of members to four, headed by Guy Dollé. This new model
ne longer revolves around the major industry sectors, but aroutid business units that will repert/directly
to the Management Board. Each Management Board mermber.will be. responsible for several business.
units, along with ¢ertain regions, R S
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After Arcelor's hlghl\ successful mmal ph’ise of mtegr'mcm and comohdanon, this new su'eamlmed
“structure will give the Management Board: greater-flexibility.in: its operations; strengthen its. members!
collegial responsibility and atlow Arcelor 1o adapt more quickly 1o globaluanon ih the steel industry.

IR
i

Composition
The Chief Executive Officer and the members of the \mnagemem board lare app01med bv the Board of
Directors, based on proposals by Lhe Appomtmems and Remunerauon (,ommlttee

At 31 December 2005, the Managemem Board s members were as followe

A?
ol

S Date of blrth : Nationality
: Guy Dollé 31 October 1942 - French
Jacques Chabanier ! )
11 March 1949 . French
Jean-Yves Gilet ‘ -
. 9 March 1956 French ;
“Roland Junck (10 Noszmber 1955 Luxembourg :
- Paul Matthys i
R X 1 September 1949 Belgian
Guillermo Ulacia :
v Jat . Carbe 12 February 1954 Spanish
Gonzalo Urquijo ive Vic i A38 17 September 1961 Spanish
Michel"'Wurth i ‘ :
L 17 Apn'l 1954 - Luxembourg -

?

Date of birth Nationality
Guy Dollé’ Chairman of the Management Board, CEO 31 October 1942 Trench
Michel Wurth Vice-Chairman of the Management Board | 17 April 1954 Luxembourg
Roland Junck Senior Executive Vice President 10 November 1955 Luxembourg
Gonzalo Urquijo Senior Executive Vice President - 7 Sep;tember 1961 - Spanish

and Chief Financial Officer

Each Management Board membe

CEO Advisor Panel lat Carbon Steels, Long Carbon Steels,| )
Furope and Automotive fLurope “A3S
Flat Carbon Steels, Long Carbon Steels,| “Finance
Stainless Steels Brazil South America i Purchasing
HR, Health and Safety R&D Wire Drawing IT
Commercial Co-ordination Co-ordination, Brazil Co-ordination, China Legal
Communication i
Sustainable Development  Co-ordination, Plate ~Investor Relations
Managerent Board Secretariat NSG Alliance : Other activities
{nternational Affairs !
. Audit ‘
i
|
|
H
16 |




" s execution-and stuipervision of decisions.and monitoting of performance and results: -

. Missions : L , SRR e
. The Management,Board is a collegial body with shared values; diid embodies a‘strong:senseiof the

* » is Tesponsible for the performance of the Group and its businessunits

" The members of thé Management Boaid adhere to the strictest ethical and professional standardsiand’
* give each other miitual assistaince in achieving their objectives. « » ) SRR

Guy Dollé is assisted by two advisors who are former Management Board members; i.€: fean-Yves.Gilet,
advisor on global stainless steel activities and Paul Matthys, acquisitions advisor. '

Three Deputy Senior Executive Vice Presidents, who are not members of the Management Board; have
also been appointed: R : 8 e
» José Armando Campos; flat products, Brazil and CEO of Arcelor Brasil

= Christophe Coinier: flat products and global autometive markets

o Carlo Panunzi: long products, South America and Deputy CE®, Arcelor Brasit *

Powers e : A . ERE

The powers of the Management Board are defined by the Board of Directors, andincluding the following;

s definition and tracking of strategic objectives and of the Parent:Company/Group business plan, to be
submitted to the Board of Directors for approval after consuliation with the Chairman of {he{Board-
of Directors ~ G S e

s definition of the policies and resources for the implementation of this strategy, with decisions other

than those relating to-ordinary management being submitted:to the Board of Diﬁectdrs fot approval

Group's identity and spirit.
As part of the powers delegated by the Board of Directors, the Mﬁﬁagement Board:

» seeks to exploit industrial, financial and commercial synérgies within and between business units. -
e appoints the-senior fitanagers of the principal Group:companies : BIPRE RN
o maintains relations with governmental and Furopean Union authorities, and: with. national- and
international professional organizations S S ‘e L
» co-ordinates public'relations and ensures compliance with the Group's corporate identity -
» puts forward to-tiie Board of Directors: : o o .
- the parent company's financial statements and the proposed appropriaﬁon of earnings
. the Group's consclidated financial statements e R
- consolidated Budget-estimates

- the reporis 10:be submitted to the General .Megting,\of :_Shureb‘glde;sv _

Code of conduct.

6. Remuneration

6.1. Board of Directors and Cominittees

Remuneration principles for the Board of Directors and Committees . _ R
Each year, with the approval of the ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders, the Board.of Ditectors is
allocated an aggregate fee based on the dividend to be distributed to the sharehiolders. This aggregate
Board fee may not beless than €1m or more than €2m. If the dividend distribution is insufﬁdeht, some

or all of the minimuim €1m fee is booked as an expense: .

“The fee is divided up between the members so that each Direcror receives one share, the Vice-Chairman
one and a half shares and the Chairman two shares.

7
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“fees. This amount is booked as an expense.

These fees are-booked as expenses.

Amoimts allocated in 2005

and . €367:.500

2005:plan

Furthermore, the Board of Directors is allocated €36,000 for each of it

The 'ipCClﬁ(' remuneration of lhe membem of the Audit (Jommlttee
Remuneration Committee is as follows:
¢ €3,000 per member and per meeting
e £4,500 per meeting for the Chairman

Total remuneration’ with respect to 2005:
€1,967,500

of which - ~+£1,600,000- - as:the abg:evate Board. fee (subleu 10 appr( val by thie General Meetirig_

of Shareholders)
as atttndance fees.

s meetings, to pay attendance

and the Appomlmcnts zmd .

The thrman of the erd of Directors pamcxpates in the mmpany &S tock opuon plan

N
B

' Strike pricé

Exurc1se penod

51,395 -

567 . from 1 July 2006 to 30 june 2010

2004 plan . 51,305 ¢ 13.11

from 1 July 2007 to 30 june 2011

50000 16.17

62 Management Board Oy : SR e

from 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2012

“The remuneraﬂon of thc CEO. md members .of, the, thgemem Board is flxed by the erd of

Dlrcctms, based on a proposal by the’ Appomtmems and Remumrauon

Principles of remuneration” ,
Ihe remuneration of the CEO 1nd members of the M'magemem Board
o afixed ahnual salary’ : o S
% performame‘related bonus
a:stock opuons :

Commi mee

consms of

Al duectom fees received by the CEO and membere of xhe M'mage merit_ Board are ‘«rgtufned to the

ompanv ] ;

Fixed annual salary
Until' 31 December 2005, fixed annual salaries, were determinedion|a

i

net basis. after social security

charges and standardized taxes, taking into-account the counmes i whick the members of the

Management Board operated-and resided.

Asof L Ianuan 2006, the fixed annual salary is set gross.

Includingthat of Bowrd Commitice members

+ I arder to.preserve the rigth of those benefiting }mnz the siock-option plan. at the time of Arcelor's capital incriase i July 2004, the

Board of Directors approved an adjustment o the 2003 and 2004 plans:

- for the Arcelor 2003 plan, the new strike price is €9, 67, as opposed w €9.94 lefore the capital increase; the number of aptions granted

was 1,300,000 and is now 1,336,282

- for the Arcelor 2004 plan, the new strike price is. €13.11, as opposed w €13.48 before te capital increase the number of.options granted

was 1,195,000 and is now 1,228,361

=
e



Thé_max}imum-‘amoum of the bonus before applying the individual per‘er_ma‘n‘ce'cbg
-i5.75% of net annual salary. ' : ‘ S :

- Directors.

Amounts allocated in 2005

Other members

| — - , « !
I addition, Management Board members owned 145,819 Arcelor shares at 31 December 2005:

Bonus : oo v
The bonuses of the CE() and other members of the Management Board are based on the fo]loﬁving[mles:
s a.third depends on the results for the year in terms of ROCE {return on capital employed) and FCE
{free cash flow), and is-paid in cash ; ' - .
o a-third depends on the resulis for the year in terms of ROCE and FCF, and is converted into Arcelor
shares: at the average share price during the 30 calendar days prior to the General Meeting of
Shareholders": : ’ : o :

‘¢ 2 third is linked 16 the moving average of the same indicators in the currentyear and-the two prévi'ous

years

!
fficient Qf(j 8: 12

{
;
3
i

Stock options : : : S S C e
THE CEO and other members of the Management Board' participate in the-5-year stock option plan_ .
decided, at thie: General Meeting of Shareholders held on 25 Apsil 2003 and set.up by the Board"of :

Directors on 15 May 2003. The rumber of options granted -each year is decided aby’tthBd’ard‘ of

o 1

Guy Dollé

Guy Dollé : ,
Other members’ T o : : . : . 1o 30 June 20107

“

Guy Dollé
Other inembers’

GuyDollé
Other members’

o]
. o
s These shares must be held for at least 4 years. . !
<is is the 2005 bonus Huked to 2004 results, in compliance with the rule mentioned above. i
* For the 2003 plan: Jacques Chabanier, Jéan-Yves Giler, Robert Hudy, Roland Junck, Paul Matthys, Guitlermo Ulacin, A\ii(*hzli\’v’urlh
# for the 2004 plan: Jacques Chabanier, Jean-Yues Gilet, Roland Junck, Paul Matthys, Guillerme Ulacia; Gonalo Urquijo, Miclel Wurth
7 For the 2005 plan: Jacgues Chabanien, jean-Yves Gilet, Roland Junck, Paul Matihys, Guillerme Wlacta, Gauzalo Urquijo, Michel Wurth

O
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7. Dual-signature principle , -

i

Arcelor has:opted for a dual-signature system for purposes of legal re_:p_resfematiom Without prejudice to

8. External aquditor

the power of represertation vested in the Board of Directors under the law, the Company is only .
considered to have entered into an undertaking in respectof a third party: if the sig11:3tuies of two’
authorized representatives are present. All persons with signinig powers are désignated by the Board of
Directors; ‘which also determines the scope of their. powers. L o : R

In dccordance with-Luenibourg commercial company law, consolidated and parent company financial

'staternerits must be certified by an-external auditor, which examines thé'accounts, the methods used to

_¢ompile them and 'the Group's internal control procedures.

Followihg an ‘open invitation to tender, the General Meeting of Shaiébé]dérs»hdd on: 26 April 2002;-

appointed - on the Board of Directors’ proposal = KPMG Audit as Arcelor's external auditor for aterm’

expiring in the General Meeting of Shareholders convened to.vote on the 2004 financial statements:

As proposed by the Board-'qf Directors, the General i\&eeting,of Shai’re holders held 6'11{30 Apiil ‘2004{,_

citerided KPMG Audit's.mandate:to audit the financial statements of ‘the Arcelor company and the °

_consolidated ﬁnaﬁcial statenvents of the Arcelor. Group:-until the General Méeting of Sharéholders :

convened 10 vote on the 2005 tinandial statements.

“The fees.of this auditor, the embers of its network and other auditors hired by ‘ﬂ}’e gryoupémounted"* .

to €11 in 2005, compared with €10m in 2004; Non-audit services provided by KPMG accounted for*
less tharl '10% of that amount. ‘ ) s CRI e SR R
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Internal control procedures assist the Group

1. Objectives of internal control

Internal control is an integral pari of the Arcelor C.roup‘s corporate governance strategy.

The internal control procedures assist Gioup management ini improving risk management by-providing
~ managers with a set of risk.management guidelines and by verifying compliance with them... .

The purpose of internal;controlis 10 ensure: - ;

o compliance with laws, regulations, standards, internal rules and contracts

s the protection and preservation of the Group’s assets

= optimal control over the sectors and companies within the Group ) ) SR
. = the reliability and integiity of the accounting system and ‘of financial and operational information

s the achievement and optinization of the Group's objectives. - ( : L

» the prevention and management of risks.that might prevent the ‘achievement of these obiecli{v;e‘s'ﬂ

As a result, internal control detetmines fulfilment of the cormpany's goals regarding performance’and -+ S

profitability. However well conceived and applied these procedures may. be, though; internial control.

cannot prevent all errors. W ‘ e N ' = T

i
|
i
|

2. Internal control organizational principles

The Arcelor Group's brganization is based on the prirciple of subsidiarity. The Management Boardf
formalizes and commiinicates its vision for the company and oversees its implementation: Ttis assisted .~
by the Corporate departments:in its strategy, management and governance funetions: : :

This vision includes Afc'elor"s Principles of Responsibyiliry, These principles have been drawn \kxp b); a

team of top level executives and managers, validated by the Management Board and widely drculated
among executives; masnagers and employees: : : - L

In accordancewith 1he'aforémeriglionﬁed”pﬁnciples, the respo,n}éibili{y' for designing and implementing
internal control systems and procedures rests with the Management Board, as delegated by the Board,
of Directors. Furthermore, the ‘organization, -application” and monitoring of these internal ‘control.
procedures, and 1herefore’riskjmanagemem', are the responsibility of the business sectots. . LA
The Arcelor Group's géne‘ra‘l--a@prégdxto internal control forms part of its: global. risk management »
Process. s '

Rislk managemeit and ifiternal’control are carried out by the'Business Risk-Control division, which . ..
handles the development of sisk madtiagemnent and internat audit at the operational level: The head of
BRC reports to Arcelor's Management Board in hierarchical ferms, and to the Board of Directors! Audit
Committee in functional terms? = R L R S A LRI

V

in general, the risk managemenfsystem consists of: C k !
» periodically identifying, in co-operation with the business se¢tors-and usually based on exjslting risk
maps, the level of residual risk inherent in the various business activities; taking into’ account the
existing internal control mechanism (interna control mapping) 1 1
s helping the Group's specialists'to design the manual ofbest practice for managing the risks inherent
in the various processes.(intermal control engineering) : o i :
o distributing the manual: o+ operational staff, so that ‘they can adopt best practice via audit
recommendations {internal control assessment);

i

|
l
i
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|
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» periodically and independently “verifying- that operational staff are complying ‘with -the manual

{internal control review) : v i S
s providing management and the Audit Committee with an independetnt opifion on'the overall fevel
of internal control with fespéct to the risks inherent in the various activities {internal control.
reporting). o o SRR "
; \ !

3. Internal control operating procedures

1
1

‘With regard to the specific functioning of the Arcelor Group's.internal control mechanism, it should be
noted that the various Corporate ‘departments-have drawn up a set of rules, internal ‘ditectives:and: '
_procedural methods covering areas indluding finance, accounting, managemmenticontiol; legal human:.

relations; health and safety, environment, purchasing, information systems, comminications, internal

audit and risk management. These rules are implemented across the entire Group, angd are. regularly
updated. ’ I : G ; S

The following procedures-are-exarmples of the Group's internal control and riék(nian}iggm'ént methods: -

“The control performed by’ Arcelor's Legal Division over the activities of Arcelor and: its: subsidiaries

derivés from the Group's general-organization principles, and particularly from-the:definition’ of the '
general'mission of Arcelor's legal function. : 5 g ‘

|
i

In order (o optimize caverage of legali risks and contribute to the Croup's development; thevinternal

“contolsystem set upby the Legal Division includes the following pro}cedures:* Do :

s ‘All major contracts creating liability for Group’ corapanies must be approved: by.the Legal Diviéiou.

» Tn'the:event of a new dispute or the risk of a dispute, Group co:np’é$ies miust refer the matter to-the
Legal Division, which will décide on the strategy to follow in each case. L s

s More specifically,. the Legal. Division will: review ongoing dispmeé involving -over €500,000 in a-
litigation report updated every 6 months; reports on the most impo:rmm litigation cases Are sent bi-
monthly to the Legal Division. ' \ e

eiAny decision to.use external legal resources (lawyers, outside counsel) must be notified iy advance 10
the Legal Division. which will: advise.on vt'he dppropriateness and: ;ter'ms of the de";jsiéﬂn, and will]

“s Legislative of Tegulatory dévelopments that could have repercussionsion the Group'siactivitie;

the obligations of subsidiaries dnd/or theinmanagers are constanily r}nonimrgd by the Legal Di\fisid‘n, by
~which will take appropriate measures. - - S T S RIS e
o+ A'teari dedicated 16 monitoring the Arcelor Group's subsidiaries and holdings carries outa review of -

the legal documentdtion ir receives with regard to corporate law and the structure of the operations

‘and.corfects any irregularities detected: - |

3.2. Internal control procedures for Group financing

Fifianéial risks — arising from foreign exchange, /interest rates, metals and energy prices ~.are managed
centrally by Arcelor Treasury in-the Group's.own trading room in accoirdance with procediires approved
by'the Audit Committee, the application of 'which is audited regularly. In particular, dollar exchange-
rate risk is managed with regard to the coverage of purchases ¢f raw mate\ﬁa’ls:i(ore;" coal, ¢tc), in
accordance with specific decisions taken by Management. Board. ' a

Liquidity risks are managed by Arcelor Finance with the aim of having constant dccess to'a volume of
confirmed bank credit facilities allowing it to deal with any lasting problems {over 12 months) in the
financial markets. :

13 ' j




The allocation of financial resources within the Arcelor Group is controlled by a Financing Cominittee

consisting of: : ] T o

= the Chief Financial Officer . v : R . S

o the heads of Finance, Management Control, Mergers & Acquisitions and Group Operations - |

¢ relevant operational representatives on a case-by-case basis !

e i

The role of the Financing Commiltee, clearly laid: dowri’in. the internal procedures approved by the

Board of Directors” Audit Comuittee, is 10 R « : : S

» allocate financial tesources to Group ¢ompanies and determineithe tertns and conditions theteof

» review the financing structure of Group conipanies. ) - ‘

¢ approve the financial operations decided by the sectors and business units’ : '

‘The Financing Committee met 10 times in 2005 and confirmed or approved the allocation of €1.7bn

in capital resources, long-term loans and short-term lines of credit. o e

fach lending or.hofrowing operation is'covered by.a written contract: Drawdowns on short:term lines

of credit granted by Arcelor Treasury SNC are continually monitored by‘a comptterized system!

All financial operations are systematically sibject to'an AFO (Auzborizam)n for Findncial Opera tion):
’ N ¢ o “H, ,'k,‘&” 3 f . ‘. v ‘o .\f,‘.

The level at which decisions are madeis defined in thle,kf)rqcedure.s and each- decision is incliuded: in:

monthly financial reporting.- . it B R AR

3.3. Internal cohtrol procedures for the grepafation and pv rocessing. of
accounting and financial information R

Consolidated quarterly financial information-is produced:by the Group's Accounting Division on the
basis of a general schedule that takes into account the deadlines specified by the markets on'which the
Group is listed and the Group's internal validation and approval process (Management Board, Audit
Committee, Board of Directors, General Meeting of Shareholders). * ' LA

Tasks relating 1o the reporting and processing of: atcounting Hriformation’ collected frtéjm the:
consolidated enfities ‘are divided between the local entities that are Tesponsible for the reporting”
package, including all restatements 1o’ ensute compliance ‘with the.Group's: accounting sla|.1dafds, and
the Accounting-Division; which reviews information and inicludes it-in the ‘consolidated: financial
statements. . n : SRt BT S

{
!

At each quarterly closing, the Jocal entities take responsibility for completing their reporting package in
compliance with-the Group’s accounting rules and procedures.via a letter sent to Arcelors Chief
Financial Officer. : S i[
The review of the quarterly financial and accounting information sent.by the local entities un(xié'nakén
by the Accounting Division covers several levels'of analysis and includes detailéd systematic controls of
each individual reporting package, theme-based inter‘entity. analyses and reviews of theiyarious
consolidated statements. coe ‘ . i

|
The reporting packages are also subject to periodic review,procedures (halfeyearly andjor yearly?f) by the
local external auditors as part of the audit of the Group's-consolidated financial staterents. ’
The financial and accounting information produced:by the local entities is also subject.to ad-hoc
theme-based controls by Internal Audit. ' e

For the preparation of the consolidated quartetly information and the monthly reporting indicators,
Arcelor uses a single, centralized information system (based on Cartesis’ Carat software) that iis shared

'
i
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internal control procedures

t
by all accounts and management control divisions. This software: package allows for integrated,
standardized, secure and totally automated reporting and processing,
in 2006, Carat will be replaced by a new version of the software, called|Cartesis ES Magnitude. This+is
a shared modular application for financial consolidation,. ‘management reporting, budgeting: and
planning, and for the management of reporting indicators. It will be implemented as part of a global
performance measurement project that was initiated in 2005 (’HPM . Business Petformance
Management). ‘ I ' : S Ce

Consolidated quarterly reporting is carried ‘out within'a consistent procedural framework that includes %
the reference documents’ made available thronghout the Group (the Reporting and Consolidation’
Manual detailing all the Group's accounting and:valuation riles and the Information System- User's
Manual) and annual training programmes designed for the local entities. : , R

To.complement this ‘general process, Atcelor has a. Group ‘Accounting Complianéé team ‘in the -~
Accounting Division, whose obijective is to define and develop a standardized and secure accounting -

environment for the consolidated financial statements. To this end; the Group Accounting Complianice .
" team has established a network of experts {two at Group level and ,ele?en at the local level) in charge
‘of supporting the communication'and application of the accc’)untingb?licies adopted By Arcelot: .

The Accounting Divisi‘vovrn cqopé{atés”ﬁl[ly, in‘all its functions, with many other internal divisions: Some S
work is recurrent, forming part of periodic inter-entity reporting’(invo

: 1¢g the Management Control;
Tax, Environment, Legal, Treastry and Human Resources divisions). Other:work is occasional, arising
from current projects, for example with. the-Mergers and Acquisitions division. » ‘

The Group's consolidated financial statéments are subject to a six-monthly review by the external
auditors; in comphiance with Luxembourg-law and the market-tegulations. in force in the countries; ‘
where Arcelor is listed for trading.: i & T

|
3.4. Intermal control procedures for management contrpl«

The Group's management cantrolwork is guided by the following méi‘[n objectives: v :

= the collection, analysis and éxplanation ofithe-results achieved, compared with the objectives set for
the Arcelor Group and its principal components S S -

o forecasts of short and medium:term developments

« recommendations for.cotrective actions. ‘

s the implementation of common methods within the Group*

!

: 3
!

1

i

=

o the measurement of management performatice (MBO process): -

As mentioned above, the Group has opted for a-single, centralized information system. As a result, the
Management Control Division prepares its, repotts essentially: fi'omglhe same database as used for
consolidation reporting, and for some other functions (healthand:safety, human resources, sustainable
development). The action taken, by, Management Control i§ dodlménted_ in particular-through the )
application of the following procedures: ; : o s
» procedure for drawing-up the multi-year plan

s procedure for establishing and approving the annual budget
= procedure for monthly reporting, ’ ;
= procedure for analyzing vatiations'and calculating efficiency gdins:
+ procedure for quarterly forecasts :
# procedure for monitoringthe working capital requiremnent |
= procedure for authorizing investments {(industrial and other}. in [co-operation. with the Strategy -

Division

134



- o quarterly forecasts of the Croup's activity in the coming quarters ool

e final g{nnual report-on Management by Objectives results

“individual projects.

|
|
|
|

These procedures require close co-operation between the management conuollers operating at the
Group's Controller Desk and those operating in business units and-legal entities. They specify the roles
and résponsibilities at each control level in the overall control framework. ' |

Based on the procedures listed above, the Management Control ‘Division' draws up lhe‘fdllowing'

docurnents intended for the Group's Management Board: : ‘ : 4

= report on the year's budget : : R SRR )

¢ moiithly report en the Group's results and its principal components, including analyses of changes
in résults and efficiency gains ' i o o

+ monthly report on developments in the working capital requirement and mianagemerit .actions,_
“relating to them . : Sl '

o quarterly analysis of Group activity and results and the main: performance components; smlpgé)rtjng'
financial communication R i
» semii-ainnual feport on investment authorizations

= validation. of maifi investments, prior to approval by the Management Board, and-carried .out in-
. collabération with the Stfategy Division e M L gD S

“The madagemedt controllers working at different levels of the ‘Gr‘(\)up also produce specific reports for

the use ofthe different divisions, in compliance with.Group procedures. . SR,

3.5: Internal control procedures for the definition and implementation
of strategy : i e

* The defiriition 6f the Group's strategy fits into an annual ¢cycle, The two main évents:in this-cycle/are the

two ‘Management Board strategy serninars, each lasting one to two-days; held in Janudry. and July-
August . ' : : s

. The'summer sirategy. seminar is more focused on the medium and long-term prospects of the steel

industry-envifonment and the definition of guidelines for the Group. It examines the long-term.
development of demand in Arcelor’s core markets, and locks into proposals:on how: to. adjust its -

“gominercial and industrial preduct mix. kt defines choices ‘and:guidelines for geographical ,grow{'th and

developments inArcelor’s product ranges, ‘ _ i ;

The winter strategy seminar is mainly devoted to carrying out a review of all current strategic projects.
This simultaneous analysis of all strategic projects in the light'of the foreseedble medium- andAdong-
terin énvironment, as well as likely short-term developments, enablés-the Strategy Divisien-to’ verify
that the projects fit into the defined Group strategy. = = ° v AR

Every November, the Board of Directots meets to discuss'strategy and validate both-overall trends and

Importanit decisions concerning each-strategic project are taken first by the Management Board and .

theti’by-the Board of Directors depending on their stage of development and urgency. ' : ‘

“The strategy process draws on procedures governed by variots structires: o : ;

¢ The Croup's development over three years is amalyzed through the business plan establi%had by
Management Control. T R

& The three-year investment plan is drawn up jointly with Management Control. Cb

o industrial investments are covered by a structured procedure undertaken jointly with-Management

Control.
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e [nvestment forecasts require six:monthly authorizations for both funding commitments: and cash
disbursements, for the Group as a whole and for each business: sefctor."l.‘hese authorizations are
delegated to the Management Board members, with the possibility of sub-delegation depending on
the amounts involved. . ) ' ‘ e ks ’ L

& Investments whose total outlay is-over €12m {€6m when they contern R&D or information systems)
require the approval of both the Management Boardiand the Bfoard{d"l)irécto}rs. ¥ .

i §

3.6. Internal control procedures for internal and external communication,
patticularly aspects involving image risk management o

Risks involving the image of the Arcelor Gioup are managed by the Corporate’ Communication

Division, which has a policy-for managing such risks, consisting of prdaciive and reactive’ measures.

The nroactive‘and,prevemi‘ve measures include;

‘Internal literatere - 0 ~ EiNe T e ,

One of the Corporate Communication Division's. riskprevention daties, is to, disuibute:within the

Group reférence:documents that-can be used for .in[ey:lw’alfcom,munjc'atjldn and by Gioup employees iny !

communicating with outside:contacts. To this end, systematic c’irculayﬁcjnprocédurés have.been set up.

These procedures concern. press. releases, documents ‘relating tofinancial” results. and the Accents.

. newslelter and- Accents magizine, which are intended: for:the 350°top. managers, and- therefore for

" 20,000 employees with access to the intranet portals. "

communication. officers working in the field: A great deal of information can be consulted by the
: [KIng g Ced mabot ! : 1 Y

Strategy messages and Corporate positions

The principal Group, divisions whose role is to comimunicate with outside contacts are International -

Business, Investor Relations, Strategy, Mergers and Acqiiisitions, Sales §&1[)‘and Hurhan Resources. The -
risk of messages communicated 10, the otitside world conflictingwith edch other is rediiced through the ’

joint definition of $trategic messages. I
. . ’ : i
) . o [ - . : Lok
. Crisis communication « N % RN R S
A crisis is-defined as an. unexpected and untimelyevent ‘whose. suddenness, setiousniess, and/or

consequences may catse direct-or indirect harm'’to the company'siimage at local or Group, level. A"

procedure and“a series ‘of ieasures have been devised to handlé crises and .make communication

officers better prépared for them: i

= The Corporate Commiunication Division is; immediately informed of crises. via its early warning
netvwork- 118 tolé is 1o assist and advise The Corporate Communication Division remains-on:standby:

1o handle érises 24, hotirs a day and 365 days a year,via @ hotline: L , e R
s All Arcelor entities are required to draw up a risis 'c.om'municatio'n pjl"an. This document includes:
- the list of identified local risks that could damage the.Grotp's image R o i
_ the contact détails.of the entity's risk manager and the members.of the arisis committee
- the identity of the spokesperson(s) authorized 1o .commiinicate 1o the outside world
- the organization of the hotline service to handle crises 24'hours a day and 365 days'a year

» To help ‘the industrial sites manage crisis situations, ‘training ¢ourses ate organized for identified -

employees. !

«To make sites more responsive, the Corporate Communication Division will collect and circulate

information in the form of experience feedback (REX) forms. These forms have been available on the-

intranet since early 2005. Shared experience should help 10 prevent future crises and improve their -,

management. g . / . t
. ‘ . . |

i
i
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|
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Corrective measures are as follows;

Cns;s commmumtwn management procedure :
In a-crisis situation, the Management Board and the C otporate (‘ommunuanon Division are ‘informed. .
via the established procedure: :
= The entity concerned assesses the crisis lexel {three-level classification system). :
= The Corporate.Communication Division is alerted via the crisis hotline, which is permanently staffed.
e A brief report on the situation is given'to the officers concerned referrmg to the alert form and regilar
updates.are provided. . o g
® Depending on the seriousness of the cnsm, a cgntxal amergency commitiee involving the CE@ or his

depuly is set up to manage the.crisis. o . . [

g Meduz momtormg :
The Corporate press relations team constantly monitors the media. A press review is 1ssued every
morning before'9am and is then published on;the. intranei portal and sent by internal post or e -miail

“10 the people concerned. The pressteview is a selection of articles from’ national dailies'in the prmmpaL :
countries where: the Group. operates. Funthermore; partner-and contact. communication agencies in
certain countries, as well as some subsidiaries, momtor the media in their country and pass on relevant

-information; i . o . , . ”i

, Commumcuuon teams : : : :
A list of persons authorized to deal with thL press i l\ept cousldmly updattd smce not all' L
* communication officers deal with the same subjects. PR
Group-sectors and entities communicate-only on:internal communication sub]ecls and on eﬂ(tema]
communication-themes connected their activities (produn range, marketing activity, etc ) :

(

‘Respanswe press relations - " TRENT . % :
Invasituation impacting on the COMIPANY's lmage, fnlure to cominunicate mav constitte a real chnger :

- As a result, the press relations unit of the (,Orporate Communication Division has set.up a respom,e
mechanism for reaching journalists, mth an emall address and a telephone number acceqszbl

24/7 during sensitive penods

K »
All inlerviews with-management members are prepared’ and momlored bya member of the 0 wporate 5

Communication Division, who provides guidance and asslstance and ensures that interviews.go sngoothly

; 3.7. lnternal control Droced_g‘

Aicelor hag amcpted the need for regular analysis of Waman resources-related risks. As regards thc l‘lSk ‘ D k :
arising from the company’s obligations with respeci 1o.its. retired former employees; a rmex;v ofall L S
pension plans - of all types and for all categories of:personnel - has been undertaken by the Group ' )
Human Resources Division, assisted by the human’ resources divisions of the sectors and compmxes

concerned and by the finance division concerned. This re¥iew has-enabled the Group HR Division to

validate the provisions booked it the accounts and:to-setup.a plan for the systematic transformation

of existing plans from defined-benefit to defined- comnhuuon plam This transformation will 4make it -

easier 1o determine the company's long-term obhganons , el :

Moreover, for other human resource managemient processes, the principle of inter- entity” revxews hasr

been adopted. Thus, monitoring and conselidation of headcount data are undertaken via the C‘mup s

existing consolidation processes. HR processes, (selection, promotion, career dévelopment, etc) ate

handled by collegial procedures via the career committees that cover the employees cc)ncamed{.

-
i
!

i
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In France, taking into account the risk of deterioration in the cover proyvided by basic (social security)

and complemeitary (ARRCO and AGIRG) pension plans, agreements were signed by the Management

Beard and four unions on 22 December 2005: These agreements are intended to deal w1th thtse risks -

through changes to:the supplementary. pension plan involving:. ,‘ o
- externalizing accruéd rights by taking dutan insurance policy with an extemal comp.my‘
- moving from.a deﬁned benefit system to a defined-contribution wsfem asof [ ]anuary 20()6

The svstem as a'whole is also: mtended 1o prov1d€ better pensxon protecﬂ(m for Arcdor employees, in

accord'mce with the emstmg emplovee beneﬁts policy. .

3.8. Intemal control rocedures for enwronmental management (:I‘SQ‘ 14001) ’

Ob}ectwes T T : T I N
The puspose of these internal conuol procedures is to: assist the Group $ managtmem in 1dent1fymg and
managmg ermronmentai mks mked to prodiicticn sne< and produdts: .

Internal control operatmg pwccdmes : i
dInternal control 1s based mainly'on d:system of envitonmental mamgemem and (,roup en\rlronmemal
procedures; the'standardized collecnon of basic environimental data and the prevemmn and comrol of
'enwronmemal mks : :

Complumce with. ngumal enmmnmental laws, regulanons, decrees and standards
All (.roup producnon sites have been mstructed to apply the 1SO: 140§O] envuonmemal management
system.:, Sy g L : » ) B R

The 1SO* 14001 cemﬁcauon systemidentifies:the aspects of an operanon carrylng 51gn1ﬁcant poteutlal
risks -for the. environment; and- enables them to. be  taken “into account for the . def'nmon of
environmentalobjectives. Hence, comphanu with the [SO. 14001 envuonmmtal management- system
indicates a high Tevel of control over environmenital risks. Annual exrerml 1SO. 14001 audit teports are
required from all ihe certified sites to evaluate the extent to which Lheu environmental risks are under
control. The reports are analyzed and instances of regulatory non—comphance are noted. A'listof theses

instances is‘drawn up.and: corremve actions-are momlored This- emure@ that anuonmemal nsks are ...

' ,correzctlv hdndl" by the: sms

“The C,orpo:ate inronmmt Dwmon also cames om OLcamonal elmrfonmemal audm on: produmon :

sites, - B o Y ‘ o o , PR S |
'Relzabthty and integrity of enmonmental mfomlatwn 1
An environmental: data collemon planhas been set up for.all-the (Jroup s producuon sites. ‘The plan
defineswhich parameéters are {o be measured in the production units and how frequently. Tlus, enables-
the Group to assess its emvironmental performance, establish compamons between: equlvalent
activities.on dlfferem sites, and i unprove envnronmema! resulis. ; o

. I

Prevention and 1mmagement of envtronmemai risks : \‘ '

o Through its involvement in the European Committee for the rey 1510r1 of BAT-BREFs { bebt avallabk
technique reference standards); the Corporate Environment D\VISIOD can compare. the. techmques
used by Arcelor with those classified as BATs (best available techmque‘;) for the environment.

s All farge investment projects are submittéd to the Corporate E nwronment Division, w hxc_h verifies
that thé tec hmques pxoposed comply with BATS. i

Protection af the natural hentage : ‘?

A soil and ground water assessment procedure has been dmwn up. Thjs procedure is apphed invarious

stages to all production sites, and enables them to evaluate the qual nv of soil and watet and identify

any corrective measures required.

(




Communication procedures '

A communication procedure has been devised to ensure appropriate communication w ithin the C,roup

relating 10 all environment-related subjects and risks. It defines the documents, actions and men)ts that

prodiction sites must supply to the Corporate Environment: Dmslon and which the latter miust supply

1o the sites. The procedure covers all environment-re lated documents: key pertormance indicators, 1SO
4001 investments, publications, 1nc1deﬂts, research and leglslauon S

3. 9. Internal control procedure"vfor_managmgvmergers, acqmsmonsm
and disposals

The Me.rgers & Acquisitions (M&A) Division is the Arcelor C raup's internal mvestmem banker, acting
‘on behalf of the Group and its sectors with the aim of co- ordinating plans for mérgers, acquisitions and
dlsposais It co-operates fully with the International. ‘Business Development department ofthe Strategv

o Division, with the sectors and, via the sectors; with.ihie Group's business units. These projects: can-arise

>

from Group or sector strategies, or may be, proposed by external emmes such as investment banks dnd Sl
\1&A consultancms and agencies. ; :

‘_“In 1t° ro}e as mtemal mvastment banl\er, the M&A Dmsmn has the followmg rmssxons : '§ ’
‘e VlCE— ‘

Presldem Strategy and the Chief Fmanmal Ofﬁcer G :
o, négotiating the terms of partnerships with third- partv shareholders as well as the terms, ofisale and.

' purchase of equity interests : Sl
* repotting regularly to the Mamgemem Board on al] M&A proyecrs (acqulsmons :md dmposals) at’

‘Group and sector level
"e.qdvising the Chief Financial Officer onr the’ hnancxal sirattgy tobe follow&d by the. Group m thls area

j 5

Hmnaal ‘investment guidelinés are e%labhshed concemmg information ch"mnds authomauon

thresholds'and instruction/authorization levels, the principles for appointing outside consultants, the

principles and methods for monitoring expenses relating to each'operation or projéctand, for executing

transactions, the relationship ‘with the division's AFO: (Authoruauon for ‘Financial. Opgrduon)

procedure ’ » . . : }

. . ' i

2 The Group distinguishes between three? types of merger, acqmsmon and disposal project;

e projectsithat are strategic for the Group, involving investnents- of over-€100m, qualified as <uch by =

.the Management Board (which aets’as the prmcxpal and. dmgmtes the prolect manager) and for

, which the M&A Division handles execution ~ ‘

» projects that are important for the sector in which the prmapal is:the Senior Exacume \’1ce Presldun )

in charge ‘of the sector concerned or his/her. deputy; and in whlch 1he M&A Dlvmon is the project

manager, réporting to the Management Board

e minor projects, involving investments-of less than €12m, in Wthh the sector and the: M&A Division

- work together in the best interests of the Group: - - =
s ¥

Once the eperation is comp!etcd, a review-is‘carried‘out m colhbontmn with the (,roup Mana}gemem
Comrol Division. : ‘ !

i

3.10. Internal control procedures for pu__rchasing at Group level

In line wnh the Group's governance strategy and withits manddtg from Group com pamts 10 make bulk
purchases; Arcelor Purchasing applies an internal control policy at several levels:
ot controls ils processes via internal and external audits taking place annually and Loncermnq four

areas: suppliers, processes, contracts and systems;, based-on standardized reference systems.

i 1%
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= It is involved in improvement action plans, partculafly those regqrdmg the security of sensitive
information and the risk of inventory shortages, two, MAjor. risks |dem|fwd by the Management Board.
Risk management policies-(hedging, multi- year contracts) adopted b§/ the Management Board were
applied threugh purchasing contracts negotiated in-2605. - .

o It applies Arcelor's terms of purchase for goods, services and mvu.tments

» It reports regularly to the'Management Board and principals on the results of the purchasmg amvny
via a single and shared database. .

<1t is involved in the definition and apphamon of actions connecte(l to the I'rance s LSF (ﬁnancal secuntv act).

This internal control is dounnmted inaseries of prouduras that detarmmc rules for calculaung resuhs,
authorizations and signing powers and management.of commcm drawn up in-close co-opermon with
{ ,

the Group's Jeaa and Managemenl Control Dmsxons : : g

k
The effective apphcauon and ‘management of this internal control pohcy was recognized in:May 2004
by the granting of the ISO 9001 VZOOO and TS 16949 certifications; and conﬁrmed b) a follow “up audn ‘

>k
in june 2005. ;

t
3.11. Internal control Drocedures for mformatlon svstem

Arcelor's information’ systems are “subject to- govem’mce riiles demgmd o ensure ful comrol of
information system investments, their alighment with the ‘strategies’ of the Croup s dxffumt lines. of

* business and with the. general opermonal directives governmg mformmon systems.

Good governance is achieved as foliows

s A business owner authorized:to decide-on' investments is'cl earlv deﬁne i

» Investment and project steering. comimitiees, are empowued 1o launch and monitor large pro;eus,
“with validation by the entity, sector, or Gmup (forprolects of over€om
take into account the legal requirements; the  project’s comphame with businessline and
information-systems strategies, its costeffectivetiess, the quality gams expected, -progress. with
programmes, the-risks linked to the ptolect and the potenual nsks entalled by failing to undertake the -
project. ,

s Qverall control of all the Q]oups 1S budgels is camed out via a’'net work of lnformauon bystem

. experts (Chlef Information Officers;. Information . Syster Managus ‘and. Business Leaders) who'
operate in the relevant:business line and are responmble forthe requests made to the i mgmvanons .

+ Shared methods for-designing information systems are adopled i :

s Processes and rules are used 10 ensure the secunty of 1he mformatlon sxs*temb

The aim of these governance ‘rules is. to hirmom/e and standardwe workmg practlces through the
adoption ofmdustr) best pramces and-standards! . : .[

‘ , .
In the area of IS/I1 security, annual self- 1sseesmem§ ofcomplnnre v\nh security policies are carried out
in order to evaluate the implementation of baseline security by all (Jroup 18 divisions. To complement
these annual seif-assessments, on-site security reviews, are conducted in collaboration with Business
Risk Control. These reviews tackle logical access controls, network secuntv, vulnerability manqgemenl,
data backups, intrusive codes {viruses, etc.).and business conununy [Réviews are also performed by
external auditors. ’ i ‘ -

Alongside these security pohoes wi hxch mainly concern the Group’ sE 1S/1T divisions and practices, a
charter specifying proper use of IT resources.aimed at end-users inside and outside the GroGp has been
drawn up with the Legal, IT, Labour Law and Human Resources dmslons

As regards software applications, the Group's financial and reporting consohdauon is carried out using.
a single software package. Ongoing convergence studies will be cqmed out with- the aim of simplifying
and reducing the number of systems used in the years to come.

i
{
;
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3.12. Internal control procedures in health and safety

The CEQ is in charge of health and safety matters, and chairs a Health and Safely btrateglc (,ommmee
comprising all:members of the Mamgtment Board. S Sk

Thls cominittee meets twice per year. The plan of action for the year ahead is detemuned in the dutumn
meeting. This plan is widely circulated and sets guidelines for the HE"lhh and Safety Dmsxon
throughout the year. 5 o

Monthly reports are drawn up and presented to the Managemem Board. These repons set out qafuv
results in terms of aceident frequency and severity, along with distribution and trends by sector; ﬂenouﬂ
acdidents occuirring on Arcelor sites; affecting both Group and subcomractor employeeq are momtored
and analyzed individually; including the amounts of claims submitted to insurarice firms.-- 1 ..
Serious and recurring accidents. are reported to the Management Boald Preqemauom of this
information regularly feature on the agenda-of the Board of Ditectors; - = : ‘{ k

Fach vear, the CEO visits site§"in- order to look into thelr health and stfetv issties: Afler a focus on.

. industrial safety and rehablhty 2004, the emphams in 2005 was.on health md occup:monal 1Unesses~ .

.- Reports are also sent to staff representative bodies, in particular to the members of the Europeazr \'orl\s-\
L Councxl and a special sessmn ch"ured by the CEQ is. devozed to these reports dunng plenary meetmgs

Safety monitoring operations are organued throughout the year: - :
¢ All serious. incidents and accidents are reported. immediately, through e*(penence feedback (th)
IepOIts.

- » Each health and safety commlttee (Slfetv Industrial. Safety, -Health - in Lhe Workphcc, Product

Security) is chaired by ‘a.Vice-President and meets at least three “times ‘a, yéar. Each commlme
comprises representatives of vatious countries and sectors. Ongomg actions are monitored and fiew
proposals are discussed. ’

o The specific investmentplan concerning industrial safety. (Lspeually ﬁre protectlon) is Vahdated by
the Management Board and monitored on 4 monthly basis by the Industrial Safety Vue—l’resldent in
close liaison with the Insurance Division. The Vice-President oversees the; industrial safety; audits -

carried out by both the auditors and. the authorized representatives of the'insurance firms. |

e The Safety Vice-President organwes and monitors internal auditscarr 1ed outonithe sites. . |
- Annual industrial safety, audlts of producnon sites- are orgmwed iy cc)n}unmon “with the {Group;

Insurance Division. ; . . .

© 15 2005, the action plan launched: at the Bilbao }Imlth and Slfety Comenuon was 1mpl mented lhe
plan’s progress was reported torthe Management Board and the [uropaan Works (‘ounul i

'
t

‘The Business Risk Control (BR() function Cvaluates the relevance of’ mtemal comrol procedures and
compliance with these procedutes: . . i

BRC's mission is 10 pmvide independent and objective assistance o-Operational staff in. RdUCiI!lg their
risks through the development of risk management and internal control procedures. In this context,
BRC evaluates the relevance and effectiveness of the risk management system to-determine whether the
controls carried out by mdnagement and operational staff provide reasonable assurance that the
objectives of the Group will be met. :
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-5.1. BRC risk management activities

BRC's duties and processes are based on comipliance. with thé International Standards for the
Professional Practice of Internal Audits and the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Internal
Auditors (I1A). k } :
BRC applies a single methodology and policy to the whole Group; and ;its activity is carried out on the
basis of an annual BRC plan approved by the Management Board: ar;ld submitted to the Board of
Directors' Audit Committee, both of which monitor implementation: | :

The Group BRC Division is answerable to the Management Board and the Board of Directors” Audit
Committee for the entire process. It repoits:directly to the CEO.and is assisted in its tasks by four BRC
mariagers in the operating sectors, with whom it hds very strong furictional links. ‘

i
|

5. Business Risk Control operating procedures .
The application of the Business ‘Risk ‘Control {(BRC) proéess, whjcﬁ covers riék monitc‘)\r’i\ng; and
rhartagerment as well as internal audits can'be stimmarized as follows. . PRI .

As regards'risk:-management, BRC's mission'1s to develop-an Enterprise[Risk Managementtype process
that is‘integrated into the organization and executed by operational management. o
This:process covers: n Do | T

o the identification of future events that may have an impact on Arcelor's ebjectives:

s assessments of related risks and opportunities K S S .
» decisions regarding risk control measures'to be adopted. in-order to' n§aintai11 the desired level of risk

o regular monitoring of the system !

Through -its Risk Management Developmmient urit, BRC helps manhagers: 1o formalize theit risk

_management approach, integrating it into their day-to-day. managementoperations in.a fully trafisparent

manmer, BRC offers assistance i identifying high-risk areas-and provides operational staff with a'set of

“effective internal control practices. Via itg‘internal audit activities, it also.ensures that these:practices are
“appliedand periodically gives management an indeperident opinion on the global level of sisk-control.

“BRC usé.sq detailed risk map called “Risk Universe’; which maps lf)O types of rriskc“ovgriﬁg all of
. ~Arcelor's” activities. This risk- map is aurrently: being . revised.. Major. risks relating 10, strategy,

" corporate lével and by the business units and sites: , a

managerrent, operations, finances and external” everits are now identified and managed both at

{ T

Af the business unit level, BRC has since 2002 set ﬁp a series of initiatives to assist line managers in risk
management, principally by initiating the tisk apping of business units. :

o

Major risk ' maps are drawn up, based mainly. on reporting-through v}orksbops, individual interviews
and self-assessmerits. These risk maps arexsed to determine action plans and schedules; before being
-discussed and approved hy the management-bodies of the business unh concermned, and are used as the
basis for.the Group's risk map. S i ‘ !

The head of BRC discusses the risk management process and the related risk maps with members of the
Audit Comimittee. ' ( | >

-




5.2. BRC intemkl_' audit activities

‘The implementation of the BRC process in the business units is addpled as far as possible to the spec;ﬁc .

nature of their organization, while complying with independence constraints and the BRC charter: The

. internal audit activity is based.on a single annual Group Audit Plan drawn up by the head of BRC and

a procedure that takesthe following facters into account:
s analysis and conclusions-of risk mapping results

analysis of key pgrformanca indicators _ ,
results of previous internal audits ) el
requests fiom.the Managemem Bodrd and heads of bLlSlﬁtSS units ‘ RECA AR
experience of intemal:auditors - L s
1demlﬁcauon of speaﬁc needs via interviews with tuncuouai and Ime mmagers

1
f
{
i

s 0 & & ©

The Audit PIan aims16:cover the intemal control of the Group s Main processes over a three vear pmod
The proposed annual Audit.Plan is submitted for approval to-the ‘vianagemem Board and the Board of
Directors’ Audlt Commmee : I :

Audits carried-olit durmg the vear are mostiv based on the initial annual audlt plan However, thxs planl
is reviewed and’ modmed with the approval ‘of the Mmagcmem Board-and the Audit C ommmee in the'
light of- audit results, speaﬁc requests (ad hoe and/or emergency audits) or changes in.risk assesamenm _
Audits are summarized: in reports distributed to-audited entities and -their managers The aim of the
recommendauons is-to: lmplove usk managemmz by proposmg best: pracnce:. in mlemal comrol and
to add value thereby. - v : ot (
There are swe_ral types of audit; S o SRR

= Audits of emmcs evaluation of internal controls. concemmg the hrgest rlsl\q and the most exposed

processes. - :

s Audits of processés: cva]uanon of intermat controls concemlng, the pnnc1p1l xdemlﬁed mks
= Ad hoc audits: at the'special request of management andfor emergency audits. :
* Maonitoring audits: audmng the Jmplementatlcm of previous audxt recommendauom

Audits may be carried out at different levels, i.e. at thie Group; region: or business unit kvd » ’
BRC reports-to 1he Mmagement Bozud every quarter as mgards progress and thc m"xm problems :
encountered;: , » , ‘ '

The head of BR(“ xepons to 1he Audit Qommmae on malor dxscrepanaes dlscovered duying mtemai
audits, on the resoutcesused by BRC and on the progress ofthe Audit Plan-during sessions of 1he Audn
Committe¢ dedicated to’ revmmng BRC activities. « '
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Consolidated financial statements of the Group

Consolidated income statement

In EUR million
REVENUE {NOTE 27)
Other operating income
" Own work capitalised ;
Cost of raw materials-and merchandxse
Other external expenses
Staff costs (note 21)
Depreciation and amortisation expenses
Depreciation and amortisation:of negative goodwill
Other operating expenses -
OPERATING RESULT
Net financing.costs: (note 22}

cE L " Share of profit in coimpanies accounted: for usmg the equnv method, .
’“ PROFIT BEFORE TAX ™~ ‘ g

“Tax.expense {note 23). . T Cn -
PROFIT FORTHEYEAR™ =~ = “ o ‘ 2,693
‘Net profit - Groupishare, . Un o o T i , { 2,290
Net profit - Minority interests’ R e 432 403
Earnings per shave in {UH (m}te M) S ; . B :
Basic i o e RS S o 421

Diluted .0 Lo L ; . . 380

. (*) To fac cilkirate mmumg,ul year - oni=vear cmnpdmons 2()04 figures: havc been ddxucmi ta.a untfor reu\ised';and ﬁéwly_;{mmduged
IERS qandard\ («ee note 1} - : : :




() (Wl =

‘ - -"

Non-current assets
_Intangible assets (note 4)

‘Investments accounted for using the equity method {note 6)

. “Equity. attributable to equity holders of tie parent (nole 13); .

" TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS" EQUITY

Consolidated balance sheet

B Assors

In EUR million, at 31 December

11,230
1 478 , 1,366

Property, plant and equipment (hote w}

Other investiments and financial assets available fot sale (note 7)
Receivables and other financial assets (note 8) L : ‘ : 684 1
- Deférred tax assets (note 23) el L 2 1,300 .-
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS : ‘ . L 18,196 15,265
Current assets: g : 3 K o
Inventories {note 9) 6,301
Trade receivables (note.10) 3,757
Tax credits : 126
Other receivables (note: 11) 1,246
Cash and cash equivalénts-(note, 12) 4,043
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS. 15,973
TOTA.L ASSETS 31,238

() 70 ﬂumram meanmgfu? year --vm.- year (ompanwns 2004 ﬁgures have bean ad]uwtcd m acvount for reaxsed und neul) mrm(lucrd
1FRS mzmlurds {se¢ note-1). ; 35

B Equity and fabilities

1t EUR million, ‘at 31 December
Shareholders” equity

_3199

Subscribed: capital 5

Share premium 5397 +
Consolidated reserves 2,619
Translation reserve, 403 7

10,812

Minority interests. (note 15)

Non-current:liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities (notg 16)
Employee benefits (note 17)

Provisions for tenmination benefits (note 18)
Other long-term provisions (note 19)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 23)

Other liabilities

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

8,624

Trade payables 4,997
Interest-bearing liabilities (note 16) 2,293
Tax payable 340
Other amounts payable (note 20) 2,508
Provisions for termination benefits (note 18) 50
Other provisions: (note 19) 199
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 10,387
TOTAL BEQUITY AND LIABILITIES 31,238

(*) T facilitaie meaningful year - on - pear comparisons, 2004 figures have berm adfusted (o account Jor rey /wd rmd newly ﬂumzlucvd’
IFRS ammiarrk (see note 1),

R
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Finaretal and Whorsation

Consolidated financial statements af the Group

Consolidated cash flow statement

In EUR million
Operating activities:

Profit for the year after tax

Profit of companies acc ounted for using the equity method
net of dividends>

Amortisation and,depfédauon

Net movement in provisions

Net profit on disposal’ of assets.
Dividends received

Changes in working capltal
Other items.

CASH FLOWS FROM OPFRA’I'IN(, / UHVITIFS **

Investing activities:

Acquisition’ of tangible and mtdngxble assets

Acquisition of subsidiaty comparies; fiet of cash acqmred (note 3)
Acquisitiooffinancial fixed assets.. i

Disposal of 1angible and mtang,lble assets

Disposal of subsidiary companies; net of msh dlsposed of (note 3).
l)wposa] of financial fixed dssets
CASH FLOWS FROM INVES'HNG ACT IVIT[ES

Financing activities

. Capital increase of Arcelor S.A:
Other.net contributions to slmreho}der‘s equm
Dividends paid*:

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of borrowings:

Repayment-of pension funds

Repurchase of4.56% minority interest in Aceralia
CASH ELOWS FROM:EINANCING ACTIVITIES

Effect of exchange ratefluctuations on.cashi held
NEDINCREASEAN CASH AND-CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING
T OFTHE YEAR: ’
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT& AT THE END:OF THE YLAR

()b fucilitate e mw}aful year!- ot ;ear comparisons, 2004 figures have been adjusted 1o an OUnL fnr revised an.rl rwwl; mrmrluced
TERS standards (see note:1).
(P Inghuding taxes; patd i an: amount of EUR 405 miilicn (2003: AUR 199 million) and nez interest ;uud in an amount
of BUR 107 m:l’mn (‘0()4 I:UR 151 mxllwn) : .

i
H

Co
b

The accompanying riotes form an intégral part of these consolidated finuncial Statements:

¥
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Consolidated statement of changes

in shareholders’ equity

© I EUR jmiflion '«

31 December 2003 2,665 4,795 -751 - 332 308 730 7,463 -
First time adoption of IFRS 3 - - - - 686 - 686 - 686
First time adoption ‘ B
of IAS 32 revised - - - - -70 -70 - =70
1-January 2004 2,665 4,795 -751 - - 948 -308 7,349 730 8,079 !
PROFIT AND LOSS ‘ ' : Lo
Profit for the year 2004 - :
published - - - - 2,314 - 2.314 403 2,717 =
Adjustment - .

. share-based payments - - - -3 3 - -3
CGonversion option :
Q.CEANE 2017 - - -21 - -21 - =21
Profit for the year 2004 - [ :
adjusted - - - 2,290 - 2,290 403, 2,693
Cash flow hedging - - - 28 - - 28 28
Foreign exchange differences - - - - - -95 95 -64 -159

U DISTRIBUTIONS AND TRANSACHONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS R o ' g s
Dividends paid - - - - - -192 - -192: -57 -249
{ncrease in share capital ] 534 602 - - 1,136 1,136
Acquisition of CST and Acindar )
(riote 13.6) - - - 158 158 23 18]
Cost of eqtlityusetded

- share-based payments - - - - 4 4 - 4
Utilisation of and profit
on the sale of own shares - 387 - 387. 4 39}
Other adjustments - - - - 42 - 42 - -42

" Acquisitions-and repurchase. . :

ol minority interests - - - 21 -1 376 65
", -3¥iDecember 2004 3,199 5,397 -364 28 - 2,955 -403 10,812 1,415 12,227
< PROFIT AND LOSS ’ ’ o Tl g s R T
Profit for the year 2005 - - - 3846 3,846 432 4278 .
Cash flow hedging - - 75 - - 75 - 75

. Securities available for sale (note /) - - 24 - - 24 - 24
Foreign exchiange differences - - - - - 552 552 236 788
DISTRIBUTIONS AND TRANSAUTIONS WIH'HL SHARE HOLDERS e ; I o ;
Pividends paid - - -399 Co- -399° -161 -560
A(quxsnmn of Acesita (note 13.6) - - - - 42 ' 42 - 42

- of equity-settled. .
share-based payments - - - - 4: - 4
Utilisation of and profit
on the sale of own shares - 97 - - - 97 - 97
»’\cqulsmons and repuxdmsu
of minority interests - - - -

. Other«adjusbf}géhts - - - 56 - 56

31 December 2005 . o 103 g 6497 o149 15,109
{
41
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Notes to the consolidated financial Statem!ems

Ambwtts in EUR million, unless otherwise stated

143

146

160
163

L Note't - (Jemral

164 .

166 .
167

168
169

169
170

“170
170
172

173

Nore I? C”mh and: msh eqmvalenm

Note 1

Note 17 = Employee benefits

Now 2= Accoummg polloes
Noe 3 - Consolidation scope:
Note 4 - Intangible assets

Note 5~ Property, plant dﬂd eqmpment

Nowe 6.+ Imestmmts in compames 1ccounted for using the equmf method
Note 7 Other investments and ﬁnancml agsets avzu ab}e for sale

: Naz §= Recewab es and other f'mancml assets

.a\’ote 9% Inventories
Note 10 - Trade receivables.

1 - Other recewﬁbles

Note 13~ B qult\*

" Note' 14.— Earnings: per sl hare-

5,~ Minority interests in equity
Neie 16'= Interest-beaning liabilities .
Note 18— Provisions for termination benef‘ 13

Note 192 € Other provisions

SiNotg 26 Other amounts pavabk

Nowe' 28+ Staff costs

“Note 2 2. tfmancmg com
Notw 23 laxauon : ‘
Neote 2% = Related party disclosure

Note 25 - l"manaal msu—umama and denvanves

' Note 26 - Commitments ngen-and recclved

Note 27 - Segment reporting

 Note 28 - Post-balance sheet'events -

Note' 29 - Emission rights
Note 3¢ - Simplified Group organisation:chart

Note 31 ~ Listing of Group companies at 31 Décember 2005

sl
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Notes to ‘ihe consehdated ﬁnancazﬂ Sta’iemems

I’ursuam w0 the Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of 19 ]ulv 2002 the consohdaud ﬁnancxdl stalements
of the Arcelor Group for the year ended 31 Decemnber 2005 are prepared -in accordance with.
International Finandial Reporting Standards (“IFRS"), as adopted by the huxopean Umon on:31 December
2005.

The exclusion of certam provmons relating to hedgc accoummg, pursuam to the 1d0pnon of]A‘% 39 hy
the European Umon, has no impact on the Group’s consohdattd ﬁnanual statements. :

{
i
4
3
i

- Note 1 Y-,'G'eneml

B I

Arcelor b A was mcorporated under Luxembourg Law o8 lune 2001 as’ part of the proposed bmmeqs '
combmatlon of Acelaha, Arbed and Usinor, whicly was compleled on 28.F ebmary 2002

The consohdated ﬁnancnl statements at 31 December 2005 presem the ﬁnancml posmon of the
Company. and: of its subsidiaries (hereafter “the ‘Group”), as: well as the mterests of the Group m
aqsocnted comp‘mxes and ]omtl) contro lled enuues <

e
g

The Board of Dlrectors approxed the consolidated ﬁnancxal stitemems at and for’ the vear ended ’31 )
December 2005 on: 15 February 2006 and authorised the publication:of said consohdated tmanoal'
statements on 17 March, 2006 These financial tatemems wﬂ! notbe; fmal until approved at the Annual
General \Aeetmg of Qhﬂreholderq : O i ‘

The (omohd"ned ﬁnannal staternents have been’ pre ared An ancordmce with TERS, as 2 >pted by
the European tnion. This implies that the Group makes some estimates and assumptions havmg, :
an impact on‘the balanice-sheet and on the incorne statement for the period. Changes:in’ f'ms and
circumstances-may lead the Group to change these estimates. ... "0 " R I

Due to the iAtrodiction: of TERS 2 (E qmty settkd share based’ ayment: transactions); as: 'wellﬁ as:thes
revision of 'IAQ 32+ (Fmancmj instriments: dlsdosurc and presentanon) ‘the ‘Group? [t_S[a[td ‘the
comparative ﬁguras gni share option plans (note 134} and on 0.0
of the ad]Llstemems on the (xroup s ”OO’L ﬂmncnal statmuems are asifollows:

H
!
§
i

E2017 (note 16] 'Ihe effects. :
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

‘Consolidated Income Statement

In-EUR million

;
~i
1
;

REVENUE (NOTE 27} 30,176 | - - - 30,176
Otheér operating income ~ .~ . 437 ¢ - - - 437
Own work capitalized and increase
or.decrease in finished and unfinished goods 515 ; - - - 515
Cost of raw materidls and merchandise 14,759 ¢ - - - -14,759
Other external expenses g -6,337 - - - -6,337
Staff costs (note 21y~ 7 : 4,868 ¢ -4 - 124 4,748
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 21,225 ¢ - - - -1,225
Depreciation and amortisation of goodwill 78 - - - - 78
Other operating expenses -823 ; - - -823
- OPERATING RESULT : 3,194 -4 - 124 3,314
Net finaiicing costs (note, 22} - -367 - -30 -124 -521
Share of profit in companies accounted
forusing the'equity method-. 413 | - - - 413
PROFIT BEFORE TAX - ‘ 3,240 -4 -30 - 3,206
Tax expense (note 23). . 50 -523 ¢ 1 9 - -513
PROFIT-FOR THE YEAR " 2,717 -3 -21 - 2,693
Netprofit - Group-share. .~ - - 2,314 -3 -21 - 2,290
Net profit - Minority‘ifiterésts 403 - - 403
‘Earnings per sharedn EUR (note 14} )
© Basic- | - . 4.26 - 0.05 - 4.21
 Diluted 3.83 - - 3.50
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Consolidated balance sheet S | o

B Assets
In EUR miilion-
Non-current assets

i
I3
H
i
3
i

157

Equity gnd labilities
[ EUR million
Sharehaolders’ equity -

Intangible assets (note 4) - - 157 - -
Property, plant and equipment (note 5) 11,230 - 11,230
Investments accounted for using the equity method ( note 6) ] 1,366 - - 1,366
Other investments and financial assets. ~ 7 i :
available for sale (note,7) : 528 - - 528
Receivables and. other financial assets (note 8) = 684 - - 684
Déferred tax asséts (note 23).. L o 1,284 1 15 1,300
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS . 15,249 1 15 15,265
Current assets ‘ R i
Inventories {note. 9y 6,801 - - 6,801
Trade-recéivables {note 10} . : ‘ K 3,757 - 3,757
Taxcredits:: .07 ‘ R ) 126 - 126
Other.receivables{note 11) e [ 1,246 - - 1,246
- Cash .and: cash-equivalentsy(note 12) » 4,043 - - 4,043
TOTAL . CURRENT ASSETS- ) ] S 15,973 - - 15,973
TOTALASSELS e ' R 31,222 1 15 31,236 -

“Subscribed capital - . ) 3,199 ‘ -

3,199
Share premium. -« ) ) 5,397 - 5,397
Consolidated reserves . . ) 2,709 1 -91 2,619
Translationresetve . : -403 - - -403
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent (note 13} 10,902 1 -91 10,812
Minority inlerests’(note 15) . : 1,415 - - 1,415
TOTAL; SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY . . ) . 12,317 1 -91 12,227
Nowicurrent-labilities : S e : : Tk . )
Interést-bearing liabilities (note 16). - : " . 4,348 130 ¢ 4,478
Employee beénefits'(note, 17) 1,652 - - 1,652
Provisions for termination benefits (note 18). .- . 887 - - 837
Other long-term provisionsi(note 19) S 920 - 920
Deferred tax liabilities {note 2%) 629 - -24 605
Other liabilities §2 - - 82
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 8,518 - 106 8,624
Current Labiities g . ' . : . :
Trade payables ' : - 4,997 - - 4,997
Interest-bearing liabilities (note 16) : L 2,293 - 2,293
Tak payable e 340 - 340
Other. amounis payable (note 20) 2,508 - - 2,508
Provisions for termination benefits {note 18} L 50 50
Other provisions (note 19) 199 - 199
TOTAL CHRRENT LIABILITIES ) 10,387 - - 10,387
TOTAL BQUITY AND LIABILITIES 31,222 b 13 31,238

The related notes have beenr amended in order o reflect the restaternents.
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Notes to thé c(mson(hted financial statements i

Note 2 - Accounting policies

1 Statement of complihn'ce‘

The conseclidated fi nancnl statements are prepaxed in accordance w1th 1memauonal standards on
financial information or “Imem:monal Financial Repomng Standards“ ("IF RS ) as adopted by the
‘urop(‘an Umon o o :’ pOREES .

2. Presentation of the consolidated

The consolidated ﬁnancril statements are prepared in euro ( I'UR") rounded o) the nearest million: -

The consolidated financial statenients, of the Group are prepared: on the baS)s «of the. historical cost ..
‘i convention with the exception of the following assets and Habilities whlch are stated at their fair valies: :i
"¢ derivative financial, insturaents, investments held for trading md mvestmemq avuhhie forsale:.

Hedged-assets and lmblhues are: stated at [hEIJ’ fair value with: respect to the rxsks hedged ) :

S Assetsintended to-be chsposed of or consumed during the (,roup 5 normal course of s operauom, assels’ 7
: held with a view to being sold.in, the. twel&e months followingthe vedr~end date .as well as cash and .~ 7
cash -equivalents are’ comldelcd curtent. All” other’ assets. are: con<;1dered nonzourrent.  Liabilities ¥
falling “due during -the Group's normal <course of. operations,; of .inthe twelve months
following the year: end date, are comxdered current. All other. habllmes are u)nSldered non- current -

Subsidiaries : CE L i

Subsidiaries are companiés ccntrolled by the Group. Control uusts when the Group’ has dxrea or md1rect .
comrol over the financial:and operating policies of a company, 56 as to/obtain:benefits demcd fromyis’
~activities, Control.is generally assumed where the Group holds more than Half of the voung nghts S

The hmncml staternents of sxgmﬁc(m( subsidiaries are mduded in the consohdmed fmancxal statemems;. ’
from the date when effective conitrol starts-until the date when effecnv control endc :

Investmems in non- Sngﬁcant subbldldms are recorded as non- current dSSGlS at Lhelr fair value, Cams
and losses resulting from. 1h1'; valuation procedure are recorded in the' income staternent,

s,

Associated mmp;mie’«z

Associated companies are mmpames in which the Group has a qxgmhcam mﬂuencc but no control,.
. aver the financial and opefating policies. Significant influence is oenerallv asaumed where the Group, “
) holds at least 20% or more ofthe voting nghts : o

The financial staterments of assocxated companies are included in the con%ohdated fi nancnl statements’ |
using the equity method, aacordmg to which the Group records 1[5 share in the net assets of the
associated company in its balanee sheet from the date when sxcmﬁcant influence starts until the date
when significant influence ends.

i

P




()

)

{

-

- control ends.

are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in siich.companies or entities, against the investment

4. Business combinations L ' S RN

ointly controlled entities

i

Jointdy controlled entities are companies over whose: activities the Group has joint control under
contractual agreement. ] ! i i '

The financial statements of jointly controlled entities are _incvll’ided‘iin‘ the consolidated financial siatejmems
using the equity method, according to which the Group records its share in the net assets of the jointly
controlled entity in its balance sheet from the date: when joint control starts uniil the date when joint

Transactions eliminated through consolidation. PR o S

Intra-group balances and transactions, as well as unrealised gains resiilting from intra-group transactions, .

“are eliminated in the preparation of the consolidated findncial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are only . eliminated 1o’ the extent that there is no indication of s

impairment.; o

Unrealised gains resulting from transactions: with-assoc¢iated com paﬁies and jointly controlled entities

amount of the associated company orjointly controlled entity, Unrealised losses are only eliminated
{0 the extent that there is no indication of impairment. . - . ‘

i

i
i

at 31 December 2005, is.shown'in note 31.

i
i
H

Goodwill ' el : Lo i

Acpositive difference between the cost of 4n acquisitioniand; the acquirer's interest in the fair value of the:'
identifiable assets, ‘liabilities of. ‘contingent Jiabilities acquired,is accouinted for as:goodwilli and 187,

- reported- as an asset.” Goodwill balances are considéred at each financial reporting date.in o;rder 10
- identify a-possible impairment (see paragraph: 8 regarding the depreciation of assets). i

1

A negative difference bétween the cost of an acquisition and the acquiter's interest in the fair valueofthe;

identifiable assets, liabilities of contingent liabilities {negative go’odwill) acquired, is taken directly toithe
income statement-for the period. V L ’ '

Stepped acquisitions SRR .

When an acquisition is completed by a series of successive {rafisactions, each significant transaction is; :
considered individually for the purpose of the determination of the faifvalue of the identifiable assets;
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired and hence forthe goodwill associated with the acquisition;

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired can'vary at the date of each transaction.
When a transaction results in taking control over the entity, the interests previously held in that entity are
revalued on the basis of the fair values of the identifiable; assets and labilities at that date. The contra
posting for this revaluation is recorded directly in shareholders! equity. :

A complete listing of the'main subsidiaries and the ¢cormpanies accotinted for using the equ.ity}melhbd, S e
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1
i

Subsequent purchases, after'the'Group has obtained control, are treated as dcquisition of shares from
minority shareholders: the identifiable ‘assets. and liabilities of the entity are not subject to a further

revaluation and the positive or negative difference between the cost of such subsequent acquisitions and .
corded directly in shareholders’

the net value of the additional proportion of the companty acquired is T
equity. 5 ‘ =

Minority interest

The interests of minotity shareholders are recorded on the basis of their proportionate interest:in the net

value of the entity acquired. -

5. Foreign currency translation .

Transactions in .f();_'eign‘ currencies

Transactions denominated in-foréign currencies are converted to EUR at the foreign exchange rateuling
at the date of the'transaction:: v S ‘ = ~

" Monetaryassets andliabilities-denominated in foreign carrendies atthe balance sheet date arg converted: i

at the foreign exchiange rat¢ ruling at/that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on conversion are .,

recognised in the incdme statement.

Non-monetary assets and habilitiés denominated in foreign currendies, recorded at historicdl cost, are
converted at the foreign exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction. i
: : o
. v Do ) . o~ 3 ;
Financial statements dénominated inforeign currencies ;

Assets and liabilities denominatedin foreign currencies, including goodwill and fair value adjustments

arising on consolidation; are converted to EUR at'the foreign exchange rate ruling at'the balance sheet’
date. The reventues and expenses of foreign-currency Operations afe convetted to EUR at the average rate-+
calculated forithe period: Foreigh exchange differences arising.on conversion ‘aré recognised- directly in -

v

shareholders! equity..

6. Intangible assets
i

Research and development

Expenditure on- research - activities, uhdertaken with a view 1o acquire new scientific or ‘technical
knowlédge and understanding, is recognised in the income statement as incurred, ’

: ) i - .
Expenditure on development activities, where research findings are app}ied forthe production of néw or
substantially improved products and processes; is capitalised if the product or the process.is:considered
to be technically and commercially viable:and the Group has sufficient resources to-complete the
development programme. . ) ' - )

N
<x
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Othet intangible assets.

¢ impairment logses. Expenditure on internally generated goodwill is recognised in-the income sta

Subsequent expenditure on-intangible assets is capitalised ‘onty when it ‘increases the fiture’eco

- “asset in‘a reliable manner, Al other expenditure is recognised as.an expense when incu'rré@

The. expendim}e thus capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour.costs and an app}dpriate
proportion of overheads; = : ~

Capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Other development expenditure is recognised ini the inicome statement as incurred. i

H
o
i

Other intangible assets, acquired by the Group, are;stated 4t cost:less accumulated amorﬂséﬁ
when'incurred: -

Intangible assets other than goodwill primarily include the:cost of technology and licences piirchased
from: third parties. These intangible assets are amortised on a sttaight-line basis over a maximum:pericd
of five years. * = . ' " (R v L

Subsequent expenditure

benefits of the specific asset to which it relates and when this cost can be:measured and attributed to the

Amortisation . - SR T o s
Amortisation is Tecognised as an expense on a stfaight-line basis-over the estimated useful lives of
intangible assets: i s S

The estimated useful lives are as follows:
» Patents.and tradernarks: 5 years
« Capitalised development costs: 5 years

7. P:r‘opemmg(la’nt‘ and equipment

Property, plantand equipment are stated at cost less accurmuilated ‘depreciation and impairment losses,
The cost of an. asset created by the Group includes the cost of materials, direct labour costs’and. an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Borrowing costs on leans used to finance the c011stru&ftiorl of
property, plant and équipment are capitalised as pagt of the cost of the asset.until such: time-that:the
assel s ready for its inténded use. L ; ;

Property, plant and-equipment are subsequently stated at cost less accumulated deprecidtion less any
impairment Josses:- ) : . i :
Where a tangible fixed asset comprises major components having differént viseful lives, these components

are accounted for as separate items. ' ¥ : , ;

i

oy B
The cost of the periodic relining of blast fumnaces is capitalised and depreciated oOver the expected |
production period. : ;

Maintenance and repair costs are recognised as expenses il the period in which they are incurr;ed;
c

|
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Nates 1o the mnso.ldated financial statements

Di?pr?uatmi} : REREE S N e - R N

“:Olher

Government grants that assist the Group in the acquisition of properry plant and-equipment are
deducted from the carrying amount of the related asset and released. to the income slatemem ona
straight-line basis over the expected useful life of the associated asset..

!
H
I
Subsequent expenditure i

Expenditure incurred in replacng or renewmg components of some 1tefn’s of property, plant and

~equipment is accoumed for as the acquisition of a separate asset and: thc réplaced asset is writteu oft.

Other subsequent expendnure on property plant and equipment is only recogmsed as an asset when

~ihe expenditure improves the condmon of 1he assel beyond its ongmally assgssed standard of -
performance

" All other subseqtient expwdlmre is recogmsed in the income stdtement asan expense in the period in

which it is mcuned - ' EERE

g B il T

& S . . g

‘Deprecmmn is-accounted for asan: expeme on'a qtmghr lme bim over the eeumned useful lives of

property, plant and equipment. Land is-not deprecidted. R

I’ropertv plant and equipment acquned ‘before Iar\uary 1, 2001 are de )reciateﬂ over their:useful lives,

- which range ffom 12 10 20 years for buildings and industrial mstal anons and from 5 to 12 years for

other property, plant and. equlpmem

3 b e
For other propetty,.plant and cqmpmem (he estlmated usefu lives are ]as follows

Industrial buildings ) 25 yt ars 5 years

Technical tostallaions and machipery .. ; A ) S .

ot phase: -new capital expenditure . : - . 25 years * 15 years 25 years

Hot phase: renovation o - 15 vears . 10 years 15 years

Cold phase’ new capital erendlmre o 18 years : ) 18 years
Cold. phase: renovation . L 12 years ‘ 15 years

" 2 "Cold phase:. dnwnstrmm e T TR g 12 vears ; 12 years
i Tl 5 - 20 years

163868
Where the Group is the lessee. - S

Leases with respect to elgmﬁcam assets where the (Jroup assumes substanually all of the Tisks and
rewards-of ownership are classified a§'finance leases: Property, plabt.and equipment acquired by way
of finance leases are stated at an amount-equal 10 the lower of the fait value and the present value of
the minimum lease payments-at the inception of the fease. Eachrlease paymerit is allocated between the
finance charges and a reduiction of the lease liability. The interest element of the finance cost is-charged
to the income statement over the lease period so as to- achieve a constant rate of mtercst on the

remaining balance of the liability: . S
' |

The depreciation policy of capitalised leasLd assets is similar to that apphed 0. owned DIU[J&I[V, plant

and equipment. If there is no reasonable certainty that the lessee williobtain ownership at the end of

the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of its esumdted useful life or the lease term.




|

e e e

Where a significant-portion of the risks and reward'; of ownership are retained by the lessor leases are

classified as operating leases. Payments made under operatmg leases-are ruogmsed as.an prense in

the income statement of tbe period. ° . . : %,
; . il

Agreements containing a lease’

S|

i

In-accordance with 1FRIC 4, the same accoﬁming treatment applies 1o agreements that:do nottake the': -
legal form of a lease; but convey the right to-usea tanglhlc ﬁxed assetin return for a pavment ot eries. v

of payments.

8. ImDamnent of assets

4.7
!

i
2

The. carrying “amounts of the Group's assets, other th'm mventones, deferred tax assets, and‘asset'; o
related 1o employee benéfit plans, dre reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether: there

is any indication of impairment: G oodwill arising on the acquisition of companies s allocated 10; cash
genelaUng Units: which mav benehl from synergy ‘effects: related o the:acquisition..

If any’ such mdlcanon emsm for an asset;. or- for Lhe cash genelatmg unit to wnch 1t belongs, the L

rgcovuable amount is esnmate.d : o : : : R i

For |mang1ble assets that aré-not vet avallab]e for’ use, 1heu 1ec0\erable amount:is esnmated 't each: -

balance sheet date L

An xmpaxrment loss is recorded immediately where the Larrymg amountof an asset or:a cash gux _rdnno ’
unit exceeds itsirécoverable amount. Impairment Josses: are recognmed as an expeme in the income

statement:

alcuiaﬁ(m nf uwwmbl amount

The reLoverable amount of an asset is the higher, of it§ net sellm g price-and its valtie in‘use. In a'ééessing
its value in:use, the éstimated future cash flows aré“discotinted to their present, valtie using aipre:

discount'rate that reflects ‘current market 855(:‘55!1‘161115 of the time value of money and; the risks. specmc.« S

to-the asset. For-an asset:that does not generate cash mﬂows largelv independent of those from:other
assets; the recovexable atnountis determined: for the cash: generaung unit to which’ the assu belongs

T

i

lhe recowrable amount- of investrents in held-to-matutity securities and ru:enables is mlruhtcd B

as the present value of the expected future cash ﬂowsn discounted at the original effecme interest rate
inherent in the assett

3

Cash flows on short-term réceivables are not-discounted. SR

Reversal of an impaimmm loss Yool ‘ ’ o

An impairment loss recognised in prior years is reversed if, and only if, there has been'a change "
the estimates used 1o determine the asset’s recoverable.amount since the last impairment loss; was . |

recognised. However, the increased carrying amount of an‘asset due to'a reversal of an lmpalrmem loss
will not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of 1momqa jon of
depreciation); hdd no impairment loss been recognised for'the asset in prior years.

Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not reversed.
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*Tradé and other receivables are stated at cost less value adjustments forlosses. Vel

Other inventories™, 7 S R

9. Investments_in debt and equity securities S -  ‘ '

i

Tavestments: held for trading are classified as current assets- and are stated -at fair value, -with any-.", |

resulting gain.or loss being recognised in the income $tatement. Investmients with a fixed maturity date
after more than one year, that the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity, are.
included in non-current assets and are stated at amortised cost using the effective vield method less
impairmerit losses. 1 ' S

Other investments held by the' Group are-classified as being availab[é-'for-sale and are stated -at fait

value li*accordance Wilh TAS 39 revised applicable as 6f January. 1, 2005, any resulting gain or loss'is: . -
recogrised directly in shareholders’ equity. : et : ’ .

The fair value of investments held for trading and investments availablé-forsale is taken as.the quoted -
bid price at the balance sheet date. For unquoted securities, a value détermined from discounted: future
cash flows'is‘used. : : DR A ; : E

10. Tfadé and other receivables SRR e '

Inventories:

11

Constraction work in progresst _ S R LA T e

 Construction work in progress is stated at contract cost.increased by the related profit recognised to date less -

provisions for foreseeablelosses and progress billings. Cost includes all. expenditure directly related to the
projects-and an allocation of fixed and variable overheads inciirred in the Group's contract activities. &

;

“1

Raw materials'and. supplies are stated atthe lower of cost {using; eithér the average cost methodior the: - -
first-in-first.out method ) ot hettealisable value. Finished goods:and work-in-progress are stated atthey

i

lower of prodiction cost'or net realisable valise: ST i

o

Production cost ‘includes direct raw material. and labour ‘costs_and -a portion: of overhiead costs;
excluding general and administrative expenses. The market valug'of raw materials and other inveritories. -

is based on the net realisablevalue, including a provision.fot slow-mb‘;ving items where approprate, . - !

e . : RN
12. Cash and cash equivalents L e

Cash and cash equivalents iinclude cash and shoit term investments V\;fhh 4 maturity of less than three .

months from the acquisition date. Short term investnients.are valued at'market value at the end of each
period. S ' RS e

H
i
i
i




- equity under the caption lreqsury shares’, unil Lhev are cancelled:

16. Emoloveeabeﬁ_eﬁts o R L NG b

Repurchase of share_ca pital

When share capital is lepurchascd lhe amount of conS)derauon paid; mcludmg attributable costs, is

recognised as a change in equity: Repurchased / treasury shares ate deducted from total shareholders

)

Davtdends i o TS 3 e R j

Dividends are recorded as a hab:htv when they are approved by a genera| meetmg of shareho}dels
i

1

14. Convertible debenture loans

}
i

Debenture loans-conv emble into share capital at the optlon of the holder, where the number of shares

issued does not chiange with ﬂucm'mons in their fait value, ate 1ccoumed for as.compotind hmnaal - o
instruments, netof attnbutable uamamon costs. The equity compornient of the convemble debenture

loans is calculated as the excess of the issue proceeds over ‘the present value of-the fliture interest and
principal payments, discountediat the prevailing market rate for & similar liability that does not have

an associated equity. Lomponent ]he interest éxpense recogmsed inthe i iicorne statererit is calculated,

using the effective mtelest rate method.

15 Interest-bearing borrowmgs

-
Interest-bearing b()rrowmgs are recorded at mmal cost, lesq dlrect atmbut‘ible transaction costs. They

are then recorded at-amoitised cost with any difference between.amortised cost and redemptlon value:: -
being recognised in thie income statement over the period of.the borrowmgs on an effecme mteresL

basis.

Types of pension plans '

i

(o - . " . v M E ; ‘ i
Defined contribution plans - |
' : !

Defined contribution: plans are'those plans where the (Jroup pays fixed contributions to-an external life :
assurance or pension fund fotcertain categories of employees:s .Contributiois arepaid in return for .

services rendered by the employees during the period. They are (‘xpensed as they are incurred in line

with the treatment of wages and:salaries. No provisions are ‘established in respect of defined conmbuuon o

plans, as they do not genemte future commitments for t_he Croup »‘
within the Group, defined contribution plans exduswely relate 10 pension’ pians They are, pnmanly
additional pension plans.that serve to complement local legal pension scheimes in respect.of V\h)(‘h the
Group pays contributionsto socml organisations and which are‘accounted for in the same rnz?mler as

wages and salaries. . . |
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lnderlying calculations annually, using the projected unit credits method:!
“‘The ‘actuarial assumptions (both"demographi*c'arid financial) are revifewed' and adapted at year end; k

L : , T L ol ) o - i R
In-caleulating the:Group's obligation.in respect.of a plan; to the extent that any unrecognis

" “Where:the t_a;iculétidh‘ré's'iilps'f’i"r‘{ abenefit to:he Grotp, the recognised asset:

!
Natiire of commitnients of defined benefit plans g
j

I

1

Defined benefit plans : _ : i o ;
Defined benefit plans are’arrangements that -provide guaranteed benefits. to-cértain categories of
employees, either by way of ‘contractual obligations of through a collective agreement. Thisiguarantee

" of benefits represents a futire commitment of the Group and, as such, a liability'is calculated. The

provision: is calculated by estimating the benefits. accumulated by employees in return for services
rendered during the period and during priot periods: The calculation tékes into accolint ‘demographic
assumptions relating to the futuré chapatteriStics of the previous and current personn\gl (vmi)fmlity.
personnel turnover etc.) as well as financial assumptions relating to future salary levels or the discount
rate-applied to services rendered: R 1, ' e

Benefits-are:discounted in order 6 deterine the present value of the future ¢bligation résulting from
this type of plan: They are showr:in the'balance sheet after the deduction of the'fair value-of the assels
that serve to:cover them. : ' i o o

" The discount rate applied is:the yield, at the:balance sheet date, on AR credit rated*bondé' that have

maturity:dates similar to.the terms of ’thev':G_roup‘s pension obligations. A qualified acuiary-performsthe -

!

giving rise 1o actuarial gains orJosses:

gain ot loss exceeds tenpercent of the greater of the present value of the defined benefito ligation and

“the:fairvalue ‘of the plan-assets, itsis recognized in-the income statement over; the expected average
- remaining:working lives of the employees participating in the plan (“corridor pol
" actuarial gain or loss is not taken into considerations SR

LRt}
")

Otherwise, the:

ofany unrecognised actuanial losses and:past service costs and the present value ofanyfuture'refunds

fromthe.plan or rediictions'in futitre contributions to the plan.

As from 1 January 2006; in ordet 10 replace the: corridor policy, the! Group will*irﬁplemém JAS 19
revised, thereby directly and immediately récognising the unrealised actuarial -gains-or losses to
shiareholders’ equity. The change and the monetary iinpact at 1 January 2006 are explained in note:17.

- When d'defined benefit plan'is ¢hanged, the increase in benefits eamed relating o' past services rendered:
is.recognized as an expense’ona linearbasis in line with the average remaining period to'be covered”

until'the corresponding rights are acquired.: In‘case the rights are immiediately dequired; th&e:«‘expense is
directly charged to the income statement. > oy | SR s ;
Withiiy "the. Group, defined:benefit plans relate:to complementary |retitement. schiemes;: departure
indemnities, work medals and health insurance arrangements. 1 ' e

Complerentary retirement-schemes

These schemes are provided in-addition to 1h& Jegal minimal pension.in réspect of which Group

" companies contribute directly into social ‘organisations and which aare. accounted for: inthe same

manner as wages and salaries. ; ‘

Terntination payments ‘ S :
1
|

Termination payments are generally associated: with collective agreernents with employees tinder which

indemnities are paid upon normal retirernent as-well as upon voluntay or involuntary retiternent.
|

iszhmited the ngt"total‘ o



" levels of seniority with their employers.

¢ Assets covering commitments relating to deﬁned-heneﬁtpkms'f o ‘ 3
" ate awarded {the concept of “funded obligations”).
Externalised commitments are evaluated by:indepen‘demt spéciali.éts. .

Remumeration by way of share options

The.Group grants share option plans 1o certainndirectors:

Worl: medals

Work medal programmes are sometimes established undef agreements at individual company|level.
These arrangements tepresent long-term service award programmes. made to employees with certain

Health insurance

!

" Health insurance schemes relate exclusively to- the LSt subsidiaries of the. group {“post retirement

medical care”). For European entities, health insurarice i§/in placeby way of obligatory. contriblitions
1o state health insurance schemes. These contributions are dccounted for in the same manner as wages
and salaries. ‘
i
i

. : . i
The commitments in fespect of certain retirement plans:dre wholly, or in-part, covered by life assurance
policies or pension funds; depending on-the regulations; injplace in thercountry in which the benefits

-
!
i

;
i
!
}

In accordance with-the transitional provisions of TERS 2, applicable since 1 January 2005, the accounting

treatment ‘of these share option plans is linked 1o the date: of; grant: those granted on or before

7 Novembeér 2002 (one remaining plan of Usinor S.A. at'31 December, 2005) do.not give riselto any

recognition in the income statement. When the options ate exercised; cash received less u‘anéaction
i

costs are credited to subscribed capital and share premium: . D
k N 1

Plans-granted after 7 November 2002 (three,-pians at ,;31' Décermber 2005) are accounted for us;ing the

. fairvalueof the option at the-date of grant, the effects ofwhich will be:amortised.ona straight-line basis -

over the period throtigh to the exercise daté giving Tise 10,2 remuneration charge. The-contra entry!is
recorded directly in-shareholders’ equity of Arcelor S:A the company granting the stock.options.

H

17. Provisions for termination benefits |
, ; i
The Group tecognises an obligation for termination benefits when itis demonstrably com mitted either
to terminating an employee’s contract before the normal retirement date-or o encouraging voluntary

redundancy. Such termination benefits do not bring futiste economic benefits: (services rend;fzred by

. employees) to the Group-and are immediately recognised’in the income statement.

within the Group, provisions for termination benefits fall.into two categories:

S
Provisions are recorded when the Group has announced to the entity of the affected employees or w
their representatives a social plan that is detailed and formalised in accordance with the requitements
of 1AS 37. Such social plans either translate into redundancy or early retirement measures. |

Sacial provistons in the context of restructuring plans :
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Benefits. are calculated as a. function of the approximate number of people whose employment
. . N . . B N
contracts will be terminated. If such benefits are claimable more than twelve months after the end of

the period, they are discounted using an ititerest rate, which corresponds to that of AA credit rated i

bonds that have maturity dates approximating to the terms of the Group’s obligations. ‘

Fardy retiremnents plans: 0 KO o e
Within the Group, eatly rétirertient. plans primarily correspond 10 ih%‘e" pracdcal implementaton of
social plans. Such-early fetirement plans: are considered effective when'the affected employees have . .
been formally informed and ‘when liabilities have been determined Tusing’ an appropriate actuarial:-
calculation. Early retirernent planis ¢an:also be linked to collectivesagreenments signed with certain ™/
categories ofemployee"s. SRR e o R - i T ‘ o
Liabilities in respect of bath ofithe-above scenarios are calculated oiv:the basis of the'effective number
of employees likely to-take early retireinerit, in- accordance; with:IAS: 19. An’ independent actuary.

- performs the calculation annually; Liabilities are discounted using an’iinférest rate which' corresponds

‘ ‘ to-that 6f AA credit rated Honds:that have inaturity dates,approximatingto<the terms-of the Group's =

obligations. T U RO UL S T

O

i
L
=
e
i
;

18. Other Provisions .

A provision is.accounted for.when the Group.has a present obligatidri {legal-or constructive) as a result
of a past event, whose amount’can be reliably estimated, and it is probable that an outflow of resources

embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligaton. f ‘

Tectnical warranties St R R A
A provision for technical wartanties-is recognised when the underlying products ot services are sold:
The provision is based ‘on historical, warranty data and a weighting. of all. possible outcomes against -
. . Lyane ‘ y . ORI ¢ i -
their associated probabilities: i EENE i :

Restructuring

A provision for restructuring is:accounted for when the: Group ‘hias .approved a-detailed formal - .
restructuring plan,. andhas raised a valid expectation that:it will!carry out the restructuring by” .- .
commencing the implementation bf the plan or announeing its thaindfeatures to those affected by it ~ .~

Environment SRR om : . .

The Group generally estimates provisions related to envi ronsental is"syuies onacase-by-case basis, taking.
into- account, applicable legal reguirements. A best estimate, bas'e!d on available information, is- -
calculated, provided that the avdilable information indicates that the loss is probable and can be
estimated in a sufficiently reliable manner. ' R

Onerous contracts ‘ . S

A provision for anerous contract§ is recognised when the expected econoimic benefitsto be received by
the Group under a contract ate lower than the unavoidable costs of meeting its- obligations under it.

‘?
i
;
|
i

156



19. Trade and. other payables

Trade and other pa‘*;fa'b‘les‘are recorded at cost.

-21. Revenue recognition, interest and dividend income

Sales of goods and services

“effective yield rate, =

20. Deferred taxes

" Deferred taxes are calculated for each taxable entity, using the balance sheet liability method, .on tempotary.
‘differences arising between the tax‘bases of assets and liabilities, as detesmined ift accordarice ‘withithe {ax

iles in force in the countries in which the Group conducts its operations, and their carrying amountsin

the financial staterents. Deferred tax assets and liabilities-are meastred at-the tax rates:that are expected

to apply in the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled; based on.tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. * * R O .

Deferred tax assets-andiabilities are netted when authorised by local tax authorities.

g

Deferred tax assets.are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future imiabl’e piofits will be ia»’;ailable‘

against which they can-be utilised. Therefore, taking into account the cyclical nature of: the business, .
deferred (ax assets may be récognised by companies that have incurred tax losses over the previous perods.

i i

Reventie from the sale of:goods-is recognised in the income statément when the significanit risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred 1o the buyer. Revenitie from services renderedis recognised
in the income statement.ift proportion to the stage of completion-of the related transaction atthe balance’

“sheet date The stage of completion is assessed according to the work performed. No revén(le is
‘recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the amount dug, associated costs or

the possible retumy of goods.

Construction coutracts; g il o S

i Asisoon as the otitcoie of a construction contract can be estimated reliably; contract revenue and

expenses- are recognised in-the. income statement i proportion-to théstage of completiont

of the»
contract. The stage of comnpletion is assessed according t&'the-work performed. S

Anticipated losses on a contract are recognised iminediately in the'income statement.

Interest and dividend-income , IEREL O

Interest income is recognised in the income statement on a pro-rata basis, taking into account.the .

Dividend incomeis recognised in the income statement on the date the general meeting approves the
dividend payment. . ‘ ) B AT
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Notes 1o the consolidated financial statemenis : i

He:dg,e of cashy ﬂows g i » ; Lo

ncial risk management

Derivated financial instruments, ) ' A : i

The Croup uses derivative ﬁnancxal instruments, interest rate swaps and forward foreign,exchange

contracts 1o hedge its exposure to risks related 1o forugn LxchangL and interest rates and ansmg from

opcratmg, ﬁmnung and lTlVESUTlGHT activities.

- Df—.nvmve financial’ mstrumerm are initially recogmsed at cost and subsequenﬂv re_stated at thelr fair.
value. Unrea ised gains or losses are recogmsed dependmg on the namre of the'item bemg )edged

The fair value of interest rate’ swaps is the esumated amouft that the Croup would-receive or payto -,
terminate the swap at the balance sheet date, takmg into aacount currun interest rates dnd the current ’

crednworthmess of the swap roumer-pames

- The faxr value of forward foreign exchange comracte is thexr quoted market pnce at the balance %heet»
date, bemg the presem value of the quoted forward pnce orforward rate;

: When a derivative financial mslrument hedges the variationin cash ﬂows ofa ﬁrm comrmtmem ora
' forécast fransaction, the effemve partof any resultant gam orloss on the denvatwe ﬁnanual mstrument
i reLogmsed dlrecﬂy in sharaholders equlty i : - i o

W < e S

i

When thc firm mmmnment or forecast nans’lctlon results in. the: rccognmon of aivasset or a liability,
the cuinulative’ gain or loss is. removed- from equity and'enters’ mto tht. mmal measurement of the * °

acqulsmon LOSt or other carrying amount of the ass et or hablhtv

i
]

The maffecnve part of any gain or loss is recognisediin the income qt'itemem Am gain or foss arising
from the time.value of the denv‘mve ﬂrnnrnl mstmm(‘m is mmgmsed in the income statement.

When a hedgmg instrumenit t}.plri‘ﬁ. is sold, tennmated or excxc1sed the cumuhled unrea xsed profit

or loss onthe hedgmg mstmmem is maintaitiéd'in equuv foraslongs as ‘the-expected Lransacuon does’
ot occiir ‘and’is recognised in' accordanice with the above policy when the transaction occurs. if the -
hedged transaction; is no iongm probable, the cumulative net gam Or,loss, which had been recogmsed

in aqunv, is rcponed unmadlatdy in-the incomnie statunem

J
i

. ¥ E 3 " N
Hedge of fair value |
j

Where a derivative financial instrumerit hedges the vanablhty in f”ur value of a recognised rece1v1b eor
payable, any resulting gain or loss on the hedgmg instrument is recogmsed in the income statement.

The hedged-item is also stated at its fair value in respect of the nsk bemg hedged with dny gam or loss’

bcmg mmgnmed in the income stmemLm

The fair v‘:lue of the hedged )tems, in respectof the m}\ being hedgecli is their carrying ammount at the
balance sheet date translated to EUR ai the foreign exchange tate’ rulmg at that date.
1 N
Hedge of net invesunent in foreign operation ’ ' y
, i
Where 4 foreign currency lability hedges a net investment in a foreign operation, foreign exchange
differences arising on translation of the liability to EUR are recognised directly in equity; Where the

!

£



- 23. Emission rights

_allocation plan, are recorded in the balance sheet at nil value.

- Allowanceplichases.or sales ate récorded at cost.

‘hedging instrumerit is a derivative, any gain or loss‘on the hedging instrument relating to.the effective

portion of the hédge is recognised in equity; the gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in the income statement. - S . ]I
Where the hedging instrument is-not recognised, the related profit or the ioss is ecognised in the
income statement.. , e ’

o
The Group's industrial sites-concerned by the EuropeanDirectiVe on COjemisSidh rights; effétftive as
of 1 January-2005, are located in Germany, Belgium, Spain, France and Luxembourg, =07 . '

The eimission rights illstted ‘to. the Group: on a-no-chaige basis pursuant; 10 the; anfiual national
The Group: centinuously monitors rightsthat have expired and that willyhé\r,e'tq be surreridefe}d. iThe

number of rights to be surrendered is equal to the {otal emissions over a given period:These emissions

are submitted -to-an annual certification; done by a certified external expert in accordance. with

5

applicable national regulation.

at marketvalue. : , Dol !

’Any difference between available ﬁghliand‘expired rights:to be surren'del"ed’ i subject 1o provisioning.

Excessiallowandes sold-on the allowance-market are recognised in the income stalement.

24. Sgglngnt_zgpggﬁ.ng.

ol

Assegmentiis a‘distinguishable component-of the: Group that is engaged eithér inyproviding particular

“products: or services (business segment};, ot in providing products or services “within -a particular

economic environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different
from those of other segments. : ‘ o Ik .

The Group's pritnary segment is defined as the ‘business segment’, while the secondary is the ‘seographical
segment” : : R T

Segment assets are operatienal assets used by the sector in the context of its operating activities. They
include attributable goodwill, intangible assets and: property, plant and equipment;‘as well as; clrrent
assets-used. in the operating activities of the sector. They do not include deferred. tax:assets, other
investments, or receivables and other non-current financial assets. Such assets are“shown ‘under the.
caption ‘Unallocated assets’ ' ' ' S e e
Sector liabiliﬁes are liabilities resulting from the ‘activities of a sector, which -can .ei‘t’heffb‘e directly

attributed to this sector or.can be attributed to it réasonably. They indude current and:fien-current -
liabilities. They exclude financial debt and deferred tax liabilities. Such liabilities are.shown under the

caption ‘Unallocated liabilities’ :

159
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Adesita

 Following these acquisitions, Arcelor directly holds 40.12% (including ‘treasury-shares) of the-capital'of &~
" Acesita {76:2% of the shares witli voting rights). : : . ' S

=On.31 Aﬂgust 2005, Arcelor acquired frdm Lcchini the ‘control ‘of the company Huta Warszawa
(Poland, Long Catbon Steel).’ Arcelor Huta Warszawa is thus fully integrated'in the consolidated Group .
. “accountsisince 1 Septernber 2005 ‘ S : o

¢
fegal
2]

Note 3 - Scope of consolidation. ,

Arcelos Projects Spiral Milk

mformation ’ . |

; 1 o
At 31 Decemnber 2005, the scope of consolidation of the Arcelor Group includes, in addition.to'Arcelor -
S.A., 371 fully consolidated companies (31 December 2004: 361). Furthermore, the Group accounts for
173 companies using the equity method (31 December 2004:-185}. 'I‘He reduction in the ﬁur’kiber of
fully consolidated companies is primarily associated with a numberof acquisitions and disposals; the
main transactioris being as follows: : : Lo EATE SRR

Acquisitions

i
Cy
b
!

At 31 Decernber 2004, the Arcelor Group held 27.68% (27.83% taking int6 account the treasury shares) of
the compaly Acesita SA (Brazil,"Stainless steel), accounted for by using the equity method: In October
2005, the. Group obtained ‘control' of Acesita by exercising put-call options negotated with' the othér i . th)
shareholders incladed in the shareholders' agreement of Acesita. - S IR
Oné6 ‘Octob‘er 5005, Aicelormade an agreement with the pension'funds l?’REVI (Caixa de Previdénciados' . -
Fundiondrios do Banco do Brasily and PEIROS (Fuudaqﬁdi‘etrobra’s de Seguridade Social) aHowiyng"Lhe G
Group to acquire 8.24% of Acesita at the price of 45 BRL per share. On the same day, Arcelor conluded a
memorandum of’underst}mdi\ng with the Brazilian pension fund: SISTEL (Fundagio ‘Sistel de Seguridade *
Social).in order to acquire 4.05% of Acesita al the same price; i e/45 BRL per share. The latter transaction.

was formalised on 26 October 2005. , TR AR

i

'

Starting: 1 October 2005, Adesita is fuily consolidated in thejccoums of the Group:

!
: |
Arcelor Huta Warszawa ¢ 1 ‘

1

i
-

At 1 April 2005, Arcelor took control of the group-Arcelor Projects Spiral Mill (ex De Boer) specialised.in:,
the production of foundation tubes {Netherlands, Arcelor Steel Solutiol‘ns & Services). g

: i
Disposals

Corrugados Azpeitia, Corrugados Getafe and Gorrugados Lasao™’

On 22 July 2005, the Group sold'to the Spanish group Alfonso Galla}'do three rebar and mesh pkl.an_ts
{Corrugados Azpeitia, Corrugados Getafe and Gorrugados Lasao - Spfain, Long Steel with Carbon).

!
]
1
i
|
|
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Techalloy

- On 8 February 2003, the Group sold its interests in the Ameﬁcan company Techalloy Company Inc.

"B Fair vaiue of the ner assers acquired

* In EUR million
. Intangible assets
- Tangible assets

* Debtors and-financial assets (commercial and other)
- Inventories ) R R
- Cash and cash equivalents

- Other provisions’

7 "Total acquisition costs
"~ Cash and cash equivalents acquired

- the historical participation (27.68%): i ol ) .

I

(United States, Stainless steel) to the company Central W,ire'l'ndusmes Lid.

TIM - Trefilados Inoxydables de Mexico )

On 10 Mdy 2003, Arcelor sold its subsidiary comp:ymy;ﬁM - Tréfilados. Inoxydables de Mexico $
(Mexico, Stainless steel) to the company Novametal SA. SR

The fair valize of the netassetssacquired is presented below; -

Interests in companies accountéd for using the equity method:
Other investments T U T

Net deferred tax liabilities
Interest-bearing loans -
Provisions for pensions and similar benefits

Creditors {(suppliers and others)”
Minority interést Lo
Fair value of net assets acquired

Elimination of the contribution of:.companies previously
accounted for using the equity method (note 6)

Net pasitive goodwill (+);/ negative goodwill (-}
Revaluation of interests previously held

Amounts paid during prior periods N
Amounts to be paid-in:subsequent periods:: B
OUTFLOW (+) / INFLOW (-):RESULTING FROM ACQUISIT IONS

With respect to Acesita, the determination of the fair value of the identifiablé assets and liabilities
acquired was completed at the time of the full integration of Acesita {1-'October 2005). However, the .
fair value exercise is not finished- a$ at 31 December 2005, and: remains’ subject 1o potential
modification until 30 Sepiembgér 2006. The fair value of thenet asséts,acquired is EUR 396 Tf:(lillidll, ‘
less the acquisition price (EUR 150 million} and the amount previously-accounted for by using the
equity method (at the end of Septémber 2005 of EUR 204 million). This resulted in g positive ’

goodwill of EUR 29 million; as well ds:an equity impact of EUR 71 million’ due'to the revaluation of
;o ]

In order to reconcile the cash. flows associated with the acqtiisition the consideration paid by the
Group in 2005 associated with Acesita was EUR 68 million. This:is determined on the basi;s of the
acquisition price of EUR 150-million; the amount to be paid in 2006 of EUR 50 million and! the net
cash acquired in Acesita of EUR 168 million. ) I ) ;

|
]
i
|
i
\
i
i
|
\
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" Interest-bearing loans

INFLOW RESULTING FROM DISPOSALS

4
!
i
:
i
i
J
|
|

With Tespect to Arcelor Huta Warszawa, the fair value of the ideétiﬁéb}e assets and ‘liabilities
acquired on 1 September 2005 amounts 10 EUR 96 million. Gi‘ven an- acquisition price of
EUR 77 million, the purchase accounting led 10 a negative goodwill of EUR 19 millien.

The cash: loss of EUR 2 million-associated with the Huta acquisition corresponds to the payment
made by the Group of EUR 77 million, reduced by the amount of EUR67 million to be paid in 2007

and the net cash and cash equival"gms_ acquired of EUR 8 million. !

i
The faif value of the net assets di;sposcd of is-presented below:. 3

B Fair value of the et assets: dispdse

' ELIR million

Intangible assets

Tangible assets , : :
Interests in.companies accounted forusing the equity method
Other participations. ‘ e T

Debtors and financial assets (commercial’and-other)
Inventories = E - B SR

Cash and cash: equivalents’ L

Net-deférred 1ax liabilities

Provisions for pensions and:sirilar benefit,
.Other provisions :
Creditors:{suppliers and others)

Fair value of assets disposed of (2}
DISPOSAL PRICE (1) e
PROFIT ON DISPOSAL (1)-(2) "
Cash. and cash equivalents disposed of -/
Repayment of debts towards companies disposed of
To be received in subsequent periods

oy H
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Note 4 - Intangible assets

" 31 December 2005, in EUR million

Gross opening balance

Acquisitions.

Disposals

Changes in consolidation scope;

_ Foreign exchange differences

Transfers and other movements

GROSS CLOSING BALANCE 290 258 278 826
Opening cumulatiye amortisation -242 -168 - -182 -592
Acquisitions and disposals - 6 1 7

- - 2 2

Changes in.consolidation scope

. Impaimment.

Amortisation charge

Foreign exchange differences

" Transfers and other movements'

:  CLOSING CUMULATIVE AMORTISATION

..~ OPENING NET BOOK VALUE .

CLOSING NET BOOK VALUE .

608

Concessions,
- ) oot Goodwill . patents, licenses
31 December 2004, in EUR million on acquisition  and similar rights Other TOTAL '
Gross opening balance =766 239 228 : -299
First time adoption of IFRS 3 1,032 - - - 1,032
Gross opening balaince - restated 266 239 ; 228 733
Acquisitions. ) - 26 i 45 71
Disposals - -40 i - -40
© Changes in-consolidation scope - -6 i 2 -4
Foreign exchanige differences; - -1 -1 ! 20
‘Pransters and other movernents - 9 : -18 -9
GROSS CLOSING BALANCE 265 227" 257 - 749
Opening cumulative amortisation 121 -175 -198 -252
First time adoption of 1FRS 3¢ 356 - - 356 -
Gross opening balance - restated -235 -175 -198
Acquisitions and disposals - 40 ! 40
Changes in consolidation scope - 7 ; 4 1
Impairment: : 12 - - 12
Amortisation charge - -34 | -8 -42
Foreign exchange differénces 2 - [ - 2
Transfers and-other-maovements 3 -6 i 20 - 17
CLOSING CUMULATIVE AMORTISATION -242 -168 -182 -592
OPENING NET BOOK VALUE -645 64 : 30 -551
CLOSING NET BOOK VALUE 23 59 ! 75 157
. : ’ T
.|
!
|
|
!
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Notes to the consolidated financial staternents

8 Analysis of ner positive goodwill on acquisitions 2005

Note 5 - Property, plant and e(gaiwném‘ "

31 December 2005; SEEUR million

‘ . Net value |
In EUR million 2004 | Acquisitions
Usinor / $3P 8 ! -
Arcelor Profil 31 -
Galtec 3¢ -
Haironville Portugal- 27 -
"Belgo Siderurgia / Dedini 5. -
Arcelor Projects Spiral: Mill - 10
Acesita . - 29 ¢
Asturia de Perfiles - 30
Other 27 -
TOTAL 73 337
B Analysis of nei positive goodwtll on acquisitions 2004 T »
: ) ) o Net value Net value
In EUR million: 2003 Depreciation Other 2004
" Usinor / S3P 8 - - 8
i Avig Steel " - 1 - -1 0
. “Arcelor Profil 3 - - 3
Galtec 3 - 3
Weha Edelstahl 2 - -2 0
CFA ’ ) 10 -10! - 0
Haironwville Portugal 2 - - 2
Belgo Siderurgia / Dedini . -1 5 5
Trefilados Mexico : 2 2! - 0
Other - 2! 2
TOTAL 31 -12! 4 23

. Gross opening balance 5,219 736 20,489
Acquisitions ‘ 139 1,825 ! 29 2,040
Disposals -263 500 -1n2 -442
Changes in consolidation scope 323 386 9. | -18 700
Foreign exchange differences 205 811 105 ; | 36 157
Transfers : 163 707 -872; 144 142 -
GROSS CLOSING BALIANCE 4,186 16,999 2,086 815 24,086
Opening cumulative depreciation -1,123 - 7,675 -1 - 460 -9,259
Disposals K 23 224 | 113 360
Changes in consolidation scope 40 124 - 18 182
Depreciation charge -1 96 1] -19 77
Impairment  * -128 -1,063 - <75 -1,266
Foreign exchange differences -57 -286 - -19 -362
Other ] -64 105 - -92 -51
CLOSING CUMULATIVE DEPRECIATION -1,310 -8,475 - -534 -10,319
OPENING NET BOOK VALUE 2,387 7.544 276 11,230
CLOSING NET BOOK VALUE 2876 . . 8,524 fasl 13707




FUR 131 il Jon) and the netv’ilue of finance teases amounted to £ UR 120 million (7004 EUR 85 mlllion),

At 31 December 2005 1he gross. value of capitalised ﬁnance leases s EUR 178, rmlhon {2004: -

Tangible hxed assets with a carrying value of EUR 212 million hive been pledged as guar’imees of ﬁnandal

debt (2004: EUR 279 million).

The acquisiuons of EUR 2,040 million in 2005 include assets with:a cosl of EUR 141- mllhon ‘with th B

" exclusive objective of preventing, reducing or rapamn
mvestmems rehte pummly to lhe reductlon of emlssxons tot

¥ a) Analysis by country and nature of the investment

Replace;ﬁem

damage to:the mvuonmgnt These ermronmunal
he atmosphere (dust and gas) :

Prepayments ;

and fixed assets \

. Land and Plants and under i
31 December 2004, in EUR mlllmn buildings machinery construction i Other Total
Gross opening balance 3,152 12,930 780 f 703 17,565
Acquisitions 103 284 917 ! 49 1,353
Disposals -79 -463 . -37 i -89 -668

Changes in-consolidation scope 288 2,047 189 ! 67 2,591

Foreign exchange differences - -46 -241 =20 -9 -316

“ Transfers ; 92 662 -805 - 15 -36
GROSS CLOSING BALANCE 3,510 15,219 1,024 736 20,489'

. Opening cumulaIive‘depreciatibnf\ -1,043 -7,129 - 15 - 431 78618
Disposals 52 417 137 79 561
Changes.in cousohdauon scope 13 -167 3. -34 -185

“Depreciation charge. . -3 -20 -1 - 24

-Impairment .- -144 -880 SN 104 1129

Foreign e’x’dmnge differences 16 75 S 6 97

 Other -14 29 S 24 39

. .CLOSING CUMULATIVE DEPRECIATION -1,123 7,675 N -460 9,529
‘OPENING NETBOOK VALUE 2,109 5,801 765 272 8,947

CLOSING NET'BOOK VALUE 2,387 - 7,544 1,023 276 11,230

|

Market Product Cost and Professional | Industrial

In EUR million = Development Development reduction  restoration Environment safety safety
Belgium 90 13 24 49 33 1 3.
France 17 99 71 17 22 5 g
- Spain 13 12 31 m 18 L3 0
Brazil 623" 7 53 127 64 I 3 3

" Tuxembourg 4 15 35 60 2 b2 2
Germany 6 2 36 38 2 C 2

Other 9 29 47: 105 - - -
TOTAL 762 177 297 607 141 25 31

%3
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Nates to the (onsoh(iated financial statements

b} Analysis by country and nature of the environmental investment

Noise and

Protection and |
vibration temediation
abatement of soil,
Protection of (excluding the groundwater
: ambient air working Eftluent Waste and surface |
In. EUR million and climate environment) management management f water
Brazil © - 20 2 31 7 4
Belgium " 23 2 3 4 1
: 9 - A 2
e, 13 3 2
Luxembourg, " - - p) -
<o Agermany s 2 -
S TOTAL o o 67 4 50 15 : 5
i
Note 6 Investments in wmpam@ ac comzzed foz u«m(g 3
Lhe eqwcy meihod ' :
In EUR million .
BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2004 - 44 1,366
Acquisitions ) - 16
Disposals 47 - 47
Profit forithe vear : ' 317 - 317
- Dividends paid ) -95 - -95
Changes in consolidation percentage (note %) -160 ; -44 -204

Foreign exchange differences

Increase in.capital

= The:primary investments‘in-associated companies-and joifitly controliedientities.are

sfollows:

Share in .- :

Total assets
% holding at 31 profit at
o ) at year December 31 December .
In EUR. million end 2004 2004 2005 .
Associated companies L
FLAT CARBON STEEL
CST (Brazily - - 130
Gestamp {Spain) 35.0 % 129 20
Gonvarri Tndustrial {Spain} 35.0 9% 96 34
CIN {Ttaly) 35.0 %, 70 2
Holding Gonvarri SRL ($pain) 35.0 % 92 - 2
Borcelik (Turkey) 40.3 % 54 12
Cia Hispano-Brasileira
de Pelotizagio {Brazil) 49.1 %. 19 7
13 -

Dosol Galva (Canada)

20.0 %

|
l
|
|
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*+ ooty controlled-ertities
|- LONG CARBON STEEL

Total assets Share in
% holding at 31 profit at
at year December 31 December
In. ELR million end 2004 2004 2005
STAINLESS STEEL i :
Acesita (Brazil) 27.7 % 153 32
LONG CARBON STEEL B
tIsina Hidrelectrica Guilman
Armotim (Brazil) 51.0 % © 2 6
1LME (France) 34.0 % 30 14
Saciété Nationale de Sidérurgie N
{Morocco) - - - 7.5 % 11 2>
* San Zeno Acciai-Duferco (Ttaly) 49.9 9% | 9 Lo
OTHER ACTIVITIES o C o
DHS Group (Germany) 51.3 % | 394 6l
Groupe Ati¢ (Erance) 423 % | 22 4 g
Soteg {Luxembourg) 20.0 % ! 24 2
- Variousiassociated companies, ... - 51 . 32 7

50.0 % 78 8"

TrefilARBED Kiswire (Korea) . .
“Aquarius (Brazil) . - 50.0 % 47 -

A3S (ARCELOR'STEEL SOLUTIONS & SEE{WCES) TR : : ;

Traxys SA (Luxembourg) 50.0% 50.0 % 27 7 !
_ Various jointly controlled entities - 45 38 :

TOTAL - 1 366 413

I EUR million

BALANCE AT

© 3UDECEMBER: ; ‘ (
2004 - [ 632° -314 318 164 - 84 80 183 -53 130- 979 - 451 528
Acquisitions k) 2 - 42 3 - 3 145 - 145 190° - 190
Disposals : -49 42 -7 -G4 41 -23 -52° - 52 -165 83 -82
Increase in capital 11 - 1 3- - 3 - - - 14 - 14 ¥
Changes in ‘
consolidation scope -81 19 -62 -5 - -5 21 -1 20 -65 18 47
bepredation - -6 -6 - 1 1 - -1 -1 - -6 -6 -
Foreign exchange ;
differences ) 9 -6 g
Other movements -9 8 -1 ‘
BALANCE AT e o
31 DECEMBER- . i g =

2005 to098

The main acquisition of the year is the acquisition of 5.07% {Other securities) in the capital-of Erdemir,
the value of the shares held being EUR 138 million at 31 December 2005. ol

The main liquidations of the year relate to Circuit Foil UK. (EUR 16 million in participating iiterests,
fully depreciated) and Tuberie de Differdange (EUR 15 million, also fully depreciated).

07
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Notes 1o the consolidated financial statements

The main capital increases of the year Telate to the companies ARCELOR Technologws fspana
(EUR 3 million, shares in afﬁhaud) and 1UP ]mdal Mua s & Alloys (EUR 3 anillion, shares in afﬁhated)

The most signifi icant changes in cnnsohdauon scope are:
o the scope reduction related to of Performa, Agrinsa, Tmpeco; Acindar do Brasil and Acmdar Uruguay,
due to their consolidation for the first tme in the sub-group.. Acindar {impact of EUR -33 million)

- s the entry of Acos Villares due to the full mteg,rauon of Acesita (EUR 22 million before falr v1lue o

adjustment) oy

e the entry of US Manhey LLC (l UR5 mi hon) fo%lowmg the decomohd'mon of this compam'
s the entry of shares and participating mterests (EUR mllhon) held by Arcelor Huta Warszdwa

como lidated in the current year..

- e:the internal restructuring taking place ’Wlthl n the Lompameq AlCdOl Construcuon E mnce and Auelm i

Steel Services Centers (EUR-33. mllhon)

Finally, other movements include; th revaluation: of other investments and financial assets, amxlabk

(for ﬂle at fair value: The main change in fan‘ alue. rdates to the Erdemir shares (} UR +%O mﬂhon)

The breakdown of movements by typeof portfoho (shares and p'lrtmp'itmg mterev.ts at: cost shares and
“paiticip mng xmuests at {air’ value) 15 1as follows . .

i

Increase Changes in Fair value - Foreign

3 . 31 Dec. ” Acq. in° consolid. Net adjust- - exchange

“In EUR million ) 2004 Disp. capital : scope depr. ments oiff. |
Shares and participating , :

- interests at cost- . 512, - 14 -69 -6 - 11
‘Gross value 963 -83 14 -87 - 197
Depr. . -451 83 - 18 -6 - -8
Shares and participating: : : :
interests at fair value 16 108 ° - 22 - 32. -
Fortis 16 - - - - 5 -
Erdemir - 108 - - - 30 -
Acgs Villares - - - 22 - -3 -

;. TOTAL g 528 108 i4 -47" -6 32 11

LR Ihe rem]uauon of shwres and pamapatmg mtereetq at f"ur v1 ue {} LR +32 ‘mil mn) is recorded net of e
’tax in shcmholdus equny (EUR +24 mﬂhon) : :

Note 8 - Recen'abies and oz‘hm fmanum’ assets

B Receivablas associated with mummrmn ?fmm aned othes ?nmu faldssels

In EUR million

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2005 iges

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2004 -~ . Lo 824 684

© Increase : . . 130 - 130
Repayments - -247 37 =210
Net Depreciation . ; : - 9 9
Changes in consolidation scope o — 57 - 57
Other movements 3 -10 -2
Foreign exchange differences e 93 '
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In EUR million

2004

Sidenirgica Afon loans 41
Allegheny Technologies loans 30
Bagoeta SI loans 57
. Carsid loans 45
SODISID loans 9
SODISID securitisation 21
Guarantee deposits : : 141
Revaluation of interest ratehedge: mstmmmts (note 23) 86
Revaluation of raw material hedge instruméents (inote 23) -
Net assets related’to {Lmdtd ohhgmons : 26
Other W i 228
TOTAL ;

684 -

Note 9 - | fwmrm ies

Inventories are detailed bdow, dstngulshmg bhtwam those heid at hlStOH(_ cost aud thosm (dl’l’lhd at

fair value less costs to-sell:

At 31 December 2005 invent(gﬁes-::;fe valued :as~ follows:

Inventories .

at historic

" In EUR million TR R N cost

Inventories at

fair value less |

i costs to sell
Raw materials and stock S ' : 1,056 ° 1,974
Work in progress i s I L 900 687 |
Finished goods R : 575 1,800
Contracts in progress © & 0 ot o ) 98 -
Spares B R 68 395
Advances and prepaymems on orders : ) ) B 27
TOTAL . s 2,724 4,856

s AL31 December 2004 ip‘ve‘.ntories are:valued as follows:. .

Inventories
at historic

Inventories at
fair value less |

. I ELIR million . T k( T - cost . costs to sell Total
© 7 Raw materials and stock,” S P . 969 1,807 2,776
: . Wark in progress N A 689 808 1,497
Finished goods - 485 1.527 2,012
.. Contracts in progress . . ) ; ’ ' 88 - 88
- Spares : . T 48 361 409
' Advances and prepayments.on orders ) A 19 - 19
TOTAL . ; . ) 2,298 4,503 6,801
Impairments made in order to value inventories at their faic value [ess costs to sell amount to EUR
618 million at 31 Deceniber 2005 {2004: EUR 560 million). e
Note 10 - Trade receivables
In EUR million 2004
Gross amount 3,889
Depreciation -132
TOTAL 3,757
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Notes 1o the consotidated financial statements ) i

Note 11 - Other receivables

In EUR.million 2004
. Other advance payments to public authorities 430
Revaluation of exchange rate hedge instruments {note 2 >) ) 45
Revaluation of raw madterial hedge lnsmlments {note’ 23) S o e i 48
Prepaid expenses ey ! 61
© QOther receivables 662
TOTAL 1,246
Note 12 - Cash and cash equivalents
" In EUR million 2004
" Marketable securities 2,298
" Cash at bank and in hand 1,392
. Short'term bank deposits 353 o
" TOTAL 4,043 =
Note 13 - Equity .~ e R A e

13.1- Issued capital and,share px‘emimn o
o i
.~ At 31 December 2005; subscnhed capital compmes 639,774,327, ordlmry shnes w1thout face value,
issued, fully paid up and representing: EUR 3, 198 871,635. The share prexmum arrloums to
EUR 5,396,604,061. .

The authorised share Lapml compmu 1,000, 000 OOO shares and amounts:10 EURS5 bllhon ,
A

There were no changts in capxtal bhdr(_ prumum and auﬂxonsed share capnal durmg the year 2()()::;

i1

8 Fyolution of the number of stutres in ssnes

3 Décemberz()()fi ' LT T ) P T v
Capital increase . ‘ . : DT e 106,733,531

31 December 2004 S R LT P 639,774,327

31 December 2005 , I i T6397vas27

”‘.11331 < Bachange differences: :
The movements in exchange differences of EUR 552 million {2004: K UR 95 nnlhon) are pnm’mly due
1o the apprediation of the US Dollar and the Brazilian: Real compared to-the’EUR.

©13.3 - Other consolidated reserves

Other consolidated reserves amoum to EUR 6,504 million (2004: EUR 2,955 million) dnd mamly
- contain the profil attributable to the equity holders of the parentcompany of ELIR 3,846 million (200/1
EUR 2,290 million). :
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13.4 - Share eption plan..

‘ Arcelor has Lstabhshed three share option pldns, the feamres of whlch are as follows

Flrst plan
established on -

Secon& plah
established on

U - - 30 June 2003 30 June 2004

< Number of shares.granted at 31 December: 2005, 1,320,863 1,202,663

_ Exercise price (in EHIR). . « o 9.67 13.11

Maturity date ) June 30, 2010 June 30, 2011
Price of the underlying avthe date, of grant (in [UR) 9.81 13.35 -

Historical volatility (in %) ; 46.2 31.8

Dividends (in EUR) ) ) 0.4 0.4
Imelesx rate {in ’o) C 3.5 4.1 %

o The opnon pncmg model used for these’ three plans is the bmormai model

. VEUR2.66 million on' 1 Janiuary?2005. The charge to the result in 2005 assocxated with; these plans
oeas well as the thlrd phn estabhshed on »O june 2005 amoums to EUR3, :

" Number of share options

" 31 December 2005 , S e 19971096

o Funhermore the beneﬁcmnes of the Usmor share opnon plan establlshed on'7; \&arch 2000 and S

: coveting 2,380,000/ shares have the possibility of convemng their Usmor sharesinto Arcelot shareq.; he

maturity. date of this planiis 7. April 2007 The exercise pnce 1s EUR 13 24 and tht. numbu’ of opuons
issued at 31 December 2005 i8°1,017,150. i R : L

The movements i the number of outstanding share optlons durmg the year were a% foilows

2004

Number of share options
© + Options at the beginning of year. 4,679,500
* . Options granted during vedr 1,249,224
- Options forfeited accepted during year’ '
Options exercised during year 974,950 957,200
Options expired during year -208,198 -244,/00 :
/675,676 4,723,824

OPTIONS AT THEEND:QF YEAR

- Pursmm to the new’ standard lPRS 2 Share-based: pavmems, plans gramed afler \Id\’enlbe} 2002 g
.“are subject to spedific valuanom hy the Group sin¢e -1 January. 2005:T he two Atcelor plans, gramed

on. 30 june 2003, and 30 Jithe: 2004 -have crystallised, in-this comtxt a charge direct 10 equuv of

99 rm]hcm

135 - Own shares ; _ St : o

31 December 2003 ) ) : ot 54,644,789
Acquisitions S ’ Py : 1,251,818
Disposals . : o i, -29,094,200 -408
31 December 2004 : T 26,802,407 367
Acquisitions : . e 8,189,502 147
Disposals o po e -15,220,613 - -247
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“The basic earmngs pei share: are “calculated by dmdmg the neét proﬁt ((,roup share) b) the welghted
- average number of shates-in i$sue during the period; ucludxng the average number of ordmary‘shares
urchased and held by the C,roup

- o st pig .
Finaneiat and {’ega{ urioymation

Notes 10 the consolidated financial statements

13.6 - Dx\]dends

The Board of Directors will propose a gross dividend of EUR-1.20 per share’ which will be pald on
28 May 2006. These financial statements do not reflect this dividend whichis subject to the 1pproval‘
of the shareholders at the annudl general meeting to be held on 28 Apnl 2006.

13.7 - Control over Acksita:

In accordance with IFRS 3 thg assets.and liabilities. of Acesita held ‘at the timeé: when the (,roup
obtains control over this company: were revalued at fair vahie! Thus; the:conso lidated: shareholders’
equily increased by EUR 42 million (2004: on group- level EUR 158 million which relales 10 LS[ by
EUR 123 million and Acmdar by EUR 35 millien).

Note 14 f;a 7N spez share i

2004 &

Net proﬁt'((}roup share in:EUR million)f 2,290
Number of ordinary shares-in issue 578,365,994
“Weighted average numberiof own shares e nn i <y ; -34,581,269
nghted average nurmibesof shares used for the. calculauon of b151c eammgs petsha 543,784,725
" “Earnings per sharL (m EY Ry : 4.21
The difuted earnings per share are mlcuhted bV tal <mg ‘the hmncxal instryments giving access: to the
capital of the Company, whether they are issued by the Company itself-or by.one-ofits subs1d1anes The-
dilution is calculated, instrument:by-instrument, taking into account the condmom existing, at the-
~ balance sheet date, and excluding anti-diluting instruments. Furthermore, the net profit is ad)usled S0
asto ehmma& the ﬁnancmo charge net of tax correspondmg to'the dxluung mstrummts
When funds are collected in [ht_ context of the exercise of rights (subscnpuou coupons and opuons) L
they are first applied-to the punhaqe of shares at market pnce 1f ﬂm is above the exerme pnce of the.
right. i
In each case, funds are taken into-account on a pro- -ratd basis in the ye1r of issite of the dllutmg
instrument and on the first day of the following finandal year. :
2004
Net profit (Croup share in EUR million) 2,314
Elimination of interest-expense, net of tax, of convertible debt msuumems (O.CEANE.) 36
Elimination of charge associated.to stock option plans, net of tax : -
Net profit used for the caleulation of dilted earnings per share (in' EUR.million) 2,350

Weighted average number of shares

Adjustment for assumed conversten of convertible debt mstrum&nts {O.CEANE)

and for assumed exercise of stock option plans 69,606,407

Weighted average number of shares in issue, used for the 11lcuhuon

of dllmed earnings per share 613,391,132

Diluted earnings per share in EUIR 3.83

172
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-Convertible/debeniture Joans

- JAmounts dwed 1o creditinstitutions. - . Lo
- Amounts owed on-fixed-assets held under ﬁnance leases

~'SHORT TERM BORROWINGS. .~

Note 15 ~-Minority.interests in equity . ]

In the )mr ended 31 December 2005 minority mterests increased by EUR 1,109 mlihon, mciudmg
EUR 617 million relating 10 changes in the consolidation scope; in pamcular Acesita (EUR 568 mllhon) :
The share’ of the minority of the 2005 result contributed to an increase in “the mmonty mtuest of
EUR 432 milliont. ) v
In- the year ended 31. Decemnber 2004 minority interest increased by EUR 68: million, mcludmg_ ,
EUIR 376.million rel.mng 1o changes in the consolidation scope; primarily CST-(ELIR 511 million},
Acindar(EUR 113 million} and Aceralia (EUR - -158 million): ‘The share of the mmonty ‘of the: 2004 resultv
also mnmbuted wian, 1nc1e1se m the minority mtere‘;t of ¥ R 403 rmlhon : '

Noie 16 Imm’st beczrmsg !mbz{mes

In EUR mzlhon e

Nou-convertible debenture loans

Fair valtie‘of conversion option: relating to-convertible; debentur; oan; (note 25)
Fair value of interestate:hedge; instrument (note 25}
Borrowings and. other financial debt

LONG TERM BORROWINGS:. .
Short term elementiof converuble debenturc loam
Shortterm elemetit of nori-convertible debenture loans
Amountsiowedio-creditt mst;tutlong T
Commerdal.paper

Current Bank borrowings

Amounts owed-on:fixed assets held undu ﬁnance leases
Accrued interest pavable

Fair value of interest rate;hedgeinstruments (note 23)
Barrowinigs and other financal debt

6.1 - (,nnwmhle dvbvmure ivans

On 1 hnmry 2005 Arcelor rompletcd the redemptxon of the () CEAN, 1 200’5 3.87 59 % debemure'd '
loan, falling due on the same day. i g : ;

Following the ré\?isgd version of 1AS 32 and its retrospective applicafioh' (refer to note ), the fairvalue -
as at | January-2004°of the equity conversion:option relating to.the ©.C.EAN.E. 2017 3% debemure o

loan is reclassified: by EUR 70 million from shareholders” eqmty 10: interest: bearmg lxabl]xtlés ”Ihls
option is: tastaled tdd) year end at its fair value {note 22) :

16.2 - Breakdown by currency, {excluding short term debt)

Ol ah SN G G0 A0 SR S0 OGN Gm AN

In BEUR willion %
Euro a 73,466 77
S dollar 695 16
Brazilian Real L2563 61 272 6
Other o i 45 1
TOTAL 4,341 100 4,478 100

i
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16.5 - Detail of maindndividual.long-tern foans’

Finaveial and FOG«L iformation

Notes to the ccmsc).ulated financial statements

16.3 - Breakdown by matarity {excluding short term debt)

In EUR million

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

After more than 5.y€ars, ;
TOTAL

16.4 - Literdst ratess

a) Long term debts -

. Variable interést rates on ‘borrewings are primarily mduced to*EURIBOR and LIBOR: When hedgmg

instruments are m place to’ convert fixed to variable rates, the borowings ate rec orded.as: v1rnb rate. .
loans. : R RO : ; e :

In EUR million

Arcelor Finance, ©

Debenture loan-5:375% 1998 '/ 2006 (EUR 62 million):
Debenture toan.6:385% 2063/ 2015 (USD 120 million)
Debenture loan 3:395%.2004./, 2009, (ELIR 100 million).
Debenture loan:5.125% 2003 / 2010 (EUR 600 myillion] ..
Debenture loan: &.1 25% 200t / 2008 (EUR 600 million)
Debenture loan 5.50% 2004 / 2014 (EUR 100 million)
Debenture foan 4:625% 2004/ 2014 (EUR 500 million)
Debenture loan 2005 /2020 (USD 11 million)

EURIBOR loan 3 mpnths-2002 / 2006
EURIBOR loan 3 months 2005 / 2011 (EUR 97 million).
“Loan 3.94%:2005,.2009 (EUR 53-million}. =
EURIBOR loan 3 months 2005 / 2010 (EUR 30 mllhon) :
EURIBOR loan 3 months 2005 / 2010 (EUR 35:million)

Loan 4.67% 2001/ 2011 (EUR 47 million}* :

Loan 5.36% 2002}/ 2012/ (EUR 73; million}*

Loan 5.01%% 2002772010 (EUR 5 million)”

Loan 4.01%.2003:/ 2011 {EUR 5 'million)* )

Loan 5.56%-1995 / 2009 (EUR 2? million)**

Loan 5.45% 19957 2009 {(EUR 25 million)*

Loan t 6.4% 2001/ 2011 (EUR 58 million) .
Issue of transferable securities: - EURIBOR 3 months 2003, / 2008 (FIIR 80 mﬂhon)
Loan 4.06% 2003 /2008

EVIRIBOR loan 3'months 2000 / 2013 (EUR 100 mill ion}

Other loans

SUB-TOTAL -~

174
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“In EUR million

Arceloy

" Convertible debenture loan 3 % 2002 /2017

< Lisinor

Debenture loan 7.25% (U\SD 300 mllhon) 1996 / 2006

“Arbed

~ EURIBOR loan zooo/ 2007

* EURIBOR loan.3 months 2000/ 2006

~ Loan 5.06 % 2001 / 2011 (AIS.Finance)”

Belgo Siderurgia

TILP debenture loan 19987 2010-(BRL 97 million) - BMI’ P

1GPM debentureloan 20()3 /2011 (BRL 93 million) : BMPS

LIBOR loan 2003 / 2006 (BRL 60 million) - Belgo

1GPM debenture foan 2003 / 2017 (BRL.29 million) - BMPS,

Convestible débentureloan 2004 /2012 (USD 47 mi hon) Adindar -7 ‘

TC+4% loan 20037/.2009 (ARS 100-million). - Acindar?

TJLP debenture loan 1997 /2009 {(BRL 13 million})

TILP, debenture loan 1997 / 2009 (BRL 20 million}

1GPM debenture 10an 1999 /-2017 (BRL 13 malhon)

TILP loan 2000/ 2010 (BRl 221 million = 20042 BRL: 2()4 mi hon)

TTLP.loan 2000 / 2007 {BRL,149 million)

TILPloan 2003 / 2012 (BRL 79 million -2004 BRI, 104 mllhon) o

LIBOR loan 2003/ 2013 {UISD 99 million}

~ LIBOR loan 2003 / 2017 (USD 51 million)

LIBOR loan 2005 / 2016 (USPH 70 million}

LIBOR loan 2005 / 2017 -{USD 11 million};

Debenture loan. 2005/ 2014 (USD 19 million)

- Ve ga do Sul

Libor loan 2002 / 2014 (USD 46 million - 2004 : USI) 50 mlihon) o

Libor loan 2002/ 2012 {USD> 2 million - 2004 : USD 100 million)

CTJLP loan 2002 / 2011 (BRL 281 million - 2004 : BRL: 280 million]

Acesita

“Pre:Export” loan2003./2010 (USD 50 million)

“Pre-Export” loan 2003 / 2011 {LISD 50.million)

" "Pre-Export” loan 2003 /2007 (USD.15 million)

“PrexExport” loan 2004 / 2007 (USD 10 million)

“*Pre-Export” loan:2004 /. 2009 (USD 14-million)

“Pre-Export” loan 2004 /2007 (USE-10-million) -y o

TP loan 2005 / 2010 {BRI. 32 million)

Other loans

”i'ﬂ'l AL

* I‘lu,w {oans have bazn wransferred from Arbed 1w Arcelor Finance in 200;

po Ihese loiss Fave been transferred frony "other Zoam 16 Arcelor Finance in 7!)()*7
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‘ 'Extemal palicies are evaluated by mdtpmdent actuanes Pleanien R

"1{ 7 hmmcml information

. Complementary. pension plans

) l’riv'at'émedital=insurance TR
~Work:medals: : : - i ot

2E aga lm{»g* mation

\J(rtes 1o the consolidated financial statements

Note 17 - Employee benefits RO
. |
17, 1 Introduction i

'lhe majority of the companies included in the Azcelor consohdauon scope are Puropean and Brazlllan

' entities. According o the laws and regu.lanons in effect in:these courntries, addmonal baneﬁts can be

gmntedmstaff G s : SEn e l

: ‘thn complementaly benefits provided:to emplowee g:ve rise 164 future commnmuﬁ of the C,roup a
: prowsxon is calculated based on actuarial valuation methodologv lhe Froup uses mdependent dctuaries
10" caleulate the amounts of these cominitments;- Moreover, -an’ md&pemdent firm is- respormble for the

coordmauon and supervision of all these-actuarial Lakulauons for 1he Group:

Ini order 1o reﬂen the evolution of the e);pected rate Oft debenture loan fetumyin 200), the Gmup dended o

10 It.dU.CL its. discount rate for the euro area from 5% tu 4 3%

i

F he, resulung acwarial loss (EUR 131 million) has been accounted for in Ime wnh thg comdor pol)cy and

“is+nd] luded in ‘the caption “Unrecognised artuanal gams or losses

;Some subs1d1ar1es have determined to cover panlv or completelv Lhelr retirement obhgauons through :

contracis with external insurance providers where such hedgmg is compulsory (ﬁmdecl obhganons)

fd

;.,k

I‘he dlfference between the current value of such commnmems ancl lhat of Lhe extgmal insurance pohcms :
‘desxgned to.cover such commitments (EUR 196 million in total, including all benefits).represents the net -
liability of the Group in relation to such benefit schemes: This doés not represent an oyerall ﬁmdmg

shortfall, but rather, in almost all cases, firlandng opnons Lnterad into-by the submdxanes

CAU lhe end of the year 2005, the Group passed pan of its commnmems for the penston arrangemems m
, France to an, ext&mal insurer (complemennrv pemlon plan lRUS) o S

17 2.1~ Derall of the provisions. by type- of comnutment

' Pre retlremem plans have been reclassxﬁeé 10 the balance sheet capnon I’rovmom for tum n\ation

benehts (note 18).

l’rowsmns for pension and other benefits are amlysed as follows

B [iniilof the provisions for pension and other baviafits

I EUR ‘million”

‘Leaving compensation

TOTAL PROVISION FOR PENSION PLANS AND SlM[lAR BEN[ HTS

Chiarges in the year associated with these additional benefits granted to staff (exdudmg the interest -
charge linked to the disc oummg of commitments and to the discounted teturn on assets) are disclosed
within the caption “Staff costs” in the income statement, ds detailed at note 21.
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17.2.2 ~ Pensions

France Belgium

In'EUR million

2004 0

Financial assets

Luxembourg

2004

- Sufffunding”

" Batance sheer provision
. Presént value.of funded obligations

. Sub:total: Net present value

. Unrécognised actuarial gains'/ (losses)
Unrecognised service cost

. Actuarial (gains) / losses recognised

Opening balance 19 19 284 294 7 1 460
Actual return on plan assets S - oy 8 - 39
Actuarial (gains) / losses - -
Addinonal funding 26 39
Benefits paid out - -33

Acquisitions / disposals / settiementis

Changes in conselidation scope

Closing differences

Adtnarial value of commitments

Opening balance

b

Current. service: cost

Irterest cost-

Lo ENE] R

Actiarial {gains} [ losses

—
k=

Dishuisements

Acquistiions [ disposals / settlements

Obligation transfer

Change in pension plan

Changes‘in consolidation scope

Exchange differences

Closing balance

Fair-value.of plan assets

of funded obligation

Present value of unfunded obligations

Sub-total: Net commitments’

Net.assets selated-to-funded obligation

Balance sheet provision

Breakdown af.charge for the perdod

Current servicg-cost

ltterest cost

Expected return on ‘assets

in the periad

Armottisation of past service cost

Cunailments and settlements

Expenses recognised

in the income §tatement

Moveinents in balance shivet provision

Qpening provisiot 4679

Chingeésin consolidation scope i

‘Exchange differences

Vanaton of et assets related
1o tunded obligations

Obligation transfer

Disbursemeits

Expenses recognised e
in'the income staterment 67
Closing provision 456

Main actuarial assumptions

1,196

Discount rate G s 0% 5000 % -y :
Expected return on plan assets CAORY 4.00% ) 8,50% &

Average rate of salary increase

3.47%%

3.91%

5
pd

$1000%5 ()00 |

{nflation rate 2.00% 1 2.00%

2.00% %

2.00% 4ith

Defined conribution plan

5,000 0 200%; 20080 o

i
i

Contributions during the period

15

(*) Assumption exposing the changes-in pension scheme type.

i
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

17:2.3 - Leaving indemnities

I EUR million

. Financial assets

France

Opehing balance

Actual return on plan assets

- Actuatial (gains) / losses

Additional funding

Benefits paid out

Acquisitions / disposals / settlements

‘Chafiges in consolidation scope

‘Exchiange differences

Closing balance b

Actuarial value of commitments

3107

* ‘Opening balance
Current service cnst 10
. interest cost 16
Actuarial (gains) / 1055&5 4
Staff funding
Bertefit paid out . . -17
Acquisitions / dlsposals/ settlements -5
‘Changes in pension-plan. 6
Changes in.consolidation scope’: -20
Exchange differences -
Closing balance 304
“Bakdnice sheet provision
Present value of funded obligations 10-
“ Fair value of plan assets -8
- ‘Substotal: Net present value of funded ubl lgatmns 2
‘Presuxt value of unfunded obligations 294
“Unrecognised actuarial gains / (losses) - 81

" “Untecognised past service costs 2

Balance sheet provision. " 379
Breakdown of charge for the period” W
Current service cost 10
Inierest.cost B N s A 16

cted return on assets. ] -
Actiianial (gains) / losses recognised in the period -7
_Amortisation of past service cost ' 8
" Curtailments and settlenients -6 -
- Expenses recognised in the income statement 12 21
Movement in balance sheet provision ‘ -

" Opening provision : 39}
Changes in consolidation scope -16
Lxchange differences -
Disbursements 17
fixpenses recognised in the 1m0me statement 21
Closing provision 379

Main actuarial assiumptions

Discount rate

AB0% 5.00%

Txpected return on ptan assets

L5750 5.75%

Average rate of salary increase

2.97% 3.00%

inflation rate

£2:00%. 2.00%

178

1

1




- 17.2.4 - Other benefits (medical insurance; work medals)

In EUR million

France

Financial assets

C )th ers

Qpening balance 6
Actuarial (gains) / losses -
Actual return on plan assets -
Additional funding 4
Benefits paid out -1
Acquisitions/ disposals / settlements -6
Changes in conselidation scope -
"Exchange differences -
- Closing balance 3
" Actarial value of commitinents .
Opening balance 130"
Current service cost 3
interest cost 7.
Actuarial (gains) / losses G
- Saff funding -
-Benefit paid.out -1
Acquisitions /[ disposals / settlements -82.
“Changes in pension plan 30
' Changes in ¢onsolidation scope -
Exchange differences -
Closing balance 83
Balance sheet provision
" Present value of funded obligations 27
Fair value of plan assets -3
Sub-total: Net present value of funded obhgatlons 24
Present value of unfunded-obligations 56
Untecognised actuarial gains / (losses) -3
Unrecognised past service costs -
. Balancesheet provision 77
- Breakdown of charges for the period
Current'service cost 3
Interest cost 7
Lxpected-return onr-assets -
Actuarial(gains) / losses recognised in the pcnad 3
Amortisation of past service cost 26
Curtailinents and settlements -76
‘Expenses recognised in the income statement -37
Movement in balance sheet provision
. ‘Opening provision 124
Changes in consolidation scope -
Exchange differences 1
Disbursements . -1l
Eixpenses.recognised in the income statement. -37
77

Closing provision

Main actoarial assamptions

Discount rate 450% 5.00% 45006 5.000% oo s :
Fxpected return on plan assets L - 0% 5.75% - -
Average rate of salary increase 221862 3.00% . P R
Inflation rate 2:00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% -
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

17.3 Change in accounting policy as from fanuary 1, 2006

In order to improve disclosure of the gradual externalisation of its pension commitments, the Group
will recognize actuarial gains ot losses immediately to shareholders’ equity starting January 1, 2006, in
accordance with 1AS 19 revised; and thus replace the corridor policy allowing deferred recognition of
net actuarial gains or losses { “unrecognised actuarial gains/losses”, see paragraphs 17.2.2, 17.2!3 and
17.2.4 above). o

This ¢hange in accoutiting policy will affect long-term benefits granted to- staff. {complementagy
pension plans, retirement benefits and-medical insurance for pensioners), with the single: exteption
of work medals. The Group.does notapply the corridor policy w0 work medals and-their valuation is
subjéct to a different level 6f uncertainty compared to'the remaining long:terns benefits:=

First-lime adoption of this new accounting policy will lead to a transfer of net unrecoghised actuarial

‘gains or losses ai 31 December 2005 to shareholders’ equity. The impact on balance sheet provisions is
as follows: i k _ o e

Actuarial gains :

Openiné balance

186

Note 18 - Provisions for termination benefits

The provisions for termitiation benefitsreflect social commitments that.the Group-has.madein the context .
.of its restructuring plans announced: prior’ o the year-end_ (which may subsequenty become early
categories of

retirement plans), of early Tetirement:plans linked 1o collective agreements signed:with certair

In EUR million i .
Opening balance:at 1 January. 2005 .7 44]

InEUR million. or losses 2006

- Complementary pension plans 258 - 1,237
Leaving indemnities ; -77 297
Medicdl insurance 5 30
Work medals e - 53
TOTAL EMPLOYEE BENEFITS . 1,617

NI

Increase in provision . 2 = : 46 81 127 .
Uitilisation and reversal T s L - -67 - -101

Reclassifications (social plans tiinsformed into early :

retirement plans during the year) : : -4 4 -
Other reclassifications, changes-in. consolidation scope '

and foreign exchange variations -5 -9

CLOSING BALANCE AT 31 DECGEMBER-2005

Charges for the period relating to social provisions are recorded in "Other operating charges" in theéincorme
statemnent. Charges for the period relating to early retirementplans.are recorded in “Staffcosis™ in theincome
statemnent as detailed in note 21, o




.y, within the context of the AREQ pro ect (2003 109’
o ® Stainless Steel sector (2005: 59, 2004;

o In EUR million S

_Balance sheet provision !
“Present value of unfunded-obligation
- Unrecognised actuarial gains / (losses)

. Balance sheet pruvxsnon

« Movement in balance sheet provision U

+:Changes in consolidation scope
;Exehange differences

~Obligation transfer

Closing provision
L Main actuarial assumptions

. Average rate of salary increase L S2.00% 2.00%.
inflation rate , 300% 2.00%. 2.00% 2.00% 200% 2.00%

18.1 = Social provisions

~ Social provisions at the year-end mclude esumated indemnities under the follo»x mg restmcturmg plans

{amounts in EUR million):

= Flat Carbon Steel sector (2005 324 2004 332): pnmanly the socxal plan related to the reorgamsanon

of the hot phase in Ligge (2005: 184; 2004: 1”6) and the increase of lhe c1a] plovmons in Spam

2004: 107). R

8): prit mm Iy the socnl provmom rehtmg 10 the reorgamsanon(

of Ugitech S.A. (2005 14; 200%: 20) and. the fncrease of social provisions rdatmc to the closure ofthe
Ishergues site within Ugine & AlZ France (2005 31; 2004: 31).

" » A3S sector {2005: 17; 2004: 26):

182 - Farly reiirﬁmenl plans

¢ An actuary reviews the early retirernent plans, which are either part of restrugturmg measurts or
.7 collective agreements. The main. wsumptlons and the movemems dunng the vear are: summansed m
the following table :

Germany Luxembourg

Othefs

2004 .

2004

Total ‘

63"

63

Breakdown of charges for the period

Current service cost

Interestcost

Actuarial (gains) / losses re‘cocmxed in the, pumd

Amortisation of past service cost

Expenses recognised in the income statement. -

Opening provision

Acquisition / disposal

Disbursements

Expenses recognised in the income smtemem

Discount rate S CUATAY a02% 14.03% 4.00%  400% 4.00%

L2519 2.51% 2.00% 2.00% .

Py




Note 19 - Other provisions

Fiva

& e & £
ciuf and fegal z.ném:?:m(w?a
&

Nates to the consoiidated financial statements

In EUR million

Opening balance ’ : ' 115 64
Increase in provisions ; 10 22 61 27 367
Utilisation and reversal b 221 =27 -53 -346 -447

Reclassifications, changes.in
consolidation scope -
and exchange differénces

CLOSING BALANCE -

In EUR million
Other long tetm provisions. .
Other short term provisions

TOTAL OTHER PROVISIONS

19.1.- Provisions for restﬁmmfing

Provisions recorded under:this heading do- not include: social "com.m‘itm'emé,;which are separately
disélosed under “Provisions for termination benefits’ as detailed inniote 18. L

Provisions for restriicturing comprise provisions established in respect 6f charges'for the dismantling
dnd the restoration of sites. ' : s T ‘

By sector, restructuring pfovisions are analysed as follows:

a Flat Carbon Steel: EUIR 42 million (2004: EUR 52 million)
e Stainless Steel: EUR 33 million (2004 EUR 37 million)

o Other: EUR 22 million:(2004: EUR 26 million})

19.2 - Commercial risks

Commercial rsks ptimarily:include litigation with customers, bad. debts;; losses’ on contracts and
termination losses as well.as guaram.e’es and other items. T . L : .

19.3 - Environmental visks

Provisions for environmenta! risks, analysed by geographic zones, ate asfollows: =

2004

In EUR million

Germany 2
Belgium 97
Frdnce 707
Luxembourg 40
Other 6
TOTAL 215

The provisions cover the-anticipated costs relating to both protection and remediation of soil, ground water
and surface water {2005: FUR 135 million, 2004: EUR 108 million), waste management (2005:
EUR 35 million, 2004: EUR 31 million) and other environmental measurements {2005:
EUR 58 million, 2004: EUR 76 million). The provisions are calculated in accordance with local and
natienal legal standards.and regulations.

162
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Note 20 - Other armounts payable

- Tax and social security,

19.4 - Other visks

Other provisions coverthe following risks:

In EUR million 2004
Litigations a9
Tax risks 176
Social risks 15
Other risks 285
TOTAL

725

- Provisions. for 1ax: risKs, include “provisions booked within: the: coftext.of disputes with local andfor -
national tax authorities. : RETRE. NP oTinse 5 e

Provisions for'"litigz}tionsk.comprise non-tax related claims, ¢

The provisions for costs relating to personnel include:provisiois recordediwhich:are not included under

the heading of “'Empl\’ofyée benefits™. PR

- . : o & . R i

In EUR million

Fixed asset suppliers’

Prepayments onorders

Revaluation of foreign currency hedge instruments - Note 25
Revaluation of raw materials hedge instruments - Note25

Dividends payable®’
Other creditors:
Deferred income
TOTAL

Note 21 - Staff cOSts

For darity, the interestcharges relating to the discovinting ‘of the:provisions-for pensions andisimilar
benefits and of early retivement:provisions were included, a8 from; 1/,];1nué_ryx 2005, in ﬁnancial;es‘uh and
fiot under the heading “Staff costs™. These interest chargesinclude both discotnting charges relating to the
provisions and financial income linked to the discounted réturn on:assets. The comparative information
has been restated{tefer.to note 1). IR R ‘

The charge for the year relating to the provision of pensions and similar benefits includes in"2005
non-recurring charges associated with. the gradual externalisation of the complementary pensgion plan
IRUS in France, and ity 2004 non-recurting charges associated with ithe ‘disposal of the American
subsidiary company July Products. E ‘

o
&
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Filuancial 6nd {egm information

Nates tothe consolidated financial statements

In EUR million

Wages and salaries

Social charges

Contributions to defined comnbmmn pension schemes - \Iote 17

Charges for the year in respéct of additional employee beneﬁts glvmg nse to provmons
{not mdudmg interest-charges) - Note 17

Charges for the year in.respect of provisions for early retirement s
(not including interesticharges) - Note 18 e

Employee profit-sharing scheme:

Cost of equity-settled share: baeed paymernts

Other

- TOTAL

Note 22 - Net financing costs

WEUR million < ,
Interest income ‘ RS e :

Iriterest charges”

" Discounting interest charges’

s.of which.interest Chirges relating to the discounting of employee beneﬁts pmmsmm “Not'17

& of which interest charges relatmg to-the discounting of early rmmren( pmmwns = Note ] 8

Dividends received

Foreign exchange result’

Restatement to fair value of the équity conversion option relatmg
to'the O:C.EANE: 2017 debenture loan o

Restatement to-fair value ofiotherfinancial mstruments

Impairment of financial assets

Result on the disposal of ﬁnzmcxal assets

Other

TOTAL

The resulton forugn e(change mdudes uureahbad gams of EUR 82 rmlhon relatmg to the revaluauon
of exchange opuons falling. oumde the scope of cash: ﬂow hedgmg ‘ : .

As of I January 2003, dmcoummg interest charges mdude thé mterest charges and the dlscounted
rewrm-on assets linked 1o the long-term benefits granted 1o staff (nc1 ba ance of EUR 108 mill mn)

Pursuam to the revising of 1AS 32 at 1 January 2005, the restatenient to fair val e of the! equm
conversion option relating 1o the O.CEANE. 2017 3% debemure loan resulted in & charge of

EUR 44 mllhon (2004 LUR 30 million).

Other net ﬁnancmc gosts mclude banking charges and c01nm15510ns for EUR 48 million.



. Deferred tax
o In hUR million
. Netprofit -

. Taxcharge
o PROFIT.BEFORE TAX ’ : .5
. Theorelxmll Aax dmrge (33 80% in 200%, 35.37-% in. 2004) —

*Movements in-unrécognised defemd tax-assets’

 Tax deduction loan:interest « Acominas » (Brazil)

. Permanent dlﬁerences are pnmanly due © the followmg

. -Depreciation...--
Goodwilland surplus amomsalmn

Note 2 Tamtwﬂ

Tax c%mr‘gf
wx analisist

In EUR million

Current tax

TOTAL TAXATION

Ruarulutm:z Between: the ty churge and-the rostelt before tix:

Mindarity interest,

Result from compames accounled for using the eqmw method

Reccm ili&tion

Permanent differences.

Vartation in tax-rates

Tax dedhiction «Adene » (Brazil)

Tax deduction goodwill' MJ$ (Brazil)

Variations in deferred: tax liabilities related 1o foreign exn.hange movemems i

or non-ronetary assets and liabilities denominated i foreign currencies
Deferred tax-assets'related to tax losses carried forward - :

Tax credits' and oither taxes

EFFECTIVE TAX CHARGE

InE UR million

Result on-dispasal exemptifrom tax

Other charges andii income, not deductible / not taxable

TOTAL

Deferred tax

Permanent differences are primarily due to the following:

ovements in deferred tax Habilities

Inn EUR willion 2004
Balance as atJanuary 1 265
Expense (income) for the period 57
Deferred 1ax assets related to losses carried forward -
Variations in deferred tax habilities related w foreign exchange movements
on non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies -35
Effects of the variations in exchange rates, consolidation scope and reclassifications. 323
Deferred tax booked directly 1o shareholders’ equity -5
605

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER




~ Deferred tax assets related to losses carried forward

. Deferred 1ax asset-adjustments Telating to-prier periods

- BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER

;- Financial instrumernts’

Finavciaf and fegaf inforsation

Nates to the consolidated financial staternents

Movements in deferred tax assets:are analysed as follows:

B Movements in-deferied tax assets

In EUR willion.
Balance as at January 1 .
Income {expense) for the period

Utilisation of deferred-tax assets-related to losses carried forward

Effects of the variations-in, exchange rates, consolidation scope cmd recldssxﬁcauons
Deferred tax booked.directly to shareholders’ equxty

B Origih of deferred taciassess aiwd fabilites

In EUR million

Intangible assets’

Property, plaht-and eduipment
Inventories . o

Other.assets -
Provisions:
of which pensions. ..
of which other social provisions ™
of which other provisions
Qther liabilities
‘Tax losses cartied forward
Deferred tax assets / {liabilities)
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities
NET BALANCE

At31 Decembér 2005,’ the Groub’scarﬁedfogy&ard tax losses have the followiné; maturity:

In EUR million

2006 1
2007 6
2008 10
2009 -
2009 and beyond a8
2010 and beyond: . i
No maturity dale’ 4,840

FOTAL ‘ ~ ST 6230 5,275
Other tax credits- (long term depreciation) ' ; Lws

<
o~




~ Other
- TOTAL

2472 - Purchases and sales of goods and services ./

i

Deferred tax assets not recognised by the Group apply to the following elements at 31 December 2005

In EUR million

Tax losses carried forward

Other tax credits {long term losses)
Property, plant and eqmpmem

Deferred tax assets not recognised by the Cr('mp ‘;pp!y to theifollowing elements at 31 Décenibef 2b04: s

Total deferred f(ecognised Unrecognised

In EUR million B T . Gross amount tax assets ‘deferred tax assets -deferred tax assets
Tax losses carried forward 000 f 5,275 1,817 514 1,303
Other tax credits {long tetm losses) ™ o TS 1,313 451 - 451
Pmpen'v, plant and equ1pmem e < 1,541 548 287 261
Other L S ca : 2,945 1,020 926 94

"TOTAL . i i - - 3,836 1,727 2,109

3
I

Note 24 - Relared pa? ty: dwdasum

. The consolidated hnancml stwtements mdude tnmacuom carried out by the Group'in the normal

course of busmess vmh its nion- consolldated emmes and emmes dLLOLlI)I&d tor usmg th
method. Transactions are booked at marl\et prices.

aqmtv

241 - Loans and guarantees given

In ELR million. 2004 -
- Loans {including shortiterm loans) to non consohdated compames 42
Guarantees granted {o:non- comohd.ued companxes ) 159

In EUR million
Sales
Purchases

500

24.3 - Remuneration of the Board of Direclors an‘d'(}enerai Management

In EUR million :
Board of Directors and Geuerali Managemem

Additional details on remuneration- are provided in I_hL Repott of the Chairman of the Board: of.
Directors on Corporate Governance and the internal control procedures of this Annual Report.
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: Si‘ini}arlv,uswaps, 1

Note 25 - Financial instruments aﬂd‘derivaiives

“The Group t1sés fmanaa] instruments and derivatives o hedge:its exposure to ﬂucmauons in‘interest rates, :

ekchange rates'and the price of raw matenals, energy and emxsslon rlghts tradlng (startmg 2005 for® the »
fatter risk categorv)

The Group manages the counter- p1m risk- associated, with these mstrumems by centraixe.mg its”.
commitrients and by applving procedures which specify, foreach.type of namactmn and underlying risk,
limits dind/or the characteristics of the counter-party. The Group does, not generally grant o -or require
fromy its' countet-parties;; guarantees: over the ‘fisks.-incurred: ~Allowing ‘for. exceptions’ the Group's.
counterparties are: part of its- financial partners ‘and thé related market 1ransacnons ‘are. governed: by
framework agreements {(mainly of the ISDA typea Hlowing fetting in case of coumer-pim default),
The parent'comnpany centrally' manages the risks'of all the Group entities; with'the exception:of the North S
and. South American’ conipanies. These entities manage their nsks accordmg to” Group pOhC\, and in
agreement with the parent companv : *

Imerest rate ti

lhe Lroup uses several [ypes of instruments for the managemem of interest rate risk’in” order to:
optimise:its:financial expenses or iricome, to hedge exchange risk relatéd to loans 'md borrowmgs in.
foreign-currencies and‘to- manage the spht between fixed and’ variable rate loans:

Interest:rate exchange contracts (‘swaps ) allow the Group to botrow long—term at variable rates, and ta;
swap the ‘rate of this-debt either fror the start'or during the pefiod of the loan: The Group andits’
counter—pany exchange, at predefined intervals; the difference betwun the agreed fixed. Tate andthe.
vanable rate, al ; iated o1 the bas;s of the ncnonal 3moum of the swap el

ay be@used .for,-,the exchangeﬁof variable..rates,,abainst, o,théh Varidble;rates.'

FRAs (* forward rate acreements ) and futures u)ntmcts on interest rates are pnmanlv used by 1J1e Group
1o hedge the Tates paid on-loans and variable rate financial instruments or, in particular cases, on
existing:orfuture loans. Similarly, futures contracts are med by the Group to hedge thedifference il the :
rates between two, currencies “in” particular - cases and within the framework  of exchange sk
mariagement. These contracisiare either commitments 1o bty (orsell)ia financial instrument ata-future’

date aridiatan aoreed price, or'to'teceive {or pay)-ara future date the difference betiveen two given:rates; IS
Certain: instrumentsican be'settled in cash, others can-be settled through deIJVCIy of the-underlying asset 3 S
or in cash. The Group. wxll genuaﬂy only cummn 1tself to hlghl iquid term comracts, such as
EURIBOR or EurodoHar futures ¢ S

s

+

Interest rate: derivatives u%ed by the . Group ‘to cover variations, in the Value of t1xed rite loans are
qualified as fair.value hedges according to IAS'39. These derivatives ate revalued at the balance sheet
date and havé an impact on-the net profit or loss. Thls mlpaet is: neutrahsed by a similartevaluation of
the hedged part of the w;ocnted loans.

At 31 December 2005; the Group does not own-interest rate denvmves th'xt are not thﬁed as
hedgmg instruments acnordmg to 1AS %‘) : ‘ . ‘

fxchange rate risk

The Group uses forward purchdses and sales of foreign curru]cv and other derivatives to hedge foreign -
currency transactions of the majority of its subsidiaries, '

Swaps might also be used to exchange a currency with-another one wnhm the framework ofexchange
risk management. !

i

o
Py




* The general policy of the Group is to hedge: exchange tisks on transactions completely. Ho{vex'gf; as an

* transactional risks.

. reprocess part or all'of the'related variations invalue 10 shireholders” equity. This accounting treatment

At 31 December 2005, exchangelnyne,deriya{i\fes, used by the Group and: qgalifying:«as fcasﬁ flow
~hedges.under IAS 39 giverise to a hedging reserve of EUR 115 million. ThisTeserve is recorded iniGroup
+equity (2004:-). AN . ' ‘ S

. ~The hedging'réserve is presented-as fé)l!owéz;

- . Exchange options

TOTAL

At 31 December 2005, the other derivé:tive‘ir'lstfgmehis ~erﬁployed in order to-H dg ,je:kéhaﬁéeﬁﬁé )
 were recorded at market value; this resulted’in a gain"of EUR 82 million (20041 EUR -185.maillion).

“‘The Group. uses finandial instruments’ (forward.purchases; options and swaps on commodities) in"

" faw materials and energy both via the purchase ofiits own.raw materials and viasales contracts.

The-Group niianages its Tisk on raw fnaterials‘in an-overall fashion. Derivatives of taw materials-used

“ Emission rights

The Group is mainly exposed to variations in value arising from exchange rate fluctuations on-raw materials
and energy supply as well as on freight. DR )

The common practice of the Group is to invoice clients in their own currency. s
The Group also uses these instruments at-consolidation fevel 1o hedge debt recorded inforeign currency
or the balance sheet risk incurred on certain assets. : ' :

exception to this general policy, for certain curténcies and for risks- and; amounts that are clearly

identified and authorised by management; the-Group may-either-hedge in‘antidipation or not hedge

In this context, the Group has setup macio-econamic fnanagement for-d-part OFits purchases, (mainly’
for its future raw materials and associated' consumptions {iron, ‘ore, coal'and freight:}), enabling it to

is allowed in order'to account for cash flowhedges.

I EUR million

Forward purchases TUSD

Raw material visk

order to-reduce the volatility Tisk of cerfain raw. materials;and-energy. The Group'is exposed to risks on

by the Group qualify as effective hedging instruments according to IAS 39: At 31 December 2005, a
hedging reserve of ELR -12'million (net of tax) is integrated. into'the Shareholder's equity of the Group
(2004: EUR 28 million - net of tax). : A ‘

At 31 December 2005 the reporting. of other deri\ia[ives hedging raw materials.and én’ergy‘at'marke_t
value iri the balance sheet led-to a profit of EUR 28;million (2004: EUR 0.8 million)s -

" Pdfsuant to the coming into effect of the European Directive 2003/87/EC: of 13 October 2003

establishing a scheme for emission allowance trading, the Group employs several types,of derivatives v
(cash purchase/sale, forward transactions, options) in order to implement its mandgement policy for

“associated risks.

At 31 December 2005 the reporting of other derivatives hedging emission rights at market valu‘:é in the
balance sheet led to a profit of EUR 0.1 myillion (2004: -). ‘ : ‘




a [he types of instruments, the products and currencies s which may be
" “exposure are determined at management level. Each riskis monitoréd, ona dallv basis and intra-day

Fivarcial and legal biformation

Nates to the consolidated financial statements

Trading risk

If there are open-positions, duly governed by limit tracking proccdures (deﬁned by the namre of the
risk: autorised nominal amount, maximum level of loss/profit, fixed maturities); ‘the Group cames out

. trading operations on the basis of the risks associated w ith interest rates; exchange rates, raw material

and energy prices, as well as with emission rights. Open positions are'not mgmhcam wnh respect to the

volume of hedging operauom dealt or the general rate risk: S o , |

i

Pnl[o\wng up on risks :

as'well as the maximum risk

basis, by a dedicated and independent team, who can report directly:to: the Audit Commiittee; of the
Group, if necessary. In 2005 and 2004, the net profit or:loss on 1radmg opermom was not S|gmf1c1n1
to: the Group's. It_SU][S g =

The portfolio of assets assocuated with deriva’tNe financial instruments: at31: December 2005 is as

. follows:
2004
. Notional Market Average
I EUR million amount value rate *
- nterest rate instiunients S :

+ INTEREST RATE-AND-CURRENCY: QWAPS

. -iFixed rate borrowings - -
- Fixed rate lendings” - - -
- Variable/variable - 100 1 6.57 %
INTEREST RATE SWAPS - FIXED RATE BORROWINGS '
- EUR - - -
- Foreign currency 220 2 2.74 %
INTEREST RATE SWAPS - HXED RATE lO/\N‘i . e
- EUR 1,400 72 4.72%

. - USD 308 1 551% - -

- Foreign currency - -

Iriterest rate swaps,- Vanable/xarmble _ 88 - 235%
FRA contracts - purchases o 100 - 2.26%
FRA contracts - sales 100 2.46 %
Cap purchases - - -
Cap sales - -
Floor purchases - - -

. Floor sales -
TOTAL ASSETS - NOTE 8 - 86 -
Exchange rate instnunents .

Forward purchase of foreign cunrency 77 4,

Porward sales of foreign currency 890 41 -
Exchange options - purchases

Exchange options - sales - -
TOTAL ASSETS - NOTE 11 - 45 -
Raw Materials c

Term contracts - sales 96 -13 -
ferm contracts - -purchases 401 65 -
Swaps using raw materials pricing index 9 0 -
Options - sales 236 -5

Onptions - purchases 179 1 -
TOTAL ASSETS - NOTE 11 - 48 -

(*} Average fived raes are determined on the basis of the EUR and foreign curtency ruses. Variable rawes are generally based onEuribor or Libor.

190




l

follows:

2004
Notional Market . Average
In EUR wmillion amount value rate *
Interest rate fostruments o . ’ R
‘INTEREST RATE SWAPS “FIXED, RATE BORROWINGvav -
TUEUR
Foreign currenc’y" o
 FRA contracts - .sales
"Cap purchases - ;
0.G.E.ANE. 2017 option
Long-tetim rates FRA contm(ts =
- purchases
" #TQTAL LIABILITIES - NOTE 16
Egchange rate lnstruments ; L S N

- Forward -parchase of foreign - currency : 1,583 - 118 -
Forward sale of foreign currency : 70 : - - -
-Exchange options - pmchases 5 : 1,975 S22 -
Exchange options - sales ; 7B i : 1,675 - 45 -
. TOTAL LIABILITIES - NOTES 20 : T - 185 -
Raw muaterials ‘ \ R N i A '
Term contracts - sales
Term contracts - purchases
Swaps using raw Imaterials pricing index: . :
Options - sales k . i : - . - -
Options - purchases -
TOTAL LIABILITIES - NOTES 20

) »\m’:zve fixed i ratesiare. dezf'rn"rzcd on zhe basis of the EUR and fdreign.cu encv

m The portfolio of liabilities associated with derivative financial instruments at'31 December 2005 is'as

50 - -2, 4.24 % .

190 -12 4.53 %

generally based on Euriboror Libot.. -

The assets and liabilities assoaated with interest rate lmtruments are d}smbuted a(cordmg;to the
following matumy dales T .

In EUR million .
< year |
15 years
%5 yeals .
TOTAL
Assets associated with mtu‘esl Tate mstruments
Liabilities associated with interest rate instruments
TOTAL

A

The exchange rate instrurnents fre reported in the following clirrencies:

‘ - Purchased currencies
Irn EUR million . . : usb CAD : EUR
usp o : - - 16
EUR o o 127 8 -
- CAD ) - - -9
GBP o - - -
2005 8 . 127 8" 7
2004 o -138 iy -3




Raw material instruments concern the following underlying materials:
in EUR million
" Base metals

- Gas

-~ Electricity

Note 26 = Commitments given and received "~ = =~
. '”Comrn'nm_ents detailed in this note do not include the "cm'g’u:‘nitnien\tsyxynemjonéd in‘note 25.
it EUR million
v " Personal guarantees on thitd-party finaiicial loans and credit lines
« Other personal guarantees’ R : :

" Discounted.bills (not yet.at maturity)

B Commimients fecetied

I EUR million

. TOTAL COMMITMENTS RECEIVED

Finavicial and

Nates. to the consoiidated financial statements

Petroleum

TOTAL

Assets associated with raw material instruments
Liabilities associated with faw matenial instruments
TOTAL

Hedging instruments concerning base metals {zing, hickel, aluminiumi pewter: and copper) and
~petioleum are negotiated in TISD, whereas instruments concerning gas and. electricity are negotiated:in
GBP and in EUR.. . ' P .

i
i
1
i

Ly

Commitinents ghren

Property guarantées.

Commitments to"buy or dispose of fixed assets
Other commitments given
TOTAL COMMITMENTS GIVEN

Endorsements and guarantees received from non-consolidated companies
Other commitments received ’ ) S

Personal-guarantees on third-party loans consist of personal guarantees hedging financial loans and credit
lines granted to non:consolidated subsidiaries and subsidiaries accounted for using the equity method.

Other personal guarantees include pledges, first claim guarantees, docuimentary credits; letters of credit and.
other siinilar letters. ‘ !

. Property guarantees rmainly consist of mortgages foran alﬁoum of EUR 212 million (2004: EUR 279 million).

Other commitments given comprise commitments incurred for the Jong-term-use of goods belonging to
a third party, commitments incurred under operating leases and commitments undeitaken within thes *
framework of securitisation programs. ’ ' , : ';

I

Eurthermore, at 31 December; 2005 the Group has lines of credit available from financial institutions
totalling over EUR 5,000 million. (2004: EUR 4,000 million). ‘

192
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Note 27 - Segment reporting =~ BRI

~except for thé:pumber of emp oyees

In accordance wnh both Group managenient. and mtemal reporting gmdelmes, seﬂment repomng
mformauon is disclosed by business activity and by oeographlcal ZOnes.

271 - Btmkdawn bv aumtv

Sales batwun actmtles are calculated at mar}\et pnce The opcratmg result is shown’ after dxmm 1ons

Figures in LLIR mzllion :

lncome stdtement . :
Revenue . 00 o0 18,060 6,618 4,028 8,656

-6,712

Inter-sectordales "~ -3,849 -1,146° -84 973" 6,712

TOTAL e U .o 472 3944 70683

Gross. operadng profit : 3,634 173 3287

Depreciation W , -842 277 -124 -84 44 - -1,371 -
Write-down «.- e =20 -1 44 -3 54 - 77 ©
Operating profit {before goodw:]l] 2,772 1,093 93 244 142 ¢ 3 4,347
Goodwill: 7 ) 1 18 - 10 - - 29
Operating profit’ o : 2,773 11 93 254 142 3 4,376

Share of resultsiin companies.
accou nted for using'the equltv

method 58 14" 47 30 ° 168 - 317
Balance sheet. : S § : SR e e e . :
Segment assets: .- k 18,359 5,578 : 4,171 3,707 9,578 -9,713 31,680 °
Praperty, plant and equzpmenl 8,341 2,632 1,877 542 375 - 13,767

Investments in companies
accounted:for: usmg the equuy

method 245 : 1,478
Unallocated assets . W . . o : 2758 ¢
TOTAL CONSOLIDATED ASSETS 18,750 5,781 3,952 10,21 35,916
Segment liabilities: 2 6,734 1,689 1,736 3,096 ¢ -3,023 11,748
Unallocated liabilities g - - - -
TOTAL CONSOLIDATED LABILITIES. 6,733 | 1689 ' Tams
ACQU]S]T[ONS OF TANGIBLE
AND INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 1,412 334 183 88
Other information o : “ ’ 4 ; i

T 97,695

Number of employees {average) 47,112 20,248 13,908 11,207
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Finomeinf and f:ga{ trformation

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

@ 2004

Long

27.2 - Geographicabbreakdown .

2005

Figures in EUR million,

except for the number of employees

Flat Stainless Arcelor Steel
Figures in EUR million, . Carbon Carbon Steel Solutions Other Elimi-
except for the number of employees Steel Steel - and Alloys and Services Activities nations Total
Income statement : . ' ' ok :
- 16,139 6,221 4,577 8,267 1,081 - 6,109 30,176
les - 3,480 - 1,096 -84 - 814 - 635 - 6,109 -
12,659 5,125 4,493 7,453 446 - 30,176
Gross operating profit 2,368 1,289 . 268 516 20 4,461
Qﬂ)reciation - 667 - 249 - 123 - 105 -36 - - 1180
fmpairment charges -3 -1 - 13 - 10 - 45
Operating profit {before goodwill}- 1,698 1,039 398 - 26 - 3,236
G(‘Odwvil[ ’ o q‘? V 41 .............. - - N - SR 78
Operating profit o 1,735 1080 127 398 - 26 - 3,314 -
Share of results ifvcompanies: - ; :
© dccouinted forusing.the equity -,
method i Tl T 212 52 32 14 - 413
Balance sheet e : - s
Segment assets 15,445 5,401 - 3,156 3,729 - 8,427 27,376
Propery, plant and equipment, 7,374 2,239 904 514 - 11,230
'fﬁ;'e%tmgms in‘companies accounted :
for using the-equity method" . 492 169 ¢ 153 38 514 - 1,366
Unallocated assets ™~ : - - - . - 2,496
TOTAL CONSOLIDATED:ASSETS 15,937 5,570 } 3,309 3,767 8,586 - 8,427 31,238
Segment liabilities 6,592 1,867 ; 1,679 1,807 1,721 ¢ - 1,925 11,741
Unallocated liabilites; - - - - - - - 7,270
TOTAL CONSOUDATED LIABILITIES 6,592 1,867 : 1,679 1,807 172 - 1,925 19,011
Acquisitions of tangible and
intangible fixed assets 738 416 - 151 79 40 - 1,424
Other information : e S R Coo i
Number of employees (average) 48,825 20,364 - 12,055 11,586 -

Revenue 23,228 2,955 3,530 2,898

Segment assets 22,684 685 8,178 133 31,680
Property, plantand equipment 8,188 67 5,499 . 13 13,767
(Gross operating result 3,895 68 1,659 19 5 641
Operating resul{ 3,001 55 1,303 17 4,376
Acquisition of property, plant B

and equipment, and intangible :
assets 1,145 15 910 - 2,070
Number of employeés:(average) 76,221 1,118 20,018 338 97.695

*) North Americd, including Mexico
\ &

154

32,611 . -,
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B 2004 \ ' ; S

(*) North America, inchuding Mexico

Note 28 - Post-balance sheet events .~ = e

Arcelor and the Canadian Grm{p Dofasco announced on 31 February-2006 that. 69,563}143 common

shares of Dofasco (representing 88:38% of the Dofasco. common shares oltstanding ona fully-diluted: -

basis) were deposited to'Arcelor's‘offer to acquire all of the owstanding common shares of Dofasco for

CADS 71.00 in cash per Dofasco common share by the expiry time of the offer on 20 Tebruary 5’2006.:

In order to provide Dofasco shareholders who have not yet accepted.the offer with'more time toidp“so,

Ascelor has extended the expiry tithe of the offer 1o 7 March: 2006. On this date, the shareholders of
outstanding, accepted Arcelors offer.

On 24 February 2006, Chinese steelmaler Laiwu Steel Crdep agreed ta sell to Arcelor ;1,38.41% stake
in Taiwu Steel Corporation, a tisted subsidiary of Laiwu'Steel Group, Lad.» S

Under the terms of the share p'ur'chése agreement, Arcelor will acquire 354,236,546. legal persen'shares
from Laiwu Steel Group,.Lidat a price of RMB 5.888 per share for'a total consideration of RMB

2,085,760,530.86. The all cash.consideration is: subject to-adjustments based on the netasset value at. -

a date close to the closing of the transaction.

On'3 March 2006, Arcelor, the:"Société Nationale diinvestissement” (SNE Morocco) and:the eference . ;
* shareholders of Sonasid" (MAMDA; MCMA; -Axd Assurances Marog RMA “Watanya, CIMR.and . .

Atijariwalabarik). contracted: a-strategic partiership agreement: designed for. the “development of

to combine their i nvestments-in Senasid’s capital under certdin conditions, by transferting their securities
to a holding company, created for this purpose, at :

On 10 March 2000, -Arcelor aniipunced the formation of ‘an: ‘exc‘llisiyé"’ agreemc;nit, with
Schmolz+Bickenbach concerning the 100% disposal of its subsidiary Ugitech, a long - stainiless steel
producer. . : ‘ :

Note 29 - Emission rights

For the year 2005, the total volume of the rights allocated 1o the Group is 57.3 million tonnes. Emission
volumes rose 1o 51 million tonnes at 31 December 2005.

ice’of MAD 1,350 per share. Atthe eridiof this
_stage, the holding company will:own 64.86% of Somfasid's capital, = - o LU

. Dofasco, owning 77,530,766 Dofasco common shares, ‘representing 98,5% of Defasco-cornmon shares: - 4

~Sonasid (Société Nationale de Sidérurgie) and allowing for Arcelor, SNI and the reference shareholders "+

Figures in EUR million, B European Union North South
except for the number of employees {UE 25) America * America Other Total
Revenue 23,377 2,308 2,146 \ 2,345 30,176
Segment assets ) 21,866 539 4,851 120 27,376 '
Property, plant and equipment 7.840 55 3,323 12 11,230
(Gross operating result 3,461 90 8§97 13 4,401
Operating tesult ' 2,428 71 809 6 3,314

* Acquisition of property, plant

~ and equipment, and intangible,
assets 1,153 13 256 2 1,424
Number of employees (average) - 79,344 1,414 14,770 301 95,829
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Notes 1o the consoiidated financial staterents

3.9 ml]hon tonnes out of the 6,3 million sumplus. of avallablc rights were sold on the maﬂ\et in the second

half-year 2003, for a total ainount of EUR 85 million. This surplus is partially linked to the-closing of & certain number of
continental factory sites and, on a more general note, to the voluntary reduction in production volumes during the year

Note 30 - Simplified Group m;gd}zz'saf:ion chart
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FC 100.00% (100 OO)

‘v :

Flat Carbon Steel

Long Carbon Steel

- Percentage of shureholdings in % and consolidation rutes in ()
(muolzdauun melhod: FC {fully consolidaied), EQ (equity method)
Nozg: The Indusieel activity has been transferred from Stainless Stevl to Other ac Lzmlm

1%

Stainless Steel
‘;and Alloys

Aicelor Sleel
Solutions and Services
(A3S)

Other activities
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L. @ Consolidation scope:

371 companies fully consolidated {in addition to Arcelor S.A)

186 companies consohdaud using the aqum mcthod

Company name

Consolidation

- Note 31 - Listing of Group companies at 31 Deceniber 2005

<

Flat Carbon Steel sector

method

Country

ACR stibgroup comprising the following entities:

- Aceria Compacia de Bizkaia SA, Sestao Full consolidation Spain
- Acb, Acr Decapado Ale; Sestac Full consolidation Spain
" ACERALIA Corporacion Sidertirgica SA, Gozdn Full consolidation Spain
" Aceros RS SA, Viladecans Equity method Spain
Arcelor Atlantique et Lorraine Sas, Puteaux Full consolidation France
- Arcelor Espana:$A, Madrid Full consolidation © Spain
* Arcelor FCS:Commerdial SA, Luxembourg Full consolidation Luxembourg &
... Arcelor FCS.Commercial Deutschland GmbH, Koln Full consolidation * Germany
Arcelor Packagifig Intemnational SA, Puteaux. Full consclidation : France
Arcelor Packaging International Espafia SL, Gezdn Full consolidation Spain !
Arcelor Packaging Intemational Italia Stl, Canossa Full consolidation : ftaly
Arcelor Planos Sagunto SL, Valencia Full consolidation Spain
Arcelor Research:SA, Puteaux Full consolidation France *
Borcelik Celik Sanyii Ticaret AS, Istanbul Equity method Turkey
" Bregal Bremer Galvanisierungs-GmbH, Bremen Full consolidation Germany .
Bre.M A Warmwalz GmbH & Co KG, Bremen Full consolidation Germany ;
Cia Hispano-Brasileira de Pelotizacao SA, Vitoria | Equity method Brazil 1
Cockerill Sambre SA, Seraing Full consolidation Belgium
Coils Lamniere Nastii Spa, Caselette, subgroup comprising :
20 entities ) Equity method | Ttaly
Comercial de Ilojalata y Metales $A, San Adrian Equity method Spain 5.
Cortes y Aplanados Sidenirgicos SA, Barcelona Full consolidation Spain :
_".CST subgroup comprising the following entites:
" . Companhia Sideraigica de Tubario SA (CST), Serra Full consolidation Brazil .
- €ST Cormporation BY, Amsterdam Full consolidation Netherlands *
- CST Overseas Litd, Grand Cayman Full consolidation . Cayman Islands @
- Skadden Consultadoria e Servicos Lda, Funchal Madeu‘a' Full consolidation . Portugal |
Daval Sas;:Puteaux Full consolidation | France
Decostee! NV, Geel Full consolidation Belgium *
Dermach SA; Madrid Full consolidation Spain
Eko Stahl GmbH, Eisenhiittenstadt Full consolidatien Germany
Eurogal Scil,, Flémalle: Full consolidation Belgium
Ewald Giebel:Luxemburg GmbH, Dudelange Equity method . Luxembourg *
Ferramentas e Accessorios Industriais Lda, Agueda Equity method Portugal

Galtec NV, Gent.

Full consolidation

Belgium

Galvalange:Sarl, Dudelange

Full consolidation

Luxembourg

Gestamp. Adtomocion $1, Abadiano

subgroup coinprising 58 entities Equity method Spain
La Magona subgroup comprising the following entities : -

- La Magona d'ltalia Spa, Firenze Full consolidation Italy

- Magona International SA, Luxembourg Full consolidation Luxembourg

- Societa Mézzi Portuali Piombino Spa, Piombino Equity method Ttaly o

- Tubisud Sil, Luogosano Full consolidation Italy
Metalirgica Asturiana SA, Mieres Full consolidation Spain 100.000000

i
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Nates to the consolidated financial statements

Consolidation scope {next}

.- Company name

‘Consolidation
method

Country

- RiBourgeois SA, Besancon

Equity method *

France 9996667

Full consclidation

| Siderirgica del Mediterrdneo SA, Puerto-Sagunto Spain
.- Sidmar NV, Gent Full consolidation Belgium
Sidstah! NV, Gent 'jlfull consolidation Belgium
Sikel'NV, Genk " Full consolidation Belgium :
“Sol Cogueria Tubardo SA, Serra Full consolidation © _ Brazil
Solcan Fininvest subgroup comprising the following entities:
- Solcan Fininvest Inc., Burlinton Full consolidation | Canada
= 1osol Galva Inc., Hamilton : Equity method | Canada
“iSollac Ambalaj Celigi Sanayi ve Ticaret AS, lzvam Istanbul .. Full consolidation Turkey
“Soellac Atlanitique SA, Puteaux Full consolidation | France
Solla¢ Lomaine SA, Pmeam Full consolidation : ‘France ©
- Sollac:Meéditerranée Sas, Puteaux Full consolidation France
":Stakilwerke Bremen GmblH; Bremen Full consolidation | Germany
7 " Tailor Steel America Llc, New.York Full consolidation | United States
~«Tailored Blank Bremen GmbH, Bremen ; Full consolidation : Germany
i+ Tailored Blank Eisénhiittenistadt, GmbH, Lxsenhunenstadt ) Full consolidation Germany
o Mailored Blank Genk NV, Genk'” Full consolidation * Belgium
Y Tailofed Rlank Liege SA, Liege Eull consolidation Belgium
7 Tailored Blank Lorraine SA, Uckange Full consolidation France
. Tailored Blank Zaragoza SA, Pedrola Full consolidation Spain
“Toleries Delloyve-Matthieu SA, Matchin “Full consolidation Belgium
& Usinor Auto SA, Puteaux ‘ i Full consolidation France
‘y’ega do Sul $A, 3o Francisco do Sul Full consolidation Brazil
’ !onv Carbon Sieei Sector : S
-Arbed-Finanz Deutschland GmbH, Saarbriicken Pull consohdmon : Germany
% Arcelor Alambron Zumariaga SA, Zumdrraga Spai
Arcelor Barras Comerci . AZpeitia p
v Arcelor Huta LW. Spzoo, Warszawa Full consolidation Potand
ol aminados Zaragoza SA, Zaragoza Full consolidation Spain '
e Arcelor Perfiles subgroup comprising the followmg entities: ,
2 ArcelorPerfiles ST, Madrid Full consolidation Spain
- Aceralia Perfiles U.K. Ltd; Rayleigh “Full consolidation United Kingdom
- Ateralia Redondos Comercial SA, Azpeitia Full consolidation Spain
Yl Arcelor Long Commercial Bordeaux SA; Merignac Tull consolidation France
- Arcelor Long Commercial Toting Stl, Torino Full consolidation | ftaly
- Arcelor Perfiles Bergara SA, Bergara Full consolidation - Spain ©
. vArcelor Perfiles Madrid SL, Madrid Full consolidation Spain
- Arcelor Perfiles Olaberria SU,-Olaberria Full consolidation Spain
5 Atistrain Hispano Trade GnibH, Ditsseldorf Full consolidation Germany
= Fercome Trading SI, Valencia Eull consolidation § Spain :
- Iisacer 2000 SL., /amgo'zq R quity method Spain
- Kramer.and Sons Trading Co, Detroit Equity method ~ United States « )
7. . Servicios-Complementarios del-Norte SL, Bilbao Equity method Spain ’ 9, OOOOOO
- Sobrinos De Manuel Camara SA, Renteria Equity method Spain 50 OOO& 00
- .= Triturados Férricos S1, Madrid Equity method Spain 33 00
Alcelor Rails, Piles & Special Sections Sarl, Esch sfAlzétte. Full consolidation Luxembourg 00
..Areelor Sections Commetcial SA; Esch s/ Mzcue Full consolidation Luxembourg
Ares SA, Rodange

Full consolidation

Luxembourg
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Company name method Country
-~ Ashm.Sarl, Luxembourg Full consolidation Luxembourg |
" Belgo-Mineira subgroup comprising the following entities:
- Belgo Siderurgia SA, Belo Horizonte Full consolidation Brazil
-Belgo Bekaert Arames Lida, Contagem Full consolidation Brazil
- Bemex:International Ltd, Hamilton Full consolidation Bermuda
- Belgo Bekaert Nordeste S, Feira-de Santana Full consclidation Brazil
- Relgo-Mineira Uruguay SA, Montevideo’ Full consolidation Uruguay *
- BelgoPar Tida, Belo Horizonte Full consolidation Brazil
“’Bmb Belgo:Mineira:Bekaert Artefatos de Arame Lida, Vespasiano Full consolidation Brazil
Bl Belgo-Mineira Fomento Métcantil Ltda; Belo Horizonte:  Full consolidation Brazil
. Caf Santa Barbara Ltda, Belo Horizonte Full consolidation Brazil
.- Cimaf'Cabos SA, Osasco Equity method Brazil |
- Procables SA, Lima. . Equity method | Peru 7
- Productos, de Acero SA, ’aammgo N Equity method Chile
- Wire.Rope Industries SA, Montréal Equity method Canada
i Acmdar subgroup comprising thie following entities:
fmin Acindar Industria Argeritina de Aceros.SA, Buenos Alres Full consolidation Argentina
- Acindar'do ‘Brasil- Ltda, Sao Patlo : Full consolidation - Brazil
-"Acindar:Pymes SA, Buenos-Aites Equity method Argentina
- Acmdar Uruguay Inddstria Argemlm de Aceros SA
+ ‘Montevideo Full consolidation truguay
Agrinsd;- Agro lndusm’d SA, La Rioja Full consolidation Argentina E
- Comeicial- Bagual [da, Santiago Full consolidation | Chile
+ Teo.QiF SA, Buenos Aires Equity method Argentina |

T 2Fimec:SA, Buenos. Aires

Full consolidation

Argentina

=12 HSaicf; Buenos Aires

Equity method

Argentina

“LImpedo SA, San Luis

Full consolidation

Argentina |

~Performa SA, Buenos Aires

Full consolidation -

Argentina

Belgo-Mineira Participacio lndustna e Comércio SA,
Belo Hotizonte

Full consolidation

Brazil 4

* ., LME:Lamings Marchands Etropéens SA Trith Saint Léger,
.subgroup:comprising 3 entities

Equity method

France

" “MecanAtbed Dommeldange Sarl, Luxembourg

Full consolidation |

Luxembourg

- Newco Sail; Luxembourg

Full consolidation

Luxembourg

“Neweo $arl &.Cie Secs, Tuxembourg’

Full consolidation ;

Luxembourg

“ProfilArbed SA; Esch s/Alzette

Full consolidation

Luxembourg

" Redalsa SA; Villadolid

Equity method

Spain

" Sanzeno aéciai-- Duferco Spa, San, Leno Naviglio

Equity method ¢

[taly

“Socabel {Groupe Arbed) Senc, Luxembourg’

Full consolidation

Luxembourg

Socadi(Groupe Arbed) Senc, Luxembourg

Full consclidation *

Luxembourg

« Société:du Train Universel de Longwy SA, Herserange -

Full consolidation

France @

Stakibwerk Thitingen GmbH, Unterwellenborn

Full consolidation

Germany

. Travi-e Profilati di Patlanzeno Spa, Pallanzeno:.

Full consolidation

Italy @

= TrefilArbed Arkansas Tnc, Pine Bluff

Full conselidation

United States ¢

“TrefilArbed Bettembourg SA, Dudelange

Full consolidation

Luxembourg

 TrefilArbed Bissen SA, Bissen

Full consolidation

Luxembourg

. TrefilAtbed:Cheb Sro, Jesenice u Chebu’

Full consolidation

Czech Republic #:0

“TrefilArbed Hungary Kft, Szentgouhdrd Full consolidation Hungary ¢
TrefitArhed Kiswire Ltd, Kyung-Narm Equity method South Korea

TrefilArbed Stahlcord Austria AG, Furstenfeld

Full consolidation

Austria 7

Tisina Hidrelétrica Guilman-Amorim SA, Belo Horizonte

Equity method

Brazil %
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Financiat and tegal information

Nates to the consolidated financial statements

Consolidation scope {next)

Company name

Consolidation
method

Stainless Steel Sector

Country

Acesita subgroup comprising the foﬂowmg entities:
- Agesita SA, Belo Horizonte :

Full consolidation

Brazil

Z'Acesita Argentina SA, Buenos Aires

Full consolidation

Argentina

" _Acesita Centros de'Servicos Ltda, Timdtes

Full consolidation

Brazil

- Acesita Energética Ltda, Belo-Horizonte

Full consolidation

Brazil

"= Acesita Export and Trade td, Grand Cayman

Full consolidation

Cayman Islands

- Acesita International Ltd; Grand Cayman

Full consolidation

Cayman Islands

+ Acesita Servicos Com. Ind. e Part. Tada; Timoteo

Full consolidation

Brazil @

- AP Patticipacoes SA, Belo, Horizonte

Full consolidation

Brazil

- Inox Tubos Part. SA, Ribeirdo-Pires -

Equity method

Brazil

- Preservar Madeira Reflorestada Ltda, Tpatinga

Equity method

Brazil

Full consolidation

Cayman Islands

- Stainless Overseas Ltd; Grand: Cayman:

- AL-FinNY, Genk

Full consolidation -

Belgium

Alinox S1l, Milano

Full consolidation

ltaly <

“ Arcelot Stainless International SA Puteatix

Full consclidation

France

- Arcelor Stainless Processing Llc; New York

Full consolidation |

United States

B Arcelor Stainless USA Li¢, NewsYork

Full consolidation

United States

" Haven:Genk NV, Genk

Full consolidation :

Belgium

~ lmphy Alloys SA, Puteaux

Full consolidation

France

Imphy Alloys subgroup:comprising the following-entities:
- Tiniphy Alloys-NevadaInc., New York

Full consolidation

United States |

" ~Hood and Company Inc, Hambufg

Full consclidation

Unitéd States

- Metalimphy. Precision Alloys Inc; Collegeville

Full consolidation

United States

-‘Rahns Specialty Metals lnc Collegeville

Full consolidation

United States ¢ 000000

" Tmphv, Mill Sas, Puteaux

Full consolidation .

Imphy Ugine Précision SA, Puteaux

Full consolidation

. Lovgwdin Aciers Spéciaux et Tnoxydables:3A, Strepy- Bracquegm?';»

Full consolidation -

" France | : OOOOOO .
" France 991999916
Belgium - 1000001

- Maithey.et Cie SA, Apples .

Full consolidation

Switzerland

Matthey France Sas, Ancerville

Full consolidation

France

" Matthéy Holding SA, Apples

Full consolidation

Switzerland

+Matthey:Sro, Praha

Full consolidation

Caech Republic

.. Mecagis:Snic, Puteaux

Full consolidation

France

 Metisienne Italia $1l, Milano

Full consolidation

Italy -

SC&Wehia subgroup comprising the followmg emmes
U RCC & 'Weha Gmbl, Erkrath

Full consolidation

Germany

- Ugine-& Alz Deutschland GmbH, Erkfath

Full consolidation

Germany

Somete Meusienne de Constructions Mécaniqiies 5‘& f\ncemli

Full consolidation

France

Société Savoisienne de Métaux Sas, Annecy

Full consolidation

France

Sprint Metal Edelstahlziehereien GmbH, Hetner

Full consolidation

Germany

Trafilerie Bedini S1l, Peschiera Borromeo

Full consolidation

Italy

Ugine & Alz SA, Puteaux

Full consolidation

France

tigine & Alz Belgium: NV, Genk

Full consolidation

Belgium

Ugine & Alz Benelux Service NV, Genk

Full consolidation

Belgium ¢

Ugine & Alz Carinox SA, Chatelet

Full consolidation -

Belgium *

Ugine & Alz France SA, Puteaux

Full consolidation

France

Ugine & Alz France Service Sas, Gonesse

Full consolidation

France

Ugine & Alz Iberica SL, Viladecans Full consolidation Spain
Ugine & Alz Italia 8§11, Milano Full consolidation - Ttaly
Full consolidation

Ligine & Alz Luxembourg SA, Rodange

Luxembourg
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Consolidation

Company name mwethod Country
Ugiiie Savoie Rostfrei GmbH, Renningen Full consolidation Germany

00.000000

Ugine Stainless & Alloys Inc, Doylestown’

Full consolidation

United States 4

Uginox Sanayi ve Ticaret AS, Gebze Kocaeli ‘

Full consolidation

Turkey 4

Ugitech SA, Ugine

Full consolidation

France

Usi Holdmg Inc., New York

United States it

: 1‘00 000000 ‘

Ar Lt’i()!. Sted Solutions. and Services {‘\’3%)

Full consolidation

o
§

N

Aceralia’ Construccién Obras SL, Pamplona

Fuﬂ consolidation

. Spain

Aceraha Bistribucion. subgroup. comprising. the foHowmo emmeq:_.

Full consolidation :

Spain

~ Aceralia Distribucion SL, Basauri = 2.
. -“Arcelm Diswribucao Pornigal Spa, Ribatejo -+ =i Full consolidation © Portugal
+Arcelor Distribucién-Barcelona SL; Parets-del Valles 5 - Full consolidation | Spain

Arcelor Distribucion Valencia SL, Valendia

Full consolidation ©

- Spain

iUPerfiles Especiales SA, Pamplona .

Equity method

Spain @

Aceralia Transformados subgroup compnsmg
the following entities:

di ‘Aceralia Transformados SA, Muu]va Alta

Full consolidation

Spain @

- Aceralia Color Acero S, Mutilva Alta

Full consolidation

Spain

e Arbed Americas subgroup comprising the followmg entmes

~‘Arbed Americas Llc, New York

Full consolidation

United States :

=Arcelorinternacional México. SA, lialnepamla

Equity method

Mexico

ArcelorBauteile GmbH, KreuztakEichen

Full consolidation

Germany -

- Arcelor Construccién: Espafia subgroup comprising..

“¥the fo]lowmg entities;

- Arcelor Construccion Espaia SL, Bemophnu Full consolidation : Spain
- Ach Paneles AIE, Azuqueca de Henares Equity method Spain
Arcelor Construction France SA, Rueil Malmaison Full consolidation - France
ArcelorDistribution GmbH, Ratingen \ Full consolidation - Germany

" ArcelorDistribution Sas, Reims Full consolidation France °

Arcelor Internatonal SA, Luxembourg

Full consolidation

Luxembourg «

ArcelotIfiternational America Llc, New Yotk

Full consolidation

United States

- Arcelorinternational Antwerp SA, Antwerpen

Full consolidation

Belgium

CArcelor International Canada Inc., Butlington’

Full consolidation ;

Canada

- ArceloT International. Export SA, Luxembairg.....

Full consolidation

Luxembourg ¢

... Arcelor International Singapore subgroup compnsmg

: Lhe following entities:
- Ar(elor [riternational Singapore Pic, Ismgapore

Full consolidation

Singapore ©

- ArcelorInternational Malaysia Sdn. Bhd:; Kuala Luxﬁpur :

Full consclidation |

Malaysia

“Arcelor Projects Spiral Mill subgroup compmmg
the following entities:

~Arcelor Projects Spiral Mill BV, Heijningen’ Full consolidation Netherlands &
¢ Bvard:Netheilands BV, Heijningen Full consolidation Netherlands
. ~.De Boer:Spiral Mill BV, Heljningen Full consolidation Netherlands -
2 DeBoer Spiral Mill Vof, Heijningen Full consolidation Netherlands
Arcélor Profil Sas, Yutz Full consolidation France i
Arcelor Projects BV, Moerdijk Full consolidation Netherlands
| Arcelor Projects NV, Overpelt Full conselidation Belgium

ArcelorProjects Sarl, Luxembourg Full consolidation Luxembourg &

Atcelor Projects International BV, Rotterdam Full consolidation Netherlands
ArceloriStal Serwis Polska Spzoo, Bytom Full consolidation Poland 100.000000.
Arcelor Stahthandel GmbH, Ratingen ) full consolidation Germany 100.000000"
Arcelor. Steel Service Centres Sas, Saint Ouen i’Aumone Full consolidation " France - = . 10'C‘Z’00003__2_f
Ask Mac Gowan 1td, Halesowen Full consolidation : 1190.000000

United Kingdom

ol




Finaneial and fegal nformation

Naotes to the consolidated financial statements

B Consolidation scope {next)

: Consolidation
- Company . name method Country
Asturiana de Perfiles SA, Langreo Full consolidation Spain

Avis Steel UK Titd, Manchester

Full consolidation

United Kingdom

92500000

Baechler Sas, Thionville Full consolidation France .
Berton Sicard Produits Métallurgiques Sas, Avignon Full consolidation France
_C.STR. Sas, Reims Full consolidation France .
: Chaillous Sas, Nantes Full consolidation France &
_“Cima Sas, Bertrichamps Full consolidation France
* Cisatol SA, Montataire Full consolidation France .
‘Cockerill Stahl Service GmbH, Essen Full consolidation Germany
77 Cofrastra SA, Fribourg Full consolidation Switzerland
Golor Profil NV, Geel Full consolidation Belgium
-+ Comptoir Métallurgique du Littoral Sas, Nice Full consolidation France
+ “DILT, Purchasing Sas, Reims Full consolidation France
* 2 Dikema & Chabot Holding BV, Rotterdam Full consolidation Netherlands
" ikema Staal Nederland BY, Rotterdam Full consolidation - Netherlands
Disteel NV, Machielen Full consolidation Belgium
Disteel Cold NV Machelen Full consolidation Belgium-
Etablissemnenit Alfred André Sas, Harfleur Full consolidation France
Etablissements Jean Letierce et Cie Sas, Bolbec Full consolidation France
*.; Etilam SA, Saint Dizier Full consolidation France
* Eucosider Commercial SA, T’emnge Full consolidation Luxembourg
" Eurinter France Sas, Reims Full consolidation France
Eurinter Svenska AB, Karlstad Full consolidation - Sweden
" Europerfil SA, L'hospitalet quity method Spain
Europese Staal Prefabricatie NV, Geel Full consolidation Belgium
Fermatec Sas; Nimes Full consolidation France |
Ferrometalli-Safem Spa, Milano Full consolidation | Ialy &

Flachform Stahl GmbH, Schwerte

Full consolidation

Germany

Galva Service Sas, Bazeilles

Full consolidation

~ France

Equity method |

Spain -

-Gonvarti Industrial SA, Madrid, subgroup comprising 18 entities: -

jean:Guille SA, Yutz

Full consolidation -

France

“Haironville Austria GmbH, Neuhofen

Full consolidation -

Austria :

| Haironville Metal Profil SA, Herstal

Full consolidation

Belgium *

“Taironville Portugal SA, Cartaxo

Full consolidation

Porwugal

- Haironville Ta¢ Ltd, St Helens

Full consolidation

{Inited Kingdom

“ Flaironville UK Ltd, St-FHelens

Full consclidation

United Kingdom

. Heller + Koster Stahlhandel GmbH, Olpe

Full consolidation -

Germany |

Holding Gonvarri Sti, Bilbao

Equity method

Spain

‘Konti Steel Hellas AE, Marousi

Full consclidation

Greece

. Taminados Velasco subgroup comprising the following emmeﬁ

- Laminados Velasco SL, Basauri Full consolidation Spain

_ Arcelor Distribucién Baleares S1, Palma de Mallorca Full consolidation Spain 3

- Arcelor Distribucién Murcia SA, San Ginés Full consolidation Spain ~ N
~Arcelor Distribucion Valencia SL, Valencia Full consolidation Spain . ()()OO()Qg b
- Arcelor Distribucion Valladolid SA, Valladolid Full consolidation Spain : 100 000000

- Arcelor Distribucion Vigo SA, Porrifio ) Full consolidation Spain 100 000000
~Auxiliar Laminadora Alavesa SA, Olaeta Full consolidation Spain ‘¢ 100 ()OO{)OO L

- Calibrados Pradera SA, Miravalles Equity method Spain 50, OOOODO ’
_Cantabra de Laminados Velasco SA, Santander Full consolidation Spain 0 D000

- Castellana de Laminados Velasco $A, Burgos Full consolidation Spain

e
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: Consolidation
~Company name method Country
" Elaborados y Construccién. SA, Getafe Full consolidation Spain 000000 |
" Ferronia SA, Hernani ’ Full consolidation Spain :
Grupo Velasco:Desarrolio SL, Basauri Full consolidation Spain
“Industrias Zarra SA, Galdacano Equity method Spain
“ 4 Lardinades Canarias SA, Telde Full consolidation Spain
~Laminados Comavesa SA, Basdauri Full consolidation Spain
U Ldminados Genvelsa S1, Lugo de [lanera Iull consolidation Spain
. “Laminados Sidenirgicos Arbizu SA, Arbizu Full consolidation Spain
““‘Laminados Siderdrgicos:Duerc SA, Basauri Full consolidation . Spain -
T aminados Siderargicos La. Conifia-SA, Arteixo Full consolidation . $pain ;
Laminados Siderargicos Miranda SA, Miranda de Ebro Full consolidation Spain
7.2 Laminados Sidertirgicos Orense SA, San Ciprian de Vifias Full consclidation ' Spain
" Laminados Siderirgicos Sevilla SA, Alcald de Guadaira Full consolidation Spain
" 'Tarminados Sideraigicos Toledo SA, Villaluenga de la Sagra, Full consolidation Spain
e Laminados Sidertirgicos Vitoria §A, Vitoria Full consolidation Spain
SA Productos Empresay Metaltrgicas, Salvatierra Full consolidation Spain
‘Servicio del Acero'SA, Basaurd 7,/ : Full consolidation Spain
.Tremad SA; Icazteguieta Full consolidation : Spain &
“Tubosy Decapados SA; Basauri Full consolidation ° Spain
“Lardier et compagnie Sas, Blois Full consolidation France
“Laserflash SA, Fupen Full consolidation Belgium
Lille Aciers-Sas, Lomme . Full consolidation * France
- Megaco Jma Comercio Sidertrgico Spq, P.\lme]a Equity method Portugal
Mirouze Novacier Sas, Tournefeuille Full consolidation France
- Mosacier §A, Liege Full consolidation Belgium 100 N
‘% *parements Métalliques ' ‘\rchltecmre SA, Cerons Full consolidation ° France 99.988000
- Perry Willenliall Steel Service Centres'Ltd, Willenhall Full consolidation United Kingdom 100. OOOOOG
“iPlaques et Découpes France SA, Reims © Full consolidation France
" Produits & Usines meétallurgiques Pum-Station Service Adter $4, Reims Full consolidation France &
: Produits Métallurgiques de FOrléanais Sas, Ingre Full consolidation France
S Produits Métallurgiques-des Arderines-Sas, Donchery Full consolidation France ) 000000 ~
Produits Métallurgiques du-Sud-Quest Sds; Langon: Full consolidation France 0.000000 .
o Produits Sidérurgiques de la Moselle Sas, Yutz Full consolidation : France ',] 000000
s Profil.du futur Sas, Horbourg Wihir Full consclidation France .
v Profilage de Guadeloupe Sas; ‘Baie Mahault Full consolidation . France
Profilage de la Réunion SA, Le Port Full consolidation France |

Profilarbed Distribution SA, Esch s/Alzette

Full consolidation

Luxembourg

i ‘ProfilArbed Distribution Exploitation/Luxembourg SA, Pétange

Full consolidation

Luxembourg

ProfilArbed Distribution Luxembourg SA, Pétange

Full consclidation

Luxembourg

ProfilArbed Staalhandel subgroup comprising

o the following entities:
o2 ProfilAtbed Staalhandel BV, Bom

Full consolidation

Netherlands :

- AND-Steel NV, Schoten

Full consclidation

Belgium

- Borotrans Bomn BV, Born:.

Full consolidation

Netherlands

~-Bouwstaal Nederland BV, Born

Full consolidation

Netherlands

"~ Deinanet-Cassart Aciers'SA, Senetfe

Full consolidation

Belgium

. Leduc Trading NV, Schoten

Full consolidation

Belgium

= Limbustaal BV, Meersen

Full consolidation

Netherlands

100, oooooo .

]OO 0000

: - Lommaert/Montan. Wapeningsstaal BV, Nijmegen

Full consolidation -

Netherlands

~Lommaert Walserijprodukten BV, Born

Full consolidation

Netherlands

- Montan Staal BV, Den Haag

Full consolidation

Netherlands

- ProfilArbed Staalhande] Nederland BV, Born

Full consolidation

Netherlands #

i
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Notes 1o the consolidated financial statements

& Conselidation scope (next)

Consolidation
Company name method Country
-z Steelexpress NV, Schoten Full consolidation - Belgium

Profilsteel S, Bouffioulx

Full consolidation

Belgium

1100000

Pum Paris- Normandie Sas; Savigny le Temple

full consolidation

France

Pum Steel Service Centre Sas, Reims Full consolidation - France |
. Pum.Sud Est Sas, Lyon o Full consolidation France
Ravené Schifer GmbH, Halle Full consolidation Germany
Robert. Smith Steels Lid, Mersyside Full consolidation United Kingdom
. Sar Stahilservice GmbH, Neuwied Full consolidation Germany
Savoie Métal SA, Sdint Jorioz Full consolidation . France

Savoie Métal Toiture Sas, Saint Jorioz -

Full consolidation

['rance

100:00¢

“-Skyline Steel subgroup comprising the follomng emmes

- ~Skyline Steel Ll¢, Parsippany

Full consolidation

United States

. Arkansas Steel Processing Llc., Atmorel

Full consolidation

United States

Arkansas Steel Processing Lic, Bessemer

Full consolidation

United States

= Assotiated Pile and Fitting Lic, Clifton

Full consolidation

United States

ZCasteel Llc, Belpre

Full consclidation

United States

- Midwest Steel. & Tube Lic, Ch;ugo

Full consolidation

United States

B “PA:Pipe Llc, Camp Hill

Full consolidation

United States

" 'Sheeting Solutions Llc, Belpre

Full consolidation

United States

-'Skyline (Php) Canada Ltd, St Bruno

Full consolidation

Canada |

-+ Skyline Canada Holding Inc, Pwrsxppanv

Full consolidation -

United States

- Skyline Steel:Pipe Llc, Lika

Full consolidation

United States

- Slpny-Sas;Denain’

Full consolidation

. France

* SlpmAtlantique Sas,. Saint Nazaire.

Full consolidation

. France

Saciété:Belge d’Oxycoupage SA; Liege:

Full consolidation -

Belgium

Société de transports de produits d'usines’ \iemllurglques Gﬁs, :
. Reirmns

Full consolidation

[rance .

100000000
100.000000

Société Industrielle Métallurgiqueet d' entrepnse bas,

LaChapelle Saint Luc Full consolidation France

Sotracier Sas, Pontcharra Full consolidation France :

Sps Altensteig Stahl-Service-Center (.mbH Altensteig-Waldorf Full consolidation Germany .
Full consolidation (Germany .

Sps:Lichtenstein Stahi-Service-Center GmbH, Lichtentein

““Stafibn Sérvice Acier Lopez Sas, Valence

Full consolidation :

France

- Steel.Caat Service Centres SA, Alleur

Full consolidation

Belgium

* ‘Siidband Stahl-Service GmbH, Ludwigshafeﬁi,

Full consolidation

Germany

Equity method

Luxembourg

Traxys SA; Bertrange subgroup comprising 14 entities -
Upac Sas, Saint Ouen 'Aumone - . ‘

Full consclidation

France

Full consolidation

United Kingdom

Welbeck:Steel Service Centie Tud, Batking'

Other activities sector |

Luxembourg :

ARCELOR $A, Tuxembourg

‘Aceralia Constructalia SL, Berrioplano Full consolidation Spain -

Aceralia Steel Trading BV, Amsterdam Full consolidation Netherlands

Ais'Finance {Groupe Arbed) Snc, Luxembourg - Full consolidation Luxembourg
 ARBED SA, Luxémbourg Full consolidation Luxembourg

~Atbed Investments 54, Luxembourg

Full consolidation

Luxembourg

Arbed Investment Services SA, Lixembourg Full consolidation Luxembourg
Arcelor Acos Especiais do Brasil Ltda, Sdo Paulo Full consolidation Brazil
Arcelor Brasil SA, Belo Horizonte ‘ Full consolidation Brazil
Arcelor Finance and Services Belgium SA; Bruxelles Full consolidation Belgium

‘Arcetor Finance Sca, Luxembourg

Full consolidation

Luxembourg 4

Arcelor Finanziara Stl, Piombino

Full consolidation

haly

00.0

Arcelor Germany Holding GmbH, Berlin

Full consolidation

CGermany

004

arcelor Holding Sarl, Luxembourg

Full conselidation

Luxembourg

oo

000000

i)




Consolidation

Company name method Country
Arcelor Italy Holding Sil, Piombinoe Full consolidation Taly
Arcelor Netherlands BV, Amnsterdam Full consolidation Netherlands
- Arcelor Persebrds SL, Olaberria Full consolidation " Spain
" Arcelor Purchasing Sas, Puteaux Full consolidation JFrance s
Arcelor Spain Holding Srl, Madrid- Full consolidation Spain v -
Arcelor Systems Belgium SA, Flémalle Full consolidation Belgium
Arcelor Systems France Sas, Puteaux” . Full consolidation France :
Arcelor Techinologies France Sas; Putewx Full consolidation - France
Arcelor Treasury Snc, Puteaux Full consolidation France
Arcelor USA Holding Inc., New York Full consolidation Linited States
Alic Services SA, Paris, subgroup comprmng 20 emmes Equity method France
Rail Industrie SA, Hayange Full consolidation France
-.Cfl Canada Investment Inc., Granby Full consolidation Capada
" Gircuit Foil Amierica Secs, Granby Full consolidation Canada 100 -
Circlit Foil Luxembourg Sarl, Wiltz.™ 7 Full consclidation Luxembourg 89 )79841 oL
¢ Gircuit Foil Service SA, Weidingen/Wiltz Equity method Luxembourg 19 ()QE)QQ() . ‘
Cockerill Forges and Ringmill' SA; Seraiing Full consalidation Belgium
Cockerill Mécanigue Prestations GA, Seramg Full consolidation Belgium -
Daf Group NV, Gent Full consolidation Belgium .
- DHS-Dillinger Hiitte Saarstahl’ 4\(3, Dﬂlmgen,
subgroup comprising:15 entities: .7 - Equity method Germany
Esperbras SL, Olaberria” Full consolidation © Spain
Finindus NV, Bruxelles Full consolidation Belgium
Finocas NV, Gent Full consolidation Belgium "
G Fer Sas, Puteaux Full consolidation France =
Groupement de I ]ndusme Sldamrglque SA; Puteaux Full consolidation France ¢
Groupement Immobilier Scrl, Seraing Full consolidation Belgium
Imphy SA, Puteaux Full consolidation France
Industeel Belgium subgroup compiising the tolluwmo entities:
- Industeel Belgium SA, Charleroi Full consolidation Belgium
+ Aval Metal:Center SA, Charleroi Full consolidation Belgium ;.
- Charleroi Déroulage SA, Charleroi’. Full conselidation Belgium |

Industeel France subgroup comprising the followmg entities:”

- Industeel ‘France SA, Puteaux

Full consolidation

France |

- Industee! Creusot Sas; Puteaux

Full consolidation

- France |

- Industeel Loire Sas, Puteaix

Full consolidation

France

- Creusot Métal SA, Puteatix

Full consolidation :

France

- Immobiliére Schiassgoart (eroupe Arbed) Senc, quembourgi

Full consolidation

Laxembourg -

InvestAR Sarl, Luxembourg

Equity method

Luxernbourg

July Products subgroup comprising:the following entities:
- July Products Lic, New York’

Full consolidation

United States

- J&L Speciality Steel International Sales Inc., Christiansted

Full consolidation

United States

Paul Wurth SA, Luxembaourg

Full consolidation

Luxembourg

Sidarfin NV, Gent Full consolidation Belgium |

Sidarsteel NV, Gent Full consolidation Belgium »

Sodisid Sas, Hayange Full consolidation France

Sofinus SA, Puteaux Full consolidation France

Sogepass SA, Hayange Full consolidation France |

Somef SA, Lidge Full consolidation Belgium

Soteg Société de Iransport de Gaz SA, Luxembourg Equity method Luxembourg : o
Sotel 8C, Esch s/Alzette Full consolidation Luxembourg 000

Sotel Réseau et Cie Secs, Esch s/Alzette Full consolidation Luxembourg i ¢ | 000,

USINOR 8A, Puteaux Full consolidation France = i }30.006@@0

Usinor Belgium SA, Seraing [ull consolidation Belgium ..o 0 1:100.000000 :

Usinor Imports & Trading Sne, Puteaux Full consolidation France . . °100:000000;;
P




Notes to the consolidated financial statements

8 Non-consolidated subsidiaries
373 companies

A¥celor Distribution Négoce Sas, Reims

Country
A.S. Build SA, Liege Belgium
A.8.C.Praha Spo.vo., Praha Czech Republic
"A'Tol Sas, La Ravoire France
Aido Llc, New-York United States
" Aceralia Construcciones SL, Sestao - Spain
-~ Acigrs Solcan Inc., Burlinton : : Cunada
 Agifep; Arbed Group Investors for Electronic Punhwmg SA, Luxembowrg - Luxembourg
“Agifesa, Arbed Group Investors for Elcctromc Sales SA; L uxembourg Luxembourg
Atrdix SA, Luxembourg : Luxembourg
- Alpha Profil SA, Yutz - France
~ Arbed Building Concepts SA, en cessation d auwrw F‘Ch 5’Alzet£e Luxembourg
Arbed Spundwand GmbH, Kiln : Germany <
- Arc-Air SA, Luxembourg Luxémbourg !
- AjcDetdl Spzoo, Ostrowiec Poland
. Arcelor Acelkereskedelmi Kft, Kecskemét : Flungary
Arcelor Asseluranz Vermittlungs-GmbH, en ussatmn d acumte, Bremen Germany
“ " Arcelor Auto Brasil Lida, Sao Paulo - : Brazil
‘Arcelor China holding (Luxembourg): Sarl; Lurembourg Luxembourg
" Arcelor-Construccion Iberia Sr1, Madrid .~ Spain ’,
Artelor Consultants SA, Puteaux, France |
Arcelor Distribuce - CZ Sro, Praha Czech Republic £
Arcelor, Distrilnicia Slovenske Sro,.Kosice Slovakia
Arcelor Distribucija Doo, Beograd: Serbia & Montenegro
- Areelor Distribucija Doo, Cakovec Creatia
Arcelor Distributie Stl, Pantelimon ... Romania . (00,0000
Arcelor Distribution Bulgaria Food, Sofia Bulgaria 180.000000
France . 100000000

Arcelor Distribution Steel Solutions Sas, Reims
Arcelor Dystrybucja Polska Spaoo, Kitowice. .

France
Poland

Arcelor FCS Celik Ticaret AS, Istanbul .

Turkey &

Arcelor FCS Commercial Austria GmbH, Steyr

Austria

- Arcelor FCS Commaercial Beneltx'SA4; Merelbeke

Belgium

> Arcelor-FCS Commercial Central and. Eastern Europe CmbH Beylm

Germany

. Arcelor FCS Commercial CZ Sro, Praha

Czech Republic -

" Arcelor FCS Commercial Dennark AfS,. Ixobenhavn

Denmarl

N Arielor FCS Commercial Pinland OY, Helsinki

Finland =

“Arcelor FCS Commercial France SA, Putedux™

France

Arcelor FCS Commercial Greece LIS, Kifissia

Greece

Argelor FCS Commercial Hungary Kft, Budapest

Hungary

" Arcelor FCS Commercial Iberica SL, Madrid

Spain

Arcelor FCS Commercial Italia Srl, Milano

ltaly

Arcelor FCS Commercial Luxembourg SA; Dudelangc

Luxembourg

Arcelor FCS Commercial Netherlands BY, Roitérdam

Netherlands

Arcelor. FCS Commercial Norway AS; Oslo

Norway

Arceler FCS Commercial Poland Spzoe, Poznan.

Poland

- Arcelor PCS Commercial Portugal Sul, Cascais

Poriugal

Arcelor FCS Commercial Schweiz AG, Wetlingen

Switzerland

prad




%

Country

Areelor FCS Commercial Swedent AK, Stockbivim

Sweden

100.000000.

Arcelor FCS Commercial UK Ltd, Solihull-West

United Kingdom

100.000000

Arcelor Germany Services GuibH, Berlin Germany 101 00000,
Arcelor Grundstiicksverwaltung Neckarsulm GmbH, Ratingen Germany i i
Arcelor Grundstilcksverwaltung Thiiringen GmbH, Aazm'g?n ‘ Germany
Arcelor Holding Mexico SA, Mexico DF : Mexico
Arcelor Inoxidables de Mexico SA, Mexico DF Mexico
- Arcelor Insurance Belgium NV, Gent Belgium
Arcelor Insurance Consuliants SA, Luxembourg Luxembourg -
~Arcelor International (Proprietary) Lid, Sandton: South Africa
. Areelor International Africa SA, Casablanca Morocco
- Arcelor International Baltics OU, Tallinn, Estonia 4
Arcelor International Celik Dis Ticaret AS Istanbul Turieey 5
L Arcelor International Norway AS, Oslo Norway
* Arcelor International Steel Trading Shanghai Co.'Lid, éhanghm : China
- Arcelor Intérnational Ukraine Tob, Kyiv Ukraine
Arcelor [T & IS Italia Srl, Piombino Ttaly
~ Arcelor Ialia Srl, Piombino Italy
" Arcelor Logistics Belgium NV, Antwerpen Belgium
Arcelor Logistics Brazil Luda, SaoPaulo, Brazil
-+ Arcelor Logistics France SA, Puteaux France

Arcelor Logistics Italia Srl, Milano

Italy

Arcelor Logistics USA Llk, New York

United States

Arcelor Long Commercial Austria GmbH, balzbwg

Austrid

Arcelor Long Commercial Denmark AS, Kobenhavn

Denmark

. Arcelor Long Commercial Finland OY, Helsinki

Finland =

00000 -

Arcelor Long Commercial Norway AS, Oslo

Norway ¥

Arcelor Long Commercial Polska Spzoo, Katowice

Poland i

000000,

Arcelor Long Commercial Sweden AB, Stockholm Sureden
Arcelor Metal Endiistri Ve Ticaret AS, Istanbul Turkey

- Arcelor Négoce Distribution - Europe Est SA; Luxembourg - Luxembourg -
Argelor Négoce Distribution China Holding Ltd, Wanchai’ China @

. Arcelor Packaging International-Belgium NV, Sint-Niklaus: Beigium
Arcelor Processing Sas, Reimts ' g France

~Arcelor Projects Pte Lid, Singapore Singapore
Arcelor Projects UK Ltd, Oll'Kent United Kingdom
Arcelor Rebar Commercial SA, Rodarige Luxembourg
Arcelor Rebar Commercial Deutschland GmbH, Waldems- Bermbadz Germany |
Arcelor Research Ligge Scrl, Lisge Belgium
Arcelor RPS Ttalia Stl, Torino Ialy -
Arcelor RPS UK Ltd, Solihudl United Kingdom
Arcelor Sections Commercial Austria GmbH, Salzbwg Ausiria .
Arcelor Sections Commercial Benelux BV, Rotterdam Netherlands -
Arcelor Sections, Commercial Deutschldnd Gmbl, Koin Germany
Arcelor Sections Commercial France SA, Puteaux France
Arcelor Sections Commercial Italia St1; Torino Italy 4
Arcelor Sectivns Commercial Schiveiz AG, Basel Switzerland

Arcelor Sections Commercial UK Lid, Binningham

United Kingdom -

Arcelor Servicios SA, Queretaro

Mexico

’ Arcelor Slovakia Sse, Senica

Shovakia

Arcelor SSC Development Aiguebelle \lL\ Afguebelle

France .

Arcelor SSC Italia Srl, Milano

Italy

rT()() ()O()()()() i
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Naotes to the consondamd financial statements

B Non-consolidated subsidiuries {next}

Country

Arcelor SSC Salvatierra SL, Salvatierra

Spain =

00001

Arcelor Stainless (China) Comparny Ltd, Tsimt Sha Tsui

China

99.90

" Arcelor Stainless Australia Pty Ltd, Southport

Australia 2000

10000

“Arcelor Stainless Canada Inc:, Burlington

Canada

160000 00

Arcelor Stainless India Private Ltd, Mumbai

India

99 J)9633

Arcelor Stainless Itemational -~ Korea Brunch BO, . Seoul South Koreua
_ Arcelar Stainless Singapore Pte lud, bmgapore Singapore
Arcelor Systems Espafia.SL, “Gozoi. . Spain

0000000,

Arceval SA, Bruxelles

Belgium

Annar Presiacio de Servicos-Lida, Sdo l’aulo

Brazil

“Arcelor Technologies Belgium: SA, Flémalle Belgium 10000 "“”0 .
Avcelor Technologies Espana:SL; Gozon Spain

sArcelor Turkey Holding (L uxpm!rourg,} Sarl; Luxembotirg Luxembourg

Arceo. SA, Flémalle Belgium

. Annasteel SA, Wavre

Belgium :

. Armatures SA, Pontpierre

Luxembourg

" Assaciation Coopérative Zélandaisé de, Cmbommnmz BV, en liguidation,. Terneuzen Netherlands
Assuraciers Snc, Puteaux. : Y : France

: Bemng Arcelor Shougang Steel Coilstruction Co. Litd; Beqmg China
Belgo Trade SA, Luyembourg Luxembourg

. 'Bemex Belgo-Mineira Comercial’ Fxportadom gA Belo Horizonte Bruzil
Beriso 'SA, en liquidation; Bruxelles Belgium

__ Blahove BV, Arsterdam Netherlands

“ Bine Belgo-Mineira Engenharid Lida, Bele Horizonte Brazil -

Bmis Belgo-Mineira Sistemis:SA, Belo Horizonte

Brazil -

“ Bometal NV, Mechelen..

Belgium

100 OOOOOO

. Rrema Warmwalz GmibH, Bremen:

Germany

100.000000 K

.. Broyeur Charbon de Fos Sas, Puleaux France *
<38 Sarl, Puteaux France
CDSA S84, Buenos Aires Argenting
Centre Auvergne Pliage Sas; Priteaux France
~'Cepi.Services SA, Flémalle Belgium
b o+ Cfa Management Inc., Granby. - . Canada "
~ Changzhou Uginox Products:Company'Ltd, fiang Su China
" Gircuit Foil Asia Pacific. (Homghong)-dtd, -Kwai:Chung China
v Ciretit Foil Asia Pacific:(Zhangiagang) Lid, Zhangjiagang. China !
“Circuir Foil Engineering Sari, WeidingenfWiltz Luxembourg

Circuit Foil Trading USA Iné: Glenside

United States -

Circuit Foil UK Ltd, Carlisle

United Kingdom i

Dencrest Limited Ple, Nicosia

Cyprus

Cofrahux SA, Differdange Lukembourg
Cogeaf NV, Schoten Belgium
Color Profil GmbH, Miinchen CGennany
- GolorProfil Ltd, Mascoy, Russian Federation
Cordelia SA, Puteaux France
‘ . Cored SA, Senningerberg Luxembourg
. Corporations Efficency Grotith I Trrough lnfornmaon s;wpmc Scrl, Ougree ' " Belgium
.+ Crois-sens Scrl, Ougrée " Belgium
+Csn Chrome SA, Lioge Belgium
Dania Grundstiickvenwaltungs-GnibH, Koin Germany
Daval Nederland BY, Amsterdam Netherlands 00
100000000
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. Forschungs-und. Qualitdtszentruny Bumdenburg GmbI 1, Eisenhiittenstadt

Germany |

“recolux SA, Luxembourg

Luxembowrg -

. France

g Galiu Sevvice Réinion Sasy Saine Paul e 7

Gecs'SA, Pliteaux

France -

Belgium

" Geopdr.SA, en liquidation; L,ouzller

Gepor Sas; Illange

France

L Gie Primus®fonie, Luxembotirg

Luxembourg .

) : : Country
Dh - Sollac Beteiligung GmbH, Stuttgait Germany -
" Didier-M&P Energictechnik GmbH, Wieshaden Germany = i O 000000 -
Dikéma Projecten BV, Born Netherlands 00. 000000
Distrisid Sarl, Viory sur Seine France )00
e-Arbed Distribution SA, Esch s/Alzette: - Luxembourg
EBT - Electron Beam Technology C,mbH Bremen Germany
Efoam SA, Luxembouig Luxembourg
" Eisenhiittenstidter deladeenaujberelmragund Umuwelttechnile GmbH,
‘en liguidution, Eisenhitttenstadt Germany
. Eko Feinblechhandel Gmbl, Llsenhutrensuuit Germany
Eko Férvit GmibH, Eisenhuttenstadt Germany
Eko Handelsunion GmbH, en liquidation, Elsenhu!tenswdt Cermany
. Eko'Nederland BV, Benriebroek Netherlands
4. Eko.Recycling GmbH, Eisenhiiltenstadt Germany
~ Eko Recycling Cottbis GmbH, Cottbus Germany
Eko-Stahl Spzoo, Slubice: : Poland
“# gk Transportgesellschaft mbI ' Euenhuztemwdt Germany
-Ekosto NV, Sint Gillis Waas ‘ Belgium
Electro Holding Companty SA, Luxpmbuqu Luxembourg
Esp Vertrieb Deutschland GmbH;. Koln Germany
Estaie.Wire Ltd, Sheffield United Kingdom
Euro Cubage Services Sus; en ltqmdatzon, Ennery France
" Fabest Sas; Ludres France
- * Fbh Fko Feinblechhanidel GimbE, Buy baoi: Germany
Ferrometalli-Safem: Commerciale:Spa,; Milano ; Ttaly
Ferrometalli Plagues et Découpes Sl Calderara di reno Italy
" Fers et Maintenance Industriels Sarl, Pont sur Sambre France
" Fersthal' Sagl, Lugane : ) Switzerland
i 2000 Sas, Limas France
. Fimansider SA, Puteaus France
- Firma Kama Spzoo, Sycow Poland "

" & ESA, Puteaux

France

Haidor Hubin SA, Ligge

Belgium

100. oooaool

Haironville Bohemia Sro, Ceske Budejovice

Czech Republic

Hatronville Danmark AS, Redovre

Denmark &

Brazil

: 100000000

. Haironville do Brasil Tndustria e.Comercio Lla, Sdao Paulo
Haironville Guyane Sas, Cayenne : )

France

Haironville Hungaria Kft, Budapest

Hungary

* Haironville - Nederland BV, Tiel

Netherlands

Hatronville Norge AS, Vesthy

Nonvay

Haironpille Polska Spzoo, Peznan

Poland

- Haironville Slovensko Sro, Bratislava

‘Slovalkia

Haironville Sverige AB, Karlstad

- Sweden

Flein, Lehmann Moniage GmbH, Ralingen.

Germany

Homburger Rohrenwerk GmbH, Homburg

Germany :

{ (10090(5 !

309




Finawcial and i’c&cﬁf nformation

Notes to the consolidated financial staternents

B Non-consolidated subsidiaries {nest}

Country

E Iughct and Spencer Steel Lid, thienhull C- United Kingdom
‘Huta Serwis Spzoo, Warszawa : Poland
Htita Warszawa Spzoo, Warszawa Poland %
Iepe Immiob.du Centre Polyude 'Enfance Sarl, Luxembourg Luxembourg
Imhua Special Metal Co. Ltd: Foshan. . China
Immobiliere Campus Sarl, Luxembourg. Luxembourg
Intmobiliere Cité Judiciatre 2025 Sarl; Luxentbourg Luxembotrg
Immobiliere Contowrdiff Sawl, Luxembourg. Luxembourg
Immobiliere Drai Eechelen Sarl, Tuxémbourg Luxembourg
Tivimobilizre Justicia: 2026 Sarl, Luxémbourg Luxembourg
TIimmokbiliere Tudor Sarl, Luxembourg Luxembourg - -

\ Vir‘nphy Deutschlund GmbH, Erkrath Germany .
Imphy Far East Co. Ltd, Kowloon. China -
Imphy laliana Srl, Torino Italy ©
Imphy Service Snc, Puteaux. « France
Imphy Ugine Precision BV, Anmmdmn i Netherlands
Imphy Ugine Precision Espania SA, Viladecans, Spain
Imphy Ugine Precision Switzetland SA, Préverenges Switzerland
Imphy Ugine Precision LK Ltd, Buckinghamshire United Kingdom

" Industeel Canada Inc., Montréal Canada
Industee! Deutschland GinbH; G revc'nbrmch : Germany
Industeel Italia Srl, Milano: | ' Italy

- Industeel UK Lud, Woru)stu United Kingdom

Inspection, Protective Survey and Certaﬁcunon Bureuu - Insure( bA Bruxelles

Belgium !

Trstituio Téenico desla-Estructura del’ Acero’ QL \'eilafmnca de Ordxzra

Spain

- Intersteet BV, - Rotterdam: -,

Net:herlands

Is¢ Holdings Inc., New York .,

United States *

[tatina Sidertirgica Lida, Tuvina.

Brazil ¢

1UP Deutschiand GibH, Erkrath

Germany

JH Group Sci, Yuiz

France

© KLV I NV, Genk

Belgiim

Kempes & Koolen Bowwsystemen: BV, Tiel

Netherlands

Cermany

: Klinger & Parmer Profilvertiich- Verkauf-GmbH, Munchen

Rouurom Trade Spa, szwhmon

Romania

Krisper Dov, Kranj

Slovenia

" Kuwalteitsbeheer voor Stov tplaazaen N\ Gent.”

Belgium

L'équipement par I'acier indxpduble SA, Putequx’

France |

Lapandry Acier Sarl, Casablanca

Morocco

Lastam Technology Kft, Szentendre

Hungary

Le Fer & Béton Sas;, Yutz

France % [ r 00000

Lucembourg Steel (Si Chuan}.Co. Lid, Chengdu

Marocacier SA, Luxembourg

Maithey & Pum SA, Reims

China 000000 ¢
Luxembourg 1001000090
france |

Matthey Iberica Comercial Titho Inoxidable SL, Barcelona -

Spain ¥

Matthey UK Ltd, Dudley’

United Kingdon

Matthey US Llc, New York

United States

Mecachim SA, Lusignan France
Memmnous SA, Puteaux France
Metaalzetterij de Betuwe BY,. Twi Netherlands

Metal Presse Sarl, Putedux

France

Midi Aciers Profils Génié Civil SA, Beauzelle

France

Nango SA, Pureaux

France




Norsteel Corp. Inc., New York

United States

100.0000007

COcas GmbH, Bremen’ Germany
Orsane SA, Puteaux France ¥
Osinis §4, Puteaux France
P.P.Z. Crapex Spzoo, Krakow. Poland +
DP.P.Z. Silscrap Spzoo, Bielsko Br’ala : . Poland
Pulfroid SA, Carignan IR BRI ‘France

" . Panneaux Frigorifiques Frangais Sas; ‘Val: d’[ze 1 France

Panmeaux Sandwich Guaieloupe: SA, Baie Mahauft

France

b Pal Wurth AS, Ostrata

Czech Republic

« Paul Wurth Inc., Canonsburg

United States

Paul Winth Lid, Builingion Canada
Paul Waurth Belgium SA, Bruxelles Belgium
Paul Wurth de Chile Ltda, Santiago..  Chile
& Paul Waurth do Brasil Tecnologia € qupamenws Pam Mewlwqm Ltda, Belo F Iomome’ Brazil
" Paul Wurth Iberica $il, Gijén : Spain
“Pand Wurth India Ple, New Delkii India
Paul Wurth International SA, Luxembourg: Luxembourg ;.
* Paul Wurth Italia Spa, Geénova : - taly
Paul Wurth Metal Technology Co: le Bei}mg "China
Paul Wurth Umwelttechnik GmbH, Essén " Germany
Derry Investments Ltd, Willenhall Uniited Kingdom
Philueus SA, Puteaux France

-Plaqties et Découpes Services SA, Eupen

Belgium

France

Pliage Midi Pyrences Sas, La Magdeleme sur Tam

- Plima’ Sus, Mallemort

France

Plon Pliage Service Sus, Vitrofles -

, France

Pre-Finished Steels Ltd, Willenhall -

United Kingdom

_‘;“f'moo
fe]

OG 00 -

DPrekon Sproo, Starachowsice

 Poland

Primorec SA, Differdange

Luxembowrg °

~ Profilage de la Martinique Sas, Fort’ de fmnce

France

Profilage de Saint-Martin' Sas, Saint Martin,

- France

" Profilage Dominicana SA, Sarito Domingo’

Dorminican Republic

Profistahl-Centrum Thiiringen Gmbl1, Sua feld

Germany -

Promo Pum Sas, Reims France
Qualifizierungszentrion. der Wmsrhafr Gmbl 1, L!.senhutmzszadt i Germany
Ramrod Welding Products- Ltd, G lmgow United Kingdom

- Retrimeuse Scrl, Seraing ’ Belgium
Ruwm Rohrwerke Muldenstein. GmbE, en fmlhle, Muldenstein Germany
Safem Distribuzione Srl, Tavagnacco Ialy 7

- Safem Servizi Srl, Padova Iraly

~Sci des. 1 et 3 de la place Max Rousseaux, Rezms " France

- §ci Espace Sainit L éonard, Nantes - France
Sibral Participacées Lida, Belo Horizonte Brazil

| Sidlease NV, Gent Belgium .

" "Sidmar Finance (Groupe Arbed) SA, Luxmnbourq Luxembourg &
w Sirus Sas, Saint Ouen PAumone © France "

Sitek Stl, Torino

italy .

Skyline. Comercial de Mexico SA, Mexico DF

C Mexico

SLP~ Société Lorraine de Plagues SA, Basse-Ham

France

" Sobesteel A, Wavre

Belgium 1

I(}O U{?()()()O *'
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Nates 1o the consolidated financial staterments

Nomn~consolidated subsidiaries {nest)

Country

Société Carolorégienne de Cokéfaction SA, en liquidation, Liege Belgium
Socidté Civile hmmebiliere du 3 rue de I'industrie 4 Basse-Yulz, Yulz France 3
Société de Gestion pour la Protection Sociale SA, Puteaux ' France
Saciété des Mines d'Otiange 11 Sarl, en cessation d'activité, Yutz ‘France %
Société des Mines de Sacilor - Lormines SA, Puteaux France
Société Immobiliere Audunoise SA, Audun le Tiche France
Sociéié Immobilizre du: Fort Thiingen Swl, Luxembourg : Luxembourg
Société Nowvelle de Participation dans les Produits Plais SA, Puzeaux France *
Sociéié pour la Réalisation d'Etudes Techn. et Econont.en Sidérurgie Sarl, Putequx” . France %
Solla¢ Acos SA, Lishoa. ’ ) N : Portugal © 7
Solvi Sas, Puteaux France
Stahthandel Burg GmbH, Burg Germany
Steel Findnce Center NV, Geel. Belgium

" Steelhold Plc, St Albans United Kingdom
Steelinter (UK) Ltd, St Albans Linited Kingdom |
Sylar SA, Puteaux " France
Tailor Steel Deutschland Gmbf, Bremen CGermany
Tolerie Industrielle et Agricole du -Centre Sas,-Herbiault " France
TradeArbed Deutschland GmbH, Kdin . Germany
TradeArbed Espafia SA, Madrid Spain
TradéArbed France SA, Paris

Trans OceanLogistics BY, Ijssel

France
The Netherlands -

TrefilArbed (UK) Lid, Nuntwich

United Kingdom

TrefilArbed: Benelux BY, s'Hertogenbosch Netherlands
TrefilArbed CR Sro.. Cheb Czech Republic
‘TrefilArbed Deutschland GmbH, Koln Germany
TrefilArbed France SA, Vincenmes . ' France
TrefilArbed Greenhouse SA, Bissen: Luxembourg
TrefilArbed Grembergen SA, en cessation d'activité, Luxembourg Luvembourg
TrefilArbed Ialia Stl, en liguidation, Milano ftaly +
TrefilArbed Sales Holding Sarl, Bissen Luxembourg |
TrefilArbed Solarhouse Kfi, Kecskemet Hungary
TretilArbed Welding NV, -eni faillite, Gent Belgium
Tubes & Formes SA, Puteaux . France °
Tubeurop. Deutschland GmbH, Homburg Germany
Uci SA, Fleurus Belgium
Uf Acters - Groupe Industee] bzu, Puteaux France
Ugine & Ale:Austria GmbH, Ansfelden Austria
Ugine & Alz Nordic AB, Eskilstuna Sweden
Ligine & Alz Polska Spzoo, Bytom Poland

Ugine & Alz Praha Sro, Praha

Czech Republic

Ugine & Alz Switzerland 8A, Niederhasli

Switzerland

Ugine & Alz UK Ltd, Nottingham United 'Kingdom
Ligine Nederland BV, en liquidation, Amsterdam Netherlands

Ugine Porrugal Spy, Lisboa

Portugal

Llgine Savoie Italia Sil, Peschiera Bonomeo

Ttaly

Uginex Vietnam Company Lid, Tiung Trac

Vietnam

Ugitech Asia Lid, Wanchal

China

Uigitech Tberica SA, Barcelona

Spain

Ligitech Switzerland SA, Bevilard

Switzerland -

Ugitech UK Ltd, Birmingham

United Kingdom

s




5 . Country
Uniba SA, Puteaux : Dy SRy France
Unikonti Lic, Beograd = - . : R T - Serbia & Montenegro .
Union des Consominateurs de Ferrailles de France SA, Putedux ™ 7. : - France
United Continental Steels Lid; Hatfield o P United Kingdom
USB Unterwellenborner Schneidbetrieb Cmbl, Untenwellenborn Ll » Germany
Usinor Achats Snc, en liquidation, Puteawx L . France
Usinor Industeel (1berica).SA, St. Cugat del Valles- R T S ) Spain
Usinor Industeel Novdic AB, Vastra Frolunda : . e Sweden
Usinor UK Lid;:St Albans e i o United Kingdom
Valacier Sas; Reiins : L gy R i France
Verwaltungsgesellschaft- RAG Bbterlagung mbH, Fssen ) v S Germany
Vikam Praha AS, Praho: R = Czech Republic
" Vadcain Holding SA, Serting ‘ L o Belgium

Vulkan Energievirtschafi- Oderbriicke GmbH; E asmhumtenstadt;f Germany .

- Wellstead Ltd, Dublin )  Ireland
- Willenhatk Steel Stockholders L, erlenhail United Kingdom
" Ymos Belgium SA, Couillet Belgium

. Zecland Pm'ticipatievB&{ Terneuzen L SR Sy ot : Netherlands

B éwmated wmpanzeﬁ m)l conselidated
=72 campames e : e

Adfad Cockerill Lid, Lagm o mER e Nigeria
Alberteum Aedes-Scientige SA, en hqmdatzon, Bruxelles L o e : Belgium

- Arcelor Construction-Magreb SA, Ben Arous : L SR i Tunisia
Bamesa Celil Servis. Sunayii Ticaret AS, Orhanguzi T e ; Turkey
CAIT Llc, Baltintore:: S i United States !

- Cjsc “Severgal” Lid, Cherepovets B B Russian Federation -
Compagnie des Fers Sarl, en sommeil, Lyon S ey . France

- Comptoir Belge des Cokes Scl, en lguidation, Bruxelles o 0 o0y, : Belgium |
Considar do Brasil Lida; Belo Horizonte i 7 PR " Brazil

" Considar Far-East:Lid, en’liguidation, Hong Kong : : . China

" Dikéima. Stesl SdniBhd, Kuula Lumpw Malaysia
Enersid SA, Paris i . - France
Ensilectric §A, Llanera™ - . . SR F e | Spain

* Erzkontor Rukr. Gmbl; Essen L ' L) N Germany

- Espra Sus; Puteaix A R 1 France

Euratool SA, Raiswies . - : : D U CEELL " France
Forges Profil AG, Kirchdorf A ) L Switzerland
Forschungs und Qualilatszenirum Oderbrucke GmbH, l-zsenhunemludl ST Genmany
Fti- Faserbetontéchmik. GmbH, St Florian a/lnyi oy e T " Austria
Global Facilivies SA; Luxembourg B i o Luxembourg |
Groupe Alliance Métal. SA,“Amas LR g e - France
Immobiliere 2007 Sarl, Luxembourg e ) Luxembourg
Innovative Gasverwertungs-GmbH, en cessation d'activité, Bremen ER Germany o
1UP Jindal Metals & Alloys-Ltd, New Delhi P o India ©
Kaag Management CV, Gentbrugge e Belgium
Kanzen Stainless. Processors SdnBhd, Kuala Lumpur EEETE n w Malaysia
Kr Wertstoffeufbereitungs:GmbFL, Bremen S Germany
La Filigre Bois Sérl, Qugrée L S Belgium 32
La Revue de Métallurgie SA, Puteaux N . France . 044000,
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Non-conselidated subsidiaries {nest)

Country

- Laser Welcf‘ed Blanks Lid, Londoen

Lnited Kingdom

Les Haultes Trixhes Scrl, Flémalle

Belgium

Luxcontrol SA, Esch s{Alzette

Luxembourg

Nord-Chrome Snc; Grande Synthe

\ France

Oriental Sheet Piling Pte Ltd, Singapore

Singapore

Oriental Sheet Pilirig Sdn Bhd, Petaling Jaya

Malaysia

© Pbm . Picchioni BM Distr. de Tit. e Val. Mobil. SA, Belo Horizonte

Brazil

Perfilor SA, Sao Paulo:

Brazil

Phenix Rousies SA,. Rousies

France 25565161,

Portal NV, en Hauidation, Bruxelles. Belgium © 139999988 -
“Profilage Océari Indien SA, Riche Terre, . S Mauritius o
Promopanel $rl, Piombino - Ttaly
Retrival Scrl a finalué sociale, Couillet Belgium - ( _
Rolanfer Recyclage'SA, Yutz France -/ 20, 000000
. Sci Kuntzig, Yutz ; France ‘50 OOOGOO 3
.:Shanghai Baosteel & Arcelor. Tailor Meml Co. Ltd, Shanghui . China
“Sociéré de Canal des-Mines'de Fer de la Moselle Sas, Metz . France
Société de developpement AGORA Sarl, Esch. sjAlzette Luxembourg ¥
Seciété de-développement AGORA Sarl et Cig, Esch s/Alzette Luxembourg
+ . Sociét? de Pose Armatures Travaux Publics Sari, Murignane : ] i France
Saciété des Arquebusiers de la Ville de Luxembourg SA, en liguidation; L uvembourg Luxembourg
Société du Port Fluvial de Mertert SA, Mertert Luxembourg
. Socigté du Train & Fil de Schifflange SA, Esch sfAlzette Luxembourg .
Socicré Liegeoise de Gestion Fonciere SA, Lisge Belginunt
- Sodie SA, Panis- - France
" Sorealor Sarl,, Saint Laurent du Var . France
“ Soprepark SA, Hagondange:: . France

Stéel 24-7 NV, Drogenbios

Belgium

Steeltrack-SA, Puteaux

+ France

© Swudiengesellschaft fiir Eisenerzaufbereintung GbR, Lzebmbmg

Germany |

Telindus SA; Strassen’

Luxembourg |

5 TMT - Tapping Measuring Technology GmbH, Siggen

Germany |

TMT - Tappinig-Measiring Technology Sarl, Luxembourg

Luxembowrg

. TradeArbed Mexico-SA; en Cessation d'activité, Mexico DF

 Mexico

. Tramuway Strl-Saintfulien les Metz

France

“Unionpour la promotion des industries de I'Appertisé Sarl, Paris ;.

. France ¢

" Unidon pour le service de V'électricité SA, en liquidation, Briey

France *

United Slitting Services Ltd; Halesowen -

United Kingdom .

Wansey Limited Ple, Limasol

Cyprus

- and.its subsidiary. Qvo. TA Cord Ltd, Orel

Russian Federation

- Weserport GmbH, Bremen

Germany | 000

WKS Pry; Lud, Wollongong

Australia

33333

. WSA - Warehouses Service.Agency Sarl;, Sanem

8000

Lutembourg




~Société Anonyme

, S&andards (“IPRS”) adapted bv the European Lommumtv

- Eric Damot’te i

l---ﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬁ===ggillx

Auditor’s Report | ' b

To-the Shareholders of Arcelor S.A.

Luxembourg - , ' R ’ BT

We -have audlted the consolidated balance sheet of Arcelor SA and its submchanes {the Grou) ) at
31 Décember 2005 and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in equity @ and:cash flows

- for the year then etided; as set out on pages 137 10214 and -we have read the related. consolidated:

management repon ‘These consolidated financial statements and the comohdated management i¢portare

the rasponsmllnv of the Board of Directors of Akcelor SA.Our responsnbllny s 10 express an opinion ©
on' these consol 1dated finandal statements; based on. our 1ud11, and to.check rhe consmencv of: the e
consohdated m magcmem report w1th them. :

- we gonducled Giit audit in dccordance with Intemational Gtandmds on /\udmng ]hose stanchrds requlre

thdtve plan andiperform the audit t obtain feasonable assuratice about whether the financial stdtements
are free:of materidl, misstaternent An audit includes “examining, on'a test basis, ewdence suppomng
the:amounts:and disclosures in the financial statements. Ai’ audit also includes assessing the accoummg

prindiples used and elgmﬁcam estimates made:by the Board:of Directors; as well as evaluatmg the: overall

financial smtemems presentation. We believe that ouraudit promdes a reasonable bas1s for our opmlon

l

.- Inour opmlon the consohdat(‘d financial statements of Arcelor S.A;, as'set’out on p1ges 137 to: 714 give a
ite anid fair view of the financial positon of the (Jroup at 31 Dacember 2005, and/of the: results of its

operations and its;cash flows for the vear then ended, in, accordance with International Financial Repomng

The comohdncd nnnagemem repon, as set out on pages 3210 ‘S(), is in accordance with-the consolidated

'ﬁnancxal statements:

Luxemboﬁfgjl 7 "Marc}i 2006

KPMG Audn Sa tl.
Revueure d’cmrepmcs

PR
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This document is a free translation into £ nglish of the original French document - entitled “Comples sociaux Arcelor SA au 31
décembre 2005 This document has been prepared for mfmmarwn only and should not be relied sipon. for-any.other.

purpose. In the event of any disérepancy betlween this document-anc

i the French original, only the French ongmal 1s. authamarzw

27



Financial and {'»,3,

i .
information

Annual accounts Arceior SA

Balance sheet — Arcelor

B Assets
{n ELR million -

31 December 2004 .

10,826

C. FIXED ASSETS
11. Tangible assets (note 3}’ 4
i. Land and buildings 20
3. Other fixtires; fittings, tools and equipment. 2
4 Paymients ofi accoumnt and tanglble assets RGN
" ini thie: gounc of construction pam. Do
1i1; Financial assets. (noted) 10,822
1. Sharesinathiliated Lmdertakmgs 10,786 "l
5. Sectiritiés held as:fi Aed aqsets L 36 e
D. CURRENT ASSLTS 618
11. Debtors (itote 5 618
1. Trade debtors:” b
2. Amounts owed by afﬁhated undertakings ™ 613
3. Amounts.owed by undenalunbs in which the Company has : :
a pa1‘t1c1patmg initerest: 5 1
3

"4, Other debtors N

1L Transferable Securmes
2. Own shqres

"IV, Cash at bank “cashiin postal cheque accounts,

cheques and cash'in hand”

E. PREPAYMENTS (note G]

TOTAL ASQETS

11,450

i..inbii:’!z’es
In EUR mlllzon

A. CAPITAL AND RLSLRVES (note 7

1. Subscribed capital

"1, Share premiuiti account.

IV. Reserves b
1. Legal reserve
2. Reserve for own share.s
V. Profit brought /forward &
VL. Profit forithe financial. yeat

B PROV)S(ONS FOR [IAB[UT]I‘S AND CHAR(JLS (note 8)

1 Provisions for penslons and; sxmllar obligations’”
3. Other provisions :

C. CREI’.)(TORS (notes 9 and.10). ..

la. Convertible.debenture loans

2. Amounts.owed to CI(’dl[ umltuuom

4, Trade creditors

6. Amounts owed 10 afﬁhated undexmkuws

7. Amounts owed to undertakings in whlch the C ompanv
has a participating interest

8. Tax and social security debts -

9. Other creditors

TOTAL CAPITAL AND RESERVES AND LIABILITIES

N.B: the fermat of the baldnce sheet and the profit and loss aecount have been

adjusted.in luwlwr!n the act of H Decentber 2002,

effective 1 jumiary 2005, amending the law pn company financial statentents. The comp arative figures have been adjusted accordingly.”

”lt’ i LOH’!?&J?I)’INX nofes ]L‘W"l an lﬂngTull part OfA‘?WSP parent company. } ’l?ld!lu {al statéments. 1




- ,A. CHARGES
Cost of sales and services

4. a) Value adjustments.in respect-of formatlon expeme% :

““RESULT FOR THE PERIOD
-.13. Profit-for the financial year

“Salesand services

Transfer 1o the legal Tesérve

- RESULT TO BE CARRIED FORWARD

Income statemient

In EUR million

3, Staff costs
a)-Wages and mlaﬂec :
b} Social security costs accruing by reference to wages and salaries
c) Complementary Pensions
d}. Other social security costs

andtangible and intangible fixed assets
5. OQther operating charges
Finandial Expenses (note 11}
7. Intevest payable and similar charges
) Concerning affiliated undertakings
by Other interests payable and expenses

TAL EXPENSES

INCOME’

4. Other operating income
Financiél' income (note 1) :
[ncome from Participating Interests
a} Derited from affiliated undertakings
6. Income from-other transterable securities

and from loans forming part of the fixed @ssets’ T it 3
- a}) -Derived from affiliated undermkings . 2
b) Other income. ) 1
7. Other interest receivable and similar income .
a) Derived from affilidgted undertakings - 11
b) Other interest receivable and similar income -
TOTAL INCOME 902
NoB:the forma of the balance sheet and the profit and loss.account hdve bemrarimxwﬂ in line with'the act. of 19 I)nmnbm ?002, :
effective-1 January 2005, antending the Jue on company. firancial staterents: ;The campurative figures have Ican ad}usted accon Imgh
< The auvmpanymg notes jarm an integral part of these.parent coyrpany jrumual slitements. et
* Proposed appropriation of the result for the year
3004
IR ‘ ion
Result:for the financial year 1707.0
Result brought forward '318.5
Fransfer1o reserve for own shares 1 -
Result available for distribution 1,025.5

| 353

Transfer to other reserves

Board of Directors' remuneration EED
Gross dividend of EUR 1.20 for the 2005 financial : -
year paid on 639,774,327 shares (*) i
Gross dividend of EUIR 0.65 for the 2004 financial 1415.9

year paid on 639,774,327 shares (*)

(%} Tetal number of shares in issue as al Decomber 31, 2005 and as at Decermber 31, 2004.
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ol tnformation

Notes to the annual accounts

Note 1: General

Arcelor S.A. was incorporated under luxembourg Law on 8 jure:2001 for.an’ unhrmted penod in the
context of the proposed busmess combination of l\cu"allal Arbed and:Usinor; whlch was completed on

28 February. 2002. : , B AT AR A t

The registered office of the Company is in Luxembourg City and the. Company is rt.glstared at the

'Regmer of Trade and Commerce of Luxembourg under me number B: 82 454

o vr.aused the’

i L
‘i_each year.% ,

The a(cuunnng penod stqrts on 1 January and ands on 31 Decemb’

The Comparny pubhshgs Lonsohdated accounts m accordancg wnh Lh “reduirements. of Luxembourg ’
}am and regulanom - i B .

Note 2: Accounting policies

The annual ‘accounts ‘aré ‘prepared- in Euro (l"UR) and in accorchn e with.Luxembourg laws and.”

regulations and generallv accepu.d accounting principles..

Tangible fixed assets } SR ‘
Tangible fixed assets are recorded in the balarice sheet at cost mdudmg ancillary costs; orat production
Cost.. Deprecnuon is calcuhted on a straight- lme basis: i e LA .

Financial fixed assets - : : S

Investments arerecorded in the balance sheet at agqmsmon cost, plus assocmled COsts.
B 1

Al the end of each accounting period, all inveslmemsate sub]'ecl ) zi n impairmem review. Where a

permanent diminution in value is recognised, this diminution is fecorded in the income statement as -

a value adj ustment A reversal of a value adjustmem is.recorded.10 hle extent that.the fa'cyprs, which

recordmg of the. value ad]usunmt have cease R

Debts and otherdoans: recewab e are ru:orded m th balana sheet’ at'
of eachiaccounting. penod value ad]ustments 3re recorded on debts Wthh appear tobe panly Or whollv; v
lrrecoverabk : v -
Debtors : : , ;
Debtors are recorded in the balance sheet at thur iominal value At th_ enid of each accounting period
specific value 1d}ustments are recorded on debts whuh appear 1o be p]rtly or wholly irrecoverable:

Valuation of transferable securities
Transferable qecurmes are valued at the lower of cost or rmrket A val 1e ad]ustmem is recorded when
the market price is lower than the acquisition price. Value adjustments are not continued if the reasons
for which the value adjustments were made have cedsed to-apply. B ‘

i

ErG

Yeir nomma va]ue At the end - -




Creduors

"d1sdosed at. their issue Value IHCILBSQd by the ‘interest 10 be Lapndlmd on: Decemberé 1.0 each-

= Tanglble ﬁxed assets; creditors due after more thar one year an off ba ance sheé

i BUR miillion

" Disposals-and transfers
- during the period

Provisions for liabilities and charges
Provisions ‘are made for liabilities and charges where the crystallisation of a hablhty is consxdexed
probable; based on past or.current events, irl ]me with legal requiréments. . i o j
Pravisions for pensions and: snmlar obligations ]
The Company participates in the financing of an incremental retirement scheme (deﬁned beneﬁt{
scheme) for the benefit of employees made avaxlable by Arbed. Commitmen ts ansmg from ths sch eme
aré covered by appropriate provisiens.

"The Companv §.0wil cmployus, who-are not made avall.zble to othu A.rcclor subsu.hanas,‘ are cavered

by-a defined. contribution scheme. The Company pays contributions in respect of this'scheme; to -an
assuirance provider. This scheme does not give rise to-a commiitinent and annal conmb Litions are taken
to the proﬁt and loss account, tollowmg the same treatment tham adopted for wages and salane;.

Creditors are. recoxded in the balance qheet at-their. nominal Value Convemb]e debemure lmm are

Inmhted at historic exchange rates: Lnrealised losses incurred as a result of th1s pohcy are recorded
in the' profitand logsaccount for the period.

e Other balance sheet iterns are translated at the year—end a\ch'mge rate and related torelgn exc hange

dxfferemes are recorded i in the profitand Ioss account fot: the-period.

Note 3: Statement of tangible fixed assets

Acquisition‘cost”
‘Operning balance
Acquisitions during the period

Closing balance ~
Value adjustments
Opening balance
Charge forthe period
Closing bilarice

‘@peningnet book value
Closing netbook value
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Note 4 : Statement of financial assets

It EUR million
Acquisitions cost.

Opening balarice 10,786

Acquisitions dutingthe period’ : 1,529
Disposals:and transfers dunng the. penod : ' -493
Closing:balance ; S 11,822

- Value. adjustments

Opening balance. . . . -

Charge forthe period . oo oo o .

Closing balance. - : e - 1
Opening net book value ' o 10,786 ‘

Closing net book value - . : 11,822

’I‘heprincibqlﬁo‘ldings at31 December:2005 are listed below:

Shareholders;

Usinor SA, Puteaux (France). ., 1) S 99.42

Percentage J equity (induding -
g S e s of capital - Result for 2005  result for 2005)
Name and registered office - ) held % ° in EUR million | in EUR million -
Atbed $A, buxembourg (Luxembourg) 99.82 ‘ 980 2,613 -
Arcelor Hlolding SARL, Luxembourg {Luxembourg) 100.00 89 2,309 .
Arcelor Germany: Holding'GmbH, Berlin. (Germany) 100.00 191 365 .,
Arcelor Italy Holding SR, Piombino (Ttaly} - 100.00 22 72
Arcelor Spain Helding SL, Madrid (Spain)- " 8430 720 1,968
Arcelor Findnce.and Services: Belgmm SA, |
Brussel§i(Belgium) : 39.65 ‘ 236 7,619
j 684 . 2,516
T EN

Apart from the acquisition of shargs in Usmor SA and Arbed SA from nou group parties, the: portfoho
of investments was largely 1mp'1cted By mtragroup transactions-onthe pamapmon in AILG]OI Fmance

and Semces Belgium SA.

N Ot'e"S:-‘:'RQS'ld‘ual term-of 'debtors

" 31 December 2004

 Upto 1to
In EUR niillion | 1 year 5 years Total
Trade debtors ‘ 1 - 1:
Amounts owed by atfiliated
undertakings 613 - 613
Amounts owed by undertakings
in which the Company has
a participating interest | 1 - 1
Other debtors l 3 - 3
TOTAL 618 - 618
oy




-) _ —

‘Noté 6: Prepayments

: Prepaymems at the end'of 2005 primarily comprlsed the Lmamomsed balance of the 1ssue costs re
to the Q: C EAN.E. Arcelor 2017, as dmmbed in Nc)te ‘) b :

: The mthonscd capual mdudmg subsmbed capml amounm to EUR 5 bl] Jon L i

~ capital:

* Other shareholders (*)
. Luxembourg State

: ‘Employees
. TOTAL

7 Leual reserve

Ilems Lovertd by several hcadmgs

Amounts owed by affiliated undertakings, as well as amoums owed bv unde.rtalungs in whi
Cormipany has a participating interest, include trade receivables of EUR 51 million. Stmllarly am
owéd by affiliated undertakings on current accounts amount to'EUR 117 nnlhon

Note 7: Capital and reserves

Shfsre caplml

SVAL 3L December 2005, the subscnbed share: capital 1 1s rmdc up of 639 774 327 ordmaw share,, fuMyJ
2 paid: up and amounting to. EUR 3, 198,371 635, :

To the l\now ledge of the Board of Dlrectors the fo] owmg pqrtles hold the C‘omp'mys Issued

h the

ounts

lating

share

;:M.ACABV. Aristrain
Region Wallone (Sogepa)

(=)rincludetshares held wider self-control.

I accordame with Luxembourg 1ecal requu‘ements, th&_ Company must appropmatg annually at least

5% of its net profits to a legal reserve up to.a minimium of 10% of the subséribed capml Ihe legal

rLserve 15 not available for distribution:

7 \2«-. xééerve for own shares

liv accordancc with legal requirements, the C ompanv sct up anon dxsmhumb ¢ réserve Of an amount

TR

‘equal to Lhe value of own shares held by the Company: Thls Teserve was set up usmg relamui profits.

e
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Note 8: Provisions for liabilites and charges

Pensions
. . and similar Other
In EUR million ) obligations prowsmns
‘Opening balance : 1 15
Allocation : 1 10 2
Utlisation ) ) o -1 i -4

TOTAL ' o 1 | 21
Pension obligations ) ‘ - v
By virtue of an agreement: govemmg Lhe pmwsxon of smff by Arbed} to Arcdor, the obllgmons in
relation to additional retirement benefits available to the Arbed staff have been specifically provided
for. The Company’s share of the allocation for the yearis determined by 1pp|\;mg the actuarial-financing
rate to the total salaries of all Arbed staff made a\aﬂabk An mdependem actuary calculates'this rate.

Por the Company’s own employeesa defitied comnbuuon plan isin pla ¢.The (,ompany nnLes annual -+
contributions to an. assurance’ provider in respect of ‘this plan, The plan does not give rise to
commitments and the annual contributions, are recorded in the proﬁt ind loss account following the
same freatment as: me one adopmd for wages and salanes B . :

Ottier provisions R N s S

Otheér provisions are Imked torcertain German tax comequences resultmg from the creation and L
organisation ofArcelor group. - - . : ‘ g

: Financial debt

Note.

Convertible debenture loans® . ) |
» At the end of the public exchange offers made in' 2002, 0n bonds whlch are converuble into and/or
exchangeable for new or .existing shares in. Usinor {Q:CEAN. E:), 24,723,689 Usinor 2005
CO.CEAN.E and 27,747,470 Usinor 2006 O:C.EAN.E. were converted, into:Arcelor securities of the ‘
same type. The financing conditionsof Atcelor. 2003 OCE A \I E anl Arcelor2006 O.CEAN.E. are
. identical to those ostmot O CEA Nf : . :

s The non converted Arcelor 2007 o C E. A N. L matured on'1 Lmuarv 2005 and were refunded ata par -
value of EUR 19.87. The Arcelor 2006 0. (, EANE. were refunded before (hh due dateins2004.

* In June 2002, Arcelorissued 38,961,038 O.C.EA. \I E.bonds for a nommal amount of EUR 750 million.
These O.C.EAN.E. Arcelor 2017 were issued at EUR 19. 25 with.a mqimmv date of 27 June 2017 and
with an annual interest rate of 3%. Following the new. issue ‘of rapnal of July 2004; the share
attribution rate is.modified from one share for one bond to 1:027 Arcelor share per O.CEANE.
2017. In the absence of anticipated-conversion or amortisation, theselborids.are repayable at maturity. e
for a par value of EUR 19:25:% ' ’ ' ‘
There were no movements. on 1he above. dunng 2005.

i
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Noté 10: Residual term of creditors

31 December 2004

ftems covered by several headxngs
Amounts owed 1o affiliated undertakings and amounts owed to undertakmgs in whlch the (‘0
has:a pamcxpmng interest are trade debts: g w.r

thé 13+ Financial result

Iy EEIR niillion
. Dividends.réceived
-Net'interest-and similar charges -
\ vements in valie adjustments on. investments

“Income from mwﬂmenm pnmauh Lompmcs dividends recened from Arbed SiAL L SIAG
_Finance and. Services Belgium S.A,, Arcelor Spam Holdmg SL and Arcdor (,ermanv Holdmg Gmb‘

In 2004; other financial expenses included EUR 19 mi]lion relating to.the complete amortisatior

Termaining balance of the redemption premium of the O.C: EAN.E. Arcelor 2006 bond which ha
relmbursed before the due date in \Aeuch 2004. :

Note:12: Tax on profit

Arcelor is the parem company of a fmcal integration scope gompnsmg 14 coivipanies.

Companhies included in the fiscal integration scope are put into the situation in' which’ they would have

been in the absence of fiscal integration.

mpany

M.

of the
d'been

PFN

o Upto i1to 5 years
In EUR million 1year . 5years = ormore Total
Convertible debenture loans 504 L 750 1,254
Amounts-owed ta credit |
institutions - -
Trade credifors 7 ‘ - 7
Amounis owed (o affiliated i
undertakings 505 P 505
Amounts owed: to indertakings 3 ‘
in'which the Gompany has
a-partidpating interest p.m. .- - p.m.
- "tax and sogial security debt
a)Tax:debt p.m. P - p.m.
b) Secial security debts p.m. - - p.m.
Other creditofs 9 ¢ - 9
TOTAL 1,025 ¢ - 750 1,775
xd'above.




Fivavciaf and

fecal

fegad L’ufa“ mation

_'Note 14: Staff

o Comm’ltte,e are entitled 1o a total of EUR 2 million for the year 2005

- lhc mtemanonal stock opuon plan established in 2003 confem tights 10 certain emplovees to subscribe’.
10 the specitic counmes within®
«.-the plan and has a maximum durauon of four years.

" In EUR million

“TOTAL |

+-Emplovees”

Nates.to the ﬁl’\ﬂll’ll aeeounts

Note.13: Off-balance sheet ii’tems

Guarantees given

-Guarantees issued on deblﬁ ;
Commitments to acquire financial: hxed ass;ts
QOther cominitmeits

Atetage number of staff

Workers o i
TOTAL. -~ S o L

,Note 15; Dlrectors remuneratlon

Members of 1}12 Board of Dlrecmls, the Audit Committee and the N

Note 16: Stock onuon Dlane

for shares in the Company. The period of exercise is different’ 1cc0rdmg

Allocated share opticns at'31 ;IQeCember 2005:are d‘etéiled a’ér,follows\': :

Jminqtio‘ns and: Remnuneration-

1,320,863
1,202,663
1,135,000

01/07/2006-30/06/2010 -
01/07/2007-30/06/2011 %

‘Note 17: Other infofmation

- & Arcelor Finance SCA, Luxembourg (Luxembourg)

(%) Adjusted for the capital inciease eﬁkcix’?é in july 2004

The Company is jointly and. scvemlly liable for the following emmee

s Arcelor Iraasury SNC, Puteaux {France).

I

01/07/2008-30/06/2012
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- .- basis for our oplmon
o In our opmxon, the annua}l accounts on pages 21 7 t 2
. and regulatory requirements,, a’frue. '1 :

31 Deceinber, 2005 and.of the résults ofits dﬁgrauons for the vear then ended

“The management report, on pages 32 to 56, isin accordiince. with the annual accounts:.

) ;ﬂggembmg(g., March 17, 2006

‘Eric Damotte

Auditor's Report

To the Shareholders of Arcelor S.A.

< Sodiété Anonyme

Luxembourg

Following our appointment by the General \Aeeung of the: Shareho ders dated-April 30, 2004, we hdve» '

audited the annual accounts of Arcelor SA. for the.year ‘ended 31 December, 2005 on pages 21 7'to 226,

and we have read ' the related management report. These annual accounts and the management

are the responsibility of the Board of Directors of Arcelor S:A.. Our responsibility. is to- express an -

ireport

opinion on these annual accounts based on pur audu md to.check the consistency of the. mmagemem

report’ with themy.,

We conduum our audit in accordance with lmemauona] Standalds ou Auditing.. "Ihose sta
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about-whether the

accounts are free of material misstatement: . An audit includes examining;-on a test basis, eV

fdence

suppomng the amounits and disclosures in the annual accountsAn audit-also includes assessing the

accounting' principles used and. mgmhcam estimates: made by the Board of’ Directors, as -well as’

evaluating the overall annual accounts presentation. "We, beheve that our audit plowdes a reasonab

KPM(, AuditSarl
Réviseurs d'Entreprises

‘glve in conf@rmlty wnh Luxembourg lggal'
of ‘the: financial position of /\rce]or SA At T

ndards -
annual
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Legal information

v “Leigal form

Arcelor's articles of association may be,viewed at the head office. a
" register, the registrar of the Brussels commerdial court; the registrar-6f ¢
. in Spain, (accompanied by a Spanish. translation) at the Comision N:

"(CNMV, Spanish Nationhal Securities Market Commission). the 'Spa
«Spanish liaison entity. The annualireport, parent company financial statements, consolidated financial .
 'statements and half-yearly and quarterly financial statemems.iss;ued_bv Arcelot may:be viewed at the ™
" head office, where' copies may-also be obtained. The parent ‘company financial:statements and. =~
. consolidated financial statements are also filed with the Luxembourgicommercial register, in Belgium

“General information about Arcelor

Corporate name and head office

Corporate name: Arcelor

. Head oftice and principle place of business: 19, avenue de la-Liberté; 1-2930, Luxembourg, Grand
Duchy of Luxembourg. . . | o ' oot e

A

‘Arcelor s a “Société Anonyme! (limited-liability corporation) incotporated under, Luxemnbourg law.

Arcelor is registered with the Lixembourg commercial register undernu mber.B §2454:

~Date of incorporation and’ duratibn

"Arcelor was incorporated on 8 June 2001 for an unlimited period: <

_Corporate purpose °

The main purpose of the-Company is the direct or indirect manufaciire, processing and distribution of

steel, steel products and pther', metal products, as well as all p[’OdlrIC‘TS and materials used in their

Viewing of legal documents relating to the issuer

with the National Basik of Belgium and in France with thé ‘Autorité

‘

. manufacture, processing and"distribution, and all industrial-and co;inmercial activities -directly or
indirectly linked 10-these products induding research and the creation,

) |acquisition, rétention; use and
“sale of patents, licenses; expertise dnd; more generally, intellectual and

industrial property rights. -

t- the Luxembourg commercial

cional del'Mercado de Valores

des Marchés- Financiers (AME,

French financial market regalator). In Spain, these documents, togethér with half-yearly and quarterly

financial data, are filed with the CNMYV, the Spanish stock exchanges

These docurnents can also’be viewed on the www.arcelor.com website, .

Financial year

and the Spanish liaison entity.

The 12-month financial year begins on 1 January and ends on 31 December’of the same year.

30

he Paris commercial court and,

nish. §t6ck ‘exchanges, and. the'.




639,774,327 fully paid up sh

Information about Arcelor's share capital
Authorized capital
The authorized capital, including issued share capital, t()tals;€5,000,00‘0,000. The unsubscribéd portion

of the authorized capital may Be issued through the exercise;of coriversionror subscription rights already
granted by Arcelor. : i L :

Changes in the shaté capital

Arcelor wads mcorporated on'§ June 2001 witha share mpltal of 632 250 i
On 15 February 2002, Arcelor issued 516,215,823 new shares in exchange for the Aceralia, Arbe]’d and:’
Usinor shares tendered dunng the initial Public Offers of: Fxchange for these companies . and in o
consideration for the 1;561,668 Arbed shares teridered by Qtaal Viaanderen N.V. o

In accordance with applicable regulations, Arcelor subsequemh reoperied -the offer for Arbcd m\ P

Luxembourg and Bélgium rid- the offer for-tIsinor in Frange, on the basis of unchanged terms:

On 18 March 2002, Arcelor issued 12,138,238 additional new shares in exchange for the Arbed: and Lond

Usinor shares tendered following the reopening of the- Public Offers of Exchange for Arbed and Usinot.,
shares-and in consideration for the 297,354 Aceralia shares: tende,red by Asbed Espafia BV. .
On 5 August 2002, Arcelor-issued 3,351,776 ‘new shares in exchangé for the Usinor shares tendered;f”

during the Public Offeriof Wwithdrawal by Exchange for all Usinor. shaves still m «circulation, Usmor 0

shareholders were then. able 'to ‘exercise their exchange options: In this respect; on 22 August' 2002 o
Arcelor issued 414,939, tiew shares in consideration for414,939, Usinor shares; on-6 l\ovember 2002,
239,183 new shares i in exchange for 239, 1183 Usinor shares; on:9 January 2003, 104,183 new shares'in:

exchange for 104;,183: Usinor sharés; on 9 April 2003,-258,985 new:shares in- exchange for:258, 98‘5’;, e :

Usinorshares; on 9 July’2003, 102,685 new shares'in exchmge for 102,685 Usinor shares; on 9 October

2003, 208,534 hew shares in excharnge for 208, 334 Usmm‘ 5hargs, d[ld on 9 April 2004 104,477 new / o
* shares in exchangefor 104,477 Usinor shares, I
On 27 July 2004, Arcelor issued 106,629, 03 4 new GhdJ‘CS subscx ibed further to the issue of 533, 1 45,273 .

equity waitants. :
Al 31 December 2005, the subscribed shiare capital-of ArceIm totalled-€3,198,871 633, represemedf‘_b}m o
ares, mihout deszbnauon of nommal value ChoEe

|
. S |

Date Niitber of shares Capital transaction !
[

08/06/2001 25,8000 . Creation of Newco, subsequently renamed Arcelor ‘
11/12/2001 " 6,450 : Revision of accounting par value by the Extraordinary L,eneral

’ R R Meeting of Shareholders o
15/02/2002 499,434,342 Public Offer of Exchange for the shares of Aceralia, Arbed and L sinor +* '
15/02/2002 516,222,273 Tender of Arbed shares held by Staal Vlaanderen N.V. | ‘
18/03/2002 528,360;511 Reopening of the Public Offer of Exchange for Arbed and tender

: of Aceralia shares by Arbed Espafa BY :

05/08/2002 5315712,287. * Public Offer of Withdrawal by Exchange for Usinor shares
22/08/2002 532,127,226 Tender of Usinor shares
06/11/2002 532,366,409 Tender of Usinor shares
$9/01/2003 532,470,592 Tender of Usinor shares
(9/04/2003 532,729,577 Tender of Usinor shares ;
09/07/2003 532,832,262 .. . Tender of Usinor shares \
09/10/2003 533,040,796 Tender of Usinor shares <‘
09/04/2004 533,145,273 Tender of Usinor shares |
27/07/2004 639,774,327 Arcelor warrants ;
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of warrants on 29 June 2004, the exchange ratio was adjusted from 1 for

Litigation

| zade barriers
v Trade liberalization. has resuhed in the creation-of national trade prote

“which dates from 1994, the main: trade ; protection mechanisms are’

Securities providing access to capital

On 27 June 2002, Arcelor isstied €749,999,981:50 of bonds with a coupon of 3% and a final mmuﬁty of
2017, with the option of conversion andfor exchang into new and/or emstmg Arcelor shares (QCEANE
2017). This issue consisted of 38,961;038 bonds with a nominal unit value of €19.25. Following the issue

Since 2002, Arcelor’s Legal Affairs Depanment has prepared litigatio

|
Arcelor is unaware of any 51gmﬁcam hugauon capable of altering its fin

control international. tradé. Adopted internationally under the GATT

I to 1 for1.027.

n rep()rts at 30 June and 31

. December of each year showmg all existing - litigation where the amounts at issue. exceed €500,000.

ancial position.

Gtion mechanisms designed to’ ¢

anti-dumping and ant- subsidy: -

greements, the. most recent of

imported products:

- Anti-dumping and anti-subsidy measures

(countervailing duty).legislation, safegmrd clauses and voluntary export restriction agreements:

~ Recent years have seen tlie w1despread deployment of trade protecuon measures, particularly Ant

dumping and anti‘subsidy legislation; which are being adopted by-an mcreasmg number of countries.
This general trend has been h1gh]xg,hted by the enguiry launched into the safeguard clause introduced:
by the USA in June 2001. : . N
Safeguard measures allow countries: 10 protcct particular. domestic industries wheré the quantity of.
preducts imported. causes or threaiens 1o causé serious harm to thosé industries. Nevertheless, these

teasures are not intended to combat so-called unfair trading pr’utlces‘ ' ‘

. Anti-dumping. duties are desigiied to eliminate the trading practice of selling a product in a foreign’

market at a lower price than.that charged for the same product in its ’domestlg market. The resulting

duties ate equivalent to. the différence between the selling price in ‘the domestu mar kel and the sellmg’
price in the export market. :
Anti-subsidy legislation is dcs1gned to mmel any advantage mnferred by direct or indirect subsidy of

Defensive actions
usa
Flat Carbon Steels

Certain flat carbon steel products made by Arcdor are subject to anti-dumping dnd anti-subsidy duties
in the United States. The products in-question-are as follows : )

e Cold-Rolled Flat- Rolled Carbon Steel: 1n 2005, both the US Court of Intemnational Trade and the
US Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit affirmed the ongmal determination by the US$
International Trade Comnimission that the US industry had not been 1'n] ured by imports of cold-rolled
steel in 2001. As a result, no anti-dumping order was entered against ¢ éold rolled imports from France,
Belgium, Spain, Brazil and 16 other countries. As a result; there are no further restrictions on US$
imports of this product. '

|
I
232 w‘




 Carbon Steel Plate: -In 2005, the anti-dumping duty order on US imports of this product from
France, instituted in 2000; was revoked as a result of the sunset review process, Every five ye%qrs the
Departmem of Commerce and the US International Trade Cominission must conduct a “sunset
review” 10 determine whether revocation of the anti-dumiping andfor countervailing duty orders:
would lead to the continuation or recurrence of injurious dumping or subsidization. In addition, the
anti-subsidy duties,. also instituted in 2000, were revoked: it 2003 because they were found to be
-incorsistent with ne WTO, Accordingly, there are-no furthu restrictions: on- US imports of this .-
'product : - :

Smce 1993, anu-dumpmg and anti-subsidy duties have also been ap phed o U ; impoits from B elgium
‘and-Spain. Cockerill Sambre is currently subject to anti- dumpmg duties of 6.75% and anti- subsidy
dutiés of 23. 13% Imports of Aceralia’s heavy plates are subject {6 anti:dumping duties 6f 105.51% and
anti-subsidy: d\mes 0f'36.:86%. These margins may be adjusted; annually through. the admmu‘stntwe
review process: The sunset review of these anti-dumping | and coumervallmg dmy orders is cu rrent!y

ongoing...

e Conosmn-Ré Stant Carbon Steel Flat Prodiscts: Sing inti-duniping dunes of 29 41 0%-and’
ann subsxdv.duues of 15:13% have been imposed-on-US 1mports of corrosmn—resmmnt carbcn steel‘f"" :
s ‘ﬂal products from France. lherc are similar orders covering US lmports rom (,ermany hese rﬁxaigms e .
_may be adjusted annuallv through the admmxstrame rewew process T be sunset rewews of all ofithese .
orders are currenﬂv ongomg R : N

Iom; Carbon Steels : )
2005, all court appeals ended and the original determmanon by the us lntemzmonal Trade.

‘ Lommlssmn that'the US industry had not been injured by us 1mporls ofcertain long carbon products .

long carbon products was uphe_ld As a result, there are 1o furthe: resmcuons on US mlports of. thls L

product. ‘ ol

Stainless Steels : . ' ,
Certain stainless steel products made by Arcelor are sub]ect 1o 'mn dumpmg and anti-subsidy; daties in
the USA. The pioducts affecled are as follows: - :

® blamless Steel Sheet and Strip from France: In 7005 thc anti- dumpmg duty order on US Jmpons
of this product.fiom France, instituted in 2000, was rwoked 45:a result of the sunset review process:
"I addition;th i duties; also itistituted in'2000; were revoked in:2003: because: they-were; «*
found to 'be indonsistent with-the WTO. Accordmgly there are'rio further resmcuons onus jmborts':'f‘ o
of this product ‘ : g s

o Stainless Stes] Wire Rod Imports of stainless steel wire 1od to lhe Ulllttd Stales frorn Francé‘havé
" been assigned an anti-dumping duty margin of 7.19%. This margin may be adjusted” annualiy:’
through'the administrative review process. The sunset review of ﬂus Old€l is cunemly ongoing,

= Stainless Stee']’ B1rs fn 2601, the Department of Commérce and lhe YTC initiated an anti-d mping -
~duty investigation®:into stainless steel bar imports from 'France:and Ttaly. The' Department’ of
Commerce ultimately determined that imports of stainless steel Barfrom Bedini were not hemg sold.
at less-than-fair value,  As a result, imports of stainless steel bar from Tréfilerie Bedini may enter the
USA free of anti-dumping duties. Imports of stainkess steel” bar from Ugitech France, however, dre
subject to ant- dumpmg duties of 14.98%. Administiative reviews-ofthe French order are ‘currendy:-
ongoing,. : 7

o Stainless Stee! Plate in: Coils: Imports of stainless steel coils from Belgium are subject 1o anti-
dumping duties of 2:96% and anti-subsidy duties of 0.97%. These margins may be 1d]mted annually
through the administrative review process.
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: dee rualmiwn European Union

f° Certam cold-rolied flat stainless stecks from the USA

(5.2% - 37.8%).

.+, Romania {(5.7% - 11.5%).
Safesuard clause,”

USA: wire rod

Canada .
As a result of a decision by the Canadian aulhormm in 2001 _anti- dumpmg duties remain in force on

 the imports of certain hot-rolled carbon flat products from Brazil (CST ) Tr. 2005, GST applied for and

dbtained specific normal values for its shipments of hot-rolled carbon 1produnq to Canada‘and s no
longer subject to the anti-dumping duties of 57%. However, this anti-dumping finding is currently
being reviewed by the Canadian authorities:and a decision will be made in August. 2006 to €1th€l‘
wrminate the duties or to continye the dunes for a further ﬁve year: penod-. :

- Following a request for an interim review bcfore the Canadian- 1u1homies,' the andedumpihg' duties

applied. to 1o the imports of certam stamltss 5leel bars from F rdnce {Ugitech) were terminated-in

No other anti-dumping measures mrremlv applv to Arcelors shipments to Cﬂnada;_

Lo Scptember 2003 the European Commlssmn 1mposed prowslonal aun dumpmg dums on nnpons
- jof certain US cold- rolled flat stainless steels {20:6% on imports from AK Steel Corpomuon and 25%
- onimports from other compames) The hlropean Commission cancelled this anu dumpmg 1etalnnon

in March 2004, followmg a petmon ‘from Eurofer

\

e Cenam hot-rolled flat stainless steels from Indla Taxwan, Sarbm, 3[1tenégro,'~Bulgaiia and South’,
. Africa. ' : 1 '

In September 2004, at the suggestmn of the Luropean C ommission, m" :European’ Coundil ébolished

-« its.anti- dumping meastres agzunst 1mports of certain: hotsrolled flat stainless steels: from India (0% -

18.19%), Taiwan. (2:1% - 24.9%), Serbia and Montenegro (15 4%) Bulgzma (7 7%) ‘and South Afnca :

°~Cermin quarto steel sheets from lndia, China and Romania;

in f\ugust 2000, at the suggestion of-the Luropean Commission, the European € bunci‘l‘"imp‘csed

definitive anti-dumping duties on certam quano steel sheets from lnc ia (22 3%) (,hma (8 1%) and

b

Imports of most types-of wire rod from all steel producmg countries ( except Canada and Mexico) are

~subjecto.a maximum quota: in 2601, 1he quota for HJ membex sxate was*set at 419,948 tonnes.

LISA: certain. types of steel - ‘ :
On 4 December-2003, the US Premdmt hftad ‘the dum.s he had mlposad in March 2002 on . certain
types of flat products; especially plate, heavy plate, concrete remfomng bar, hot-rolled producte, cold-
rolled products, coated products, ‘tin- plated steel, hot-ralled bar, cold-rolled bar, ceitain tubes, certain
accessories made from carbon and alloy steels, stainless steel bar, stainless steel wire tod and alloy tool
steels. These duties were initially set at 30%:for flat carbon products; 15% for tubes, conuete’reinfbrciug
bar and stainless steel bar, and 8% for wire fod. I March 2003, these duties were reduced to 24%, 12%;

10% and 7% tespectively. Imports of plate were subject to a quota ‘of 4.9 nmlhcm tonnes for the. first
year, and 5.35' million tonnes for the second.

The safeguard measures also prowde for the option of negotiating individual product-by-product
exclisions. Arcelor and its subsidiaries manufacture many products that thé US steel industry doeés not.




. WTO (Werld Trade Orgdmzatlon)

For this reasom, in 2002 and 2003, Arcelor was successful in securing more than 75 exchisions for the
company’s products through negotiations with the US government.

Europe
In December 3003, the European Commission abolished its tariff quotas on certain steel products (hot-
rolled coil, hot-folled sheet, hotolled strip, hot-rolled flat products, cold-rolled sheet, pipe ﬁmngs and
flanges). This décision was taken followmg the US administration’s move to remove its own safeguard
measures agamst lmpons of certain steel products into the HSA :

Canada: carbon steel and alloy Bat products and certain Iong and sleel alloy products
In October 2003, the Canadian government decided ag"unst 1xnpm|ng ﬂtcguald meastifes Ol imports
of fore;gn steel products:

I
1

Poland : :

In March 2003, the Polish:; govemment imposed safeguard fméasures on ught products fora peflod of

two years (from Marnh 200319 -March 2005). ‘The products affected by, these quotas are: non- a]loy cold:.

rolled, hot-rolled and galvanued flat products, non-alloy: organic- “coated’ flat products, elecmc steal o
alloy flat products, non-ﬂloy hot rolled bar, welded tubes and weldleqs tubes :

Hungary : : : o
In April 2003, the FHungarian govemmenl Jmpmed safeguard measures on: seven produns These

measures are efiecmve for a; penod of two'years commencing April 2003, The products affected by these
quiotas are: non- alloy cold rolled and hotrolled flat products; and certail fong products and tuhes

OECD (Orgamzanon for Economic Cooperation and Development)

" Between February 2002 and:June 2004, the world's'steel producing countries were engaged in: Lalks at

the OECD over the Intérnational Subsidies agreement, which was intended to Lhnllﬂdlh all sub51d1cs"
responsible for dlslomng 1mermuona[ competition:in the st(‘el industy. :

The failure of pamapanm to overcome their prmapal dlsagreemems resulted in the H igh Level Group
of 37 countries ‘and’ EW representatives” (which together “accotint for soine 90% "of ‘world steel
production) suspending negonzmom over this agreement on.29 June 2004. However, the participating
countries later reaffirmed their detérmination to reach an agfeement. The High Level Group then took
the view that the! persxsnng differetices would be better addresscd b) informal es ploratory dlscussu)ns
between countri¢s, in: order 10 reduce the differenices berween thelr rclmw positions and th°1efore,~_
advance the negotiations: : o

At the request of the European Union, the WTO set up a second speaal group in September 2004 to
examine and 1ule on-the legality of the new US privatization methodology applied to evaluate the .
applicability of anti-subsidy duties in the context of antitubsidy procedures related directly o steel !
mdusmf pma‘n?zmon in France, the UK, Germany 'md Qpam : ] ;
At the request: of the’ European Umon, the WTO set up a specnl “Zeroing” group in July ”‘004 to
examine the compzmblluy | he s inethod o‘f‘f_"‘j’ :
"Zeroing” ignores non: dumped transactions when' calculating the aggrevate dumping margms “of
exporters, and more eqpecmlly Eltopean steel e*{paners ; . T

In August 2004, the WTO granted permission to the Luroptan Union and seven countries (Br”ml
Canada, Chile, India; Japan, South Korea and Mexico) 10 apply additional duties on imports ok US
products it response to the “Byrd” amendment, which is a piece of 1S anti-dumping legm]anon ruled
illegal by the WIQ in September 2002. This amendment, which the WIO had demanded be revoked
before 27 December 2003, allows the US government to:distribute the proceeds of anti- dumpmg duties -

l
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Legal information

i ‘ln Febmary 2004 the WIO' gave the European Umon permiission to take retahatorv edsures, agamst‘ia' o

. . f £, L
Fincsial and legal
o5

mpurmation

dlrecdy to campames harmed by dumpmo Tkus aulhonzanon lumted [ht amount of sancnons to 7 2°/o,<

of the sums charged under the amendment, which, for the Furopean

S lOm in duues on imports of us products

Umon means a toml of some

|
i

“ the US4, following the latter's fail ure 1o comply with:the WTQ's 2000 rﬁlmg against the'ld S 1916-Anti

o mpon quoias

Dumping Act-LInder this faw, itis powble for. the plaintiffio be granted damages: equlva]' o
times the actual harm suffered as a rasult ‘of dumpmg practices. The uppu limit is sét at $5bn with the .

\
oﬂthree‘ -

further possibility of a one-year prison’sentence. This retaliation should take the form .of %pecxﬁc

leglslauon apphcable to us dumpmg 1mpons, in effect mlrrormg Ub Igglslauon s

|

Under the Parmushxp and. Co opuauon Agrecmems betwun the European Union and Ru551a, Ukrame

and ‘Kazakhstan; imports.of’ steel products from: these threc countries
quoms on steel imports- r’rom Russm and }\azakhstan, and unil atem] quo

In 2004, the Puropean Commission teached an agreemem wnh Russn

are subject 10; quotas {bilateral
as on Uklaxman sled 1mpons)

over a new’ bi]ateral a’greemem

imposing import quotas of 2,217,286 tonnes in"2005 and:2,272,719 tonnes in 2006. While -awaiting the

signature and: implementation of this 1greemem, the Lurope”m Counci

resolved.in D(‘cember 2004 19

implement quantitative conungems on Russian steel unpons Implement&.d on 1 ]anuary 2005 they

totalled 2, 041 210 tonnes for 2005

" While qwaztmg the outcome of negotlanons over a new bilateral agreement with Ukrame for 2005 and

. signature and implementation of this’ agreement;.the’ European Counci

2006, the European. Council tesolved in; December 2004 19 implement g
to U]\mmmn stgd 1mports from r Lmuarv 2005; they totalled 703,070 10

uantitative contmgems Apphed .
nnes for2005. ‘ '

In: 2004; 1he huropaan Commnssnon rcached an agrhemem v»uh huakhstan over a new bﬂateral*

agreement.imposing import.quotas of 200 000 tonnes’in 2005 and 205

implemenit quantitative commgmts Applied'1to’ stul nnpom from Kazak
totalled 155,743 tonnes for 200 3.

1000 in.2006. While awaiting the

] resolved in December 200410
chstan from; 1 ]anuary ‘003 mey
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